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This prospectus (the “Prospectus”) is being filed with the British Columbia Securities Commission for the purpose 

of allowing CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly known as 10557404 Canada Corp.) (“Ten Fifty-Five” or “CB2”, or the 

“Issuer”) to comply with Policy 2 – Qualifications for Listing of the Canadian Securities Exchange in order for the 

Company to meet one of the eligibility requirements for the listing of its common shares (the “Common Shares”) on 

the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE” or the “Exchange”). As no securities are being sold pursuant to this 

Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised, and all expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this 

Prospectus will be paid by the Company (as defined herein) from its general funds. 

The CSE has conditionally approved the listing (the “Listing”) of the Issuer’s Common Shares on the CSE. Listing is 

subject to the Issuer fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CSE including meeting all minimum listing 

requirements. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 

applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the 

Toronto Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the 

United States of America (other than the Alternative Investment Market (“AIM Market”) of the London Stock 

Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc).  

There is no market through which the securities of the Issuer may be sold. This may affect the pricing of the 

Issuer’s securities in the secondary markets; the transparency and availability of trading prices; the liquidity 

of Issuer’s securities; and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Part IV – Risk Factors”. 

No underwriter has been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or performed any review or 

independent due diligence investigations in respect of the contents of this Prospectus.  

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. 

Unless otherwise noted, all currency amounts in this prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars. 

 

This non-offering prospectus is being filed in connection an application of the Issuer to comply with and to list on the 

Canadian Securities Exchange. The Issuer derives a substantial portion of its revenue from its U.S. operations. The 

Issuer operates a network of cannabis evaluation and education centers as well as telemedicine operations serving 

twelve (12) U.S. states. The Issuer also operates a loyalty and consumer engagement platform used by marijuana 

dispensaries across several U.S. states where state-level legal medical marijuana frameworks exists.  

The Issuer is indirectly involved in the cannabis industry in the U.S. in certain states where local state law permits. 

The Issuer considers itself a US Marijuana Issuer with material ancillary involvement in the US as defined in Canadian 

Securities Administrators Staff Notice 31-352 (Revised) – Issuers with US Marijuana Related Activities dated 

February 8, 2018.  The Issuer considers itself and its clients’ business to be compliant with licensing requirements and 

the regulatory framework in those states in which it operates. While certain states and territories of the U.S. authorize 

medical or recreational cannabis production and distribution by licensed or registered entities, under U.S. federal law, 

the possession, use, cultivation, and transfer of cannabis and any related drug paraphernalia is illegal and any such 

acts are criminal acts under federal law under any and all circumstances under the Controlled Substances Act (the 

“CSA”).  

Almost half of U.S. states have enacted legislation to regulate the sale and use of medical cannabis without limits on 

tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”), while other states have regulated the sale and use of medical cannabis with strict limits 



 

on the levels of THC. Notwithstanding the permissive regulatory environment of medical cannabis in states in which 

the Company operates, cannabis continues to be categorized as a Schedule I controlled substance under the CSA in 

the United States and as such, is illegal under federal law in the United States. The Supremacy Clause of the United 

States Constitution establishes that the United States Constitution and federal laws made pursuant to it are paramount 

and in case of conflict between federal and state law, the federal law must be applied.  

As a result of the conflicting views between state legislatures and the federal government regarding cannabis, 

investments in cannabis businesses in the United States are subject to inconsistent legislation and regulation. Unless 

and until the United States Congress amends the CSA with respect to cannabis (and as to the timing or scope of any 

such potential amendments there can be no assurance), there is a significant risk that federal authorities may enforce 

current federal law, which may adversely affect the current and future investments of the Issuer in the United States. 

As such, there are a number of risks associated with the Issuer’s existing and future investments and operations in the 

United States, and such investments and operations may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by regulators, 

stock exchanges and other authorities in Canada. There can be no assurance that this heightened scrutiny will not lead 

to the imposition of certain restrictions on the Issuer’s ability to invest and operate in the United States or any other 

jurisdiction. As a result, the Issuer may be subject to significant direct and indirect interaction with public officials. 

There can be no assurance that third party service providers, including, but not limited to, suppliers, contractors and 

banks will not suspend or withdraw services which could negatively impact the business of the Issuer.  

It has been reported by certain publications in Canada that the Canadian Depository for Securities Limited is 

considering a policy shift that would see its subsidiary, CDS, refuse to settle trades for cannabis issuers that have 

investments in the United States.  CDS is Canada’s central securities depository, clearing and settlement hub settling 

trades in the Canadian equity, fixed income and money markets.  The TMX Group, owner and operator of CDS 

subsequently issued a statement on August 17, 2017 reaffirming that there is no CDS ban on the clearing of securities 

of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the U.S., despite media reports to the contrary and that they were working 

with regulators to arrive at a solution that will clarify this matter, which would be communicated at a later time.  On 

November 24, 2017, the TMX Group issued a further statement acknowledging that the matter is complex and touches 

multiple aspects of Canada’s capital market system and, as such, requires close examination and careful consideration. 

The TMX Group noted that CDS continues to work with regulators and exchanges to arrive at a solution that will 

clarify this matter for issuers, investors, participants and the public. This solution will be founded on each exchange’s 

role in applying listing requirements, including exchange rules related to issuers’ compliance with applicable laws. In 

the interim, the TMX Group reiterated there is no CDS ban on the clearing of securities of issuers with marijuana-

related activities in the U.S.  On February 8, 2018, CDS signed a memorandum of understanding (the “CDS MOU”) 

with the Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., the CSE, the Toronto Stock Exchange and the TSX Venture Exchange 

(collectively, the “Exchanges”). The CDS MOU outlines CDS’ and the Exchanges’ understanding of Canada’s 

regulatory framework applicable to the rules and procedures and regulatory oversight of the Exchanges and CDS. The 

CDS MOU confirms, with respect to the clearing of listed securities, that CDS relies on the Exchanges to review the 

conduct of listed issuers. As a result, there is currently no CDS ban on the clearing of securities of issuers with 

marijuana-related activities in the U.S. However, if CDS were to proceed in the manner suggested by these 

publications, and apply such a policy to the Resulting Issuer, it would have a material adverse effect on the ability of 

holders of shares to make trades. In particular, the Issuer shares would become highly illiquid as investors would have 

no ability to effect a trade of the Shares through the facilities of a stock exchange.  

News media have reported that United States immigration authorities have increased scrutiny of Canadian citizens 

who are crossing the United States–Canada border with respect to persons involved in cannabis businesses in the 

United States. There have been a number of Canadians barred from entering the United States as a result of an 

investment in or act related to United States cannabis businesses. In some cases, entry has been barred for extended 

periods of time.  

The majority of persons travelling across the Canadian and U.S. border do so without incident. Some persons are 

simply denied entry one time. The U.S. Department of State and the Department of Homeland Security have indicated 

that the United States has not changed the admission requirements in response to the pending legalization of 

recreational cannabis in Canada. Admissibility to the United States may be denied to any person working or ‘having 

involvement in’ the marijuana industry according to United States Customs and Border Protection. Additionally, legal 

experts have indicated that if the admission criteria are applied broadly, this may result in a determination that the act 

of investing in or working or collaborating with a U.S. cannabis company is considered trafficking in a Schedule I 

controlled substance or aiding, abetting, assisting, conspiring or colluding in the trafficking of a Schedule I controlled 



 

substance. Inadmissibility in the United States implies a lifetime ban for entry as such designation is not lifted unless 

an individual applies for and obtains a waiver. 

Issuer directors, officers or employees traveling from Canada to the United States for the benefit of the Issuer may 

encounter enhanced scrutiny by United States immigration authorities that may result in the employee not being 

permitted to enter the United States for a specified period of time. If this happens to Issuer directors, officers or 

employees, then this may reduce our ability to manage our business effectively in the United States. Management of 

the Issuer and its legal counsel monitor US legal and regulatory developments in order to address both its ancillary 

involvement in the US marijuana industry and any immigration related issues as they arise. 

The following table presents a quantification of the Issuer’s consolidated balance sheet and operating statement 

exposure that pertains to its US-related operations, as at September 30, 2018: 

Balance Sheet/Operating 

Statement Line Item 

Canadian Activities % US Activities % 

Receivables and prepaid assets 69% 31% 

Notes receivable     

Inventory and biological assets 0% 100% 

Other current assets 65% 35% 

Investments and investments in 

associates 
    

Plant, property and equipment 29% 71% 

Intangible assets and goodwill 0% 100% 

Other assets 99% 1% 

Payables and accrued liabilities 54% 46% 

Income Tax Payable 0% 100% 

Other Liabilities 100% 0% 

Long Term Debt     

Promissory Note Payable 100% 0% 

Convertible Debt 100% 0% 

      

Income Statement Line Item     

Gross Profit 0% 100% 

Other revenues 100% 0% 

Operating Expenses 31% 69% 

 

There are a number of risks associated with the business of the Issuer. See Part IV entitled “Risk Factors”. 
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS 

The Issuer is not offering to sell securities under this Prospectus. An investor should rely only on the information 

contained in this Prospectus and is not entitled to rely on parts of the information contained in this Prospectus to the 

exclusion of others. The Issuer has not authorized anyone to provide investors with additional or different information. 

If anyone provides a prospective investor with additional, different or inconsistent information, including statements in 

the media about the Company, such information should not be relied on. The information contained in this Prospectus 

is accurate only as of the date of this Prospectus or the date indicated, regardless of the time of delivery of this 

Prospectus.  

As used in this Prospectus, the terms “we”, “us” and “our”, mean the Issuer, or the Company, respectively, as the 

context requires, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This Prospectus contains forward-looking information which reflects expectations of Management regarding the 

Issuer’s, Company’s and Resulting Issuer’s future growth, results of operations, performance and business prospects 

and opportunities.  Often, but not necessarily always, words such as “will”, “should”, “additional”, “affect”, 

“anticipate”, “be required”,  “believe”, “budget”, “contemplate”, “continue”, “could”, “does not expect”, “effect” 

“estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “is expected”, “may”, “plan”, “planned”, “potential” , “target”, “predict”, “project”, 

“prospects”, “results”, “will exist” and similar expressions have been used to identify forward-looking information.  

This information reflects Management’s current beliefs and is based on information currently available to Management.  

Forward-looking information involves significant risks, uncertainties and assumptions. A number of factors could cause 

actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in forward-looking information, including those factors 

listed in the “Risk Factors” section of this Prospectus. Certain material factors or assumptions are applied in making 

forward-looking statements and actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. 

Certain assumptions in respect to cannabis regulations and legal frameworks globally, the performance of third-party 

partners and clients, consumer and patient sentiment on usage of cannabis as a medicine- both in existing and new 

regions, the performance of existing assets such as the Company’s evaluation and education centers within markets that 

have evolving legislation, consumer interest in the services and products of the Company,  licensing price and the 

number of users the Company can attract towards it’s Sail and TokeIn brands, the ability of the Company to retain key 

management personnel, the introduction of new competition within existing and proposed markets, the ability of the 

Company to obtain necessary financing for operations and planned expansion, the ability to access sufficient capital 

from internal or external and external sources, and rules and regulations related to data collection in each market the 

Company serves are material factors in preparing forward-looking information. The Prospectus contains forward 

looking information about the overall potential of the industry, the possible direction the industry may take and market 

size. This information relies on assumptions regarding regulations, demand, geographical issues, and demographics. 

The Prospectus also discusses the Company’s intention to develop a vertically integrated suite of productivity 

technology and services that is built from seed to consumer with all the major customer segments addressed. Getting a 

product from conceptualization to market involves several steps and the Company will rely on market and customer 

feedback to at each step to refine it’s product offering. The expansion of CCD operations described in detail in the said 

section depends upon the Company’s ability to secure appropriate financing. Actual results, performance or 

achievement could differ materially from those expressed herein. While the Company anticipates that subsequent events 

and developments may cause its views to change, the forward-looking statements are included to allow the reader to 

understand our current working capital position, and may not be appropriate for other purposes. 

There can be no assurance that forward-looking information in this Prospectus will prove to be accurate, as actual 

results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements or information. Accordingly, 

readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information.  Forward-looking information is made as of 

the date of this Prospectus, and neither the Issuer nor the Company assumes obligation to update or revise it to reflect 

new events or circumstances, unless otherwise required under applicable securities laws. 

GENERAL DISCLOSURE INFORMATION 

The Issuer is not offering to sell securities under this Prospectus. An investor should rely only on the information 

contained in this Prospectus. Prospective investors should read this entire Prospectus and consult their own professional 

advisors to assess the income tax, legal, risk factors and other aspects of an investment in the Common Shares. 
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Currency and Certain Information 

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all dollar amounts contained in this Prospectus are in 

Canadian dollars $. Aggregated figures in graphs, charts and tables contained in this Prospectus may not add due to 

rounding. Historical statistical data and/or historical returns do not necessarily indicate future performance. Unless 

otherwise indicated, the market and industry data contained in this Prospectus is based upon information from industry 

and other publications and the knowledge of management and experience of the Issuer in the markets in which the 

Issuer operates. While Management believes this data is reliable, market and industry data is subject to variations and 

cannot be verified with complete certainty due to limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary 

nature of the data gathering process and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey. Neither 

the Issuer nor Management has independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this 

Prospectus or ascertained the underlying assumptions relied upon by such sources. 

 

Words importing the singular number include the plural and vice versa, and words importing any gender or the neuter 

include both genders and the neuter. 

 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

 

This Prospectus includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third-party sources, including industry 

publications. The Issuer believes that the industry data is accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, 

but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of this data. Third-party sources generally state that the 

information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as to 

the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data is believed to be reliable, Issuer has not 

independently verified any of the data from third-party sources referred to in this Prospectus or ascertained the 

underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources. 

 

Defined Terms 

Please refer to the “Glossary of Terms” section in this Prospectus for a list of defined terms used herein. 
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS 

The following is a summary of the principal features of this Prospectus and should be read together with the more detailed 

information and financial data and financial statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.  Certain terms used in 

this Prospectus are defined in the Glossary of Terms. 

General 

CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly known as 10557404 Canada Corp. 

The Issuer was incorporated under the CBCA under the name 10557404 Canada Corp. on December 27, 2017. The 

Issuer changed its name to CB2 Insights Inc. on December 20, 2018. The Issuer completed the Consolidation on 

December 20, 2018. 

 

The address of the registered office and the head office of the Issuer is 401 Bay Street, Suite 2702, Toronto, Ontario 

M5H 2Y4. 

 

On February 16, 2018 the Issuer entered into  arrangement agreement with Telferscot and other subsidiaries of 

Telferscot. On March 18, 2018 the Issuer filed Articles of Amendment to effect a change in its share capital. On April 

9, 2018 the Plan of Arrangement was completed and the Issuer became a reporting issuer in the provinces of British 

Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba. 

The Issuer has not conducted any material business operations since incorporation other than: pursuing interests under 

a Letter of Intent with Bright Mega Capital Corp. and entering into the Share Exchange Agreement. 

 

MVC Technologies Inc. 

MVC Technologies Inc. (“MVC” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the OBCA on November 3, 2014.  

 

The principal business carried on by the Company since incorporation is the development of an integrated cloud-based 

productivity and business intelligence software platform for the cannabis industry (the “Business”). The Company 

operates under brand names including Sail Cannabis (“Sail”), Canna Care Docs (“CCD”), and TokeIn (“TokeIn”).  

The registered office and the head office of the Company is 5045 Orbitor Dr., Building 11, Suite 300, Mississauga, 

Ontario L4W 4Y4. The Company has one wholly owned subsidiary, MVC Technologies USA Inc., a corporation 

incorporated in the state of Delaware on December 15, 2017. 

The Transaction 

On December 20, 2018, the Issuer and the Company entered into the Share Exchange Agreement in respect of the 

proposed Transaction. The Share Exchange Agreement was amended on January 24, 2019 and closed on February 27, 

2019. The Transaction involved one stage whereby Issuer Subsidiary and the Company amalgamated to form Amalco as 

the wholly owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer. In doing so, Issuer issued one (1) Resulting Issuer Share (post 

Consolidation) for each one (1) Company Share then issued and outstanding. Consequently, the Resulting Issuer owns 

100% of Amalco and shareholders of the Company became shareholders of the Resulting Issuer. The Private Placement 

Financing was not a closing condition for the Transaction. In addition, pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, the 

Issuer has the right to complete a private placement financing and/or rights offering of up to $3,000,000 at a price not 

less than $0.45 on a post-Consolidation basis. 

The rights offering being undertaken by the Issuer is only available to shareholders of the issuer prior to the closing of 

the Transaction.  This financing was negotiated as part of the Share Exchange Agreement to allow the pre-existing 

shareholders of the Issuer to participate in the Transaction.   Shareholders of MVC were able to participate in its financing 

and therefore did not need the opportunity to participate in the Rights Offering. 

 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Exchange Agreement: 

1. the Issuer agreed to effect a business combination, by way of 3 cornered amalgamation or otherwise, with 

the Company pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, subject to necessary shareholder and regulatory 
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approvals; 

 

2. the Issuer consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of one (1) new common share 

for each 16.5 issued and outstanding Issuer common shares (the “Consolidation”) and changed its name to 

CB2 Insights Inc. (the “Name Change”);  

 

3. the Issuer issued one (1) (post Consolidation) Share for each one (1) Company Share issued and outstanding 

on the Closing Date; 

 
4. as a result of the proposed Transaction, the Company became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer and 

the business of the Company became the business of the Resulting Issuer and the shareholders of the 

Company became shareholders of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

The following diagram summarizes the structure of the entities after completion of the Share Exchange: 

 
Conditions Precedent to the Completion of the Transaction 

The Transaction is subject to the customary conditions precedent set out in the Share Exchange Agreement including 

but not limited to: 

 

(a) the shareholders of the Company shall have approved the Transaction; 

 

(b) the shareholders of the Issuer shall have approved the Transaction, if required by the Exchange, and 

Consolidation and Name Change; 

 

(c) conditional approval of the CSE for the listing of the Resulting Issuer Shares on the facilities of the 

CSE; 

 

(d) receipt of executed resignations and releases (in form satisfactory to the Company, acting 

reasonably) from the current directors of the Issuer; 

 

(e) the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer immediately after Closing consists of 5 directors, as 

follows: Pradyum Sekar, Kashaf Qureshi, David Danziger, Dr. Danial Schecter and Norton 

Singhavon; and 

 
(f) completion of the Transaction shall have occurred on or before February 28, 2019, or such later 

date as may be agreed in writing between the Issuer and Company (the “Termination Date”). 

 

The Resulting Issuer’s Board and Management Following Completion of the Transaction  

 

Directors  

 

The Directors of the Resulting Issuer are:  



 

 11 

 

Kashaf Qureshi 

Pradyum Sekar 

David Danziger 

   Dr. Danial Schecter 

   Norton Singhavon 

 

The Board has two non-independent Directors and three independent Directors: David Danziger, Dr. Danial Schecter, 

and Norton Singhavon; are independent Directors of the Resulting Issuer.  

 

Officers 

 

The Officers of the Resulting Issuer are:  

 

Kashaf Qureshi – President 

Pradyum Sekar – Chief Executive Officer 

Carmelo Marrelli – Chief Financial Officer 

Enrico Moretti – Corporate Secretary 

 

Private Placement Financing 

The Company completed a non-brokered private placement financing (the “Private Placement Financing”) of 

securities (pursuant to prospectus and registration exemptions in Canada, the United States, and in other jurisdictions) 

to raise aggregate gross proceeds of $2,566,668 through the issuance of Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit and of 

Subscription Receipts Units at a price of $0.50 per Subscription Receipt Unit. The Private Placement Financing is not 

required in order to satisfy closing conditions of the Share Exchange. Each Unit and each Subscription Receipt Unit 

consists of one (1) common share of the Company one half (1/2) common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant 

will entitle the holder to purchase one Common Share at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from the date 

of satisfaction of certain escrow conditions. The Subscription Receipts converted automatically into securities of the 

Resulting Issuer upon completion of the Transaction. 

FUNDS AVAILABLE AND USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

Upon completion of the Transaction, it is anticipated the Resulting Issuer will have working capital of approximately 

$2,544,715. The principal purposes for the use of those funds will be as follows:  

 

Item $ 
Funds Available  
Estimated net proceeds from the sale of the securities offered under the prospectus N/A 
Net proceeds from Private Placement Financing closed on February 21, 2019 $2,565,689 

Working capital of Issuer as at January 31, 2019 $28,583 
Estimated consolidated working capital of Company as at January 31, 2019 

$110,443 
Subtotal $2,704,715 

4 
  
Principal purposes   
Payment of interest on promissory note issued on December 20, 2018 (Note 1) $392,890 
Transaction costs (Note 2) $150,000 
Operational expenditure during the year (Note 3) $260,000 
US Clinical Acquisitions (Note 4) $1,901,825 

Total $2,704,715 

 

Note 1 Interest calculated at 12% of CAD equivalent amount of US$2,400,000 Promissory Note issued in December 

2018. Proceeds from this note were used to repay older Promissory Note due in the same month. 

Note 2 Legal, accounting and other professional fees ($130,000) and listing fees ($20,000) 

Note 3 Salaries and wages ($180,000), Rent ($70,000) Travel ($10,000)  

Note 4 The Company plans to use these funds to support its growth into new markets and to identify potential 

acquisition targets in 2019. 
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The Resulting Issuer intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances, 

however, where for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Use of funds will be subject to 

the discretion of management. See “Part III – Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Use of Proceeds” for 

further detail. 

Summary of Financial Information 

The following selected financial information is subject to the detailed information contained in the financial 

statements of the Issuer, the Company and the proforma consolidated financial statements of the Resulting Issuer, and 

notes thereto appearing elsewhere in the Prospectus. The selected financial information is derived from and should be 

read in conjunction with the Company’s interim financial statements for the nine-month period ended September 30, 

2018, Issuer’s audited financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2018, Company’s audited financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, and the proforma consolidated financial statements of the Resulting 

Issuer as of September 30, 2018 along with the Management Discussion and Analysis included in this Prospectus. 

 

 

 

As at December 31, 2018 and 

September 30, 2018 

 
Issuer 

$ 

 

Company 
$ 

Pro Forma 

Adjustments 
$ 

 
ProForma 

$ 

Balance Sheet     

Current assets 83,827 3,374,168 1,187,163 4,645,158 

Total assets 83,827 12,317,080 1,187,163 13,588,070 

Current liabilities 119,753 4,931,114 (3,772,698) 1,278,169 

Total liabilities 119,753 4,931,114 (590,396) 4,460,471 

Shareholders’ 

Equity (35,926) 7,385,966 1,777,559 9,127,599 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

In this Prospectus, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below, unless otherwise indicated or the context 

otherwise requires: 

“1933 Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended; 

“ACMPR” means the Access to Cannabis for Medical for Medical Purposes Regulations which came into force in 

Canada on August 24, 2016. 

“Amalco” means the amalgamated company formed under the OBCA upon completion of the Amalgamation of the 

Issuer Subsidiary and the Company;  

“Amalgamation” means the three cornered amalgamation between Issuer, Issuer Subsidiary and the Company under 

the OBCA; 

 “Applicable Securities Law” means applicable securities legislation, securities regulation and securities rules, as 

amended, and the policies, notices, instruments and blanket orders having the force of law, in force from time to time; 

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer comprised of Kashaf 

Qureshi, David Danziger and Norton Singhavon; 

“Board” or “Board of Directors” means the board of directors, or comparable corporate governing structure, of Issuer, 

the Company, or the Resulting Issuer, as applicable; 

 

“CBCA” means the Canada Business Corporations Act; 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer; 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer; 

“COO” means Chief Operating Officer; 

“Closing” means the completion of the Transaction in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Exchange 

Agreement; 

 

“Closing Date” means the date of Closing, which shall be the fifth Business Day following the satisfaction or waiver 

of all conditions to the obligations of the parties to the Share Exchange Agreement to consummate the Transaction 

(other than conditions that are satisfied with respect to action the respective parties will take at the Closing itself), or 

such other date the parties may mutually determine; 

“Common Shares” means common shares in the capital of the Issuer;  

“Company” mean MVC Technologies Inc.; 

“Company Shares” means the common shares of the Company; 

“Consolidation” means the consolidation of the common shares of the Issuer on the basis of one (1) new common 

share of the Issuer for each 16.5 issued and outstanding common shares of the Issuer, which Consolidation was effected 

on December 20, 2018; 

“CSE Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement to be entered into on the Closing Date, among the Resulting 

Issuer, the Escrow Agent and certain shareholders, pursuant to which 32,300,000 Resulting Issuer Shares will be held 

in escrow; 

“CSE Escrow Shares” means the Capital Transfer Agency ULC Resulting Issuer Shares that are held in escrow 

pursuant to the CSE Escrow Agreement; 

 

“Escrow Agent” means Capital Transfer Agency ULC; 
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“Exchange” means the CSE; 

“Final Prospectus” means the (final) non-offering prospectus of the Issuer, prepared in accordance with NI 41-101, 

relating to the Transaction; 

 

“Final Receipt” means the receipt issued by the Principal Regulator, evidencing that a receipt has been, or has been 

deemed to be, issued for the Final Prospectus in British Columbia; 

“Form 51-102F6” means Form 51-102F6 – Statement of Executive Compensation;  

“IP” means intellectual property; 

“Issuer” means CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly known as 10557404 Canada Corp.); 

“Issuer Shares” means the common shares of the Issuer; 

“Issuer Subsidiary” means a corporation incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer for purposes of the 

Transaction; 

“Letter of Intent” means the non-binding letter of intent dated August 28, 2018 as amended October 26, 2018 between 

the Issuer and the Company relating to the Transaction; 

“Licensed Producer” or “LP” means licensed producer who is approved by Health Canada to sell or provide marijuana 

for medical purposes to eligible persons; 

“Listing Date” means the date that the Resulting Issuer lists its Common Shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange;  

“Management” means the management of the Issuer, the Company, or the Resulting Issuer, as the context requires; 

“MD&A” means Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations; 

“MVC Shares” means the common shares of the Company; 

“Name Change” means the name change of the Issuer to CB2 Insights Inc., which name change was effected on 

December 20, 2018; 

“Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means: 

 

(a) a CEO; 

 

(b) a CFO; 

 

(c) each of the three other most highly compensated executive officers of the Company, including any 

of its subsidiaries, or the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity other 

than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose total 

compensation was individually, more than $150,000 for that year; and 

 

(d) each individual who would be a NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was 

neither an executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, nor serving in a similar capacity, at 

the end of the most recently completed financial year; 

 

“NEX” means the NEX board operated by TSXV; 

“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements, of the Canadian Securities 

Administrators; 

 

“NI 45-102” means National Instrument 45-102 – Resale of Securities, of the Canadian Securities Administrators; 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees, of the Canadian Securities Administrators; 
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“Note Payable” means the promissory note issued in connection with acquisition of MedEval Corp., principal amount 

of US $2,500,000, which Note Payable was repaid in full in December 2018; 

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201– Escrow for Initial Public Offerings  ̧ of the Canadian Securities 

Administrators; 

“OBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario), including the regulations promulgated thereunder, as 

amended; 

“Person”, unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association or organization, body 

corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual; 

“Preliminary Prospectus” means this (preliminary) non-offering prospectus of the Issuer, prepared in accordance with 

NI 41-101; 

“Private Placement Financing” means the financing of the Company by way of non-brokered private placement of 

Units and of Subscription Receipt Units of up to an aggregate of $5,000,000 at $0.50 per Unit or per Subscription 

Receipt Unit; 

“Promissory Note” means the principal amount US$2,400,000 promissory note issued by Company on December 20, 

2018 which Promissory Note will be exchanged for a convertible secured debenture. 

“Prospectus” means collectively, the Amended and Restated Non-Offering Preliminary Prospectus and this Non-

Offering Final Prospectus; 

“Preliminary Receipt” means the receipt issued by the Principal Regulator, evidencing that a receipt has been, or has 

been deemed to be, issued for the Preliminary Prospectus in British Columbia; 

“Principal Regulator” means the British Columbia Securities Commission; 

“Resulting Issuer” means Issuer after the Closing; 

“Resulting Issuer Options” means options to acquire the Resulting Issuer Shares granted under the Stock Option Plan; 

 

“Resulting Issuer Shares” means Common Shares in the capital of the Resulting Issuer; 

“securities regulatory authority” means the securities commission, or similar regulatory authority, for each respective 

provincial and territorial jurisdiction of Canada;  

“Share Exchange” means the transaction entered into by the Issuer, the Company and the Issuer Subsidiary to effect 

the Transaction; 

“Share Exchange Agreement” means the agreement entered into on December 20, 2018 as amended on January 24, 

2019 to give effect to the Share Exchange; 

“Stock Option Plan” means the incentive stock option plan of the Resulting Issuer; 

“Subscription Receipt Units” means the subscription agreement units, issued in connection with the Private Placement 

Financing, and consisting of one (1) common share and one half (1/2) common share purchase warrant exercisable for 

a period of three (3) years from satisfaction of certain escrow conditions, at an exercise price of $0.80; 

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended and the regulations thereunder in force as of the date 

hereof; 

“Telferscot” means Telferscot Resources Inc.; 

“Transfer Agent” means the transfer agent and registrar of the Resulting Issuer, being Capital Transfer Agency ULC; 

“Transaction” means the Share Exchange transaction between Issuer, Company and Issuer Subsidiary in accordance 

with the Share Exchange Agreement; 
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“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange; 

“TSX-V” means the TSX Venture Exchange; 

“Unit” means 1 common share and 1 ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.80 for a period of three years 

from the date of issuance; 

“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

PART I – INFORMATION CONCERNING CB2 INSIGHTS INC.  

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS 10557404 CANADA CORP.) 

NAME, ADDRESS AND INCORPORATION 

The Issuer was incorporated under the CBCA under the name 10557404 Canada Corp. on December 27, 2017. The 

Issuer changed its name to CB2 Insights Inc. on December 20, 2018. 

 

The address of the registered office and the head office of the Issuer is 401 Bay Street, Suite 2702, Toronto, Ontario 

M5H 2Y4.  

 

On February 16, 2018 the Issuer entered into the arrangement agreement with Telferscot and other subsidiaries of 

Telferscot. On March 18, 2018 the Issuer filed Articles of Amendment to effect a change in its share capital. On April 

9, 2018 the Plan of Arrangement was completed and the Issuer became a reporting issuer in the provinces of British 

Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba. 

Prior to Closing the Transaction, the Issuer did not have subsidiaries other that Issuer Subsidiary.  

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS OF THE ISSUER 

 

The Issuer has not conducted any material business operations since incorporation other than: pursuing interests under 

a Letter of Intent with Bright Mega Capital Corp.; and entering into the Share Exchange Agreement. 

 

THE TRANSACTION 

 

On December 20, 2018, the Issuer and the Company entered into the Share Exchange Agreement in respect of the 

proposed Transaction. The Share Exchange Agreement was amended on January 24, 2019. The Transaction involved 

one stage whereby Issuer Subsidiary and the Company amalgamated to form Amalco as the wholly owned subsidiary 

of the Resulting Issuer. In doing so, Issuer issued one (1) Resulting Issuer Share (post Consolidation) for each one (1) 

Company Share then issued and outstanding. Consequently, the Resulting Issuer will own 100% of Amalco and 

shareholders of the Company became shareholders of the Resulting Issuer. The Private Placement Financing was not a 

closing condition for the Transaction. In addition, pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, the Issuer has the right 

to complete a private placement financing and/or rights offering to those shareholders of the Issuer prior to the Closing 

of up to $3,000,000 at a price of $0.45 on a post-Consolidation basis. 

 

The rights offering being undertaken by the Issuer is only available to shareholders of the issuer prior to the closing of 

the Transaction.  This financing was negotiated as part of the Share Exchange Agreement to allow the pre-existing 

shareholders of the Issuer to participate in the Transaction. Shareholders of MVC were able to participate in its 

financing and therefore did not need the opportunity to participate in the Rights Offering. 

 

The Issuer has received conditional listing approval from the CSE. 

 

Share Exchange Agreement 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Exchange Agreement: 

 

1. the Issuer agreed to effect a business combination, by way of 3 cornered amalgamation or otherwise, with 

the Company pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement entered into between the Issuer, the Issuer 

Subsidiary and the Company, subject to necessary shareholder and regulatory approvals; 
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2. the Issuer consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of one (1) new common 

share for each 16.5 issued and outstanding Issuer common shares (the “Consolidation”) and changed its 

name to CB2 Insights Inc.;  

 

3. the Issuer issued one (1) (post Consolidation) share for each one (1) common share of the Company issued 

and outstanding on the Closing Date; 

 
4. as a result of the Share Exchange the Company became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer and the 

business of the Company became the business of the Resulting Issuer, and the shareholders of the Company 

became shareholders of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

The following diagram summarizes the structure of the entities after completion of the Share Exchange: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Conditions Precedent to the Completion of the Transaction 

The Transaction was subject to the customary conditions precedent to be set out in the Share Exchange Agreement 

including but not limited to: 

 

(a) the shareholders of the Company shall have approved the Transaction which approval was 

obtained on November; 

 

(b) the shareholders of the Issuer shall have approved the Transaction, if required by the Exchange, 

and Consolidation and Name Change (approved); 

 

(c) conditional approval of the CSE for the listing of the Resulting Issuer Shares on the facilities of 

the CSE (received); 

 

(d) receipt of executed resignations and releases (in form satisfactory to the Company, acting 

reasonably) from the current directors of the Issuer (received); 

 

(e) the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer immediately after Closing shall consist of 5 directors 

and it is anticipated they will be: Pradyum Sekar, Kashaf Qureshi, David Danziger, Dr. Danial 

Schecter and Norton Singhavon (confirmed); and 

 

(f) completion of the Transaction shall have occurred on or before February 28, 2019, or such later 

date as may be agreed in writing between the Issuer and Company (the “Termination Date”). 

 

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 

The Issuer does not have any intellectual property. 

 

CB2 Insights Inc. 

(formerly, 10557404 Canada Corp.) 

Reporting Issuer 

MVC Technologies Inc. 

(Amalco) 

Ontario Subsidiary 

MVC Technologies USA Inc. 

U.S. Subsidiary (Delaware) 
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DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTION 

 

The Issuer has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its Common Shares since its inception. 

 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

The following table sets forth selected financial information for the Issuer, summarized from its audited financial 

statements for the period ended December 31, 2018. This selected financial information should be read in conjunction 

with the Issuer’s financial statements, including the notes thereto, which are attached to this Prospectus as Appendix 

A. 

 

 December 31, 2018 

$ 

Total expense 218,282 

Cash 27,740 

Total assets 83,827 

Shareholder’s equity (deficiency) (35,926) 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

The Issuer’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides an analysis of the Issuer’s financial results for the 

period from inception to December 31, 2018, and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements 

of the Issuer for the period, and the notes thereto respectively. The Issuer’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

is attached to this Prospectus as Appendix A1. 

 

Certain information included in the Issuer’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis is forward-looking and based 

upon assumptions and anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties 

materialize or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those 

expected. See “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for further detail. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Issuer has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

Related Party Transactions 

 

The Company is billed a monthly fee of $2,000 (plus applicable HST) by a company controlled by a director and officer 

for management and administrative services, including the corporate secretary, the services of the CFO, office rent and 

regular administrative functions. As of August 1, 2018, the monthly fee increased to $2,750 per month. During the 

period from December 27, 2017 to December 31, 2018, the Company incurred total fees of $28,750. Additionally, on 

July 5, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 303,030 stock options to the same company as part of their 

compensation. The options are exercisable at $0.165 each for a period of up to 3 years from the date of issuance and 

are vested in two tranches during the first 12 months. The total fair value of the options was estimated to be $18,500 of 

which $17,746 has vested and thus recognized as an expense in the period ended December 31, 2018. 

 

On July 1, 2018, the Company signed a consulting contract with a company controlled by a director and officer to 

provide capital market advice including financing management and to assist in the process of a successful public listing. 

The duration of this contract is guaranteed for an initial term of 6 months and will continue on a monthly basis thereafter 

until such time as this contract is terminated. The Company will pay a finders’ fee of up to 5% of funds raised for the 

company and a monthly consulting fee of $5,000 beginning on January 1, 2019, should the contract be extended. 

Additionally, on September 24, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 303,030 stock options to the consultant as 

part of their compensation. The options are exercisable at a price of $0.66 each until they expire on July 4, 2021. They 

are vested in four even tranches during the first 12 months. The total fair value of the options was estimated to be 

$71,500 of which $35,946 has vested and thus recognized as an expense in the period ended December 31, 2018. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies Including Initial Adoption 
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The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues 

and expenses. Management evaluates the estimates periodically. Actual results may differ from these estimates by 

material amounts. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

 

Common Shares 

 

The Issuer is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares, of which, immediately prior to Closing 

1,363,494 common shares were issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-convertible. Holders of Issuer Common 

Shares are entitled to vote at meetings of shareholders, share equally in the remaining property of the Issuer upon 

liquidation, dissolution or winding up, subject to rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to other class 

of shares, and, subject to rights of First Preferred Shares, to receive dividends if, as and when declared by directions 

of the Issuer. 

 

See Part I, “The Transaction” for details of securities proposed to be issued on closing of the Transaction. See also 

“Part III – Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information”, “Part III 

– Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Description of the Securities”, “Part III – Information Concerning 

the Resulting Issuer – Options to Purchase Securities” and “Part III – Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – 

Fully Diluted Share Capital”. 

 

First Preferred Shares 

 

The Issuer is also authorized to issue an unlimited number of non-voting First Preferred Shares without par value, 

issuable in series with special rights or restrictions attached, none of which are issued and outstanding as of the date 

of this Prospectus and none of which are proposed to be issued in connection with either the Transaction or the Private 

Placement Financing. 

 

The Issuer is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Series A Shares (the “Series A 

Shares”).  These Series A Shares are non-voting and carry no rights to dividends.  They are redeemable at the option 

of the holder during the first six months after the first Series A Share is issued.  If not redeemed in this period or 

otherwise converted at the option of the holder, the Series A Shares are convertible into common shares on the basis 

of one hundred common shares for each Series A Share outstanding at the end of the 6-month period. No Series A 

Shares have been issued.  

 

Warrants 

 

In connection with a private placement financing that closed on August 29, 2018 the Issuer issued units consisting of 1 

common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 151,515 (post Consolidation) whole 

warrants were issued with each whole warrant exercisable at $1.65 for a period of two years from the date of issuance. 

 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

 

Since the date of incorporation and prior to Closing, the Issuer had granted securities as set out in the table below: 

 

Holder Number of Shares 

Under 

Option/Warrant(2) 

Exercise 

Price 

Expiry Date Vesting 

Executive 

Officers 

40,000 $0.165 

 

July 5, 2021 July 5, 2018 
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Directors  

(Non-executive) 

20,000 $0.165 

 

July 5, 2021 July 5, 2018 

Consultants(1) 303,030 

 

$0.165 

 

July 4, 2021 

 

½ July 15, 2018 

½ January 15, 2019 

 

 303,030 $0.66 July 4, 2021 Vesting over twelve (12) months, with 

25% vesting September 30, 2018 and 

the remainder vesting every three (3) 

months thereafter 
Note:  

1. Consultants includes firms controlled directly or indirectly by an Executive Officer of the Issuer. 
 

The Issuer maintains a Stock Option Plan, which is a “rolling” stock option plan, pursuant to which the Board may 

from time to time, in its discretion, and, as applicable, in accordance with the Exchange requirements, grant to 

directors, officers, employees and consultants, non-assignable and non-transferable options to purchase the Resulting 

Issuer Shares, provided that the number of the Issuer Shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of its then 

issued and outstanding shares. The options are exercisable up to 10 years from the date of grant, so long the optionee 

maintains the optionee’s position with the Issuer. The number of Issuer Shares reserved for issuance to any optionee 

cannot exceed 5% of the then issued and outstanding shares and the number of Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 

issuance to consultants cannot exceed 2% of the then issued and outstanding shares. 

 

There are currently a total of 514,545 options exercisable. 

 

The minimum exercise price of an option granted under the Stock Option Plan must not be less than that allowed by 

CSE. 

 

Options granted to an optionee who does not continue as a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Resulting 

Issuer, has 30 days after such optionee ceases to be a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

For further details see “Part III – Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – Options to Purchase Securities”. 
 

PRIOR SALES 

 

Since the date of its incorporation and prior to Closing, the Issuer issued Common Shares (on a post-Consolidation 

basis) as follows: 

 
Date Number of 

Common Shares 

Method of Sales Price per Common Share 

April 5, 2018 757,495 Issued from treasury $0.000001 

June 20, 2018 303,000 Issued from treasury $0.08 

August 29, 2018 303,000 Issued from treasury $0.33 

 

ESCROW SECURITIES  

 

In accordance with the policies of the CSE and the terms of the Share Exchange Agreement, there are no shares at the 

date of this Prospectus held in escrow. Following completion of the Transaction 32,300,000 Resulting Issuer Shares 

are expected to be held in escrow. See “Part III – Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer – The CSE Escrow 

Shares” for further detail. 

 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

 

Except as disclosed in this Prospectus, within the last three years, no director, executive officer or person that 

beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of any class or series of the outstanding 
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voting securities of the Company or any associate or affiliate of the foregoing has, or has had, any material interest, 

direct or indirect, in any transaction prior to the date of this Prospectus or any proposed transaction that has materially 

affected, or is reasonably expected to materially affect, the Company or any of its affiliates. 

See “– The Transaction – The Share Exchange Agreement”. 

 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 

The Issuer is not a party to any legal proceedings, nor is it aware of any legal proceedings to which any of its property 

or assets is the subject matter, and it is not aware of any such proceedings known to be contemplated. 

 

AUDITOR 

 

The auditor of the Issuer is SDVC LLP, 4 Robert Speck Parkway, 4th Floor, Mississauga, Ontario L4Z 1S1. Upon 

Closing of the Transaction and as of the date of this Prospectus, it is proposed that the Resulting Issuer’s auditor will 

be the Company’s current auditor, Grant Thornton LLP. 

 

See also “Part V – Other Matters – Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars”. 

 

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

 

The transfer agent and registrar for Issuer’s Common Shares is Capital Transfer Agency, ULC, 390 Bay Street, Suite 

920, Toronto Ontario M5H 2Y2. It is anticipated that Capital Transfer Agency ULC will continue as transfer agent 

and registrar of the Resulting Issuer upon Closing of the Transaction. 

 

See also “Part V – Other Matters – Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars”. 

 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

 

Other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, the Issuer has not entered into any contracts 

material to investors, other than the Letter of Intent between the Issuer and the Company dated August 28, 2018 with 

respect to the Transaction, and copies of this agreement may be inspected, without charge, at the registered office of 

the Issuer at 401 Bay Street, Suite 2702, Toronto, Ontario M5H 2Y4 during normal business hours until the date of 

Closing and for a period of 30 days thereafter. 

 

PART II – INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COMPANY  
 

NAME, ADDRESS, INCORPORATION 

 

The Company was incorporated pursuant to the OBCA on November 3, 2014. Rights attaching to the Company’s Class 

B shares were amended by way of Articles of Amendment dated December 23, 2016. The Company amended its capital 

structure by creating one class of shares being common shares and converting all classes of shares into common shares 

pursuant to Articles of Amendment dated May 30, 2017. The Company amended its capital structure by subdividing 

each issued and outstanding common share into 30 (1:30) common shares pursuant to Articles of Amendment dated 

December 8, 2017. 

The registered office and head office of the Company is 5045 Orbitor Dr, Building 11, Suite 300, Mississauga, Ontario 

L4W 4Y4. 

The Company currently has one wholly owned subsidiary MVC Technologies USA Inc., a corporation incorporated in 

the state of Delaware on December 15, 2017.  

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

The principal business carried out by the Company since incorporation is the development of an integrated cloud-based 

productivity and business intelligence software platform for the cannabis industry (the “Business”). The Company 
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operates under its parent brand name as well as: Sail Cannabis (“Sail”); Canna Care Docs (“CCD”); and TokeIn 

(“TokeIn”).  

The Company operates a number of brands that exclusively serve the global cannabis industry. The Company itself 

focuses on the intake, analysis and output of the evidence-based data that is derived from its operations.  The Company 

focuses on delivering predictive analytics tools to provide all cannabis stakeholders with an enhanced view of their 

business and the industry at large in order to make more informed decisions.  

The first product to market in 2016 focused on the medical cannabis sector with a cannabis Electronic Medical Records 

(“EMR”) platform and practice management software known as “Sail” which provides clinical management tools to 

medical cannabis clinics and other specialty clinics of which their combined operations currently handle approximately 

80,000 annual patient visits. The Sail platform is used in Canada, US, and internationally. 

To support the initial launch and further understanding of the customer target segment of medical practitioners, 

clinicians and patients, the Company acquired the assets of MedEval Corp. (operating as Canna Care Docs) on 

December 19, 2017 and now operates a network of cannabis evaluation centers in the US under the brand (“CCD”). 

CCD operates 28 physical locations serving 12 US states providing access to approximately 65,000 patients per year 

seeking to qualify for State-based qualifying medical conditions and over 100 clinicians seeking the support of a fully 

managed business model to assist in their medical cannabis practice. CCD aims to be a cannabis evaluation and 

education business and plans to open evaluation centres in current and emerging markets in both the US and 

internationally. CCD serves as a scalable education and support arm to Sail and its clinical software users.  

With the development of an ongoing pool of highly sought after clinically-validated data sets, the Company seeks to 

introduce software that works to solve the business needs of the entire cannabis value chain from producers, distributors, 

retailers and end consumers focusing on the gaps in productivity, efficiency, simplicity and integrating all the various 

segments into one complete system to help streamline and deliver data, and actionable insights across the entire 

organization.  

The Company also operates the TokeIn platform in order to expand into downstream market segments such as retailers. 

TokeIn provides a SaaS-based customer relationship management (“CRM”) software and a sales and marketing 

platform with loyalty and rewards programs allowing its customers, including retail customers, to improve on customer 

acquisition, customer retention and analytics by feeding business intelligence and targeted marketing campaigns to 

their customer base. 

 

HISTORY OF THE COMPANY 

 

MVC Technologies Inc. was incorporated under the OBCA on November 3, 2014. The Company and its shareholders 

are currently parties to a unanimous shareholders agreement.  

 

In 2014, the Company contracted with a Canadian development firm to begin the development of the first clinical 

practice management platform, My Virtual Clinic.  

 

During 2015, the Company continued the development of My Virtual Clinic platform and conducted beta tests 

throughout the year with physicians and Canadian Licensed Producers. The Company also completed in October 2015 

a non-brokered private placement financing with the issuance of 72 (pre-split) Class B shares at a price of $774.6079 

per share for gross proceeds of approximately $55,771. 

 

In January 2016, the Company brought to market a beta version of My Virtual Clinic for testing within a live clinical 

environment in Canada. By November 2016, My Virtual Clinic was ready for market adoption and was selling through 

word of mouth to medical cannabis specialty clinics in Canada as a clinical workflow and productivity practice 

management software.  

 

In consideration for the development of My Virtual Clinic, the Company issued at total of 1,500,000 shares to a 

development firm as payments for a development fee totaling $37,500. 

 

On October 31, 2016, the Company entered into an IP agreement with the development firm to ensure ownership and 

terminate the agreement with the development firm. The Company moved development of IP in-house.  
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In addition, during 2016, the Company completed a private placement of 144 (pre-split) Class A common shares for 

consideration of $277.78 per share, and 93 (pre-split) Class B shares at a price of $773.47 per share and a further 208 

(pre-split) Class B shares at a price of $769.23 per share for gross proceeds of an aggregate of $231,930. In December, 

2016, the Company exchanged each issued and outstanding share for 1,000 newly issued shares, and subsequently 

issued an additional 96,668 (pre-split) Class A common shares at a price of $1.50 per share for gross proceeds of 

approximately $140,035. 

 

In February 2017, to align the clinical software with a more adoptable and technology friendly brand identity, the 

Company rebranded the My Virtual Clinic software as “Sail Cannabis”. The Company also signed its first US customer 

as it expanded its product and value beyond Canada into the US. The Company developed and launched a beta version 

of its Clinical Decision Support platform in November 2017. The CDS platform was the first of its kind to launch in 

Canada and the US and strengthened the Sail platform’s position in the industry and the Company as a developer of 

productivity and data driven applications to support business operations.  

 

Between February and April 2017 the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 108,093 Class A 

Common Shares at a price of $2.78 (pre-split) per share for gross proceeds of approximately $276,900. 

 

Between May and September 2017, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of an aggregate of 1,109 

convertible debenture units for gross proceeds of $1,109,000. The convertible debenture units consist of 5% convertible 

debentures and 110 share purchase warrants for each $1,000 payment amount debentures. The debentures mature May 

30, 2019, are secured by the assets of the Company and provide certain rights to Grandhill Capital Inc. (the “Lead 

Holder”) representing by the debenture holders. The debentures are automatically convertible into shares of the 

Company in the event the Company completes a liquidity event on or before November 30, 2018 at $4.53 (pre-split) 

or $0.15 post-split and provide that the Company must issue the equivalent of 1.1 common shares for each one (1) 

common share otherwise issuable on conversion in the event the debentures are converted after November 30, 2018 

but before a liquidity event. The warrants forming part of the convertible debenture units are convertible at $6.00 per 

share (pre-split) or $0.20 post-split until the date that is 24 months from a liquidity event subject to issue of 1.1 common 

shares per warrant upon conversion of the debentures. 

 

Concurrently with the closing of the convertible debenture unit private placement, the Company filed Articles of 

Amendment on May 30, 2017 to revise the share capital structure of the Company by removing Class A, Class B and 

Class C common shares and replacing with one class of shares, namely common shares. 

 

In December 2017 and early January, 2018, the Company completed a brokered private placement of 10,329,492 

common share units at a price of $0.41 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $4,235,092. Each unit 

consisted of one common share and one half common share purchase warrant with each whole warrant exercisable at 

$0.50 for a period of two years. In connection with the private placement, the Company issued an aggregate of 659,850 

broker warrants entitling the holder to purchase a unit at a price of $0.41 for a period of two years.  

 

Also, in December 2017, the Company acquired the assets of MedEval Corp. for consideration consisting of: US 

$5,000,000 in cash of which US $2,500,000 was represented by a promissory note (“Note Payable”) payable by 

December 19, 2018; and an aggregate of 4,878,048 common shares of the Company valued at US$1,572,683. 

Additional shares of the Company contingent upon the Company achieving from the Canna Care operations of revenue 

of US $10,000,000 or more with a profit margin of at least 25% within 12 months of the closing date. The additional 

shares would be valued at 6.5% of the US$ gross revenues obligation associated with the contingent consideration to 

be $NIL. The Note Payable was repaid in December, 2018. 

In early 2018, the Company successfully completed the integration of CCD and Sail to create a unique product offering 

of both software and service within the medical cannabis sector. Sail with the support of CCD expanded its reach 

internationally with participation in recognized global industry events, sponsorships and demos including contracts 

executed in Australia and Colombia to support local clinicians and practitioners in their cannabis practice. By the end 

of Q2, 2018, the Company had recognized $5,436,326 in revenue. 

On February 11, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 11,936 options to a consultant, each option exercisable at 

$0.41, vesting immediately. 
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Between July 3, 2018 and September 10, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement in 5 tranches. 

The financing consisted of an aggregate of 5,108,451 Units at $0.44 per Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of 

$2,247,718. Units with each Unit consisting of one common share and one half (1/2) common share purchase warrant. 

Each whole warranted exercisable for 2 years at $0.50. In connection with the private placement, the Company issued 

an aggregate of 81,945 broker warrants, each entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.44 for a period of two 

years, or within 90 days of completion of a going-public transaction. 

On August 23, 2018, the Company  granted an aggregate of 560,000 options to a consultant, each option exercisable at 

$0.44, vesting over 12 months with 25% vesting three (3) months after grant date and the remainder vesting every three 

(3) months thereafter. 

On August 23, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 1,033,332 options to employees, each option exercisable at 

$0.15, vesting over 4 years. 

On August 23, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 1,343,715 options to employees, each option exercisable at 

$0.41, vesting over 4 years. 

On August 28, 2018, the Company entered a non-binding Letter of Intent with the Issuer. The Letter of Intent was 

amended on October 26, 2018. 

On September 11, 2018, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with 1035855 Canada Inc. In 

connection with the acquisition of the TokeIn assets in consideration for an initial cash payment of $150,000 and the 

issuance of 795,455 common shares of MVC and the issuances on December 31, 2018 of a number of common shares 

of MVC valued at $548,000 based on the 20 day value weighted price of the Company’s shares if listed on a recognized 

Canada stock exchange or at a price of $0.44 per share if the Company’s shares are not listed on a recognized Canada 

stock exchange. In the event the assets acquired from TokeIn achieve certain milestones by December 31, 2020, the 

Company is obligated to issue additional common shares with a value of $1,252,000 based on the 20 day value weighted 

average of Company’s common shares if listed on a recognized Canada stock exchange or at a price of $0.44 per share 

if the Company’s shares are not listed on a recognized Canada stock exchange. 

On September 17, 2018, the Company granted 2,273 options to an employee, each option exercisable at $0.44, vesting 

immediately. Options were exercised on the grant date.   

Between September 26 and October 2, 2018, the Company completed two final tranches of a non-brokered private 

placement financing with the issuance of an aggregate of 4,673,813 Units at a price of $0.44 per Unit for gross proceeds 

of $2,056,477.70. Each Unit consists of 1 common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate 

of 2,336,906 warrants were issued with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of MVC 

Technologies Inc. at price of $0.50 for a period of two years from issuance. 

 
On September 27, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 24,390 options to employees, each option exercisable 

at $0.41, vesting over four years. 

 
On September 27, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 2,272 options to employees, each option exercisable at 

$0.44, vesting over four years. 

 

On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 1,651745 common shares and an aggregate of 825,872 

common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $710,250.35. 

 
On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 294,955 common shares and an aggregate of 147,477 

common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $126,830.65. 

 
On October 25, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate principal amount of $150,000 of 5% convertible senior 

secured debentures and 1,951,000 common shares for total consideration of $1,198,264.80. 

 

On October 29, 2018, the Company issued 56,800 common shares and 28,400 common share purchase warrants to a 

consultant of MVC Technologies Inc. in satisfaction of debt owed to the consultant. 
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On November 5, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 2,485,134 options to the CEO and COO of the Company, 

each option exercisable at $0.44, vesting over 3 years.  

 

On November 8, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 11,708 options to a consultant, each option exercisable 

at $0.41, vesting immediately. 

 
On November 8, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 8,181 options to a consultant, each option exercisable at 

$0.44, vesting immediately.  

 

On December 20, 2018, the Company entered into a non-binding term sheet with respect to a convertible secured 

debenture in the principal amount of US $ 2,400,000. Pursuant to the terms of the term sheet, the Company will issue 

a debenture bearing interest at the rate of 12% per annum, maturing in five (5) years and convertible into common 

shares of the Company at $0.50 per share. The debenture may be converted at the option of the lender at any time before 

maturity. The Company may with 30 days notice to the lender prepay all or part of the debenture after 18 months 

subject to issuance to the lender of 1,875,000 warrants to purchase common shares at $0.80 per share for three (3) 

years. The lender may demand repayment of the debenture or any part of the debenture after 18 months. The debenture 

automatically converts into common shares after 18 months if the Company’s shares are trading at more than $1.00 

based on the 10 day volume weighted average price on any stock exchange or quotation medium. The lender shall have 

the right to appoint one director to the board of directors while the debentures are outstanding. Pursuant to the term 

sheet, the Company has issued a Promissory Note in the amount of US $2,400,000 to the lender. The Promissory Note 

will be exchanged for the debenture. Proceeds from the Promissory Note were used to repay the Note Payable. 

 

On December 31, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 1,245,454 shares as partial consideration for the 

acquisition of the TokeIn assets. The Shares have a deemed price of $0.44 per share. 

 

On January 17, 2019, the Company completed a non-brokered Private Placement Financing with the issuance of an 

aggregate of 374,998 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $187,498.80. Each Units consists of 1 

common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 187,500 warrants were issued with each 

whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) 

years from issuance. 

 

On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 103,000 options to employees, each option exercisable at 

$0.50, vesting over 4 years. 

 

On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 152,000 options to employees, each option exercisable at 

$0.44, vesting over 4 years. 

 

On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 120,000 options to directors, each option exercisable at 

$0.50, vesting immediately. 

 

On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 110,000 options to consultants, each option exercisable at 

$0.50, vesting immediately. 

 

On January 25, 2019, the Company closed the first tranche of a non-brokered Private Placement Financing of 

Subscription Receipts Units with the issuance of 352,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of $176,000. 

Each Subscription Receipt Unit converts automatically into one common share and one half (1/2) common share 

purchase warrant. An aggregate of 352,000 common shares and 176,000 warrants are issuable on conversion of the 

Subscription Receipt Units. The Company also issued 20,440 broker warrants in combination with the closing of the 

Subscription Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.50 for a period of three 

(3) years. 

 

On February 1, 2019, a consultant exercised an aggregate of 300,000 options at an exercise price of $0.016. 

 

On February 14, 2019, the Company closed the second tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of 

Subscription Receipts Units with the issuance of 2,184,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of 

$1,092,000. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 2,184,000 shares and 

1,092,000 warrants. 
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On February 15, 2019, the Company closed the third tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of 

subscription receipts with the issuance of 1,688,420 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $844,210. These 

Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 1,688,420 common shares and 844,210 

warrants. The Company also issued 5,600 broker warrants in connection with the closing of the Subscription Receipt 

Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase a Unit at $0.50 for a period of three (3) years.  

 

On February 21, 2019, the Company closed a fourth tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of 

subscription receipts with the issuance of 533,920 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $266,960. These 

Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 533,920 common shares and 266,920 

warrants.  

 

On February 27, 2019, the Company and the Issuer completed the Share Exchange. 

 

THE GLOBAL MARKET  

 

The Global Cannabis Landscape 

After a century of legal restrictions throughout the world, a new view on cannabis and its future is emerging within our 

culture. More than 20 countries have now adopted some form of cannabis legalization – some stemming back for two 

decades.  Whether focused on legalization for medical purposes only, or as in Canada, providing a national framework 

for legalizing recreational use, the pendulum is undoubtedly swinging towards a new way of thinking when it comes 

to one of the world’s oldest drugs. The Company currently has operations only in North America, with only nominal 

operations outside North America. The information and discussion regarding the global market for illustration and 

comparative purposes only. 

 

Graph 1:  Research firms forecast the global cannabis market to swell from US$14.3 billion in 2016 to US$63.5 billion 

in 20241.   

 

While much of the conversation around that growth is centred on the impact of adult use (legalization of recreational 

cannabis usage) in markets like Canada, California and Massachusetts, it is the addition of new medical markets – in 

particular in Europe – that may lead to a real surge in near-term cannabis market growth as well as longer-term influence 

on reducing the stigma that continues to linger throughout many countries.  Tom Adams, Editor-in-Chief at Arcview 

Market Research says it best:  "California gets the media attention and Canada gets the investment dollars as they allow 

adult use, but Germany's move to make cannabis flower available for medical use in pharmacies was really the big 

 

1 Source: Legal Marijuana Market Outlook to 2024. Ameri Research Inc. 2017 04 17 https://www.ameriresearch.com/legal-marijuana-market-reach-

63-5-billion-2024-2/ 

https://www.ameriresearch.com/legal-marijuana-market-reach-63-5-billion-2024-2/
https://www.ameriresearch.com/legal-marijuana-market-reach-63-5-billion-2024-2/
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news of 2017 from a worldwide perspective…The tables have turned in favor of legalization across the world and we 

predict that the trend will spread as research continues to support cannabis' effectiveness as a medication."2  

Management of the Company continues to ensure its business decisions are guided by the evolution of cannabis 

regulations across the globe. In countries with early adoption, Management has seen vast differences in terms of 

cultivation frameworks, distribution channels, retail models and physician sentiment.  Each comes with a different set 

of challenges, but equally with a unique set of opportunities. Some markets, such as Canada, have substantial supply 

but resistance from general practitioners to prescribe has stifled “demand” – or at least limited access to that supply. 

As the recreational market moves in, it has yet to be determined what that level of new demand will have on the current 

supply throughout Canada.   

In contrast, a country such as Colombia, has allowed physicians to prescribe cannabis to patients since 20153 and yet 

the country currently does not have any product supply which makes it difficult for physicians to prescribe at the 

moment.  As licensed producers now come online in Colombia, it is estimated that more than 9% of the population will 

seek to become medical cannabis users4 (in contrast, Canada sits at less than 1% of its total population) and thus, 

Colombia has quite a task ahead of them to ensure their supply is in balance with the level of forecasted demand. 

 

Throughout the world, each country has its unique issues as it integrates cannabis into its health care system. As with 

any rapidly evolving industry, it is important to have the tools to support the current needs and also drive the future 

growth opportunities of any industry participant.   

 

Management of the Company believes that a single view, through a seamless, end-to-end technology platform is the 

key to ensuring that every vertical within the cannabis space is not only able to manage their current business processes 

but is able to use actionable insights to accurately forecast future growth opportunities. As seen in some geographies, 

leaders in the cannabis space have worked to become vertically integrated in order to have greater control over both 

supply and demand. These players however are forced to use disparate, fragmented technology systems that are rigid 

in their application and do not provide a holistic view of their business. Likewise, many solutions are geo-specific and 

do not allow many of these companies to leverage a view to understand treatment efficacy by product, local regulatory 

requirements, global supply chain or other vital operational processes in an end-to-end manner, hampering their ability 

to expand into new markets. 

 

With more than two dozen countries with current or near-term legal cannabis frameworks, it is important to look at the 

nuances of each. For comparative purposes, below is a summary of the challenges and opportunities for the Cannabis 

industry in various markets: 

 

The US Cannabis Industry 

 Federally Oversight:  No – defer to state for legislation 

 Medical Program:  Partial – legalized state-by-state 

 Recreational Program:  Partial – legalized state-by-state 

 Production:  Domestic 

 Retail Model:  Dispensary 

 Forecasted Value by 2024: US$19.5 billion 

 

The sheer size and diversity found within the US continues to push what is still viewed as polarizing legislation at the 

state level. Today, more than half of the states within the US5 (30 states in total plus Washington D.C.) have medical 

cannabis programs and 9 states (California, Nevada, Oregon, Colorado, Washington, Alaska, Maine, Michigan, and 

Massachusetts) along with Washington D.C. have all legalized recreational usage. Some state laws date all the way 

 

2 Source:  News Release – New Report: Worldwide spending on legal cannabis will reach $57 billion by 2027.  Arcview Market Research.  2018 02 

26 https://globenewswire.com/news-release/2018/02/26/1387588/0/en/NEW-REPORT-Worldwide-spending-on-legal-cannabis-will-reach-57-

billion-by-2027.html 
3 Source:  Colombia legalizes medical marijuana. Yahoo News. 2015 12 22      https://www.yahoo.com/news/colombia-legalizes-medical-marijuana-

171023547.html?ref=gs  
4 Source: Colombia Quickly Becoming a Global Leader in Medical Marijuana. Cision Pr Newsire. 2018 06 20. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-
releases/colombia-quickly-becoming-a-global-leader-in-medical-marijuana-686018851.html  
5 Source: States with Legal Marijuana Programs. ProCon.org. 2018 07 17 https://medicalmarijuana.procon.org/view.resource.php  

https://www.yahoo.com/news/colombia-legalizes-medical-marijuana-171023547.html?ref=gs
https://www.yahoo.com/news/colombia-legalizes-medical-marijuana-171023547.html?ref=gs
https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/colombia-quickly-becoming-a-global-leader-in-medical-marijuana-686018851.html
https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/colombia-quickly-becoming-a-global-leader-in-medical-marijuana-686018851.html
https://medicalmarijuana.procon.org/view.resource.php?resourceID=000881
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back to 1996.  Those with legal frameworks represent approximately 60% of the population of the and if you go further 

to include all states with CBD-only legalization actually brings that number to 95% of the population6. This majority 

remains diametrically opposed to the fact that federally, the US government lists cannabis as a Schedule I narcotic 

alongside heroin, LSD and cocaine.  So, while states have moved towards legalization in a major way, the overhang of 

the federal prohibition keeps a solid resistance on physicians willing to integrate this treatment option into their 

practices. 

 

Note: The map above published by New Frontier Data does not take into account results of the November 6, 2018 US 

mid-term elections which resulting in the voter approval of Utah and Missouri to adopt Medical Marijuana frameworks 

and Michigan to adopt a Recreational Marijuana framework. 

An effect of this is that physicians often choose to refer their patients out to cannabis specialty clinics in order for the 

patient to get a necessary medical prescription. This hasty tendency to “refer” may happen either because the doctor 

doesn’t understand what to recommend and how to recommend it or they are unnecessarily diverting a perceived 

liability due to the overhang of the federal government’s position on the matter.  Either way, this often has a restriction 

on access to the patient community and requires additional players in the value chain to meet the needs of the medical 

cannabis framework. A 2017 study in the Journal of Drug and Alcohol Dependence showed that as many as 90% of 

physicians admitted to not being prepared to prescribe medical cannabis7.   

In 2018, the US Food & Drug Administration took the surprising step of approving the use of Epidolex, a cannabis-

derived drug that reduces seizures in patients – in particular, in children – with epilepsy. While the government has 

noted this move is not meant to signal a future softening on their stance on legalizing cannabis nationwide, at the very 

least this provides a sign that further funding and more comprehensive protocols in clinical research trials are much 

more likely moving forward. Closing the gap in this area of research will only act to further normalize the use of 

cannabis in more traditional therapy regimens.   

 

6 Source:  The Cannabis Industry Annual Report.  New Frontier Data 2017 03 01 http://newfrontierdata.com/annualreport2017/  
7 Source:  Physicians-in-training are not prepared to prescribe medical marijuana.  Journal of Drug and Alcohol Dependence.  2017 11 01 

https://www.drugandalcoholdependence.com/article/S0376-8716(17)30441-6/fulltext  

http://newfrontierdata.com/annualreport2017/
https://www.drugandalcoholdependence.com/article/S0376-8716(17)30441-6/fulltext
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Whether for medical or recreational use, the US state governments have adopted a privatized dispensary retail model, 

regulating brick and mortar stores to sell cannabis directly to the consumer. A debate persists in the US from each state 

as to whether cultivators of cannabis should be mandated, permitted or prohibited from also operating a dispensary.  

This will likely remain a state-by-state decision which further causes complexity as to how multi-state cultivators and 

dispensaries will interact with one another in order to optimize product distribution. What is certain to remain constant 

is the need to match supply with demand down to a specific strain and retail location – something that most growers 

and retailers continue to struggle with today. 

The Canadian Cannabis Market 

 Federally Oversight:  Yes 

 Medical Program:  Yes 

 Recreational Program:  Yes  

 Production:  Domestic, Import, Export 

 Retail Model:  Mail Order (Medical) and Dispensary (Recreational) 

 Median Forecasted Value by 2024:  US$1.3 billion (Medical Only) $8 billion+ (with Recreational)8 

 

In 2001, cannabis became federally legal for medical use across Canada.  In contrast to the United States, Canada 

continues to legislate cannabis laws federally. Another major contrast is that retail distribution has been exclusively 

through Licensed Producers with a direct-to-consumer mail order process. Medical patients who are prescribed 

cannabis from their physician are required to register with an LP and place their product order which is then mailed 

directly to the patient. This framework has worked to ensure that patients have access to a certified product and that 

patients could access medicine in even the most remote regions of Canada. However, many believe that it has also 

strengthened the black market (or illegal distribution) as it causes a delay in product access for the patient. 

The vast majority of LPs are publicly traded and currently have strong valuations as they sit in a unique position to own 

the entire value chain from cultivation through to retail. Pharmacies however, are looking to enter the retail channel9 

which would drastically change the ecosystem but has great potential to lower the reliance from some patients on the 

black market. It would also work to advance the dialogue among primary physicians who may still have a reluctance 

to prescribe cannabis themselves. Having patients able to fill their prescription of cannabis alongside other medication 

at a major pharmacy would no doubt reduce the stigma that lingers within the Canadian market. 

One step that Canada took that certainly sets the country apart from others is the June 7th Senate vote in favour of 

legalizing recreational use of cannabis nationwide. While this certainly has a major impact both domestically and 

internationally in terms of the evolution of cannabis usage, it may be some time before we see how this truly impacts 

the market. Each province within Canada is tasked to set up their own framework and some have chosen to adopt a 

province-run program while others will take on a privatized model. It remains to be seen how a supply-demand 

imbalance will play out. Within the medical market, safeguards are necessary to ensure that patients in need of treatment 

are still able to access medicine. Those safeguards, to-date, are still being worked on. Nonetheless, it is a landmark 

move that will work to further normalize cannabis within Canada and abroad. 

The Australian Cannabis Industry 

 Federally Oversight:  Yes though implemented differently by state 

 Medical Program:  Yes (though limited) 

 Recreational Program:  No 

 Production:  Domestic, Import 

 Retail Model:  Pharmacy 

 Median Forecasted Value by 2024: US$800M10 

 

8 Source:     Medical Marijuana Market worth over $55 billion by 2024. Global Market Insights, Inc. 2018 08 22 https://globenewswire.com/news-

release/2018/08/22/1555007/0/en/Medical-Marijuana-Market-worth-over-55-billion-by-2024-Global-Market-Insights-Inc.html  
9 Source:     SDM signs third cannabis supply deal. Toronto Star. 2018 01 19  https://www.thestar.com/business/2018/01/19/shoppers-drug-mart-

signs-third-cannabis-supply-deal.html 
10 Source:  Medical Marijuana Market Size By Application (Pain Management, Muscle Spasms, Nausea, Anorexia, Seizures, Others), By Route of 
Administration (Inhalation, Oral, Topical), By Distribution Channel (Dispensaries, Online), Industry Analysis Report, Regional Outlook (U.S., 

Canada, Germany, Italy, UK, Czech Republic, France, The Netherlands, Argentina, Chile, Peru, Colombia, Australia, Israel) Application Potential, 

https://globenewswire.com/news-release/2018/08/22/1555007/0/en/Medical-Marijuana-Market-worth-over-55-billion-by-2024-Global-Market-Insights-Inc.html
https://globenewswire.com/news-release/2018/08/22/1555007/0/en/Medical-Marijuana-Market-worth-over-55-billion-by-2024-Global-Market-Insights-Inc.html
https://www.thestar.com/business/2018/01/19/shoppers-drug-mart-signs-third-cannabis-supply-deal.html
https://www.thestar.com/business/2018/01/19/shoppers-drug-mart-signs-third-cannabis-supply-deal.html
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In Australia, the market is in its infancy but despite their slow speed since the 2016 legalization of medical cannabis 

for citizens, consensus shows that Australia has the potential to be a dominant leader in the space. Australia is an 

example for supply waiting for demand to catch up. Currently there are seven (7) licensed cultivators in Australia but 

in an attempt to curtail over-cultivation, the government has implemented regulations that cultivators are only to grow 

enough supply to meet public demand.  

On the demand side, public opinion is strong as is general practitioner sentiment overall. The Australian Government 

conducted the National Drug Household Survey in 201611 and found that 84.5% of Australians support the use of 

medical cannabis nationwide. A study as recently as Spring 2018 found that of 640 general healthcare practitioners 

surveyed, nearly two-thirds were in favour of prescribing medical cannabis12. But despite opinion polls, there are less 

than 1,000 medical patients in Australia.  Consensus shows that while doctors are in favour, they lack the understanding 

on how to integrate cannabis into traditional treatment programs. There is still a belief that traditional medication is 

easier to prescribe and a lack of research on the topic of cannabis provides a perceived risk among physicians. 

The Australian government is working towards sanctioning clinical trials in the near-term which will not only help 

propel domestic growth but can also help put Australia on the map for eventual export dominance which is a goal of 

the government. Notably, Australia exports more than 50% of the world’s legal poppies used for the production of 

opiates and they hope to replicate this in the medical cannabis industry13. 

Sitting on a population of pro-cannabis citizens, a medical community where the majority of clinicians are in favour of 

prescribing and a government that is looking to become a leading exporter and fund clinical trials would seem like 

Australia has the makings of the fastest growing cannabis market in the world. It is evident that there is currently a lack 

of stakeholder support both from technology, services and overall synergy between all of the parties to optimize this 

market. 

The UK Cannabis Industry 

 Federally Oversight:  Yes  

 Medical Program:  Yes 

 Recreational Program:  No 

 Production:  Export 

 Retail Model:  Not yet defined 

 Median Forecasted Value by 2024: Not yet known – preliminary shows potential of US$12B+14 

 

Many have a difficult time understanding what the UK’s future will look like when it comes to cannabis.  By 2016, the 

UK took the top spot for the world’s largest producer of legal cannabis (95 tonnes) and the world’s largest exporter  

(2.1 tonnes)15.  And while all of the cannabis grown in and exported by the UK is labelled as “for medical and scientific 

usage”, the UK government has consistently blocked any programs that would legalize the use of cannabis for medical 

purpose within the UK citing “no medicinal value” to the drug. Though in a swift change in tone, largely based on two 

highly-publicized court cases pertaining to children with epilepsy, the UK government approved guidelines for cannabis 

to be used for medical purposes throughout the country.16 This new law came into effect on November 1, 2018 and 

 

Price Trends, Competitive Market Share & Forecast, 2018 – 2024. Global Market Insights. 2018 08 https://www.gminsights.com/industry-

analysis/medical-marijuana-market 
11 Source: National Drug Household Survey 2016. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2017 09 28  https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/illicit-

use-of-drugs/2016-ndshs-detailed/contents/table-of-contents 
12 Source:  ABC News http://www.abc.net.au/radio/programs/am/more-than-half-gps-favour-prescribing-medicinal-cannabis/9937822  
13 Source:  US Australia Cannabis Analysis  Reuters  2018 01 13 https://www.reuters.com/article/us-australia-cannabis-analysis/for-now-australias-

plans-for-cannabis-market-dominance-are-more-smoke-than-fire-idUSKBN1F300X  
14 Source: Medical Marijuana Market Size By Application (Pain Management, Muscle Spasms, Nausea, Anorexia, Seizures, Others), By Route of 
Administration (Inhalation, Oral, Topical), By Distribution Channel (Dispensaries, Online), Industry Analysis Report, Regional Outlook (U.S., 

Canada, Germany, Italy, UK, Czech Republic, France, The Netherlands, Argentina, Chile, Peru, Colombia, Australia, Israel) Application Potential, 

Price Trends, Competitive Market Share & Forecast, 2018 – 2024. Global Market Insights. 2018 08 https://www.gminsights.com/industry-
analysis/medical-marijuana-market  
15 Source:  The Independent: https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/cannabis-legal-uk-worlds-largest-producer-marijuana-weed-un-

body-findings-a8243921.html  
16 Source:    U.K. to Allow Prescriptions for Medical Cannabis. The New York Times. 2018 10 11. 

https://www.nytimes.com/2018/10/11world/europe/uk-medical-cannabis.html  

https://www.gminsights.com/industry-analysis/medical-marijuana-market
https://www.gminsights.com/industry-analysis/medical-marijuana-market
http://www.abc.net.au/radio/programs/am/more-than-half-gps-favour-prescribing-medicinal-cannabis/9937822
https://www.gminsights.com/industry-analysis/medical-marijuana-market
https://www.gminsights.com/industry-analysis/medical-marijuana-market
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/cannabis-legal-uk-worlds-largest-producer-marijuana-weed-un-body-findings-a8243921.html
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/cannabis-legal-uk-worlds-largest-producer-marijuana-weed-un-body-findings-a8243921.html
https://www.nytimes.com/2018/10/11world/europe/uk-medical-cannabis.html
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though there are strict and limiting controls, this certainly is a sign of confidence that the UK is ready to continue its 

evolution on cannabis usage. 

 

There are two prescription drugs made and distributed in the UK which have cannabis-based ingredients17. Sativex is 

used for reducing pain caused by muscle spasms and Nabilone is used for reducing nausea caused by cancer treatments.  

Both, however are difficult to find and are not provided by the National Health Service (England’s public healthcare 

system). 

 

The UK continues to invest in cannabis from the supply side, but its strict restrictions on the demand side are bound to 

lift at some point.  Public perception is quite evenly split.  A survey by YouGov shows that 43% of those surveyed 

favour legalizing cannabis while 41% oppose18. When asked about legalization of cannabis for medical purposes an 

overwhelming 75% were in favour. Now with this initial move to legalize cannabis for limited medical purposes, the 

industry is watching closely to see how quickly the UK evolves. But with the Conservative Party in power until 2022, 

it is unlikely that much legislation movement will take place until then. 

 

But even with limited consumption ability in the UK, there is still excellent opportunity to support the supply side of 

the value chain. With the sheer volume of cannabis production and the frameworks in place for exportation, the UK is 

primed to be the key source of medical cannabis across the globe even if their citizens are broadly unable to benefit. 

 

The Colombia Cannabis Industry 

 

 Federally Oversight:  Yes  

 Medical Program:  Yes 

 Recreational Program:  No 

 Production:  Domestic, Export 

 Retail Model:  Pharmacy 

 Median Forecasted Value by 2024: Not yet known – Government estimates as high as US$8billion19 
 

Very few countries lead with legislation of a medical program before there is a known source of supply. That is, 

however, how Colombia entered the legal cannabis market.   

 

In 2015, Colombia legalized the prescription of medical cannabis by all physicians to patients with no restrictions on 

qualifying conditions. Initial estimates were set (and remain) at nearly 4.5 million Colombian patients to enter the 

medical cannabis market (9.2% of the population) based on public sentiment and the lax regulations surrounding 

qualifying conditions20. In contrast, the Canadian market has less than 1% of its population as medical cannabis patients 

more than a decade after its medical program began. Three years later, Colombia is still not prescribing cannabis to 

patients who have a prescription for the medicine – because of supply. 

 

Colombia did not put a supply framework together to meet the demands of the medical community. Therefore, it is 

difficult for physicians to prescribe and patients have limited access to the product.  

  

In late 2017, in order to combat the supply issue, Colombia set out to create the frameworks necessary and begin to 

issue licenses for producers to enter the market. Thus far Colombia has issued 33 licenses and the International 

Narcotics Control Board (INCB) has authorized Colombia to grow up to 40.5 tonnes per year which would equal about 

44% of the world’s cultivation crop21. This drastic change in supply not only will help meet the demand domestically 

but will position Colombia as being one of the largest exporters of cannabis in the world. The facilities are under 

construction and product will likely hit the market in late 2018. 

 

 

17 Source:      Waiting in the Weeds.  The Sun.  2018 07 04.  https://www.thesun.co.uk/news/6693067/medical-cannabis-illegal-uk-review-sajid-
javid/  
18 Source:        Liberalising Policy Towards Cannabis. YouGov.   2018 05 30  https://yougov.co.uk/news/2018/05/30/majority-now-support-

liberalising-policy-towards-c/  
19 Source:      Colombia sees billion-dollar bonanza from legacy of marijuana trade. Reuters. 2018 05 03  https://www.reuters.com/article/us-colombia-

marijuana/colombia-sees-billion-dollar-bonanza-from-legacy-of-marijuana-trade-idUSKBN1I42M9  
20 Source:    Reuters:  https://www.reuters.com/article/us-colombia-marijuana/colombia-sees-billion-dollar-bonanza-from-legacy-of-marijuana-
trade-idUSKBN1I42M9  
21 Source: Colombia authorized to produce 40.5 tonnes of marijuana for pharma. Kyiron. 2018 01 10. http://www.khrion.ca/article/57  

https://www.thesun.co.uk/news/6693067/medical-cannabis-illegal-uk-review-sajid-javid/
https://www.thesun.co.uk/news/6693067/medical-cannabis-illegal-uk-review-sajid-javid/
https://yougov.co.uk/news/2018/05/30/majority-now-support-liberalising-policy-towards-c/
https://yougov.co.uk/news/2018/05/30/majority-now-support-liberalising-policy-towards-c/
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-colombia-marijuana/colombia-sees-billion-dollar-bonanza-from-legacy-of-marijuana-trade-idUSKBN1I42M9
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-colombia-marijuana/colombia-sees-billion-dollar-bonanza-from-legacy-of-marijuana-trade-idUSKBN1I42M9
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-colombia-marijuana/colombia-sees-billion-dollar-bonanza-from-legacy-of-marijuana-trade-idUSKBN1I42M9
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-colombia-marijuana/colombia-sees-billion-dollar-bonanza-from-legacy-of-marijuana-trade-idUSKBN1I42M9
http://www.khrion.ca/article/57
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Colombia stands as a perfect example of a market that facilitated demand and did not reciprocate on the supply side.  

And now there stands to be an overcorrection in which Colombia will begin to have ample supply that will not only 

make them a prime domestic market but a leader in exportation. 

 

Summary 

 

The global cannabis industry is in its infancy and as we watch various countries and jurisdictions begin to craft their 

own frameworks, it illustrates the differences within each market.  The various nuances and entry points for each market 

are vast and is often the cause of disparate systems and service providers that we see today – supporting one vertical in 

the space and often limited to one or two geographies.   It is also what creates an opportunity to understand each market 

and design, develop and deploy solutions that not only fit the current market needs but enable those users to grow in 

the future operations globally. 

 

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

The Company operates multiple brands that exclusively serve the global cannabis industry. The Company itself focuses 

on the intake, analysis and output of the evidence-based data that is derived from its wholly owned subsidiary.  The 

Company focuses on delivering predictive analytics tools to provide all cannabis stakeholders with an enhanced view 

of their business and the industry at large in order to make more informed decision. The vision of the Company is to 

see the industry, not as separate segments or verticals seeking to utilize fragmented solutions specific to existing 

workflows only, but rather to integrate solutions across the value chain and to have those solutions cross-pollinate 

thereby ensuring that the whole is greater than the sum of its parts.  The key is to produce tools as a result of data 

collection across all sub-brands where actionable insights can be easily created across the entire value chain allowing 

the customer and other industry stakeholders to generate real business intelligence and bring better products to market 

in both a medical and recreational industry. In addition, the Company will continue to focus on solutions and services 

that are built around each segment’s unique needs and business requirements to help them focus on efficiency, 

profitability and scale. Each will operate with its own profit and loss and continue to generate revenue to the parent 

company.  The Company aims to reach a global audience targeting each market with technology and services that can 

support rapid scale through a modular architecture. Deep rooted in data security, the Company adheres to a stringent 

level of security for the storage and management of personal health information (PHI) in its existing systems and will 

continue to meet the same high level of security standards through all future development.  

As a data-driven company, our strategy is centered around the four primary V’s of Big Data – Volume, Velocity, 

Variety and Veracity.  The Company believes that an emerging market requires multiple data players to bring about a 

heightened level of reliance on analytics and business intelligence.  Currently, the market has a substantial void, though 

some players are looking to seize on this gap in the market.  In order to differentiate ourselves, the Company focuses 

on two of the V’s more acutely, Variety and Veracity – these two are believed to be those that are lacking the most in 

the market as well as those that provide a greater value to the insights the data generates.   

The Company’s first point of differentiation in its data strategy is in the variety of data it collects.  Many companies 

within the cannabis industry are focused on a narrow set of data intake whether regionally, vertically or clinical versus 

recreational. Management of the Company believes that a major factor of future success is that the data is obtained in 

Canada, the US and internationally, across all verticals and in both the clinical and recreational space. This focus on 

variety provides substantial gains to the insights the Company is able to provide back into the market. 

Another point of differentiation is the veracity of the data that the Company is collecting. All data is obtained through 

the Company’s own operations and therefore have stringent controls put into place to ensure high data integrity and 

flows through a data architecture designed by the Company from the point of collection through to the insights that are 

generated. Management believes most companies within the cannabis industry are focused on gathering data from 3rd 

party sources and therefore are challenged in terms of the integrity of the data they are analyzing.   

The three sub-brands of the Company operate with their own unique identities within their specific verticals. Each will 

be responsible for delivering on financial targets set by the Company. These sub-brands should and will be able to 

operate independently of the parent company and its sister brands, however will always be rooted in delivering high 

quality data sets back up to the Company’s data analytics division. 
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The Sub-Brands of the Company: 

Sail Cannabis - Sail is a cannabis-focused EMR platform with a suite of practice management tools built to support the 

workflows of a clinician and/or their clinical practice specializing in medical cannabis. It has been estimated that by 

2024 the total global medical cannabis market could exceed $28.0722 billion globally. Sail is a software-as-a-service 

model that generates its revenues through monthly or annually subscription recurring revenue charged per seat or 

clinician. It allows clinics to manage their entire clinical operation through a single platform designed specifically for 

the cannabis market.  The platform also aims to assist clinicians in integrating cannabis into their practice through its 

data-driven CDS tool which includes evaluation tools, dosing guidelines and other necessary tools.  Its power is rooted 

in its clinically-validated data sourced through practice patterns of clinical users globally and its own CCD platform as 

well as knowledge transfer from peer reviewed published research, collected and analyzed by its team of in-house 

clinicians and governed by its medical advisory board. Sail’s goal is to focus on increasing the channels of patients by 

empowering clinicians to adopt cannabis as part their patient’s treatment plan safely, and securely. Sail is active today 

in multiple global markets including the US, Canada, and internationally. 

Canna Care Docs – CCD is a service-based offering of the Company that today operates a network of US-based, multi-

state brick and mortar cannabis evaluation and education centres as well as telemedicine applications in some states. 

CCD serves a core need in the industry as a specialized network of trained and educated clinicians supporting 

communities through the qualification, determination and where applicable, recommendation/prescription of medical 

cannabis. In most markets that first emerge as a medical-only market, it is typical that less than 3-5%23 of the medical 

practitioners are willing to provide cannabis evaluations. CCD serves as a centre of excellence for referrals from 

community practitioners, as well as a walk-in service for patients who are seeking access to the legal medical cannabis 

industry. As the market evolves and a greater number of general practitioners begin prescribing or recommending to 

their own patients directly, CCD offers a fully managed service (“FMS”) of pre-and-post education services through 

virtual consultation to assist clinicians in saving their time to educate and focus their efforts on patient centric care. 

CCD earns revenue as a specialty centre by charging for visits either on an annual basis or in accordance with the 

legislated billing process. As a licensed service under its FMS model, CCD earns its revenue as educational fees paid 

on a per patient basis. Patients have access to a year-round support from CCD’s team of trained educators. CCD is 

integrated with Sail to ensure full evaluation data capture, patient documentation and regulation compliance in patient 

records and education.  

TokeIn – TokeIn provides both customer relationship management software coupled with a loyalty and rewards 

program built to work with retailers’ individual rewards programs all harnessed by data analytics and business 

intelligence tools. TokeIn is developed with the retailer in mind and their need for better business insights, a platform 

easily able to integrate to 3rd party solutions, customer acquisition/retargeting and built to help them stay competitive 

not just compliant. TokeIn is a software as a service and Management believes it will earn its revenues through monthly 

and annual recurring subscription revenue charged per seat or user. TokeIn will be integrated into the Sail platform to 

assist patients seeking medical cannabis products find and connect with retailers of products that match their medical 

requirements. TokeIn will also leverage non-identifiable data to drive better insights for both clinicians, patients and 

the cannabis retail community. TokeIn is an early stage platform that currently operates with customers in Canada and 

the US. 

Future Vision and Objectives of the Company: 

The Company intends to develop a vertically integrated suite of productivity technology and services that is built from 

seed to consumer with all the major customer segments addressed. By supporting both the demand and supply side of 

the industry, the Company sees the value in developing technology that will help accelerate advancement in the 

industry, improve the performance and business of the customer and create valuable insights to further develop the 

market globally. The Company believes that creating a closed loop cycle throughout the value chain (from seed to 

consumer) which is capable of improving productivity and features driven downstream, whilst having data fed back 

upstream, the Company will offer the industry a unique offering that is built to focus on what can help to make the 

customer and the industry successful. This will enable the Company to derive Real-Wold Evidence (RWE) through the 

 

22 Source: Not all MDs are ready to prescribe medical cannabis. The Growth Op. 2018 06 06. https://www.thegrowthop.com/cannabis-health/doctors-

medical-cannabis-prescription-canada  
23 Source: Medical cannabis is legal. That does not mean it works. The Sydney Morning Herald. 2018 04 07. 

https://www.smh.com.au/national/medical-cannabis-is-legal-it-s-not-clear-it-works-20180406-p4z86f.html  

https://www.thegrowthop.com/cannabis-health/doctors-medical-cannabis-prescription-canada
https://www.thegrowthop.com/cannabis-health/doctors-medical-cannabis-prescription-canada
https://www.smh.com.au/national/medical-cannabis-is-legal-it-s-not-clear-it-works-20180406-p4z86f.html
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data that it collects and will be done so in an industry that is in a heightened need for research and other industry 

insights. 

  

The Company also offers another unique selling proposition by way of its growth in a network of clinical users 

including its internal CCD brand, developed a playbook that has understood how to take workflows and data insights 

and turn that into productivity beyond just compliance for its clinical customers. The Company has collected a 

significant amount of clinically-validated, evidence-based data that will allow the Company to differentiate its software 

based on insights that are uniquely gathered by its core clinical offering. This provides the Company with complete 

control over the data that is being analysed and therefore improves the veracity of this data source increasing the overall 

value of the insights it produces. The Company also sees further opportunity to develop future IP through development 

of registered patients 

 

The following table set outs the business objective of the Company, followed by a discussion of the Company’s 

anticipated objects, timing and cost. 

 

Objective Milestone Period Cost 

Pursue US clinical acquisition 

strategy 

2019 $1,901,825 

1 Year Interest Payment on 

Promissory Note 

2019 $392,890 

Stated Objectives for the current fiscal year: 

Expansion of current CCD physical locations 

 

The Company currently anticipates it will use available funds as set out in the table above, and continue to grow and 

expand the markets being served by its CCD operation by way of both organic growth and M&A activity. From its 

current 28 locations serving 12 markets, the Company is targeting six new sites within existing markets as well as 

several newly regulated medical markets in the US. The investment required will be location-dependent. The Company 

works to keep overhead low and generate investment through cash flow and believes it will be able to sustain existing 

operations with current cash flow, increased efficiencies in existing operations combined with planned growth activities 

using organically generated cash will add to the Company’s earnings.  

 

The Company’s CCD Operations is a cash flow positive business. During the period ended September 30, 2018, the 

CCD Operations generated Income from Operations accounting to $1,590,711 (please see note 16, segmented 

Information in the Company’s September 30, 2018 Condensed interim consolidated financial statements). This has 

allowed the Company to invest in its software development activities. 

 

CCD serves multiple US states where legal medical cannabis frameworks already exist.  CCD’s administrative offices 

are based in Fall River, Massachusetts and clinic operations are listed in full below.  Future development and expansion 

is only considered in states where there are existing regulatory frameworks to support the operation. CCD clinics offer 

medical cannabis evaluations, creation of state-specific medical documentation (if patient is approved for usage) and 

educational services by trained staff members.   

 

Each clinic is staffed with certified health practitioners, cannabis educators, office administrators and are overseen by 

area managers.  Canna Care Docs is managed at an executive level by its President of Clinical Operations and reports 

directly to CB2 Insight’s Chief Operating Officer. 

 

Canna Care Docs locations: 

 

• Burlington, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Fall River, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Ipswich, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Northampton, Massachusetts (Open) 
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• Peabody, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Pittsfield, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Seekonk, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Springfield, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Stoughton, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Waltham, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Worcester, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Yarmouth, Massachusetts (Open) 

• Bangor, Maine (Open) 

• Biddeford, Maine (Open) 

• Winthrop, Maine (Open) 

• Hartford, Connecticut (Open) 

• Norwalk, Connecticut (Open) 

• Wilmington, Delaware (Open) 

• Baltimore, Maryland (Open) 

• Cockeysville, Maryland (Open) 

• Columbia, Maryland (Open) 

• Crestwood, Illinois (Open) 

• Marion, Illinois (Under Development) 

• Washington, DC (served via Columbia, MD) 

• Ambler, Pennsylvania (Open) 

• Rhode Island (served via Seekonk, MA; Fall River, MA; Worcester, MA) 

• Brooklyn, New York (Under Development) 

• New York State (served via Telemedicine) 

 

Integration of TokeIn into Company  

 

The Company anticipates integrating the new software features from TokeIn to evolve the current product offering to 

include a solution up the value chain. Management’s goal for the next fiscal year will be to identify a clear roadmap 

for technology development and begin the process of completing the missing areas of the roadmap with TokeIn and 

Sail providing insights into the development of further supply side software.  

 

Expansion of business within current software and service verticals 

 

Expansion of a customer base in existing markets and new marketing efforts focusing on medical markets with the 

current software and service offerings of the Company.  

 

International market growth and expansion 

 

The Company continues to explore new medical markets where it is able to leverage its current offering as a first mover 

and its competitive advantage. The Company will continue to build within current markets but seek to deploy a strategy 

that will yield a global market opportunity for the Company realized in the next few fiscal years. Current markets 

outside of the US and Canada that the Company is assessing include Australia, Colombia and Germany although the 

industry continues to expand with new countries passing legislation for medical cannabis and the Company will 

continue to monitor and develop strategies around those markets as warranted. 

 

Mergers & Acquisitions 

 

The Company sees the opportunity to further acquire new software, services and IP that might assist it in its speed to 

markets both current and new. As well as strengthening the market position of the Company and competitive barriers 

to competition for its platform.  
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The Company will continue to build and grow its sales and marketing teams to begin recognizing and growing revenue 

from current channels. The Company believes that as of the date of this prospectus, it has developed and acquired 

approximately 60% of the feature sets required to develop a vertically integrated platform to fulfill its vision. The 

Company will focus on attaining the remaining feature sets to reach as close to 100% of the final product while 

continuing to integrate a single platform throughout the year. To do, the Company will utilize its service arm CCD. 

CCD will continue to drive insights from clinically validated sources to further strengthen the Sail offering globally 

and enhance its user experience and user base. 

By deploying the strategy of using service and consultation services to drive insights into user behavior, the Company 

will implement its plan for an offering for each vertical segment, with the ability to integrate workflows and data 

insights to drive future business intelligence analytics. 

 

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company has working capital of approximately $2,167,726. To achieve the above 

outlined strategy the Company anticipates using organically generated cash flows from its CCD Operations. These 

funds will allow the Company to execute its business plan including allocate capital towards future accretive 

acquisitions, the Company anticipates that this fiscal year will be primarily spent on growing its customer base and 

focusing on platform development. Revenues from software licensing will be realized in the next fiscal year as initial 

adoption of the platform will be done through the onboarding of free trial customers to secure user feedback, customer 

champions and testimonials. The Company anticipates investing any profits earned through operations to continue to 

fuel development and growth of the business focusing on growing shareholder value.  

 

The Company currently has a debt of $4,377,843. The debt is comprised of convertible debentures of $1,103,763 and 

a Note Payable of $3,274,080 (US$2,400,000). The Promissory Note is due on December 20, 2023. The convertible 

debentures are convertible into shares of the Company at the option of the holder subject to issuance of 1.1 common 

shares for each one common share which would have been issuable if the debentures converted on or before November 

30, 2018. 

 

Principal Markets of the Company 

 

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company currently has customers across its solutions in the following markets: 

Canada and the United States.  

Marketing and Sales Channels 

The Company develops and delivers technology and required services to the cannabis industry across the value chain.  

The Company’s marketing and sales efforts target four verticals: 

 Licensed Producers 

The Company markets to cultivators of cannabis for both supply and demand support.  Dependent on the region 

and the structure of the Licensed Producer, the Company will market to and ultimately contract directly with the 

Licensed Producer to provide technology and services that support patient retargeting, CRM services, educational 

support for patients or product promotion through the Company’s CD platform.  In some markets, Licensed 

Producers also represent a lucrative reseller channel in which they promote and resell the Company’s CDS platform 

directly to clinicians in order to increase the number of prescribing clinicians within the market and ensure a closed 

loop for ordering of the licensed producer’s products. 

 

 Distribution Companies 

The Company markets to distribution intermediaries, in particular in markets where there is a shortage of supply.  

Within these markets distribution companies often broker a sales agreement between a producer and retail channel 

to optimize supply-demand balance.  The Company will market to and ultimately contract directly with these 

distribution companies to provide the technology and consultancy services required to have a seamless view from 

the cultivator through to the retail channel. 

 

 Retail Channels 

The Company markets to retail channels which distribute cannabis directly to consumers. Depending on the 

geographic market this may include dispensaries, pharmacies or directly from the licensed producers. The 

Company will market to and ultimately contract directly with retail channels to provide the technology and services 
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required for product education, customer retargeting (though loyalty and rewards programs), product promotion 

through the CDS platform and other services that help manage the retail channel’s operations.  The retail channels 

also represent a potential reseller channel in which they promote and resell the Company’s CDS platform direct to 

clinicians in order to increase the number of prescribing clinicians within the market and ensure a closed loop for 

ordering of the Licensed Producer’s products. 

 

 Clinics and Clinicians   

The Company markets to specialty clinics (such as pain clinics, oncology clinics), cannabis clinics and clinicians 

(be it specialists or general practitioners) for the use of the Company’s CDS platform. The Company will market 

to and ultimately contract directly with this vertical for licensing of our cannabis evaluation tool, dosing tool, e-

prescription tool and may also choose to use the Company’s EMR tools including appointment scheduler, 

timesheets, telemedicine platform and other tools that help manage the entire clinical operation. Clinicians are a 

core user group that represents the primary intake point of clinical data that powers the Company’s business 

intelligence. 

 

Marketing efforts are achieved through both channel and direct strategies. Channel partnerships could include 

integration efforts with larger, multi-national EMR systems, large pharmacy groups, government agencies, hospital 

networks and other industry players that could benefit from a greater number of prescribing clinicians or a better 

oversight across the value chain with respect to the cannabis industry. Direct strategies include event exhibiting, 

speaking engagements, advertising, outbound sales and other traditional marketing efforts. 

 

The marketing and sales teams are centralized at the Company’s headquarters in Mississauga, Ontario, with support 

staff located in the US.   

 

The Company anticipates adding support staff to additional markets as opportunities warrant. 

 

Regulatory Bodies 

 

The Company may from time to time be required to comply with regulatory bodies across its customer segments. These 

may include Federal or State/Provincial level guidelines for the operation of technology of software in the cannabis 

sector, storage and safety of personal information and personal health data, advertising guidelines, compliance, 

healthcare guidelines. The Company will ensure that it has understood the requirements in each market it operates 

within across all customer segments and will develop the required protocols to address compliance. The Company has 

developed protocols and continues to develop protocols to remain compliant in its current markets. The Company is 

not required to have any special permits at this time to operate. The Company has engaged a third-party security firm 

to provide continuous oversight and security over the information, storage and usage of information on the Company’s 

platforms. 

 

Management & Organization 

 

The Company is pleased to introduce a well-rounded and developed a well-structured organizational structure to ensure 

both industry and functional expertise are in-house to deliver on the objectives. The management team of the Company 

brings many years of experience in the sectors of healthcare, cannabis, governance, technology, communications, sales 

& marketing, finance, capital markets and operations. The Company does not outsource any of its development of key 

functional operations. A biography of each executive, director and member of management team can be found below. 

 

The current board of directors include;  

 

 Pradyum Sekar (Chief Executive Officer & Co-Founder) 

 

As co-founder of the Company, Prad has spent more than 15 years as an entrepreneur throughout the healthcare sector 

from the clinical side through to innovation building.  From opening one of the most recognized Cannabis Education 

Centres in Ontario to consulting on major healthcare IT and services integrations, Prad has held several senior positions 

in all sizes of corporate organizations.  
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 Kashaf Qureshi (President, Chief Operating Officer and Co-Founder) 

 

As co-founder of the Company, Kash brings more than 20 years of extensive operational and entrepreneurial experience 

in the healthcare, medical cannabis and technology start-up space.  An ardent cost-efficiency executive, Kash has 

focused on promoting improved cash flow, operational proficiencies and overall profitability in a series of organizations 

throughout the healthcare sector. 

 

 David Danziger 

 

David is a Chartered Professional Accountant and the Senior Vice President of Assurance Services at MNP LLP, 

Chartered Professional Accountants, a full-service audit and accounting firm. He also leads the firm's Public Markets 

practice. 

 

In addition, two (2) new directors have joined the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer, Dr. Danial Schecter and 

Norton Singhavon. 

 

 Dr. Danial Schechter 

 

Dr. Danial Schecter's strong interest in cannabinoid medicine led to the founding of the Canabo Medical Clinic 

(CMClinic), Canada's largest referral only clinic specializing in medical cannabis. This has led to extensive 

involvement in education and outreach within the medical cannabis space including education, research and consulting 

with industry both nationally and internationally. As a recognized expert he has trained thousands of physicians and 

pharmacists on how to help patients decide if cannabis is right for them. Outside of cannabinoid medicine Dr. Schecter 

holds a fellowship in Hospital Medicine and is an active hospitalist at the Royal Victoria Regional Health Centre in 

Barrie, Ontario and also provides house calls to at-risk elderly and palliative care patients.  

 

 Norton Singhavon  

 

Norton currently serves as the Founder and Executive Chairman of Doventi Capital. Norton has extensive experience 

at the senior management level of capital investments and has been involved in several large acquisitions, 

consolidations, and start-ups in Canada’s legal cannabis sector, both private and public. As an investor and advisor to 

numerous companies in Canada’s ACMPR sector, he has been responsible for internally deploying over $45 million 

into the legal cannabis sector and has been involved in another $65 million of public M&A ACMPR 

transactions. Norton was also an advisor to, and early-stage investor in, Invictus MD (TSX.V:IMH). 

 

 Carmelo Marrelli (Chief Financial Officer) 

 

Carmelo Marrelli is the principal of Marrelli Support Services Inc., a firm that has delivered accounting and regulatory 

compliance services to listed companies on various exchanges for 18 years, where he has worked since February 2009. 

Mr. Marrelli is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA, CA, CGA) and a member of the Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries and Administrators, a professional body that certifies corporate secretaries. He has a Bachelor of Commerce 

degree from the University of Toronto. 

Competitive Advantage and Strength 

Based on the experience of the Company in providing software to the cannabis industry, the Company has defined the 

industry with four primary customer segments/stakeholders from which sub-segments may exist market dependent. 
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These four groups are the producers and the distributor/retailers collectively making up the supply side, and the 

clinicians and the patients collectively making up the demand side.  

A high-level overview within the industry can be seen as: 

 

In some markets, these groups can be vertically integrated, or a combination of one or more unique segments. In order 

to support the business operations of these segments, software has been developed for each segment or adopted from 

other industries. Feedback from customers has demonstrated to the Company that many of these systems were initially 

developed to help the customers simply stay compliant with the evolving regulations that might have been governing 

them. As our customers evolve their businesses, the need for tracking data that can produce insights and drive actionable 

change to the customers business model has been shown to be a need gone unfulfilled. In order to fill this need, the 

concept of software needs to be evolved to cross and integrate both supply and demand side.  

 

The market has defined that understanding and tracking the workflow downstream from seed to consumer, allows us 

to further understand how the influence by the clinician or market determine what the patient/consumer buys, how a 

purchase decision by a patient/consumer affects their system, how efficacy data can determine what products need to 

be manufactured, and how a product delivered to market evolves. The Company defines this missing link as upstream 

workflow. How data fed back upstream can influence how a customer across each segment can better improve their 

unique propositions and competitive advantage.  

 

While competitive software offerings may be developing vertically integrated functionality, many of the service 

offerings have not yet developed on the demand side – particular with clinicians. The Company believes it has a unique 

advantage as it has started by developing clinical and patient systems. This unique advantage offers several benefits.  

 

Firstly, it allows the Company to enter markets as a first mover. With software designed to help grow demand by 

empowering clinicians and patients to enter the legal medical framework, it allows the Company to secure market share 

early in medical markets globally. Legal markets generally begin as medical and evolve into a recreational industry 

over time, it provides the Company a large market opportunity to establish a leadership position within. 

 

Secondly, the Company is collecting valuable clinically-validated and evidence-based data which drives insights today 

for clinicians and patients but is highly sought after by the supply side of the industry. The missing link to the data 

currently available on the supply side allows the Company to be a leader in using this validated data to drive better 

business tools for all customer segments.  

 

Thirdly, while industry software initially focused on compliance for users, the Company focused on developing 

software that focuses on gathering and harnessing data insights to improve performance and efficiency. This allows the 

Company to formulate tools for other customer segments to address the needs that will help the customers grow and 

remain competitive.  

 

Lastly, the Company through its service and software strategy, ensures the software developed is built on experience, 

globally applicable and with a ready pipeline of customers to onboard to secure early market share. The Company 

therefore anticipates it will be able to source insight, data and feedback from external and internal sources to ensure its 

technology and offering is driving real customer value, and that value continues to evolve with the industry and its 

segments.  

 

Intercorporate Relationships 

 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has one subsidiary, MVC Technologies USA Inc. 
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DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends since incorporation. 

 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MD&A 

 

The table below summarizes selected financial data of the Company for the periods indicated and should be read in 

conjunction with the Financial Statements and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” included elsewhere in 

this Prospectus. 

 

Summary Components of 

Statement of Operations and 

Comprehensive Income  

September 

 30, 2018 

Unaudited ($) 

December 31, 

2017 

Audited ($) 

December 31, 

2016 

Audited ($) 

December 31, 

2015 

Unaudited ($) 

Revenues 
8,318,991 280,059 1,500 - 

Expenses 10,268,355 1,536,962 154,945 94,496 

Net Income (Loss) (1,949,364) (1,256,903) (153,445)) (96,496) 

Basic and diluted earnings 

(loss) per share (0.036) (0.035) (0.009) (0.01) 

Summary Components of 

Statement of Financial 

Position 

    

Current Assets 3,374,168 1,145,617 59,193 33,756 

Total Assets 12,317,080 9,101,951 188,472 108,035 

Current Liabilities 4,931,114 3,121,262 11,675 3,178 

Total Liabilities 4,931,114 4,120,570 11,675 3,178 

Working Capital (1,556,946) (1,975,645) 47,518 30,578 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 

 

The Company’ Management’s Discussion and Analysis is attached to this Prospectus as Appendices B1 and B2. Certain 

information included in the Company’ Management’s Discussion and Analysis is forward-looking and based upon 

assumptions and anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties 

materialize or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those 

expected. See “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for further detail. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY  

 

Common Shares 

 

All of the common shares of the Company rank equally as to voting rights, participation in a distribution of the assets 

of the Company on the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company and the entitlements to dividends. The 

holders of the common shares are entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders and to attend and vote such 

shares at the meetings. Each common share carries with it the right to one vote. Holders of the common shares are 

entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefore. 

In the event of dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, holders of the common shares are entitled to 

share ratably in all assets of the Company remaining after payment of all amounts due to creditors. 

 

Warrants 

 

Between May and September 2017, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of an aggregate of 1,109 

convertible debenture Units for gross proceeds of $1,109,000. The convertible debenture Units consist of 5% 

convertible debentures and 110 share purchase warrants for each $1,000 principal amount debentures. The debentures 
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mature May 30, 2019, are secured by the assets of the Company and provide certain rights the Lead Holder representing 

the debenture holders. The debentures are convertible at $4.53 (pre-split) or $0.15 post-split and provide that the 

Company must issue the equivalent of 1.1 common shares for each one (1) common share otherwise issuable on 

conversion in the event the debentures are converted after November 30, 2018 but before a liquidity event. The warrants 

forming part of the convertible debenture Units are convertible at $6.00 per share (pre-split) or $0.20 post-split until 

the date that is 24 months from a liquidity event, subject to the issuance of 1.1 common shares per warrant upon 

conversion of the debentures. 

 

In connection with a private placement financing that closed in three tranches (December 19, 2017, December 29, 2017, 

January 4, 2018), the Company issued Units consisting of 1 common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant. 

An aggregate of 5,164,746 warrants were issued with each whole warrant exercisable at $0.50 for a period of two years 

from issuance. In addition, the Company issued an aggregate of 659,850 broker warrants each of which entitles the 

holder to purchase a Unit at a price of $0.41 for a period of two years. 

 

In connection with a private placement that closed in seven tranches (July 3, 2018, July 13, 2018, July 23, 2018, 

September 4, 2018, September 10, 2018, September 26, 2018 and October 2, 2018), the Company issued Units 

consisting of 1 common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 4,891,131 warrants were 

issued with each whole warrant exercisable at price of $0.50 for a period of two years or within 90 days of completion 

of a going public transaction. In addition, the Company issued an aggregate of 81,945 broker warrants which entitle 

the holder to purchase Units at a price of $0.44 for a period two years.  

 

In connection with the Private Placement Financing, which consists of Units and Subscription Receipt Units, which 

closed in five tranches on January 17, 2019, January 25, 2019, February 14, 2019, February 15, 2019, and February 21, 

2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 2,566,670 warrants with each warrant exercisable at $0.80 for a period of 

three years. In addition, the Company issued and aggregate of 26,040 broker warrants, each of which entitles the holder 

to purchase a Unit for a price of $0.50 for a period of three years. 

 

Options 

 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has issued an aggregate of 6,110,814 options to officers, directors, 

employees, advisors and consultants. 

 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE COMMON SHARES  
 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has granted options to purchase common shares as set out in the table 

below: 

 

Holder Number of 

Shares Under 

Option 

Exercise Price Expiry Date Vesting 

Executive 

Officers 

2,485,134 $0.44 

 

November 5, 2028 Over 3 years (1/3 each 

year) 

Directors (who 

are not also 

Executive 

Officers)1 

90,000 $0.151 June 22, 2019 June 22, 2018 

120,000 $0.50 January 23, 2020 January 23, 2019 

Employees 1,033,332 $0.15 August 23, 2023 Over 4 years (1/4 each 

year) 

Employees 1,343,715 $0.41 August 23, 2023 Over 4 years (1/4 each 

year) 

Employees 24,390 $0.41 September 27, 2023 Over 4 years (1/4 each 

year) 
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Employees 2,272 $0.44 September 27, 2023 Over 4 years (1/4 each 

year) 

Employees 103,000 $0.50 January 23, 2024 Over 4 years (1/4 each 

year) 

Employees 152,000 $0.44 January 23, 2024 Over 4 years (1/4 each 

year) 

Consultants 55,560 

 

$0.09 March 5, 2019 March 5, 2017 

11,396 

 

$0.41 

 

January 2, 2020 

 

February 11, 2018 

 

560,000 

 

$0.44 

 

August 13, 2023 

 

Vesting over twelve 

(12) months, with 

25% vesting three (3) 

months after grant 

date and the 

remainder vesting 

every three (3) 

months thereafter 

 

2,927 $0.41 March 11, 2020 Vesting immediately 

2,927 $0.41 April 11, 2020 Vesting immediately 

2,927 $0.41 May 11, 2020 Vesting immediately 

2,927 $0.41 June 11, 2020 Vesting immediately 

2,727 $0.44 July 11, 2020 Vesting immediately 

2,727 $0.44 August 11, 2020 Vesting immediately 

2,727 $0.44 September 11, 2020 Vesting immediately 

110,000 $0.50 January 23, 2020 Vesting immediately 

Total Options 6,110,868    
Notes: 

1. Information applies to two Directors who are not also officers. 

 

PRIOR SALES 

 

No securities are being distributed under this Prospectus. The following table summarizes the details of the issuance of 

securities of the Company during the twelve month period prior to the date of this Prospectus. 

 

Date Description of Securities Number of Securities Issue price per security 

September 26, 2017 Convertible Debenture 

Units(1) 

9 Units $1000/Unit 

December 2017 Units(2) (3) 10,329,492 $0.41 

December 19, 2017 Common shares(4) 4,878,048 $0.41 

June - October 2018 Common share units (5)(6) 9,782,264 $0.44 
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August 23, 2018 Options(7) 1,033,332 $0.15  

August 23, 2018  Options(8) 1,346,154 $0.41 

September 17, 2018 Options (9) 2,273 $0.44 

September 17, 2018 Common Shares (10) 2,273 $0.44 

September 17, 2018 Common Shares (11) 2,700,000 $0.0092 

September 27, 2018 Options (12) 24,390 $0.41 

September 27, 2018 Options (13) 2,272 $0.44 

October 29, 2018 Common Shares (14) 56,800 $0.44 

October 29, 2018 Warrants(15) 28,400 $0.50 

November 5, 2018 Options (16) 2,485,134 $0.44 

November 8, 2018 Options (17) 11,708 $0.41 

November 8, 2018 Options (18) 8,181 $0.44 

December 31, 2018 Common Shares(19) 1,245,454 $0.44 

January 17, 2019 Common Share Units (20) 374,998 $0.50 

January 23, 2019 Options (21) 103,000 $0.50 

January 23, 2019 Options (22) 152,000 $0.44 

January 23, 2019 Options (23) 110,000 $0.50 

January 23, 2019 Options (24) 120,000 $0.50 

January 25, 2019 Subscription Receipt Units 
(25) (26) 

352,000 $0.50 

February 1, 2019 Common Shares (27) 300,000 $0.016 

February 14, 2019 Subscription Receipt 

Units(28) 

2,184,000 $0.50 

February 15, 2019 Subscription Receipt 

Units(29) (30) 

1,688,420 $0.50 

February 21, 2019 Subscription Receipt Units 

(31) 

533,920 $0.50 

Notes: 

1. Each unit consists of 5% convertible debentures and common share purchase warrant. Warrants: 110 warrants for each $1,000 principal amount debenture. 

Exercise price for each warrant is $6.00 (pre-split, or $0.20 post-split). 

2. Issued pursuant to private placement which closed in 3 tranches on December 19, 2017, December 29, 2017, and January 4th, 2018. Each unit consists of 1 

common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.50. Each unit cost $0.41. 

3. In addition, 659,850 broker warrants were issued. Each broker warrant consists of a broker unit priced at $0.41. Each broker unit consists of 1 common 

share and one ½ common share purchase warrant, exercisable at $0.50. 

4. Issued as partial consideration pursuant to the acquisition of MedEval Corp. 

5. Issued pursuant to private placement which closed in 7 tranches on July 3rd, 2018, July 13th, 2018, July 23rd, 2018, September 4, 2018, September 10, 

2018, September 26, 2018 and October 2, 2018. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.50 for 

a period of two years. 

6. In addition, 81,945 broker warrants were issued as part of a finder’s fees. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to acquire 1 unit at $0.44 for a period of 

two years. 
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7. Issued to employees of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.15. 

8. Issued to employees of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.41. 

9. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.44. 

10. Exercise of Options. 

11. Exercise of Options. 

12. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employee to exercise at $0.41. 

13. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employee to exercise at $0.44. 

14. Issued to consultant of MVC in satisfaction of debt owed to consultant. 

15. In addition to common shares, common share purchase warrants were issued in satisfaction of debt owed to consultant. 

16. Issued to executive employees of the Issuers, entitling executive employees to exercise at $0.44. 

17. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employee to exercise at $0.41. 

18. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.44. 

19. Issued pursuant to acquisition of TokeIn as partial consideration 

20. Issued pursuant to private placement which closed on January 17. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant, each 

warrant exercisable at $0.80. Each unit costs $0.50. 

21. Issued to employees of Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.50. 

22. Issued to employees of Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.44. 

23. Issued to consultant of Issuer, entitling consultant to exercise at $0.50. 

24. Issued to directors of Issuer, entitling directors to exercise at $0.50. 

25. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on January 25, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ common 

share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

26. In addition, 20,440 broker warrants were issued. Each broker warrant consists of a broker warrant priced at $0.50. Each broker unit consists of 1 common 

share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.80. 

27. Exercise of options.  

28. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on February 14, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ 

common share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

29. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on February 15, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ 

common share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

30. In addition, 5,600 broker warrants were issued. Each broker warrant consists of a broker warrant priced at $0.50. Each broker unit consists of 1 common 

share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.80. 

31. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on February 21, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ 

common share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

Summary Compensation Table 

 

The following table sets out particulars of compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers of the Company 

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. 

 

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Year (or 

part) 

Salary 

($) 

Share- 

based 

awards 

($) 

Option- 

based 

awards 

($) 

Non-equity  

incentive plan 

compensation ($) 

Pension 

value ($) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 

Annual 

incentive 

plans 

Long- 

term 

incentive 

plans 

Kashaf 

Qureshi 
2017 $100,679 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $100,679 

Pradyum 

Sekar 
2017 $100,679 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $100,679 

 

The following table sets out particulars of compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers for the period ended 

September 30, 2018. 

 

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Year 

(or 

part) 

Salary 
($) 

Share- 

based 

awards 

Option- 

based 

awards 

Non-equity 

incentive plan 

compensation ($) 

Pension 

value ($) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 
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($) ($) Annual 

incentive 

plans 

Long- 

term 

incent

ive 

plans 

Kashaf 

Qureshi 
2018 

$170,799  
(1) 

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $170,799 

Pradyum 

Sekar 
2018 

$170,799 
(1) 

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $170,799 

 
(1) Amount paid to September 30, 2018 

 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

As of the date of this Prospectus, no director, executive officer or employee of the Company or their respective 

associates or affiliates is or has been indebted to the Company at any time. 

 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

 

Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, neither the directors, officers and principal shareholders of the 

Resulting Issuer, nor any associate or affiliate of the foregoing, have had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any 

transactions in which the Issuer, or the Company has participated within the three year period prior to the date of this 

Prospectus, or will have any material interest in any proposed transaction, which has materially affected or will 

materially affect the Resulting Issuer. 

 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 

The Company is not a party to any legal proceedings, nor is it aware of any legal proceedings to which any of its 

property or assets is the subject matter, and it is not aware of any such proceedings known to be contemplated. 

 

AUDITORS 

 
The auditors of the Company are Grant Thornton LLP located at 201 City Centre Drive, Suite 501, Mississauga, ON 
L5B 2T4. 
 

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have a transfer agent and registrar. 

 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

 
Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts entered into 

by the Company within the two years prior to the date of this Prospectus: 

 

1. Share Purchase Agreement with 10557404 Canada Corp. dated December 20, 2018, as amended January 24, 

2019. 

 

PART III – INFORMATION CONCERNING THE RESULTING ISSUER 

 

NAME, ADDRESS AND INCORPORATION 

 

Upon completion of the Transaction, the corporate structure of the Resulting Issuer is the corporate structure 

of the Issuer.  
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The Resulting Issuer’s head office and registered office will be located at 5045 Orbitor Drive, Building 11, Unit 300, 

Mississauga, Ontario, L4W 4Y4. 

 

INTERCORPORATE RELATIONSHIPS 

 

The diagram below describes the inter-corporate relationships of the Resulting Issuer post-Transaction: 

 
NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

 

Upon completion of the Transaction, the Resulting Issuer became the holding company of the Company and will 

implement the business plan of the Company. 

 

See “ Business Objectives and Milestones”, which follows, and see also “Part II – Information Concerning the Company– 

Narrative Description of the Business”. 

 

USE OF PROCEEDS 

 

The Company experienced negative cash flow from operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. Current 

revenue from the Company’s operations is sufficient to pay for operating expenses. Management of the Company 

believes operating revenue will be sufficient to fund future operations and to fund organic growth.      

 

FUNDS AVAILABLE AND USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

 

Upon completion of the Transaction, it is anticipated the Resulting Issuer will have working capital of approximately 

$2,544,715. The principal purposes for the use of those funds will be as follows:  

 

Item $ 
Funds Available  
Estimated net proceeds from the sale of the securities offered under the prospectus N/A 
Net proceeds from Private Placement Financing closed on February 21, 2019 $2,565,689 

Working capital of Issuer as at January 31, 2019 $28,583 
Estimated consolidated working capital of Company as at January 31, 2019 

$110,443 
Subtotal $2,704,715 

4 
  
Principal purposes   
Payment of interest on promissory note issued on December 20, 2018 (Note 1) $392,890 
Transaction costs (Note 2) $150,000 
Operational expenditure during the year (Note 3) $260,000 
US Clinical Acquisitions (Note 4) $1,901,825 

Total $2,704,715 

 

Note 1 Interest calculated at 12% of CAD equivalent amount of US$2,400,000 Promissory Note issued in December 

2018. Proceeds from this note were used to repay older Promissory Note due in the same month. 
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Note 2 Legal, accounting and other professional fees ($130,000) and listing fees ($20,000) 

Note 3 Salaries and wages ($180,000), Rent ($70,000) Travel ($10,000)  

Note 4 The Company plans to use these funds to support its growth into new markets and to identify potential 

acquisition targets in 2019. 

 

The Resulting Issuer intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be 

circumstances, however, where for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Use of funds 

will be subject to the discretion of management. 

 

BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND MILESTONES 

 

Following completion of the Transaction, the Resulting Issuer’s primary business objectives and milestones will be 

the business objectives and milestones of the Company. See in “Part II - Information Concerning the Company – 

Narrative Description of the Business”. 

 

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

The Resulting Issuer intends to retain its earnings, if any, to finance growth and expand its operations and does not 

anticipate paying any dividends on the Resulting Issuer Shares in the foreseeable future. 

 

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

The following table sets forth selected pro forma consolidated financial information of the Resulting Issuer as at 

September 30, 2018 as if the Transaction has been completed as at September 30, 2018. 

 

 

 

As at December 31, 2018 and 

September 30, 2018 

 
Issuer 

$ 

 

Company 
$ 

Pro Forma 

Adjustments 
$ 

 
ProForma 

$ 

Balance Sheet     

Current assets 83,827 3,374,168 1,187,163 4,645,158 

Total assets 83,827 12,317,080 1,187,163 13,588,070 

Current liabilities 119,753 4,931,114 (3,772,698) 1,278,169 

Total liabilities 119,753 4,931,114 (590,396) 4,460,471 

Shareholders’ 

Equity (35,926) 7,385,966 1,777,559 9,127,599 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

 

The Resulting Issuer, will be authorized to issue an unlimited number of Resulting Issuer Shares and an unlimited 

number of First Preferred Shares. For further details see “Part I Information Concerning Issuer – Description of the 

Securities” and “Part II Information Concerning the Company – Description of the Securities”. The Resulting Issuer 

has not sought nor obtained approval for issuance or listing of the First Preferred Shares from the Exchange. The 

Resulting Issuer does not intend to issue any First Preferred Shares and will not do so without first obtaining written 

consent of the CSE. 

 

AUTHORIZED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL 

 

See in this Part III – Information Concerning the Resulting Issuer, “– Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information” 

and “– Fully Diluted Share Capital”, which follow; and see “Part I Information Concerning Issuer – Description of 

the Securities” and “Part II Information Concerning the Company – Description of the Securities”. 
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OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

 

The Company has issued and outstanding an aggregate 6,110,868 options to issued officers, directors, employees, 

advisors and consultants. Each option gives the holder the right to purchase one Share of the Company. The Issuer 

has issued and outstanding an aggregate of 666,060 options. Pursuant to the terms of the Transaction, the Options of 

the Company and the Issuer will be exchanged for comparable securities of the Resulting Issuer. Upon Closing of the 

Transaction, it is expected the Resulting Issuer will have issued and outstanding 6,776,928 options. 

 

The Resulting Issuer has adopted the “rolling” stock option plan of the Issuer at Closing, pursuant to which the Board 

may from time to time, in its discretion, and in accordance with CSE requirements, grant to directors, officers, 

employees and consultants, non-assignable and non-transferable options to purchase the Resulting Issuer Shares, 

provided that the number of the Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the then issued 

and outstanding shares. The options are exercisable up to 10 years from the date of grant, so long as the optionee 

maintains the optionee’s position with the Resulting Issuer. The number of Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 

issuance to any optionee cannot exceed 5% of the then issued and outstanding shares and the number of Resulting 

Issuer Shares reserved for issuance to consultants cannot exceed 2% of the then issued and outstanding shares. 

 

The minimum exercise price of an option granted under the Stock Option Plan must not be less than the greater of the 

closing market prices of the underlying securities on (a) the trading day prior to the date of the grant of the stock options 

and (b) the date of grant of the stock options.  

 

Options granted to an optionee who does not continue as a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Resulting 

Issuer, has 30 days after such optionee ceases to be a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Resulting 

Issuer. 

 

See “Fully Diluted Share Capital”, which follows. 

 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

 

The following table sets out the share capitalization of the Resulting Issuer after giving effect to the Transaction and the 

Consolidation: 

 
Designation of 
Security 

Amount authorized or to 

be authorized 

Amount outstanding after giving effect to 

the Transaction  

Common Shares Unlimited 70,170,648 
Preferred Shares Unlimited NIL 
Loan Capital $959,000  $959,000/7,032,664 shares 
Notes: 

(1) Company must issue 1.1 common shares for each one (1) common share otherwise issuable on conversion in the event of the debentures are 

converted after November 30, 2018. 

FULLY DILUTED SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The following table sets out the anticipated fully diluted share capital of the Resulting Issuer after giving effect to the 

Transaction and the Consolidation. 

 

 Number of Securities 

Issued or Reserved as of 

the closing of the 

Transaction 

% of total issued and 

outstanding as of the 

closing of the 

Transaction 

Shares to be Issued 
  

Issuer’s Shares issued at the date of Prospectus 1,363,494  1.94% 
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The Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued on closing of the 

Transaction to the Company Shareholders 
68,807,154 98.06% 

Total Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued 70,170,648 69.74% 

Shares to be issued on exercise of Company Options 6,110,868 6.07% 

Shares to be issued for Company convertible debentures  7,032,664 6.99% 

Shares to be issued on exercise of Company 

Warrants and Broker Warrants 
16,484,055 16.38% 

Shares to be issued on exercise of Issuer Warrants 
151,515 0.15% 

Shares to be issued on exercise of Issuer Options 
666,060 0.66% 

Total shares to be reserved for issuance upon exercise 30,445,162 30.26% 

Fully diluted issued and outstanding 
100,615,810 100% 

 

PRIOR SALES 

 

Since the date of incorporation of the Issuer, 1,363,494 shares have been issued as follows: 
 

Date Number of Common Shares Method of Sales Price per Common 

Share 

April 5, 2018 757,495 From Treasury $0.000001 

June 30, 2018 303,000 From Treasury $0.08 

August 30, 2018 303,000 From Treasury $0.33 

 

During the past 12 months, the Company has issued, securities as follows: 

 

PRIOR SALES 

 

No securities are being distributed under this Prospectus. The following table summarizes the details of the issuance of 

securities of the Company during the twelve month period prior to the date of this Prospectus. 

 

Date Description of Securities Number of Securities Issue price per security 

September 26, 2017 Convertible Debenture 

Units(1) 

9 Units $1000/Unit 

December 2017 Units(2) (3) 10,329,492 $0.41 

December 19, 2017 Common shares(4) 4,878,048 $0.41 

June - October 2018 Common share units (5)(6) 9,782,264 $0.44 

August 23, 2018 Options(7) 1,033,332 $0.15  

August 23, 2018  Options(8) 1,346,154 $0.41 

September 17, 2018 Options (9) 2,273 $0.44 

September 17, 2018 Common Shares (10) 2,273 $0.44 
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September 17, 2018 Common Shares (11) 2,700,000 $0.0092 

September 27, 2018 Options (12) 24,390 $0.41 

September 27, 2018 Options (13) 2,272 $0.44 

October 29, 2018 Common Shares (14) 56,800 $0.44 

October 29, 2018 Warrants(15) 28,400 $0.50 

November 5, 2018 Options (16) 2,485,134 $0.44 

November 8, 2018 Options (17) 11,708 $0.41 

November 8, 2018 Options (18) 8,181 $0.44 

December 31, 2018 Common Shares(19) 1,245,454 $0.44 

January 17, 2019 Common Share Units (20) 374,998 $0.50 

January 23, 2019 Options (21) 103,000 $0.50 

January 23, 2019 Options (22) 152,000 $0.44 

January 23, 2019 Options (23) 110,000 $0.50 

January 23, 2019 Options (24) 120,000 $0.50 

January 25, 2019 Subscription Receipt Units 
(25) (26) 

352,000 $0.50 

February 1, 2019 Common Shares (27) 300,000 $0.016 

February 14, 2019 Subscription Receipt 

Units(28) 

2,184,000 $0.50 

February 15, 2019 Subscription Receipt 

Units(29) (30) 

1,688,420 $0.50 

February 21, 2019 Subscription Receipt 

Units(31) 

533,920 $0.50 

Notes: 

1. Each unit consists of 5% convertible debentures and common share purchase warrant. Warrants: 110 warrants for each $1,000 principal amount debenture. 

Exercise price for each warrant is $6.00 (pre-split, or $0.20 post-split). 

2. Issued pursuant to private placement which closed in 3 tranches on December 19, 2017, December 29, 2017, and January 4th, 2018. Each unit consists of 1 

common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.50. Each unit cost $0.41. 

3. In addition, 659,850 broker warrants were issued. Each broker warrant consists of a broker unit priced at $0.41. Each broker unit consists of 1 common 

share and one ½ common share purchase warrant, exercisable at $0.50. 

4. Issued as partial consideration pursuant to the acquisition of MedEval Corp. 

5. Issued pursuant to private placement which closed in 7 tranches on July 3rd, 2018, July 13th, 2018, July 23rd, 2018, September 4, 2018, September 10, 

2018, September 26, 2018 and October 2, 2018. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.50 for 

a period of two years. 

6. In addition, 81,945 broker warrants were issued as part of a finder’s fees. Each broker warrant entitles the holder to acquire 1 unit at $0.44 for a period of 

two years. 

7. Issued to employees of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.15. 

8. Issued to employees of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.41. 

9. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.44. 

10. Exercise of Options. 

11. Exercise of Options. 

12. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employee to exercise at $0.41. 

13. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employee to exercise at $0.44. 

14. Issued to consultant of MVC in satisfaction of debt owed to consultant. 

15. In addition to common shares, common share purchase warrants were issued in satisfaction of debt owed to consultant. 

16. Issued to executive employees of the Issuers, entitling executive employees to exercise at $0.44. 

17. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employee to exercise at $0.41. 

18. Issued to employee of the Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.44. 
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19. Issued pursuant to acquisition of TokeIn as partial consideration 

20. Issued pursuant to private placement which closed on January 17. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ common share purchase warrant, each 

warrant exercisable at $0.80. Each unit costs $0.50. 

21. Issued to employees of Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.50. 

22. Issued to employees of Issuer, entitling employees to exercise at $0.44. 

23. Issued to consultant of Issuer, entitling consultant to exercise at $0.50. 

24. Issued to directors of Issuer, entitling directors to exercise at $0.50. 

25. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on January 25, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ common 

share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

26. In addition, 20,440 broker warrants were issued. Each broker warrant consists of a broker warrant priced at $0.50. Each broker unit consists of 1 common 

share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.80. 

27. Exercise of options.  

28. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on February 14, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ 

common share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

29. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on February 15, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ 

common share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

30. In addition, 5,600 broker warrants were issued. Each broker warrant consists of a broker warrant priced at $0.50. Each broker unit consists of 1 common 

share and one ½ common share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.80. 

31. Issued pursuant to private placement of subscription receipts which closed on February 21, 2019. Each unit consists of 1 common share and one ½ 

common share purchase warrant. Each unit costs $0.50. 

 

ESCROWED SECURITIES 

 

The CSE Escrow Shares will be held in escrow pursuant to the CSE Escrow Agreement. There are to be 18,450,000 

Resulting Issuer Shares and 2,485,134 options to be held in escrow. These are held in escrow as required by CSE 

policy on completion of the Transaction.  

 

The CSE Escrow Shares are to be subject to the following release schedule: 15% of the Escrow Shares will be released 

1 year from Listing Date, and additional 15% released every 6 month thereafter until month 36 when the remaining 

40% of the Escrow Shares will be released. 

 

The CSE Escrow Agreement provides that the CSE Escrow Shares are held in escrow pursuant to its terms and the 

beneficial ownership thereof may not be sold, assigned, hypothecated, transferred within escrow or otherwise dealt 

with other than in accordance with the terms of the agreement. In the event of the bankruptcy of an escrow 

shareholder, in accordance with the agreement, the CSE Escrow Shares held by such escrow shareholder may be 

transferred to the trustees in the bankruptcy or such person legally entitled to the CSE Escrow Shares which shares 

will remain in escrow subject to the escrow agreement. In the event of the death of an escrow shareholder, in 

accordance with the agreement, the CSE Escrow Shares held by the escrow shareholder will be released from escrow. 

 

To the knowledge of the Resulting Issuer’s directors and senior officers, upon completion of the Transaction, no 

person is anticipated to own of record or beneficially, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, the 

Resulting Issuer Shares carrying more than 10% of all voting rights attached to the outstanding the Resulting 

Issuer’s common shares except the following: 

 

 

Name 
Ownership as 

at the date of 

this 

Prospectus 

Number of Common 

Shares as at the date 

of this Prospectus 

Number of Resulting 

Issuer Shares After 

Giving Effect to the 

Private Placement 

Percentage After 

Giving Effect to the 

Transaction 

Skylight Health 

Inc.(1) 

 

26.81% 

 
18,450,000 18,450,000 26.29% 

Pent Land 

Holdings Inc. (2) 
11.06% 

7,610,010 7,610,010 10.85% 

Universal 

Botanicals Inc. (3) 
9.07% 

6,240,000 6,240,000 8.89% 

Note:  

1. Skylight Health Inc. is owned by Kashaf Qureshi and Pradyum Sekar, both of whom are officers and directors of the Company. 

2. Pent Land Holdings Inc. is owned by Neil Kapp and Debra Kapp. 
3. Universal Botanicals Inc. is owned indirectly by Vivo Cannabis Inc., a TSXV listed issuer. 
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In addition to the CSE Escrow Shares, upon closing of the Transaction, pursuant to a voluntary escrow agreement, there 

will be 2,880,000 Resulting Issuer shares escrowed for 1 year from the Listing Date released as follows: 25% released 

6 months after the Listing Date, 35% released 9 months after the Listing Date, and 40% released 1 year after the Listing 

Date. 

 

In addition, a further 6,240,000 shares will be subject to a voluntary escrow agreement. The shares will be escrowed 

for 2 years and released as follows: 15% released 6 months after the Listing Date, 20% released 1 year after the Listing 

Date, 30% released 18 months after the Listing Date, and 35% released 2 years after the Listing Date.  

 

In addition, a further 3,555,570 shares will be subject to a voluntary escrow agreement. The shares will be escrowed 

for 1 year to be released as follows: 10% on the Listing Date, 25% released 6 months after the Listing Date, 35% 

released 9 months after the Listing Date, and 30% released 1 year after the Listing Date. 

 

A further 8,312,010 Resulting Issuer shares will be subject to a voluntary escrow agreement. The shares will be 

escrowed for 3 years to be released as follows: 15% to be released after 6 months from Listing Date, and 15% every 6 

months thereafter.  

PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS 

 

To the knowledge of the Company’s directors and executive officers, the only persons who beneficially own or exercise, 

directly or indirectly, control or discretion over Company Shares carrying more than 10% of the votes attached to the 

Company Shares are as follows: 

 

Name 
Type of 

Ownership 

Number of 

MVC Shares 

currently 

owned 

Number of 

Resulting Issuer 

Shares owned on 

Completing the 

Transaction 

Percentage After 

Giving Effect to the 

Transaction  

Percentage After 

Giving Effect to the 

Transaction, on a fully 

diluted basis  

Skylight Health 

Inc.(1) 

 

Direct 

 
18,450,000 18,450,000 26.29%(1) 18.34% 

Pent Land 

Holdings Inc. (2) 

Direct 

 
7,610,010 7,610,010 10.85% 7.56% 

Universal 

Botanicals Inc. (3) 

Direct 

 
6,240,000 6,240,000 8.89% 6.20% 

Note:  
1. Skylight Health Inc. is owned by Kashaf Qureshi and Pradyum Sekar, both of whom are officers and directors of the Company. 

2. Pent Land Holdings Inc. is owned by Neil Kapp and Debra Kapp. 

3. Universal Botanicals Inc. is owned indirectly by Vivo Cannabis Inc., a TSXV listed issuer. 

 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

 

The following table sets out the name, municipality and province of residence, position anticipated to be held with 

the Resulting Issuer, current principal occupation, and the number and percentage of the Resulting Issuer Shares 

which will be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is proposed to be exercised, 

by each of the Resulting Issuer’s directors and officers following completion of the Transaction. 
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Name and 

Municipality of 

Residence 

Position 

to be held 

with the 

Resulting 

Issuer 

Principal 

Occupation for the 

Past Five Years 

Number of the 

Resulting Issuer 

Shares after 

Completion of the 

Transaction  

Percentage of class 

after Completion of 

the Transaction 

Kashaf Qureshi(1) 

Milton, Ontario 

President, 

COO, and 

Director 

Consultant and Officer 

of the Company 
9,225,000(2) 13.15% 

Pradyum Sekar 

Oakville, Ontario 

Secretary, 

Treasury, 

CEO,  

Director 

Consultant and Officer 

of the Company 
9,225,000(2) 13.15% 

David Danziger(1) 

Toronto, Ontario 
Director Chartered Accountant 122,000 0.17% 

Dr. Danial Schecter 

Toronto, Ontario 

 

Director 
Physician/ Consultant 25,000 0.036% 

Carmelo Marrelli 

Vaughn, Ontario 
CFO Accountant Nil Nil 

Norton Singhavon(1) 

Kelowna, British   

Columbia 

 

Director 
Businessman 555,000(3) 0.79% 

Notes: 

(1) Proposed members of the Audit Committee. 

(2) Skylight Health Inc. holds an aggregates of 18,450,000 shares, Skylight is owned beneficially by Kashaf Qureshi and Pradyum Sekar, both 
of whom are officers and directors of the Company and the Resulting Issuer. 

(3) Shares held indirectly through Doventi Capital Inc. 

 

At the Completion of the Transaction, the directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer as a group beneficially own, 

directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over an aggregate of 19,152,000 of Resulting Issuer Shares, 

representing 27.29% of the issued and outstanding the Resulting Issuer Shares (on an undiluted basis). Each director’s 

term of office will expire at the next annual meeting of the shareholders unless re-elected at such meeting. 

 

The Resulting Issuer’s audit committee will comprise Kashaf Qureshi, David Danziger and Norton Singhavon. Mr. 

Danziger and Norton Singhavon are independent members. All members are considered financially literate. There are 

no other committees of the Board at this time. The Resulting Issuer expects to have a compensation committee, 

nomination committee, audit committee, and project evaluation committee after completion of the Transaction. All 

compensation matters will be overseen by the compensation committee of the Resulting Issuer. All corporate 

governance matters will be overseen by the board of directors. 

 

The directors and officers will devote their time and expertise as required by the Resulting Issuer, however, it is not 

anticipated that any director will devote 100% of their time to the activities of the Resulting Issuer. With the exception 

of Kashaf Qureshi none of the directors will be employees of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

The Company has entered into management employee agreements with Pradyum Sekar, and Kash Qureshi for their 

services as CEO and COO and President, respectively.  
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The Company has entered into a contract with Marrelli Support Services Inc. as of September 5, 2018 for CFO services 

to be provided by Carmelo Marrelli. See “Executive Compensation”. Other than these agreements, none of the 

directors or officers is expected to enter into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Resulting Issuer 

at this time. See also “Management” below for additional biographic information about the proposed directors and 

officers. 
Notes: 

 

MANAGEMENT 

Kashaf Qureshi (President, Chief Operating Officer and Co-Founder) 

As co-founder of the Company, Kash brings more than 20 years of extensive operational and entrepreneurial experience 

in the healthcare, medical cannabis and technology start-up space.  An ardent cost-efficiency executive, Kash has 

focused on promoting improved cash flow, operational proficiencies and overall profitability in a series of organizations 

throughout the healthcare sector. 

Pradyum Sekar (Chief Executive Officer & Co-Founder) 

As co-founder of the Company, Prad has spent more than 15 years as an entrepreneur throughout the healthcare sector 

from the clinical side through to innovation building.  From opening one of the most recognized Cannabis Education 

Centres in Ontario to consulting on major healthcare IT and services integrations, Prad has held several senior positions 

in all sizes of corporate organizations.  

Carmelo Marrelli (Chief Financial Officer) 

 

Carmelo Marrelli is the principal of Marrelli Support Services Inc., a firm that has delivered accounting and regulatory 

compliance services to listed companies on various exchanges for 18 years, where he has worked since February 2009. 

Mr. Marrelli is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA, CA, CGA) and a member of the Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries and Administrators, a professional body that certifies corporate secretaries. He has a Bachelor of Commerce 

degree from the University of Toronto. 

 

Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

 

The following table sets out the expected directors, officers and promoters of the Resulting Issuer that are, or have 

been within the last five years, directors, officers or promoters of other reporting issuers: 

 

 

 

Name 

Name and 

Jurisdiction of 

Other Reporting 

Issuers 

Name of 

Exchange 

or Market 

 

 

Position 

 

 

From 

 

 

To 

David Danziger 
Jackpotjoy PLC 

England and Wales 
LSE Director January 2017 Present 

The Intertain Group 

Ltd. (formerly 

Aumento II) 

Ontario 

TSX 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary, 

Director 

November 

2010 
Present 

Aumento Capital VII 

Corporation 

Ontario 

TSXV 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary, 

Director 

December 

2017 
Present 

Aumento Capital VI 

Corporation 

Ontario 

TSXV 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary, 

Director 

January 2017 Present 
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Weed MD (formerly 

Aumento V Capital) 

Ontario 

TSXV 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary, 

Director 

July 2014 
December 

2017 

Integrity Gaming 

(formerly Poydras) 

Gaming  Finance 

Ontario (Continued into 

BC) 

TSXV Director June 2015 Present 

Era Resources Ltd. 

Canada 
TSX 

Director 
July 2014 June 2017 

Cancana Resource 

Corporation 

British Columbia 

TSXV 

Director 

July 2014 May 2015 

American Apparel Inc. NYSE 

Director 

July 2011 June 2015 

EXO U Inc. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Director, 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary 

May 2011 May 2013 

Goldspike Exploration 

Inc. 

 

TSXV Director 
September 

2010 
July 2012 

Cadillac Ventures Inc. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Director 
January 2011 April 2012 

Annidis Corporation 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Director, 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary 

February 

2010 
April 2012 

Talware Networx Inc. 

Alberta 
TSXV 

Director, 

Chairman May 2008 January 2009 

Simberi Mining 

Corporation 

Alberta 

TSXV 

Director 

March 2008 
September 

2008 

Richview Resources 

Inc. 

Ontario 

TSX 
Director, 

Chairman 
May 2007 

December 

2009 

Dr. Danial Schecter 
Canabo Medical Corp. 

Canada 
TSXV Director 

November 

2015 
March 2018 

Carmelo Marrelli 

Newstrike Resources 

Ltd. 

Ontario 

 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

May 2005 May 29 2017 

U3O8 Corp. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

April 2006 June 2010 

Probe Mines Limited 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

January 2008 March 13, 

2015 
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Odyssey Resources 

Limited 

Ontario 

 

TSXV - NEX Director 
February 

2008 
Present 

Reliant Gold Corp. 

Ontario TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

February 

2008 June 17, 2013 

Spider Resources Inc. 

Federal TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

June 2008 
August 2010 

Aranka Gold Inc. 

Ontario TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

August 2008 
March 2009 

BE Resources Inc. 

State of Colorado 

 

 

TSXV - NEX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

November 

2007 Present 

Guyana Goldfields, 

Inc. 

Canada 

TSX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
August 2008 April 2010 

Guyana Precious 

Metals Inc. 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
August 2008 

August 17, 

2012 

Nitinat Minerals 

Corporation 

Nevada, USA (contd. 

in Ontario) 

 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

February 

2008 
June 21, 2016 

Gossan Resources 

Limited 

Canada 

TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer and 

Corporate 

Secretary 

February 

2009 

March 28, 

2014 

Greencastle 

Resources Ltd. 

Ontario 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
March 2009 Present 

Bridgeport Ventures 

Inc. 
TSX 

Chief Financial 

Officer and  

Corporate 

Secretary 

September 

2009 

December 5, 

2012 

 
Petrolympic LTD. 

Ontario 

 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 

2009 
Present 

Sandspring Resources 

Ltd. 

Continued into 

Ontario 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

February 

2010 

November 

2010 

Rio Novo Gold Inc. 

British Virgin Islands 
TSX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
April 2010 March 2018 

Galway Resources Ltd. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
May 2010 

December 20, 

2012 

Augen Gold Corp. TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 2010 

November 

2011 

Goldbard Capital 

Corp.- Eco (atlantic) 

Oil & Gas Ltd. 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 2010 May 16, 2012 
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FMX Ventures Inc. NEX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 2010 

December 5, 

2011 

Sintana Energy Inc. 

Alberta 

 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
August 2010 Present 

China Opportunity Inc. 

 

 

TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

and Corporate 

Secretary (CS 

as of June 20, 

2011) 

 

 

 

August 2010 

 

  June 2011 

August 2011 

Angus Mining 

(Namibia) Inc. 

Ontario 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 

2010 
August 2011 

Northquest Ltd. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

November 

2010 
July 4, 2016 

Stream Ventures Inc. 
Not listed 

presently 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

November 

2010 

December 22, 

2015 

CR Capital Corp. 

Ontario 
TSXV - NEX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
January 2011 Present 

Aldridge Minerals 

Inc. 

Canada 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
March 2011 June 2011 

Portex Minerals Inc. 

Ontario 

 

 

CNSX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
March 2011 

August 26, 

2013 

Bonanza Blue 

Corporation 

 

Not presently 

listed 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 2011 

December 5, 

2016 

Eskay Mining 

Corporation 

British Columbia 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 

2011 
Present 

 

Grandview Gold Inc. 

 

TSXV - NEX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

December 

2011 

March 26, 

2014 

Canadian Silver 

Hunter 

Ontario 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
July 2011 January 2014 

Focus Capital Corp. TSXV - NEX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 2010 

October 23, 

2017 

Focus Capital Corp II TSXV - NEX 

Chief Financial 

Officer and 

Director 

October 2011 
August 16, 

2018 
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Deveron UAS Corp. 

Ontario 
CSE 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
August 2011 Present 

Pebble Creek Mining 

Ltd. 

B.C. (Continued 

12/15/2006) 

 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
March 2012 July 6, 2012 

Gensource Capital 

Corp. 

(Augen Capital 

Corp.) 

TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer and 

Corporate 

Secretary 

June 2012 
October 28, 

2013 

Inventus Mining 

Corp. 

Canada 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
April 2015 Present 

Manitou Gold Inc. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 29 2012 Present 

Revive 

Therapeutics Inc. 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer and 

Corporate 

Secretary 

July 14, 2013 Present 

Inspiration Mining 

Corporation 

British Columbia 

 

Applying to list 

on CSE 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

December 20, 

2013 
June 21. 2016 

Norvista Capital 

Corporation 

Canada 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 4, 2014 Present 

Outdoor Partner 

Media Corporation 

Ontario 

 

 

Not presently 

listed 
Director 

April 22, 

2014 
Present 

Royal Standard 

Minerals Inc. 

Federal 

Not presently 

listed 
Director/CEO January 2014 Present 

Temex Resources 

Corp. 

Ontario 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 17, 2014 

September 

2015 

Probe Metals Inc. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

March 13, 

2015 
Present 

Pinetree Capital 

Ltd. 

Ontario 

TSX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
April 2015 May 12, 2018 

Mega Uranium Ltd. 

Ontario 
TSX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

December 31, 

2015 
Present 
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Revival Gold Inc. 

CBCA 
TSXV  

 

Director 

 

 

December 8, 

2016 

June 28, 2017 

Present 

Steppe Gold Ltd. 

Ontario 
TSX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

February 6, 

2017 
July 11, 2018 

Tintina Mines 

Limited 

Canada 

TSXV  
Director 

 

July 31, 2017 

 
Present 

NSR Resources 

Inc. 

Quebec 

Not presently 

listed 

 

Director 

 

July 31, 2017 

 
Present 

Globex Mining 

Enterprises Inc. 

Federal 

 

TSX 

 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 

21, 2017 

 

Present 

Cannabis Strategies 

Acquisition Corp. 

Ontario 

Aequitas NEO 

Exchange 

 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 

19, 2017 

 

Present 

Phivida Holdings 

Inc. 

British Columbia 

CSE 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

Corporate 

Secretary 

April 7, 2017 

January 23, 

2018 

Present 

Kerr Mines Inc. 

Canada 
TSX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

December 5, 

2017 
Present 

Five Star Diamonds 

limited 

British Columbia 

 

TSXV  
Chief Financial 

Officer 

November 6, 

2017  

March 1, 

2018 

MVC Technologies 

Inc. 

Ontario 

Private 
Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 

2018 
Present 

Norton Singhavon 

Kelowna, British   

Columbia 

GTEC Holding Ltd. 

British Columbia 
TSXV 

Director, 

Chairman, 

CEO 

June 2017 Present 

 

CORPORATE CEASE TRADE ORDERS OR BANKRUPTCIES 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, to the best of the Resulting Issuer’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director, 

or officer of the Resulting Issuer, nor any shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Resulting Issuer to affect 

materially the control of the Resulting Issuer is, or within the ten years prior to the date hereof has been, a director or 

CEO or CFO of any corporation (including the Resulting Issuer) that, while that person was acting in the capacity of 

director or CEO or CFO of that corporation, was the subject of a cease trade order or similar order or an order that 

denied the corporation access to any exemption under securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive 

days. 
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Mr. David Danziger was appointed a director of American Apparel, Inc. (“American Apparel”), a company listed 

on the NYSE MKT LLC exchange, on July 11, 2011 and resigned as director on June 14, 2015. Subsequently, on 

October 5, 2015, American Apparel announced that it had reached an agreement with its lenders to significantly 

reduce its debt and interest payments through a consensual pre-arranged reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. 

Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. On October 6, 2015, American Apparel 

announced that it received a notification letter stating that the staff of NYSE regulation, Inc. determined to suspend 

trading immediately and commence proceedings to delist American Apparel’s common stock from NYSE MKT LLC. 

The Chapter 11 reorganization was approved by the Court in January 2016. 

 

Mr. David Danziger was a director of Carpathian Gold Inc. (“Carpathian”), and during that time, on April 16, 2014, 

the Ontario Securities Commission issued a permanent management cease trade order against Carpathian, which 

superseded a temporary management cease trade order (the “MCTO”) dated April 4, 2014, against Guy Charette, in 

his capacity as Interim CEO and Rishi Tibriwal, in his capacity as CFO. The MCTO was issued in connection with the 

Corporation's failure to file its (i) audited annual financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2013, (ii) 

management's discussion and analysis relating to the audited annual financial statements for the period ended December 

31, 2013, and (iii) corresponding certifications of the foregoing filings as required by National Instrument 52-109 – 

Certification of Disclosure in the Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings. The MCTO was lifted on June 19, 2014 following 

the filing of the required continuous disclosure documents on June 17, 2014.  

 

David Danziger was formerly a director of Fareport Capital Inc. (“Fareport”). On September 13, 2005, Mr. Danziger 

was named in a Management Cease Trade Order (the “Order”) imposed against certain existing and former insiders or 

individuals otherwise related to Fareport due to failure to file financial statements on time. The order was allowed to 

lapse/expire as of May 29, 2007. 

 

PENALTIES OR SANCTIONS 

 

To the best of the Resulting Issuer’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director or officer of the Resulting Issuer, 

nor any shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Resulting Issuer to materially affect control of the Resulting 

Issuer has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or 

by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities 

regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that 

would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

 

PERSONAL BANKRUPTCIES 

 

To the best of the Resulting Issuer’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director or officer of the Resulting Issuer, 

nor any shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Resulting Issuer to affect materially the control of the 

Resulting Issuer, nor any personal holding company of any such person has, within the ten years before the date of 

this Prospectus become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 

been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangements or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 

manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person. 

 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 

The directors of the Resulting Issuer are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 

interests of the Resulting Issuer and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity of 

the Resulting Issuer. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board of Directors, any director in a conflict 

will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. 

 

To the best of the Resulting Issuer’s knowledge, and other than as disclosed herein, there are no known existing or 

potential conflicts of interest among the Resulting Issuer, its promoters, directors and officers or other members of 

management of the Resulting Issuer or of any proposed promoter, director, officer or other member of management 

as a result of their outside business interests except that certain of the directors and officers serve as directors and 

officers of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to the Resulting 

Issuer and their duties as a director or officer of such other companies. 
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 

The summary compensation table sets out particulars of compensation paid for the fiscal year ended December 31, 

2017 to the individuals who were Named Executive Officers during that period. The Resulting Issuer does not have 

any other executive officers whose total salary and other compensation during such period exceeded $150,000. 

 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

 

The Resulting Issuer’s Board of Directors will determine the compensation of its executive officers. In determining 

compensation, the Board of Directors will consider industry standards and financial situation but does not currently 

have any formal objectives or criteria. The performance of each executive officer is informally monitored by the 

Board of Directors, having in mind the business strengths of the individual and the purpose of originally appointing 

the individual as an officer. The Resulting Issuer is expected to rely solely on the Board of Directors to determine 

the compensation of the executive officers. In determining compensation, the Board of Directors will consider 

industry standards and the Resulting Issuer’s financial situation without any formal objectives or criteria. 

 

Option-based Awards 

 

Please see “– Options to Purchase Securities”. In considering new grants to executive officers, the Board 

of Directors considers the number of options, if any, previously granted to each executive officer. 

 

Summary Compensation Table 

 

The following table sets out particulars of compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers of the Company 

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. 

 

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Year (or 

part) 

Salary 

($) 

Share- 

based 

awards 

($) 

Option- 

based 

awards 

($) 

Non-equity  

incentive plan 

compensation ($) 

Pension 

value ($) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 

Annual 

incentive 

plans 

Long- 

term 

incentive 

plans 

Kashaf 

Qureshi 
2017 $100,679 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $100,679 

Pradyum 

Sekar 
2017 $100,679 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $100,679 

 

The following table sets out particulars of compensation paid to the Named Executive Officers of the Company for the 

period ended September 30, 2018. 

 

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Year 

(or 

part) 

Salary 
($) 

Share- 

based 

awards 

($) 

Option- 

based 

awards 

($) 

Non-equity 

incentive plan 

compensation ($) 

Pension 

value ($) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 

Annual 

incentive 

plans 

Long- 

term 

incent

ive 

plans 
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Kashaf 

Qureshi 
2018 $170,799 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $170,799 

Pradyum 

Sekar 
2018 $170,799 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $170,799 

 

The following table sets out the anticipated compensation to the Resulting Issuer’s CEO, President, COO and CFO 

for the 12-month period after giving effect to the Transaction.  Other than the Employment Agreements described 

below, neither the Resulting Issuer nor the Company currently has a management agreement with any other Named 

Executive Officer. 

 

Name and 

principal 

position 

Salary 

($) 

Share- 

based 

awards

($) 

Option-  

based 

awards 

($) 

Non-equity 

incentive plan 

compensation ($) 
  

Pension 

Value 

($) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 
 

Annual 

incentiv

e plans 

Long- 

term 

incentive 

plans 

Kashaf Qureshi 

President, Chief 

Operations 

Officer and 

Director 

$200,000 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $200,000 

Pradyum Sekar 

Chief Executive 

Officer, 

Secretary, and 

Director 

$200,000 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $200,000 

Carmelo Marrelli 

Chief Financial 

Officer(1) 

$42,000 NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL $42,000 

Note: 

1. Carmelo Marrelli appointed Chief Financial Officer of the Company on September 5, 2018 at a salary of $3,500 per month 

 

Incentive Plan Awards 

 

The following table sets out particulars of the option-based awards, granted to the Named Executive Officers of 

the Company and outstanding as of September 30, 2018. The Issuer does not have any share-based awards. 

 

 Option-based Awards    

Name Number of securities 

underlying unexercised 

options (#) 

Option 

exercise price 

($) 

Option 

expiration 

date 

Value of 

unexercised in-the-

money options ($) 

Kashaf Qureshi 1,242,567 $0.44 
November 5, 

2028 
N/A 

Pradyum Sekar 1,242,567 $0.44 
November 5, 

2028 
N/A 

Carmelo Marrelli NIL N/A N/A N/A 
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Please see “– Options to Purchase Securities” for options anticipated to be held by the officers of the Resulting 

Issuer. 

 

Incentive plan awards - value vested or earned during the year 

 

The following table sets out the value of option-based awards which vested in the Named Executive Officers of the 

Company for the fiscal period ended September 30, 2018. The Issuer does not have any share-based awards nor non-

equity incentive plan compensation. 

 

 

 

 

Name 

Option-based awards 

- Value vested 

during the year 

($) 

Share-based awards - 

Value vested during 

the year 

($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 

compensation -Value earned 

during the year 

($) 

Kashaf Qureshi (1) NIL NIL NIL 

Pradyum Sekar (1) NIL NIL NIL 

Carmelo Marrelli NIL NIL NIL 

Note: 
1. Pursuant to the Employment Agreements described below, each of Sekar and Qureshi were granted 1,242,567 options, vesting over 3 

years, 1/3 each year, commencing on November 5, 2019. All options expire on November 5, 2028. 

 

Pension Plan Benefits 

 

It is anticipated the Resulting Issuer will have any permission or deferred compensation plan in the 12 months following 

the completion of the Transaction. 

 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

 

Other than described below, the Resulting Issuer does not have any other contract, agreement, plan or arrangement 

that provides for payments to the Named Executive Officers at, following, or in connection with any termination 

(whether voluntary, involuntary or constructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the Resulting Issuer 

or a change in a Named Executive Officer's responsibilities other than a consulting agreement in respect of the Chief 

Financial Officer. Pursuant to the consulting agreement, with the CFO of the Company, the Company could required 

to pay a maximum of $3,500 under certain circumstances. The Resulting Issuer anticipates that it will enter into 

employment contracts with the certain Named Executive Officers and such contracts may contain termination and 

change of control benefits. Such contracts will be approved by the Board of Directors of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS 

The Company has entered into the following employment agreements with officers of the Company (each an 

“Executive”) 

(i) Employment Agreement dated November 5, 2018 among Kashaf Qureshi and the Company (the 

“Qureshi Employment Agreement”); 

(ii) Employment Agreement dated November 5, 2018 among Pradyum Sekar and the Company (the “Sekar 

Employment Agreement”, and collectively with the Qureshi Employment Agreement, the 

“Employment Agreements”) 

 

Pursuant to the Employment Agreements, each Executive will receive an annual salary base of $200,000. In addition, 

each Executive will be entitled to an incentive payment (“Annual Incentive”) in accordance with the Employment 

Agreements upon the occurrence of certain performance milestones of the Company. On the signing of the agreement, 

the Executives are also entitled to options to purchase an aggregate of 2% of the total issued and outstanding common 

shares of the Company. The options shall vest in equal installments over three years, exercisable for one common share 

at an exercise price equal to fair market value on the day the option was granted (“Long Term Incentive”). No other 

options will be granted under this plan. Each of the Executives is also entitled to reasonable expenses reimbursed by 

the Company, employee benefits, an automobile allowance, insurance and indemnification, vacation, and the 

reimbursement of annual membership or professional fees.  
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The Employment Agreements also provide for payments to be made by the Company in the event of termination of the 

Employment Agreements by the Company without cause or following a change in control, the details of which are 

summarized below: 

Meaning of “Cause”, “Change in Control” and “Good Reason” 

In the Employment Agreements, “Cause” means 

(a)   the existence of just cause for termination of employment at common law as determined by the law 

of the Province of Ontario, including fraud, theft, dishonesty, illegality, breach of statute or regulation, conflict 

of interest, or gross incompetence; or the Executive breaches any other material obligation under this 

Agreement and fails to rectify such breach within 30 (thirty) days of provision of written notice to do so by 

the Company. 

 

In the Employment Agreements “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following: 

(a) the consummation of any transaction or series of transactions including, without limitation, any 

consolidation, amalgamation, arrangement, merger or issue of voting shares, the result of which is that any 

person or group of persons acting jointly or in concert for purposes of such transaction becomes the beneficial 

owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the voting shares in the capital of the Company, measured 

by voting power rather than number of shares (but shall not include the creation of a holding company or 

similar transaction that does not involve any material change in the indirect beneficial ownership of the shares 

of the Company); or 

(b) the direct or indirect sale, transfer or other disposition, in one or a series of related transactions, of all 

or substantially all of the assets of the Company, taken as a whole, to any person or group of persons acting 

jointly or in concert for purposes of such transaction (other than to any affiliates of the Company), provided, 

for greater certainty, that the person or group of persons contemplated in either circumstance do not include 

the Executive, any of the Executive’s immediate family members or any entity associated with the Executive 

or them.  

(c) members of the Board of Directors as of August 2018, cease for any reason to constitute a majority 

of the Board, unless the appointment of any successor members was approved by Directors. 

A Change in Control does not include any public offering of the Company’s stock. 

In the Employment Agreements, “Good Reason” means any of the following: 

(a) the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any material and negative respect with 

the Executive’s position, authority, duties or responsibilities, or other action by the Company which results in 

a material diminution in such position including a board position, authority, title, reporting relationship, duties 

or, responsibilities, excluding for this purpose isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad 

faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof from the Executive to 

the Company; 

(b) any unilateral material diminution of salary or bonus or long term incentive eligibility payable to the 

Executive under this Employment Agreement or a material reduction by the Company in the kind or level of 

automobile allowance, benefits to which the Executive is entitled under this Agreement, excluding changes to 

employee benefits which apply to all other employees in positions similar to the Executive’s, which is not 

remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof from the Executive to the Company;  

(c) the Company materially breaching the terms of this Agreement; or 

(d) if the Executive’s normal place of business relocates more than 50 kilometres from its current 

location. 
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Termination by the Executive with Good Reason Following a Change in Control 

In the event that the Executive’s employment is terminated without cause or the Executive resigns their 

employment from the Company for Good Reason within a period of one (1) year after the Change in Control 

or three months prior to a Change in Control being effected provided that severance was influenced by a 

potential buyer in contemplation of a Change in Control, the Executive will receive a severance amount of 

thirty-six (36) months of base salary as well as thirty-six (36) months of target annual incentive allocated to 

the Executive under Schedule “A”, thirty-six (36) months of the Executive’s Automobile Allowance and 

thirty-six (36) months of premiums to the Company’s Benefits plans in which the Executive was previously 

participating, in lieu of participation. Actual participation in the Company’s benefits plan will cease upon the 

date of termination. 

Termination by Executive  

The Executives shall be entitled to terminate the Employment Agreements with the Company at any time, for whatever 

reason, upon providing two (2) weeks written notice the Company. 

Termination by the Company without Cause 

The Company may terminate the Employment Agreements of the Executives without Cause at any time by paying the 

Executive: 

(a) Twenty-four (24) months of the base salary rate being paid to the Executive at the time of termination; 

(b) Twenty-four (24) months target Annual Incentive; 

(c) Twenty-four (24) months of the Executive’s automobile allowance; and 

(d) Twenty-four (24) months of premiums to the Company’s benefit plan in which the Executive was 

participating 

(e) All unvested Long Term Incentive awards made to the Executive will vest and all vested equity grants 

will be exercisable for a period of up to six (6) months from the date of such termination  

 

Termination by the Company with Cause  

The Company can terminate the employment of an Executive with cause without notice. No payment shall be made or 

notice provided.  

Termination by Death  

The Employment Agreement shall automatically terminate without notice if the Executive dies during the term of the 

Employment Agreement. Any outstanding and unvested stock options will vest upon the Executive’s death and be 

exercisable immediately by the Executive’s estate for a period up to twelve (12) months from the date of such 

termination.  

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

 

There was no compensation provided to directors of the Company who are not Named Executive Officers for the year 

ended December 31, 2017. It is anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will pay non-executive directors an amount per 

person per board meeting at a rate to be determined. 

 

Share-based awards, option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan compensation 

 

The following table sets out particulars of the option-based awards granted to, directors who are not also Named 

Executive Officers, outstanding as of September 30, 2018. The Issuer does not have any share-based awards or non-

equity incentive plan compensation. 
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 Option-based Awards    

 

 

 

Name 

Number of securities 

underlying unexercised 

options (#) 

Option 

exercise  price 

($) 

Option 

expiration 

date 

Value of unexercised 

in-the-money 

options ($) 

David Danziger 90,000 options $0.151 June 22, 2019 $39,939 

 

Incentive plan awards - value vested or earned during the year 

 

The following table sets out the value of option-based awards which vested in each director, who is not a Named 

Executive Officer, for the period ended September 30, 2018. The Company does not have any share-based awards or 

non-equity incentive plan compensation. 

 

 

 

Name 

Option-based awards - 

Value  vested  during 

the year ($) 

Share-based awards 

– Value vested 

during the year ($) 

Non-equity incentive plan 

compensation -Value earned 

during the year ($) 

David Danziger $39,939 NIL NIL 

 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus none of the directors and executive officers of the Issuer, proposed directors and 

officers for the Resulting Issuer, or associates of such persons is indebted to the Issuer, the Company or another 

entity where the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 

arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or the Company. 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

Audit Committee’s Charter 

 

The text of the audit committee’s charter is attached hereto as Appendix “F”. T he Resulting Issuer will adopt this 

charter. 

 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

 

The audit committee of the Resulting Issuer will consist of Kashaf Qureshi, David Danziger and Norton Singhavon. 

All members are financially literate and Mr. Danziger and Norton Singhavon are independent. 

 

Relevant Education and Experience 

 

All members of the audit committee the Resulting Issuer have been involved with public companies and each has 

many years of experience as directors or officers of reporting issuers. 

 

Each audit committee member has had extensive experience reviewing financial statements. Each member has an 

understanding of the Resulting Issuer’s business and has an appreciation for the relevant accounting principles for 

that business. 

Kashaf Qureshi (President, Chief Operating Officer and Co-Founder) 

As co-founder of the Company, Kash brings more than 20 years of extensive operational and entrepreneurial experience 

in the healthcare, medical cannabis and technology start-up space.  An ardent cost-efficiency executive, Kash has 

focused on promoting improved cash flow, operational proficiencies and overall profitability in a series of organizations 

throughout the healthcare sector. 
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David Danziger 

David is a Chartered Professional Accountant and the Senior Vice President of Assurance Services at MNP LLP, 

Chartered Professional Accountants, a full-service audit and accounting firm. He also leads the firm's Public Markets 

practice. 

Norton Singhavon 

Norton currently serves as the Founder and Executive Chairman of Doventi Capital. Norton has extensive experience 

at the senior management level of capital investments and has been involved in several large acquisitions, 

consolidations, and start-ups in Canada’s legal cannabis sector, both private and public. As an investor and advisor to 

numerous companies in Canada’s ACMPR sector, he has been responsible for internally deploying over $45 million 

into the legal cannabis sector and has been involved in another $65 million of public M&A ACMPR 

transactions. Norton was also an advisor to, and early-stage investor in, Invictus MD (TSX.V:IMH). 

 

Audit Committee Oversight 

 

At no time since the beginning of the fiscal year completed December 31, 2016 was a recommendation of the audit 

committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by the Board of Directors. 

 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

 

At no time since the beginning of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 has the Issuer or the Company relied 

on the following exemption: (a) the exemption in section 2.4  (De Minimis Non-audit Services), or (b) the exemption 

in subsection 6.1.1 (4) (Circumstances Affecting the Business or Operations of the Venture Issuer), (c) the exemption 

in subsection 6.1.1 (5) (Events Outside Control of Member), (d)the exemption in subsection 6.1.1 (6) (Death, 

Incapacity or Resignation), or (e) an exemption from this Instrument, in whole or in part, granted under Part 8 

(Exemption), state that fact. 

 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

 

The audit committees of the Issuer or the Company have not adopted specific policies and procedures for the 

engagement of non-audit services but all such services will be subject to the prior approval of the audit committee. 

It is not anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will adopt specific policies and procedures. 

 

External Auditor Service Fees 

 

The aggregate fees billed by the external auditors of the Company and the Issuer for the fiscal year ended December 

31, 2017 for the following fees are: 

 

Fiscal Year Ended Audit Fees Audit-Related Fees Tax Fees All Other Fees 

December 31, 2017 115,000 NIL 10,000 NIL 

 

Exemption 

 

The Resulting Issuer is a “venture issuer” as defined in NI 52-110 and is relying on the exemption in section 6.1 of 

NI 52-110 relating to Parts 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and 5 (Reporting Obligations). 

 

Other Board Committees 

 

The Board has also established a project evaluation committee and an audit committee. It is not anticipated that the 

Board of the Resulting Issuer will establish any committee other than its audit committee and project evaluation 

committee in the 12 months following completion of the Transaction. 
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Assessments 

 

The Board monitors but does not formally assess the performance of individual Board members or committee 

members or their contributions. Effectiveness is subjectively measured by comparing actual corporate results with 

stated objectives. The contributions of an individual director is informally monitored by the other Board members, 

having in mind the business strengths of the individual and the purpose of originally nominating the individual to the 

Board. It is not anticipated that the board of the Resulting Issuer will perform formal assessments of its members in 

the 12 months following completion of the Transaction. 

 

Exemption 

 

The Company is relying upon the exemption set out in Section 6.1 of NI 52-110. 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURE 

The Company intends to propose for adoption by the Board of Directors of the Reporting Issuer certain practices and 

procedures to ensure that effective corporate governance practices are followed and to ensure that the Board of Directors 

functions independently of management. The Company’s disclosure of corporate governance practices pursuant to 

National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”) is set out below in the 

form required by Form 58-101F2 – Corporate Governance Disclosure (Venture Issuers).  

 

Board of Directors 
 

NI 58-101 suggests that the board of directors of a public company should be constituted with a majority of individuals 

who qualify as “independent” directors. An “independent” director is a director who is independent of management 

and is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to 

materially interfere with the director’s ability to act with a view to the best interests of the Company, other than interests 

and relationships arising from holding shares or securities in the Company. In addition, where a company has a 

significant shareholder, NI 58-101 suggests that the board of directors should include a number of directors who do not 

have interests in either the Company or the significant shareholder. The independent directors would exercise their 

responsibilities for independent oversight of management and meet independently of management whenever deemed 

necessary. 

 

The Board is currently comprised of three (3) directors and it is anticipated the Board of Directors of the Resulting 

Issuer will be composed of five (5) directors, three (3) of whom are expected to be Independent (as that term is defined 

in Section 1.2 of NI 58-101), namely David Danziger, Dr. Danial Schecter and Norton Singhavon. 

 

Directorships 

 

The following directors are also directors of the reporting issuers listed below: 

 

 

 

Name 

Name and  

Jurisdiction of Other 

Reporting Issuers 

Name of 

Exchange or 

Market 

 

 

Position 

 

 

From 

 

 

To 

David Danziger 
Jackpotjoy PLC 

England and Wales 
LSE Director January 2017 Present 

The Intertain Group Ltd. 

(formerly Aumento II) 

Ontario 

TSX 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary, 

Director 

November 2010 Present 

Aumento Capital VII 

Corporation 

Ontario 

TSXV 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary, 

Director 

December 2017 Present 
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Aumento Capital VI 

Corporation 

Ontario 

TSXV 

President, 

CEO, CFO, 

Secretary, 

Director 

January 2017 Present 

Integrity Gaming 

(formerly Poydras) 

Gaming  Finance 

Ontario (Continued into 

BC) 

TSXV Director June 2015 Present 

Carmelo Marrelli 

Odyssey Resources 

Limited 

Ontario 

TSXV - NEX Director February 2008 Present 

BE Resources Inc. 

State of Colorado 

 

 

TSXV - NEX 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
November 2007 Present 

Greencastle Resources 

Ltd. 

Ontario 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
March 2009 Present 

Petrolympic LTD. 

Ontario 

 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
September 2009 Present 

Sintana Energy Inc. 

Alberta 

 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
August 2010 Present 

CR Capital Corp. 

Ontario 
TSXV - NEX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
January 2011 Present 

Eskay Mining 

Corporation 

British Columbia 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
September 2011 Present 

Deveron UAS Corp. 

Ontario 
CSE 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
August 2011 Present 

Inventus Mining Corp. 

Canada 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
April 2015 Present 

Manitou Gold Inc. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 29 2012 Present 

Revive Therapeutics Inc. TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer and 

Corporate 

Secretary 

July 14, 2013 Present 

Norvista Capital 

Corporation 

Canada 

TSXV 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
June 4, 2014 Present 

Outdoor Partner 

Media Corporation 

Ontario 

 

 

Not presently 

listed 
Director April 22, 2014 Present 

Royal Standard 

Minerals Inc. 

Federal 

Not presently 

listed 
Director/CEO January 2014 Present 
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Probe Metals Inc. 

Ontario 
TSXV 

Chief Financial 

Officer 
March 13, 2015 Present 

Mega Uranium Ltd. 

Ontario 
TSX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

December 31, 

2015 
Present 

Revival Gold Inc. 

CBCA 
TSXV 

 

Director 

 

 

December 8, 

2016 

June 28, 2017 

Present 

Tintina Mines 

Limited 

Canada 

TSXV 
Director 

 

July 31, 2017 

 
Present 

NSR Resources Inc. 

Quebec 

Not presently 

listed 

 

Director 

 

July 31, 2017 

 
Present 

Globex Mining 

Enterprises Inc. 

Federal 

 

TSX 

 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 21, 

2017 

 

Present 

Cannabis Strategies 

Acquisition Corp. 

Ontario 

Aequitas NEO 

Exchange 

 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

September 19, 

2017 

 

Present 

Phivida Holdings Inc. 

British Columbia 
CSE 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

Corporate 

Secretary 

April 7, 2017 

January 23, 

2018 

Present 

Kerr Mines Inc. 

Canada 
TSX 

Chief Financial 

Officer 

December 5, 

2017 
Present 

MVC Technologies 

Inc. 

Ontario 

Private 
Chief Financial 

Officer 
September 2018 Present 

 

Orientation and Continuing Education 

 

The Board has not adopted formal steps to orient new board members. The Board’s continuing education is typically 

derived from correspondence with the legal counsels of the Issuer and the Company to remain up to date with 

developments in relevant corporate and securities law matters. It is not anticipated that the board of the Resulting 

Issuer will adopt formal steps in the 12 months following completion of the Transaction. 

 

Ethical Business Conduct 

 

The Board has not adopted formal guidelines to encourage and promote a culture of ethical business conduct but 

does promote ethical business conduct by nominating board members it considers ethical, by avoiding or minimizing 

conflicts of interest and by having a sufficient number of its board members independent of corporate matters. It 

is not anticipated that the board of the Resulting Issuer will adopt formal guidelines in the 12 months following 

completion of the Transaction. 

 

Nomination of Directors 

 

The Board determines new nominees to the Board, although a formal process has not been adopted. The nominees 

are generally the result of recruitment efforts by the nomination members, including both formal and informal 

discussions among nomination members. It is not anticipated that the nomination committee of the Resulting Issuer 

will adopt a formal process to determine new nominees in the 12 months following completion of the Transaction. 
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Compensation 

 

The Board decides on the compensation for officers and directors, based on industry standards and the Resulting 

Issuer’s financial situation. It is anticipated that the Board of the Resulting Issuer will decide as a board the 

compensation for officers and directors in the 12 months following completion of the Transaction. 

 

During financial period ended December 31, 2017 no compensation consultant or advisor was retained by the Company 

or Issuer. 

 

Other Board Committees 

 

The Company currently does not have any other Board committees with the exception of the Audit Committee and the 

Compensation Committee.  

 

Assessments 

 

The Board does not feel it is necessary to establish a committee to assess the effectiveness of individual Board members. 

Each Board member has considerable experience in the management of companies or public companies and this is 

sufficient to meet the current needs of the Company. On an annual basis, however, the Board assesses the contributions 

of each of the individual directors and of the Board as a whole, in order to determine whether each is functioning 

effectively.  

 

PART IV 

 

RISK FACTORS 

 

The following are certain factors relating to the Transaction and business of the Resulting Issuer assuming completion 

of the Transaction, which factors investors should carefully consider when making an investment decision concerning 

the shares of the Resulting Issuer. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing the Resulting Issuer. 

Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Issuer currently deems immaterial, may also impair the 

operations of the Resulting Issuer. If any such risks actually occur, shareholders could lose all or part of their investment 

and the financial condition, liquidity and results of operations of the Resulting Issuer could be materially adversely 

affected and the ability of the Resulting Issuer to implement its growth plans could be adversely affected. 

 

An investment in the Resulting Issuer is speculative. An investment in the Resulting Issuer will be subject to certain 

material risks and investors should not invest in securities of the Resulting Issuer unless they can afford to lose their 

entire investment. The following is a description of certain risks and uncertainties that may affect the business of the 

Resulting Issuer. 

 

General 

 

A purchase of any of the securities of the Resulting Issuer involves a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only 

by purchasers whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for 

immediate liquidity in their investment. An investment in the securities of the Resulting Issuer should not constitute a 

major portion of an individual’s investment portfolio and should only be made by persons who can afford a total loss 

of their investment. Prospective purchasers should evaluate carefully the following risk factors associated with an 

investment in the Resulting Issuer’s securities prior to purchasing any of the securities. 

 

Risks related to the Transaction 

 

The Transaction is Subject to Several Conditions Precedent 
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The completion of the Transaction is subject to several conditions precedent certain of which are outside the control of 

the Issuer and the Company. There can be no assurance that any of the conditions will be met or that the Transaction 

will be completed on the terms set out in the Share Exchange Agreement. In the event that any of the conditions 

precedent are not satisfied or waived by the relevant party, the Transaction may not be completed. The Transaction 

might not be completed, due to failure to obtain consents or approvals, failure to timely satisfy conditions to closing, 

termination of the Share Exchange Agreement by the Issuer or other reasons. There is no guarantee that: (a) the 

conditions to closing will be timely satisfied; or (b) the circumstances under which the Issuer or the Company may 

terminate the Share Exchange Agreement will not occur. As such, the Transaction may not occur. 

 

No Market for Securities 

 

There is currently no market through which any of the Common Shares may be sold and there is no assurance that the 

Common Shares will be listed for trading on a Canadian stock exchange, or if listed, will provide a liquid market for 

such securities. Until the Common Shares are listed on a Canadian stock exchange, holders of the Common Shares may 

not be able to sell their Common Shares. Even if a listing is obtained, there can be no assurance that an active public 

market for the Common Shares will develop or be sustained. The holding of Common Shares involves a high degree 

of risk and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume 

such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. The Common Shares should not be 

purchased by persons who cannot afford the possibility of the loss of their entire investment. 

 

Limited Operating History 

 

The Company, while incorporated in November 2014, began carrying on business in 2017 and has only very recently 

begun to generate revenue. The Resulting Issuer is therefore subject to many of the risks common to early- stage 

enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other 

resources and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will be successful in achieving a return 

on shareholders’ investment and likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early stage of operations. 

 

Scrutiny of Resulting Issuer’s Investments in the United States 

 

The Company’s existing investments in the United States, and any future investments, may become the subject of 

heightened scrutiny by regulators, stock exchanges and other authorities in Canada. As a result, The Resulting Issuer 

may be subject to significant direct or indirect interaction with public officials. There can be no assurance that this 

heightened scrutiny will not in turn lead to the imposition of certain restrictions on the Resulting Issue’s ability to invest 

in the United States or any other jurisdiction, in addition to those described herein. Government policy changes or 

public. 

 

Opinion may also result in a significant influence over the regulation of the cannabis industry in Canada, the United 

States or elsewhere. A negative shift in the public’s perception of medical cannabis in the United States or any other 

applicable jurisdiction could affect future legislation or regulation. Among other things, such a shift could cause state 

jurisdictions to abandon initiatives or proposals to legalize medical cannabis, thereby limiting the number of new state 

jurisdictions into which the Resulting Issuer could expand. Any inability to fully implement the Resulting Issuer’s 

expansion strategy may have material adverse effect on Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations.  

 

Trading of Shares Through an Intermediary 

 

Like all Canadian publicly traded companies, the Resulting Issuer will use The Canadian Depositary for Securities 

("CDS") to provide clearing and settlement services for shareholders who own shares through an intermediary like 

a stock broker or investment adviser. CDS is owned by The TMX Group, which currently does not permit trading 

in most companies with active operations in the US medical marijuana industry. It has been reported by certain 

publications in Canada that CDS may implement policies that would see its subsidiary, CDS, refuse to settle trades 

for cannabis issuers that have investments in the United States. CDS is Canada's central securities depository, 

clearing and settlement hub settling trades in the Canadian equity, fixed income and money markets. The TMX 

Group, subsequently issued a statement on August 17, 2017 reaffirming that there is no CDS ban on the clearing 

of securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States, despite media reports to the contrary, 

and that the TMX Group was working with regulators to arrive at a solution that will clarify this matter, which 
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would be communicated at a later time. On November 24, 2017, The TMX Group issued a further statement 

acknowledging that the matter is a complex one which touches multiple aspects of Canada's capital market system, 

and as such requires close examination and careful consideration. The TMX Group noted that CDS continues to 

work with regulators and exchanges to arrive at a solution that will clarify this matter for issuers, investors, 

participants and the public. This solution will be founded on each exchange's role in applying listing requirements, 

including exchange rules related to issuers' compliance with applicable laws. In the meantime, The TMX Group 

reiterated there is no CDS ban on the clearing of securities of issuers with marijuana-related activities in the U.S. 

However, if such a ban were to be implemented, it could have a material adverse effect on the ability of security 

holders of the Resulting Issuer to make and settle trades. In particular, such securities could become highly illiquid, 

and until an alternative was implemented, investors might have no ability to effect a trade of the securities through 

the facilities of a stock exchange. 

 

Variation in Regulation 

 

Individual state laws do not always conform to the federal standard or to other states' laws. A number of states have 

decriminalized marijuana to varying degrees, other states have created exemptions specifically for medical cannabis, 

and several have both decriminalization and medical laws. Variations exist among states that have legalized, 

decriminalized or created medical marijuana exemptions. In most states, the cultivation of marijuana for personal use 

continues to be prohibited except for those states that allow small-scale cultivation by the individual in possession of 

medical marijuana needing care or that person's caregiver. Active enforcement of state laws that prohibit personal 

cultivation of marijuana may indirectly and adversely affect the Resulting Issuer's future cash flows, earnings, results 

of operations and financial condition. 

 

Unfavourable Publicity or Consumer Perception 

 

Management of the Company believes the medical cannabis industry is highly dependent upon consumer perception 

regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical cannabis produced. Consumer perception of the Resulting 

Issuer’s proposed products may be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory 

investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of medical cannabis 

products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, 

media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favourable to the medical cannabis market or any 

particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, 

litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favourable than, or that question, earlier 

research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Resulting Issuer’s 

proposed products and the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Resulting 

Issuer. The Resulting Issuer’s dependence upon consumer perceptions means that adverse scientific research reports, 

findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity, whether or not accurate or with 

merit, could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer, the demand for the Resulting Issuer’s proposed 

products, and the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Global Economic Risk 

 

The ongoing economic slowdown and downturn of global capital markets has generally made the raising of capital by 

equity or debt financing more difficult. Access to financing has been negatively impacted by the ongoing global 

economic risks. As such, the Resulting Issuer is subject to liquidity risks in meeting our development and future 

operating cost requirements in instances where cash positions are unable to be maintained or appropriate financing is 

unavailable. These factors may impact the Resulting Issuer’s ability to raise equity or obtain loans and other credit 

facilities in the future and on terms favourable to the Resulting Issuer. If uncertain market conditions persist, the 

Resulting Issuer’s ability to raise capital could be jeopardized, which could have an adverse impact on the Resulting 

Issuer’s operations and trading price of the Resulting Issuer Shares on the stock exchange. 

 

General Economic Trends 

 

The worldwide economic slowdown and tightening of credit in the financial markets may impact the business of 

the Resulting Issuer's customers, which could have an adverse effect on the Issuer's business, financial condition, or 

results of operations. Adverse changes in general economic or political conditions in the United States or any of 
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the states within the United States or any jurisdiction in which the Resulting Issuer operates or intends to operate 

could adversely affect the Resulting Issuer's business, financial condition, or results of operations. 

 

Economic Environment 

 

The Resulting Issuer’s operations could be affected by the economic context should the unemployment level, interest 

rates or inflation reach levels that influence consumer trends and consequently, impact the Resulting Issuer’s sales and 

profitability. As well, general demand for banking services and alternative banking or financial services cannot be 

predicted and future prospects of such areas might be different from those predicted by the Resulting Issuer’s 

management. 

 

Risks Associated with Acquisitions 

 

As part  of  the Resulting  Issuer's  overall  business  strategy,  the Resulting Issuer  may  pursue select  strategic  

acquisitions  after  the  completion  of  the  Listing,  which  would   provide additional product offerings, vertical 

integrations, additional industry expertise, and a stronger industry presence in both existing and new jurisdictions. 

Future acquisitions may expose it to potential risks, including risks associated with: (a) the integration of new 

operations, services and personnel; (b) unforeseen or hidden liabilities; (c) the diversion of resources from the Issuer's 

existing business and technology; (d) potential inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset new costs; (e) the 

expenses of acquisitions; or (f) the potential loss of or harm to relationships with both employees and existing users 

resulting from its integration of new businesses. In addition, any proposed acquisitions may be subject to regulatory 

approval. 

 

Operational Risks 

 

The Resulting Issuer will be affected by a number of operational risks and the Resulting Issuer may not be adequately 

insured for certain risks, including: labour disputes; catastrophic accidents; fires; blockades or other acts of social 

activism; changes in the regulatory environment; impact of non-compliance with laws and regulations; natural 

phenomena, such as inclement weather conditions, floods, earthquakes and ground movements. There is no assurance 

that the foregoing risks and hazards will not result in personal injury or death, environmental damage, adverse impacts 

on the Resulting Issuer's operation, costs, monetary losses, potential legal liability and adverse governmental action, 

any of which could have an adverse impact on the Issuer's future cash flows, earnings and financial condition. Also, 

the Resulting Issuer may be subject to or affected by liability or sustain loss for certain risks and hazards against which 

the Resulting Issuer cannot insure or which the Resulting Issuer may elect not to insure because of the cost. This lack 

of insurance coverage could have an adverse impact on the Issuer's future cash flows, earnings, results of operations 

and financial condition.  Additional operational risks are outlined below. 

 

Banking 

 

Since the use of cannabis is illegal under U.S. federal law, there is a strong argument that banks cannot accept or deposit 

funds from businesses involved with the cannabis industry. Consequently, businesses involved in the cannabis industry 

often have difficulty finding a bank willing to accept their business. The inability to open bank accounts may make it 

difficult to operate the Resulting Issuer's U.S. operations. 

 

Financial Projections May Prove Materially Inaccurate or Incorrect 

 

The Resulting Issuer’s financial estimates, projections and other forward-looking information accompanying this 

document were prepared by the Issuer without the benefit of reliable historical industry information or other information 

customarily used in preparing such estimates, projections and other forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking 

information is based on assumptions of future events that may or may not occur, which assumptions may not be 

disclosed in such documents. Investors should inquire of the Issuer and become familiar with the assumptions 

underlying any estimates, projections or other forward-looking statements. Projections are inherently subject to varying 

degrees of uncertainty and their achievability depends on the timing and probability of a complex series of future events. 
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There is no assurance that the assumptions upon which these projections are based will be realized. Actual results may 

differ materially from projected results for a number of reasons including increases in operating expenses, changes or 

shifts in regulatory rules, undiscovered and unanticipated adverse industry and economic conditions, and unanticipated 

competition. Accordingly, investors should not rely on any projections to indicate the actual results the Issuer and its 

subsidiaries might achieve. 

 

Difficulty to Forecast 

 

The Resulting Issuer must rely largely on its own market research to forecast sales as detailed forecasts are not generally 

obtainable from other sources at this early stage of the global cannabis industry.  A failure in the demand for its services 

to materialize as a result of competition, technological change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on 

the business, results of operations, and financial condition of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Competition General 

 

There is potential that the Resulting Issuer will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be 

expected to have longer operating histories and more financial resources and marketing experience than the Resulting 

Issuer. Increased competition by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the 

business, financial condition, and results of operations of the Resulting Issuer.  To remain competitive, the Resulting 

Issuer will require a continued high level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales, and client 

support. 

Competition Healthcare Information Systems 

 

The healthcare information systems market is highly competitive on a local, national and international level. The 

Resulting Issuer believes that the primary competitive factors in this market are: 

 

• quality service and support; 

• price; 

• product features, functionality and ease of use; 

• ability to comply with new and changing regulations; 

• ongoing product enhancements; and 

• reputation and stability of the vendor. 
 

For example, the current EMR marketplace in Canada is currently dominated by Telus Health and the Resulting Issuer 

will face substantial competition from Telus Health and other established competitors, which have greater financial, 

technical, and marketing resources than it does. Its competitors could use their greater resources to modify their product 

offerings to incorporate platform functionality among doctors, patients, pharmacies and licensed producers in a 

comparable manner to the Resulting Issuer. The Resulting Issuer's competitors also have a larger installed base of users, 

longer operating histories and greater name recognition than the Resulting Issuer will. 

 

There can be no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will successfully differentiate its current and proposed products 

from the products of its competitors, or that the marketplace will consider the products of the Resulting Issuer to be 

superior to competing products. 

 

Competition Health Care Clinics 

 

The industry is intensely competitive, and the Resulting Issuer competes with other companies that may have greater 

financial resources and facilities. Numerous other businesses are expected to compete in the clinic space and provide 

additional patient services, in particular within states with new and emerging cannabis legislation.   

An increase in competition for cannabis evaluations and education may decrease prices and result in lower profits to 

the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Management of Growth 

 

The Resulting Issuer may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its internal 

systems and controls. The ability of the Resulting Issuer to manage growth effectively will require it to continue to 
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implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train, and manage its employee base. The 

inability of the Resulting Issuer to deal with this growth may have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Reliance on Management 

 

The success of the Company is dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, and good faith of its 

management. While employment agreements are customarily used as a primary method of retaining the services of key 

employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. Any loss of the services of such 

individuals could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, operating results, or financial 

condition. 

 

Dependence on suppliers and skilled labour 

 

The ability of the Resulting Issuer to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a reasonable cost and 

in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be given that the Resulting 

Issuer will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. 

 

Risks Related to Software and Product Development 

 

The Company continues to develop software and products. Inherent risks include: 

 

 Lack of experience and commitment of team 

 

The project manager is the leader and the most responsible person. An inexperienced manager can jeopardize the 

completion of a project.  

 

 Unrealistic deadlines 

 

Software projects may fail when deadlines are not properly set. Project initialization, completion date and time must 

be realistic.  

 

 Improper budget 

 

Cost estimation of a project is very crucial in terms of project success and failure. Low cost with high expectations of 

large projects may cause project failure.  

 

 Lack of resources 

 

Software and hardware resources may not be adequate. Lack of resources in terms of manpower is also a critical risk 

factor of software failure.  

 

 Personnel hiring 

 

The Company and Resulting Issuer will be subject to extensive hiring requirements across all of its business lines as 

well as a need to release underperforming employees in order to perform and grow at the rate it intends. Staffing 

requirements may not be properly attained or assigned for/to specific tasks or company needs. 

 

 Understanding problems of customers 

 

Many customers are not technical in terms of software terminologies and may not understand the developer’s point of  

view. Developers may interpret information differently from what is provided by the clients.  

 

 Inappropriate design 

 

Software designers have a major role in the success or failure of the project if a design is inappropriate for the project.  
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 Market demand obsolete 

 

Market demand may become obsolete while a project is still in progress. 

 

Risks Related to the Resulting Issuer 

 

Risk of Safeguarding Against Security & Privacy Breaches 

 

A security or privacy breach could: 

 

 expose the Company and Resulting Issuer to additional liability and to potentially costly litigation; 

 

 increase expenses relating to the resolution of these breaches; 

 

 deter potential customers from using our services; and 

 

 decrease market acceptance of electronic commerce transactions. 

 

As a provider of software technology, the Company and Resulting Issuer are at risk of exposure to a security or privacy 

breach of its system which could lead to potentially costly litigation, deter potential customers from using its services, 

or bring about additional liability of the Company and Resulting Issuer. The Company and Resulting Issuer cannot 

assure that the use of applications designed for data security and integrity will address changing technologies or the 

security and privacy concerns of existing and potential customers. Although the Company and Resulting Issuer require 

that agreements with service providers who have access to sensitive data include confidentiality obligations that restrict 

these parties from using or disclosing any data except as necessary to perform their services under the applicable 

agreements, there can be no assurance that these contractual measures will prevent the unauthorized disclosure of 

sensitive data. If the Company and Resulting Issuer are unable to protect the security and privacy of our electronic 

transactions and data, our business will be materially adversely affected. 

 

Risks Inherent in the Health Clinic Industry 

 

Changes in operating costs (including costs for maintenance, insurance), inability to obtain permits required to conduct 

clinical business operations, changes in health care laws and governmental regulations, and various other factors may 

significantly impact the ability of the Resulting Issuer to generate revenues. Certain significant expenditures, including 

legal fees, borrowing costs, maintenance costs, insurance costs and related charges must be made to operate the 

Resulting Issuer’s clinic operation, regardless of whether the Issuer is generating revenue. 

 

Material Impact of PIPEDA/HIPPA Legislation on the Company and Resulting Issuer’s Business 

 

Regulations under PIPEDA/HIPAA governing the confidentiality and integrity of protected health information are 

complex and are evolving rapidly. As these regulations mature and become better defined, the Company and Resulting 

Issuer anticipates that they will continue to directly impact our business. Achieving compliance with these regulations 

could be costly and distract management’s attention from its operations. Any failure on the Company and Resulting 

Issuer’s part to comply with current or future regulations could subject it to significant legal and financial liability, 

including civil and criminal penalties. In addition, development of related federal and state regulations and policies 

regarding the confidentiality of health information or other matters could positively or negatively affect our business. 

 

The Company and Resulting Issuer’s investments in the United States and Canada are subject to applicable anti-money 

laundering laws and regulations 

 

The Company and Resulting Issuer is subject to a variety of laws and regulations domestically and in the United States 

that involve money laundering, financial recordkeeping and proceeds of crime, including the Currency and Foreign 

Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (commonly known as the Bank Secrecy Act), as amended by Title III of the Uniting 

and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 

(USA PATRIOT Act), the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (Canada), as amended 

and the rules and regulations thereunder, the Criminal Code (Canada) and any related or similar rules, regulations or 

guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by governmental authorities in the United States and Canada. 



 

 78 

 

In February 2014, the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FCEN”) of the Treasury Department issued a 

memorandum (the “FCEN Memo”) providing instructions to banks seeking to provide services to cannabis-related 

businesses. The FCEN Memo states that in some circumstances, it is permissible for banks to provide services to 

cannabis-related businesses without risking prosecution for violation of federal money laundering laws. It refers to 

supplementary guidance that Deputy Attorney General Cole issued to federal prosecutors relating to the prosecution of 

money laundering offenses predicated on cannabis-related violations of the CSA. It is unclear at this time whether the 

current administration will follow the guidelines of the FCEN Memo. 

 

In the event that any of the Company and Resulting Issuer’s operations, or any proceeds thereof, any dividends or 

distributions therefrom, or any profits or revenues accruing from such operations in the United States were found to be 

in violation of money laundering legislation or otherwise, such transactions may be viewed as proceeds of crime under 

one or more of the statutes noted above or any other applicable legislation. This could restrict or otherwise jeopardize 

the ability of the Company and Resulting Issuer to declare or pay dividends, effect other distributions or subsequently 

repatriate such funds back to Canada. Furthermore, while the Company and Resulting Issuer has no current intention 

to declare or pay dividends on its Common Shares in the foreseeable future, in the event that a determination was made 

that the Company and Resulting Issuer’s proceeds from operations (or any future operations or investments in the 

United States) could reasonably be shown to constitute proceeds of crime, the Company may decide or be required to 

suspend declaring or paying dividends without advance notice and for an indefinite period of time. 

 

Canadian investors in the Common Shares and the Resulting Issuer’s directors, officers, and employees may be subject 

to travel and entry bans into the United States 

 

News media have reported that United States immigration authorities have increased scrutiny of Canadian citizens who 

are crossing the United States–Canada border with respect to persons involved in cannabis businesses in the United 

States. There have been a number of Canadians barred from entering the United States as a result of an investment in 

or act related to United States cannabis businesses. In some cases, entry has been barred for extended periods of time. 

The majority of persons travelling across the Canadian and U.S. border do so without incident. Some persons are simply 

denied entry one time. The U.S. Department of State and the Department of Homeland Security have indicated that the 

United States has not changed the admission requirements in response to the pending legalization of recreational 

cannabis in Canada. Admissibility to the United States may be denied to any person working or ‘having involvement 

in’ the marijuana industry according to United States Customs and Border Protection. Additionally, legal experts have 

indicated that if the admission criteria are applied broadly, this may result in a determination that the act of investing 

in or working or collaborating with a U.S. cannabis company is considered trafficking in a Schedule I controlled 

substance or aiding, abetting, assisting, conspiring or colluding in the trafficking of a Schedule I controlled substance. 

Inadmissibility in the United States implies a lifetime ban for entry as such designation is not lifted unless an individual 

applies for and obtains a waiver. 

 

Resulting Issuer directors, officers or employees traveling from Canada to the United States for the benefit of the 

Resulting Issuer may encounter enhanced scrutiny by United States immigration authorities that may result in the 

employee not being permitted to enter the United States for a specified period of time. If this happens to Resulting 

Issuer directors, officers or employees, then this may reduce our ability to manage our business effectively in the United 

States. The Resulting Issuer will retain, as required, counsel and is in the process of developing policies to deal with 

any immigration-related issues which may arise. 

 

In certain circumstances, the Resulting Issuer’s reputation could be damaged 

 

Damage to the Resulting Issuer’s reputation can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of 

events, and could include any negative publicity, whether true or not. The increased usage of social media and other 

web based tools used to generate, publish and discuss user-generated content and to connect with other users has made 

it increasingly easier for individuals and groups to communicate and share opinions and views regarding the Resulting 

Issuer and its activities whether true or not. Although the Resulting Issuer believes that it operates in a manner that is 

respectful to all stakeholders and that it takes care in protecting its image and reputation, the Resulting Issuer will not 

ultimately have direct control over how it is perceived by others. Reputation loss may result in decreased investor 

confidence, increased challenges in developing and maintaining community relations and an impediment to the 

Resulting Issuer’s overall ability to advance its projects, thereby having material adverse impact on financial 

performance, financial condition, cash flows and growth prospects. 
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The Resulting Issuer may lack access to United States bankruptcy protections 

 

Because cannabis is a Schedule I substance under the Controlled Substance Act, many courts have denied cannabis 

businesses federal bankruptcy protections, making it difficult for lenders to be made whole on their investments in the 

cannabis industry in the event of bankruptcy. If the Resulting Issuer were to experience a bankruptcy, there is no 

guarantee that United States federal bankruptcy protections would be available to the Resulting Issuer, which would 

have a material adverse effect. 

 

Currency Fluctuations 

 

Due to the Company’s present operations in the United States, and its intention to continue future operations outside 

Canada, the Resulting Issuer is expected to be exposed to significant currency fluctuations. Recent events in the global 

financial markets have been coupled with increased volatility in the currency markets.  

 

A substantially amount of the Resulting Issuer's revenue will be earned in US dollars, but a substantial portion of its 

operating expenses are incurred in Canadian dollars. The Resulting Issuer does not have currency hedging arrangements 

in place and there is no expectation that the Issuer will put any currency hedging arrangements in place in the future. 

The Resulting Issuer does not have currency hedging arrangements in place and there is no expectation that the Issuer 

will put any currency hedging arrangements in place in the future. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the US 

dollar and the Canadian dollar, may have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer's business, financial condition 

and operating results. The Resulting Issuer may, in the future, establish a program to hedge a portion of its foreign 

currency exposure with the objective of minimizing the impact of adverse foreign currency exchange movements. 

However, even if the Issuer develops a hedging program, there can be no assurance that it will effectively mitigate 

currency risks. 

 

Requirements for Further Financing 

 

The Resulting Issuer will apply for listing on the CSE. The Issuer may need to obtain further financing, whether through 

debt financing, equity financing or other means. There can be no guarantee that the Resulting Issuer Shares will be 

listed on any stock exchange. The Resulting Issuer must obtain such financing through a combination of equity and 

debt financing and there can be no assurance that the Issuer can raise the required capital it needs to build and 

expand its current operations, nor that the capital markets will fund the business of the Resulting Issuer. Without 

this additional financing, the Issuer may be unable to achieve positive cash flow and earnings as quickly as 

anticipated. There can be no certainty that the Resulting Issuer can obtain these funds, in which case any 

investment in the Resulting Issuer may be lost. The raising of equity funding would also result in dilution of the 

equity of the Resulting Issuer's shareholders. 

 

Litigation 

 

The Company and Resulting Issuer may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business 

which could adversely affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Resulting Issuer becomes involved be 

determined against the Resulting Issuer such a decision could adversely affect the Resulting Issuer’s ability to 

continue operating and the market price for Common Shares and could use significant resources. Even if the Resulting 

Issuer is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant company resources. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

 

Certain of the directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer are, or may become directors and officers of other 

companies, and conflicts of interest may arise between their duties as officers and directors of the Resulting Issuer and 

as officers and directors of such other companies. 

 

Health Care Coverage 

 

There is a possibility that healthcare companies can refuse to cover medical cannabis costs and due to the high costs 

associated with medical cannabis this can lead to consumers moving to a different medical product that is covered. 
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The Common Shares may not be qualified investments under the Tax Act for a Registered Plan 

 

There is no assurance when, or if, the Common Shares will be listed on any stock exchange. If the Common Shares are 

not listed on a designated stock exchange in Canada at the time they are acquired or if the Resulting Issuer does not 

otherwise satisfy the conditions in the Tax Act to be a “public corporation”, the Common Shares will not be considered 

to be a qualified investment under the Tax Act for a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”), 

a registered retirement income fund (“RRIF”), a registered education savings plan (“RESP”), a registered disability 

savings plan (“RDSP”) a tax-free savings account (“TFSA”) and a deferred profit sharing plan (“DPSP”) (collectively, 

“Registered Plans”) from their date of issue. Where a Registered Plan acquires a Common Share in circumstances 

where the Common Shares are not a qualified investment under the Tax Act for the Registered Plan, adverse tax 

consequences may arise for the Registered Plan and the annuitant, subscriber or holder (the “Controlling Individual”) 

under the Registered Plan, as the case may be, including that the Registered Plan may become subject to penalty taxes, 

the Controlling Individual of such Registered Plan may be deemed to have received income therefrom or be subject to 

a penalty tax or, in the case of an RESP, such plan may have its tax exempt status revoked. 

Dividend Policy 

 

The Company does not presently intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future, as any earnings are expected 

to be retained for use in developing and expanding its business. However, the actual amount of dividends received from 

the Resulting Issuer will remain subject to the discretion of its Board of Directors and will depend on results of 

operations, cash requirements and future prospects of the Issuer and other factors. Any future dividends paid by the 

Resulting Issuer would be subject to tax and potentially, withholdings. 

 

PART V- OTHER MATTERS 

 

PROMOTERS 

 

The founders of the Company, Pradyum Sekar, Chief Executive Officer and a director of the Company, and Kashaf 

Qureshi, the President and a director of the Company, are considered to be Promoters of the Company. Mr. Sekar and 

Mr. Qureshi collectively own 18,450,000 common shares of the Company through Skylight Health Inc., representing 

27.09% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company on an undiluted basis.  

 

Other than as disclosed in this section and under "Executive Compensation" or elsewhere in this Prospectus, no person 

who was a promoter of the Company within the last two years: 

 

1. received anything of value directly or indirectly from the Company or a subsidiary; 

 

2. sold or otherwise transferred any asset to the Company or a subsidiary within the last 2 years; 

 

3. has been a director, officer or promoter of any company that during the past 10 years was the subject of a 

cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to any exemptions under 

securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became bankrupt, made a proposal 

under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, 

arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold 

its assets; 

 

4. has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or 

by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 

securities regulatory authority; 

 

5. has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely 

to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision; or 

 

6. has within the past 10 years become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy 

or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or 

had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

 

The Issuer is not a party to any legal proceedings and is not aware of any such proceedings known to be contemplated. 

Management of the Issuer is not aware that the Issuer is a party to any legal proceedings or that any such proceedings 

are known to be contemplated. 

 

The Company is not a party to any legal proceedings and is not aware of any such proceedings known to be 

contemplated. Management of Company is not aware that the Company is a party to any legal proceedings or that 

any such proceedings are known to be contemplated. 

 

No penalties or sanctions have been imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to provincial and territorial 

securities legislation or by a securities regulatory body within the three years immediately preceding the date of this 

Prospectus. Management of the Issuer is not aware of any such penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer. 

 

No penalties or sanctions have been imposed against Company by a court relating to provincial, state and territorial 

securities legislation or by a securities regulatory body within the three years immediately preceding the date of this 

Prospectus. Management of Company is not aware of any such penalties or sanctions imposed against Company. 

 

The Issuer has not entered into any settlement agreements before a court relating to provincial and territorial securities 

legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of this 

Prospectus. Management of the Issuer is not aware of any such settlement agreements entered into by the Issuer. 

 

Company has not entered into any settlement agreements before a court relating to provincial, state and territorial 

securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date 

of this Prospectus. Management of Company is not aware of any such settlement agreements entered into by Company. 

 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

 

Other than as set forth in this Prospectus, the management of the Issuer and Company are not aware of any material 

interest, direct or indirect, of any director, executive officer, any Person or Company beneficially owning, controlling 

or directing, directly or indirectly, more than ten (10%) percent of the Resulting Issuer’s outstanding voting 

securities, or any Associate or Affiliate of the foregoing Persons, in any transaction in which the Issuer has 

participated within the three years before the date of this Prospectus, that has materially affected or is reasonably 

expected to materially affect the Resulting Issuer. 

 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

 

Auditors 

 

The auditor of the Issuer is SDVC LLP, located at 4 Robert Speck Parkway, 4th Floor, Mississauga, Ontario L4Z 1S1. 

The auditor of the Company is Grant Thornton LLP, located at 201 City Centre Drive, Suite 501, Mississauga, Ontario, 

L5B 2T4. The Resulting Issuer’s auditor will be the Company’s current auditor, Grant Thornton LLP. 

 

Registrar and Transfer Agent 

 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Issuer Common Shares is Capital Transfer Agency ULC, 309 Bay Street, Suite 

920, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2Y2, and Computershare Investor Services Inc. will continue as transfer agent and 

registrar of the Resulting Issuer upon Completion of the Transaction. 

 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts entered 

into by the Issuer or the Company within two years prior to the date hereof which are currently in effect and 

considered to be currently material: 

 

1. Share Purchase Agreement with 10557404 Canada Corp. dated December 20, 2018, as amended January 24, 

2019 
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PART VI – EXPERTS 

 

The following are persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made in this 

Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of that document or report described in the Prospectus: 

 

SDVC LLP, auditors of the Issuer. SDVC LLP has confirmed that they are independent in accordance with the Rules of 

Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario. 

 

Grant Thornton LLP, auditors for Company. Grant Thornton LLP has that they are independent in accordance with the 

Rules of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario. 

 

BridgeWest CPAs and Consultants, LLC., auditors for MedEval Corp. BridgeWest CPA’s and Consultants has 

confirmed they are independent in accordance with the Rules of Professional Conduct of the American Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants. 

 

Interest of Experts 

 

To the knowledge of management, as of the date hereof, no expert, nor any Associate or Affiliate of such person has 

any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in the securities or property of the Issuer, the Company or the Resulting 

Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate of any of them, and no such person is or is expected to be elected, appointed or 

employed as director, officer or employee of Issuer, Company or the Resulting Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate 

thereof. 

 

 

 

  



 

 81 

APPENDIX “A” 

 

ISSUER AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Shareholders of 
CB2 Insights Inc.  
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CB2 Insights Inc and its subsidiaries (the Company), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018, and notes 
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Relating to Going Concern  
We draw your attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company 
incurred a comprehensive loss of $218,282 during the period ended December 31, 2018 and, as of that date, 
the Company's current liabilities exceeded its total assets by $35,926. As stated in Note 1, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter. 
 
Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the management’s 
discussion and analysis, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 



 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 
 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 



 
 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
 
Pat Kenney, CPA, CA  
 
 
 
 
 
SDVC LLP  
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
 
January 28, 2019                   
Mississauga, Canada  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2018 

(Stated in $CAD) 
 

   
 

Going concern (Note 1(b))  
Commitments and contractual obligations (Note 16) 

   Subsequent event (Note 17) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
 

"Stephen Coates" Director 

As at December 31, 2018

ASSETS
   Current:
      Cash $ 27,740                      
      Prepaid expenses (Note 16) 30,000                      
      Accounts receivable (Note 11) 22,756                      
      Advances to employees (Note 12) 3,331                       

83,827                      

LIABILITIES
   Current:
      Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 13) $ 69,753                      
      Loan payable (Note 6) 50,000                      

119,753                    

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY
Common shares  (Notes 7.1, 7.2) $ 102,251                    
Warrants  (Note 7.3) 22,750                      
Share based payments  (Note 7.4) 57,355                      
Accumulated deficit (218,282)                   

(35,926)                     

$ 83,827                      
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Consolidated Statement of Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to 

 December 31, 2018 
 (Stated in $CAD) 

 

  
 
 

        The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

Period from 
December 27, 2017 

to
December 31, 2018

Expenses
   Management fees (Note 14) $ 46,496                   
   Professional fees 83,240                   
   Regulatory expenses 16,578                   
   Office and general 2,359                     
   Investor relations 65,946                   
   Share based payments (Note 7.4) 3,663                     

Net loss and comprehensive loss $ 218,282                 

Basic and diluted loss per share (Note 8) $ 0.261
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 

2018 
(Stated in $CAD) 

 

 

          The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

Period from 
December 27, 2017 

to
December 31, 2018

Operating activities 
   Net Loss for period $ (218,282)
   Add (deduct) items not affecting cash
      Share based payments 57,355
      LOI write off re Bright Mega deal (Note 5) 1
   Change in non-cash working capital items 
      Accounts receivable (22,756)
      Prepaid expenses (30,000)
      Advances to employees (3,331)
      Accounts payable and accrued liability 69,753
      Loan payable 50,000

Cash used for operations $ (97,260)

Finacing activities 
      Issuance of common shares $ 102,250
      Issuance of warrants 22,750

Cash provided from financing activities $ 125,000                   

Increase in cash $ 27,740                     
Cash, beginning of period -                          

Cash, end of period $ 27,740

Non-cash transaction
   Common shares issued under Plan of Arrangement (Note 5) $ 1                             
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Notes to Consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements 

Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to 
 December 31, 2018 
 (Stated in $CAD) 

 
 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 
(a) Nature of operations 

 
CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly 10557404 Canada Corp.) (the "Company" or "CB2") was 
incorporated on December 27, 2017 under the Canada Business Corporations Act with its 
head office located at 401 Bay Street, Suite #2702, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5H 2Y4. The 
Company, as a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba, is 
subject to the rules and regulations of the relative provincial securities commissions, but its 
shares do not trade on any stock exchange. 

 
The Company has no current active business operations and its principal purpose is the 
identification and evaluation of assets or businesses for the purpose of completing a transaction 
("Qualifying Transaction") such that the Company's shares can be approved for listing and 
trading on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. Where a Qualifying Transaction is warranted, 
additional funding may be required. The ability of the Company to fund its potential future 
operations and commitments is dependent upon its ability obtain additional financing. There is 
no assurance that the Company will be able to complete a Qualifying Transaction or that it will 
be able to secure the necessary financing to complete a Qualifying Transaction.  On September 26, 
2018, the Company filed a non-offering Preliminary Long Form Prospectus with the British 
Columbia Securities Commission and has received a confirmation of receipt. The filing was made 
pursuant to the letter of Intent with MVC Technologies Inc. (“MVC”) for a proposed reverse take-
over (see note 6). 

 
Under the terms of a Plan of Arrangement approved by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice 
on March 26, 2018, the Company acquired substantially all the rights and interests in a Letter of 
Intent ("LOI") between Telferscot Resources Inc. ("Telferscot") and Bright Mega Capital Corp. 
("Bright Mega") (see note 5). As consideration for acquisition of this LOI, CB2 issued 757,576 
common shares to Telferscot, which were then distributed to the current shareholders of 
Telferscot pro-rata based on their relative shareholdings of Telferscot. 

 
(b) Going concern 

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared using International 
Financial Reporting Standards applicable to a going concern. Accordingly, they do not give effect 
to adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a 
going concern. It would, in this situation, be required to realize its assets and liquidate its 
liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts 
different from those in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such adjustments 
could be material. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN, CONTINUED 
 

As at December 31, 2018, the Company has no source of operating cash flow and had an 
accumulated deficit of $218,282. Net comprehensive loss for the period from December 27, 
2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 were $218,282. These consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes realization 
of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. 
The Company's ability to continue as a going concern, namely its ability to generate sufficient 
cash resources to meet its obligations for at least twelve months from the end of the reporting 
period, is dependent upon its ability to arrange future financing, which is largely dependent 
upon prevailing capital market conditions and continued support of its shareholder base and 
completion of a Qualifying Transaction. These do not include any adjustments to the amounts 
and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be 
unable to continue in business. Such adjustments could be material. 

 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board ("IASB") and the interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee.  
 
The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on the IFRS issued and 
outstanding as of January 28, 2019, the date the Board of Directors approved the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
(b) Basis of measurement 

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, with the 
exception of certain financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair-value, as explained in 
the accounting policies. 
 

(c) Basis of consolidation 
 

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 
wholly-owned subsidiary; 2663339 Ontario Corp. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns as well as the ability to affect those returns through 
the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity.  The existence and effect of potential or 
actual voting rights that are presently exercisable, or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is obtained by the Company and are deconsolidated from the date on which control 
ceases.  The consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss include losses of the 
Company’s subsidiaries. All inter-Company transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation. 

  



Page 7 of 23 

CB2 INSIGHTS INC. 
 (FORMERLY  10557404 CANADA CORP.) 

Notes to Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 
Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to 

December 31, 2018 
            (Stated in $CAD) 

 

 

 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 

 
(d) Functional and presentation currency 

 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 
functional currency of the corporate offices located in Canada. 

 
(e) Cash 

 
Cash consists of deposits held with banks. 

 
(f) Accounts receivable 

 
Accounts receivable consist of recoverable HST ITC's. 

 

(g) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to 
the end of the reporting period which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually 
paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities 
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period end. They are recognised 
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

 
(h) Share capital 

 
Common shares issued in exchange for goods and services are recorded at an amount based on 
the fair market value of the common shares just prior to the date of issuance. Common shares 
issued in private placements, in conjunction with common share purchase warrants, are 
recorded whereby the fair value of warrants is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model and allocated to warrants while the proceeds of the private placement less the fair value 
of warrants and any issuance expenses are allocated to the common shares. Share issuance 
expenses are applied against share capital.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
 

(i) Share-based payments 
 

The fair value of any share-based payments granted to directors, officers, employees and 
consultants is recorded over the vesting period of the award as an expense based on the nature 
of the services for which it was awarded with a corresponding increase recorded to contributed 
surplus. Share-based payments for directors, officers and employees are valued at the grant date 
whereas consultants’ share-based payments are valued as the goods and services are received from 
the recipient. If the fair value of the goods and services received cannot be estimated reliably the 
Black-Scholes pricing model is used. Fair value of stock options for directors, officers and 
employees is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model utilizing management’s 
assumptions as described in note 7. Fair value of share-based payments for consultants is 
determined based on the fair value of the goods and services received and requires management 
to make estimates of the value of the goods and services received. Upon exercise of a share 
option, consideration paid by the share option together with the amount previously recognized 
in reserve for share-based payments is recorded as an increase to share capital. 

 
(j) Income taxes 

 
The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Income 
tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent it relates to items recognized in equity, in 
which case the income tax is also recognized in equity. Current tax assets and liabilities are 
recognized at the amount expected to be paid or received from tax authorities using rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the statement of financial position. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are recognized at the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the date 
of the statement of financial position for the years that an asset is expected to be realized or a 
liability is expected to be settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be generated and available for the asset to be utilized 
against. 

 
(k) Loss per share 

 
Basic loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss for the reporting period 
attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period. 

 
Diluted loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net earnings attributable to 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
reporting period plus the weighted average number of shares that would be issued on the 
conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into common shares. Diluted loss per 
share amounts are not presented if anti-dilutive. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 

 

(l) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make 
judgments in applying its accounting policies and estimates and assumptions about the future. 
These judgments, estimates and assumptions affect the Company's reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and other items in net earnings, and the related disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities, if any. The Company evaluates its estimates on an ongoing basis. Such 
estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that the Company 
believes are reasonable under the circumstances, and these estimates form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the reported amount of revenues 
and other items in net earnings that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 
 
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
recognized in the financial statement are discussed below: 

 
Going concern  
 
The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern involves judgement 
regarding future funding available for its planned RTO and working capital requirements. 

 
Use of estimates 
 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Management believes the estimates are reasonable; however, actual results 
could differ from those estimates and could impact future results of operations and cash flows. 
Significant estimates include the valuation of common share purchase warrants and share options 
using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 

 
(m) Financial instruments 

 
Recognition 

 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or financial liability on the statement of financial 
position when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value and are derecognized either when the 
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset, or when cash flows expire. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are 
derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 
A write-off of a financial asset (or a portion thereof) constitutes a derecognition event. 
Write-off occurs when the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 
contractual cash flows on a financial asset. 

 
Classification and Measurement 

 
The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified according to the following measurement 
categories: 

 
x those to be measured subsequently at fair value, either through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”) or through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”); and, 
x those to be measured subsequently at amortized cost. 

 
The classification and measurement of financial assets after initial recognition at fair value 
depends on the business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual terms of 
the cash flows. Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to 
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, are generally measured at amortized cost 
at each subsequent reporting period. All other financial assets are measure at their fair values at 
each subsequent reporting period, with any changes recorded through profit or loss or through 
other comprehensive income (which designation is made as an irrevocable election at the time of 
recognition). 

 
After initial recognition at fair value, financial liabilities are classified and measured at either: 

 
x amortized cost; 
x FVTPL, if the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of 

recognition, or when required (for items such as instruments held for trading or 
derivatives); or, 

x FVTOCI, when the change in fair value is attributable to changes in the Company’s 
credit risk. 

 
The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes. Financial liabilities are not reclassified. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial 
asset or financial liability classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost are included 
in the fair value of the instrument on initial recognition. Transaction costs for financial assets 
and financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. 

 
The Company’s financial assets consist of cash and advances to employees, which are classified 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost. The Company’s financial liabilities consist of 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loan payable which are classified and measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense is reported in profit or loss. 
 
Fair value  
 
The determination of the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, for which there is no 
observable market price, requires the use of valuation techniques. For financial instruments that 
trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective as such it requires 
varying degrees of judgment. The use of judgment in valuing financial instruments includes 
assessing qualitative factors such on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing 
assumptions and other risks affecting the particular instrument. 
 
The Company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
Level 1: Quoted market price in an active market for an identical instrument. 
 
Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs derived either directly or indirectly from 
market prices. This category includes instruments valued using quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments, quoted market prices for identical or similar instruments in 
markets that are considered less than active or other valuation techniques where all significant 
inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 
 
Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted market prices for similar instruments where 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between 
the instruments. 

 
           Impairment of financial assets 

The Company assesses all information available, including on a forward-looking basis the 
expected credit losses associated with any financial assets carried at amortized cost. The 
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at 
the date of initial recognition based on all information available, and reasonable and supportive 
forward-looking information. 
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2.          SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 

 

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial instrument asset or 
liability and allocates interest income over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial 
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognized on an effective 
interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as FVTPL. 

 
3. RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 
 

(a) IAS 7 "Statement of Cash Flow" has been revised to incorporate amendments issued by the 
IASB in January 2016. The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that enable users 
of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. The new 
amendments were adopted by the Company upon incorporation and have not had a significant 
impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

 
(b) IAS 12 "Income Taxes" was amended by the IASB in January 2016 to clarify the 

requirements for recognizing deferred tax assets on unrealized losses. The amendments clarify 
the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is 
below the asset's tax base. They also clarify certain other aspects of accounting for deferred tax 
assets. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 
The new amendments were adopted by the Company upon incorporation and have not had a 
significant impact on these consolidated financial statements. 

 
IFRS 9: "Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities" was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and will replace IAS 39 
"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". In addition, IFRS 7 "Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures" was amended to include additional disclosure requirements on 
transition to IFRS 9. The mandatory effective date of applying these standards is for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The standard uses a single approach to determine 
whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value. The approach is based on 
how an entity manages its financial instruments (its business model) and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment 
method to be used. The standard requires that for financial liabilities measured at fair value, any 
changes in an entity’s own credit risk are generally to be presented in other comprehensive 
income instead of net earnings. A new hedge accounting model is included in the standard, as 
well as increased disclosure requirements about risk management activities for entities that 
apply hedge accounting. The new amendments were adopted by the Company upon 
incorporation and have not had a significant impact on these consolidated financial statements.  
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4.       ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 

As at the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued the 
following revised standards which are not yet effective: 

 
(a) IFRS 16 "Leases" was issued by the IASB in January 2016 and will ultimately replace IAS 17, 

"Leases" and related interpretations. The new standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning 
on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted provided the Company has adopted 
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The new standard requires lessees to 
recognize a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a "right-of-use asset" for 
virtually all leases contracts, and record it on the statement of financial position, except with 
respect to lease contracts that meet limited exception criteria. If the Company has significant 
contractual obligations in the form of operating leases under IAS 17, there will be a material 
increase to both assets and liabilities on adoption of IFRS 16, and material changes to the 
timing of recognition of expenses associated with the lease arrangements. The Company is 
analyzing the new standard to determine the impact of adopting this standard. 
 

 
5.       BRIGHT MEGA CAPITAL CORP. LETTER OF INTENT 

 
Under the terms of a Plan of Arrangement approved by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice on 
March 26, 2018 (see note 1(a)), the Company acquired substantially all the rights and interests in a 
Letter of Intent ("LOI") between Telferscot and Bright Mega, and accordingly will assume the 
position of Telferscot with respect to the LOI. As consideration for its acquisition, CB2 issued  
757,494  shares to Telferscot, which were then be distributed to the current shareholders of Telferscot 
pro-rata based on their relative shareholdings of Telferscot (see note 7(b).  
 

 
 

Telferscot had an LOI with Bright Mega to fund several target acquisitions in blockchain and crypto 
currency mining and trading. Bright Mega is a markets development advisor to several privately held 
Canadian and international blockchain companies looking for development and expansion funding. 
The LOI called for CB2 to provide a minimum of $500,000 of equity investment to acquire a 
control stake in a new Canadian-based crypto currency exchange and blockchain mining business. 
On August 28, 2018, the Company signed another letter of intent with MVC Technologies Inc. (see 
note 6) and abandoned its efforts to pursue the aforementioned deal with Bright Mega, accordingly it 
wrote off its interest in the Bright Mega LOI. 

 
   

March 26, 2018 Plan of arrangment LOI $ 1
September 30, 2018 Plan of arrangment LOI - cancelled (1)

Nil
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6.  MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. LETTER OF INTENT 
 

On August 28, 2018, the Company signed a non-binding Letter of Intent with MVC Technologies Inc. 
MVC is a private Canadian company which was founded in 2014 and manages two cannabis-focused 
brands, Sail Cannabis (“Sail”) and Canna Care Docs (“CCD”).   Sail has developed a cannabis-specific 
EMR (Electronic Medical Record) platform with a suite of practice management tools used by 
international clinic groups and independent clinicians, while CCD provides comprehensive services to 
patients looking to integrate cannabis into their treatment regimen. 
 
The LOI with MVC outlines the acquisition of MVC and a concurrent plan to file a prospectus with 
securities regulators and apply to the Canadian Securities Exchange for a public listing of the 
Company’s shares upon completion of the Transaction. On September 26, 2018, the Company filed a 
non-offering Preliminary Long Form Prospectus with the British Columbia Securities Commission 
and has received a confirmation of receipt.    
 
Upon completion of the Transaction, it is anticipated that the shareholders of each of CB2 Insights 
Inc. and MVC shall hold the following numbers and percentages of shares of the combined entity: 
 
• Shareholders of CB2 Insights Inc.:  1,363,637 or 2.08%  
• Shareholders of MVC:    64,301,733 or 97.92%  
• Total Shares on a pro-forma basis:  65,665,369 or 100%  

 
On November 13, 2018, the company received a $50,000 working capital loan from MVC. The loan 
amount shall be applied to costs and expenses of CB2 including legal, audit and administrative expenses 
incurred in connection with the listing transaction.  
 
On November 26, 2018, CB2’s shareholders voted in favour of the share consolidation of 1 new common 
share for every 16.5 common shares and in favour of the change to the board of directors at its Special 
General Meeting. The share consolidation was completed on December 20, 2018, while the new directors 
will only assume their roles upon completion of the Transaction. 
 
Pursuant to the Definitive Agreement and the shareholder approvals, and subject to final approvals of 
the British Columbia Securities Commission and the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "CSE"), the 
Company will carry out a three-cornered amalgamation of MVC Technologies Inc. Upon the completion 
of the Transaction, CB2 Insights (resulting from MVC Technologies) will be a comprehensive data 
analytics company within the cannabis industry.  

 
7. SHARE CAPITAL 

 
1) Authorized 
 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited 
number of first preferred shares issuable in series by the directors. The common shares are without 
nominal or par value and may carry rights, privileges, priorities, limitations, conditions and 
restrictions according to the class their issued at including receiving dividends and voting rights. 
 
The First Preferred Shares shall be entitled to preference over the common shares of the Company 
and over any other shares of the Company ranking junior to the First Preferred Shares with respect 
to payment of dividends and return of capital and in the distribution of assets in the event of 
liquidation, dissolution or wind-up of the Company. 
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7.     SHARE CAPITAL, CONTINUED   
 

2) Issued and outstanding 
 

Continuity schedules for the Company's share capital and other equity instruments are disclosed 
in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. The equity transactions in this period are 
detailed below: 

 
a. The Company was incorporated on December 27, 2017. The initial common share issued to the 

incorporator has been cancelled. 
 
b. As a result of the court approval of the Plan of Arrangement on March 26, 2018 (see note 1(a)), 

CB2 issued 757,494 common shares to Telferscot as consideration for the acquisition of the 
LOI with Bright Mega (see note 5). These common shares were issued to Telferscot on April 
5, 2018, and in turn, distributed to the current shareholders of Telferscot pro-rata based on 
their relative shareholdings of Telferscot on April 12, 2018. 

 
c. On June 20, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement offering of 303,000 

units of the Company priced at $0.08 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $25,000.  Each 
unit issued by the Company entitled the holder thereof to receive one common share of the 
Company. 

 
d. On August 29, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement offering of 303,000 

units of the Company priced at $0.33 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $100,000.  Each 
unit issued by the Company entitled the holder thereof to receive one common share of the 
Company and one-half common share purchase warrant.   Each full warrant entitles the holder 
to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.65 for two years from the date 
of closing. 

 
e. On December 20, 2018 and following the shareholders vote in favour of a share consolidation of 

1 new common share for every 16.5 common shares at its Special General Meeting, the Company 
completed the consolidation of all its outstanding common shares of 22,500,003 into 1,363,494 
new common shares.  

 
3) Warrants 
 

All warrants issued prior to December 20, 2018 were consolidated at a ratio of 1 to 16.5. The 
outstanding warrants balance at December 31, 2018, is comprised of the following: 
 

 
 

 

Date of expiry Type Number

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

Weighted 
average years 

remaining Fair value
$ Years $

August 29, 2020 Post-consolidated warrant 151,515     1.65                1.66                22,750         

151,515     1.65                1.66                22,750         
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7.     SHARE CAPITAL, CONTINUED   
 
The fair value of warrants was estimated on the date of issuance using the Black-Scholes model. 
The following assumptions were used: 
 

 
 
 
4) Share-based payments 
 

All options issued prior to December 20, 2018 were consolidated at a ratio of 1 to 16.5. The 
Company has a stock option plan pursuant to which options to purchase common shares may be 
granted to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants.  The plan allows for the issuance 
of up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares. As at December 31, 2018, the Company 
issued 60,000 options under the plan and 606,061 options to contractors. As at December 31, 2018, 
the Company had 75,904 options available for issuance under the stock option plan. 
 
A continuity of the options to purchase common shares is as follows: 

   
 

Warrants issued in 
2018

$

Number of warrants issued                     151,515 
Weighted average information:
     Stock price  $                      0.33 
     Exercise price  $                      1.65 
     Expected life (years)                              2 
     Expected volatility 150%
     Discount rate 2.14%
     Expected dividends Nil 

Fair value 22,750$                   

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number of 
options

$

Outstanding at beginning of year                          -                           -   

Transactions during the period:
Granted                      0.396                  666,061 
Expired                          -                           -   
Forfeited                          -                           -   

Outstanding at end of period 0.396                     666,061                
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7. SHARE CAPITAL, CONTINUED   

 
The following table provides additional information about outstanding stock options as at December 
31, 2018: 

 

   
 

  
The fair value of stock options was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. The 
following assumptions were used: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Expiry date
Number 

exercisable
Number 

outstanding

Weighted 
average exercise 

price

Weighted 
average years 

remaining Fair value
$

 July 4, 2021         363,030           666,061                 0.396               2.51        93,663 

363,030        666,061          0.396                2.51              93,663      

Options issued 
under the stock 

option plan on July 
5, 2018 

Options issued to 
contractors on July 

5, 2018

Options issued to 
contractors on 

September 24, 2018
$ $ $

Number of options issued                       60,000                   303,030                   303,030 
Weighted average information:
     Stock price  $                     0.083  $                   0.083  $                   0.330 
     Exercise price  $                     0.165  $                   0.165  $                   0.660 
     Expected life (years)                              3                             3                             3 
     Expected volatility 150% 150% 150%
     Discount rate 2.13% 2.13% 2.13%
     Vesting 100% 96% 50%
     Expected dividends  Nil  Nil Nil 

Total fair value 3,663$                     18,500$                  71,500$                  
Vested to date 3,663$                     17,746$                  35,946$                  
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8. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share:  
  

  
 
As at December 31, 2018, the following potentially dilutive equity instruments were outstanding: 
151,515 common share purchase warrants and 661,061 stock options. The outstanding stock options 
and warrants were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share as their inclusion would be 
anti-dilutive.  
 

 
9. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS 

 
The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, employee advances, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities and loans payable. These amounts are recognized initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. The fair value of these amounts approximates their carrying 
value due to their demand or short-term nature. 

 
The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk and liquidity 
risk. Risk management is carried out by the Company's management team with guidance from the 
Audit Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also 
provides regular guidance for overall risk management. 

 
(a) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations. The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and accounts receivable, 
which consists of refundable HST ITC's. As at December 31, 2018, the Company had a cash 
balance of $27,740 which was held with reputable financial institutions from which management 
believes the risk of loss to be minimal. 

 
 
 

Period from 
December 27, 2017 

to
December 31, 2018

Numerator:  
Loss for the period $ 218,282                 

Denominator:   
Weighted average number of common shares 836,002                 

Basic and diluted loss per share $ 0.261                     
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(b) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations 
when they become due or can only do so at excessive cost (see note 1(b)). The Company's 
approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due. As at December 31, 2018, the Company had a working capital deficiency of 
$35,926. All of the Company's financial liabilities have contractual maturities of less than 90 days 
and are subject to normal trade terms. 

 
 

10. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company's objective when managing capital is to maintain adequate levels of funding to maintain 
head office corporate and administrative functions. The Company considers its capital to be its 
shareholders' equity. The Company manages its capital structure in an effort to provide sufficient 
funding for its development projects. Funds are primarily secured through equity capital raised by 
way of private placements and exercise of warrants and share options.  

 
There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to continue raising equity capital in this 
manner. The Company's Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria 
for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future 
development of the business. Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing 
basis and believes that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. The 
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
 

11. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

The Company's accounts receivable consist of harmonized services tax (“HST”) recoverable from the 
Canadian government taxation authorities. At December 31, 2018 HST amounted to $22,756. 
 
 

12. ADVANCES TO EMPLOYEES 
 

Advances to employees consist mainly of cash travel advances to employees. At December 31, 2018 
advances to employees amounted to $3,331. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 20 of 23

CB2 INSIGHTS INC. 
 (FORMERLY  10557404 CANADA CORP.) 

Notes to Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 
Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to 

December 31, 2018 
            (Stated in $CAD) 

 

 

 
13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILTIES 

 
The Company's accounts payable and accrued liabilities are principally comprised of amounts 
outstanding for trade purchases relating to operating and financing activities.  
 
The following is an analysis of the trade payables and accrued liabilities balances as at December 31, 
2018: 
 

  
 
 

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 
 

The Company is billed a monthly fee of $2,000 (plus applicable HST) by a company controlled by a 
director and officer for management and administrative services, including the corporate secretary, the 
services of the CFO, office rent and regular administrative functions. As of August 1, 2018, the monthly 
fee increased to $2,750 per month. During the period from December 27, 2017 to December 31, 2018, 
the Company incurred total fees of $28,750. Additionally, on July 5, 2018, the Company issued an 
aggregate of 303,030 stock options to the same company as part of their compensation.  The options 
are exercisable at $0.165 each for a period of up to 3 years from the date of issuance and are vested in 
two tranches during the first 12 months. The total fair value of the options was estimated to be $18,500 
of which $17,746 has vested and thus recognized as an expense in the period ended December 31, 2018. 
 
On July 1, 2018, the Company signed a consulting contract with a company controlled by a director and 
officer to provide capital market advice including financing management and to assist in the process of 
a successful public listing. The duration of this contract is guaranteed for an initial term of 6 months 
and will continue on a monthly basis thereafter until such time as this contract is terminated. The 
Company will pay a finders’ fee of up to 5% of funds raised for the company and a monthly consulting 
fee of $5,000 beginning on January 1, 2019, should the contract be extended. Additionally, on September 
24, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 303,030 stock options to the consultant as part of their 
compensation.  The options are exercisable at a price of $0.66 each until they expire on July 4, 2021. 
They are vested in four even tranches during the first 12 months. The total fair value of the options was 
estimated to be $71,500 of which $35,946 has vested and thus recognized as an expense in the period 
ended December 31, 2018. 

   

Professional fees $ 62,134        
Regulatory expenses 2,420         
Office and general 12              
Investor relations 1,187         

Accrued liability $ 4,000         

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 69,753        
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14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION - CONTINUED 
 
As at December 31, 2018, accounts payable included $1,881 in respect of such reimbursable regulatory 
expenses due to related parties.  
 

15. INCOME TAXES 
 

Income tax expense  
The following table reconciles the amount of reported income taxes in the statement of comprehensive 
loss with income taxes calculated at statutory income tax rates of 13.50%.  The statutory income tax rate 
is the combined Canadian rates applicable in the jurisdictions in which the Company does business.  The 
tax rate for deferred income taxes is 26.5%. 
 

  December 31, 2018
 $

Loss before income taxes (218,282) 
Applicable tax rates 13.50%
Expected tax recovery computed at applicable tax rates            (29,468) 
Differences in current and deferred tax rates and other (20,875)
Non-deductible share based payment expense 7,743
Change in deferred tax asset not recognized 42,600

Income tax expense (recovery)        -  
 
Deferred income taxes 
The primary differences that give rise to the deferred income tax balances December 31, 2018 are as 
follows: 
 

 December 31, 2018
  $

Non-capital loss carry forwards  42,600 
 42,600

Less: valuation allowance (42,600)
Total unrecognized deferred tax assets -

 
At December 31, 2018, the Company had recorded a 100% valuation allowance against its deferred 
income balances due to the uncertainty surrounding their realization.  
 
Tax loss carry forward balances  
At December 31, 2018, the Company has non-capital losses, available to offset future taxable income 
for income tax purposes, of $160,927 which expire in 2038. 
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16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
 

On September 6, 2018, the Company contracted an investor relations company to provide marketing 
services including direct telephone marketing, pre-approved script/messaging throughout the 
organizational call tree and email tracking. The Company prepaid the contractor a fee of $60,000 for 
an initial period of six months starting October 1, 2018. Following the initial period, the Company shall 
have the option to either renew or terminate the contract. If the Company opted to renew the contract, 
the monthly fee will be set at $14,000. 
 

 
17. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

 
1) Rights Offering 

 
The Company announced its plan to complete a rights offering (the “Rights Offering”) to the 
shareholders of the Company for gross proceeds of approximately $625,000. Pursuant to the Rights 
Offering, each shareholder, as of the record date, will be issued one right for each share held on the 
record date (a “Right”). A total of 1 Right will entitle the holder to purchase one share of the 
company (a “Share”) at a price of $0.45 for a period of up to 90 days from the record date. 
 
The net proceeds from the planned Rights Offering will be used by the Company to support 
ongoing general corporate purposes. Under the terms of the Rights Offering, the Company is 
planning to offer an aggregate amount of up to 1,363,637 shares and each eligible holder will receive 
one Right for each Share held.  
 



 

 83 
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(FORMERLY 10557404 CANADA CORP.) 

 
 

Annual Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of the Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

 
 
 

For the period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) 
 to December 31, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
The following management discussion and analysis ("MD&A") of CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly 10557404 Canada Corp.). ("CB2 Insights" 
or "the Company") provides a review of corporate developments, results of operations and financial position for the period from December 27, 
2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 ("2018 Q1 to Q4"). This discussion is prepared as of January 28, 2019 and should 
be read in conjunction with the consolidated annual financial statements for the period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to 
December 31, 2018. The results reported in this MD&A have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Additional information regarding 10557404 
is available on the Company's SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com. 

 
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors (the “Board”), considers the 
materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, 
a significant change in the market price or value of the Company’s common shares; (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 
investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter the total mix of information 
available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, 
including potential market sensitivity. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, as defined in applicable 
securities laws (collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future 
events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward- 
looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as 
“plans”, “expects”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, “projects”, “predicts”, 
“intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such words and phrases, or statements that 
certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. 
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements 
in this MD&A speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such statement. The following 
table outlines certain significant forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A and provides the material 
assumptions used to develop such forward-looking statements and material risk factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the forward-looking statements 

 

Selected forward-looking statements, assumptions, and risk factors are as follows: 
 

Forward-looking statements Assumptions Risk factors 

The  Company  is  working  towards 
completing a Qualifying Transaction. 

The Company expects to identify an 
asset or business to acquire and close 
a Qualifying Transaction, on terms 
favourable to the Company. 

The Company’s inability to find a 
target, the inability to satisfy all of the 
conditions precedent (due diligence, 
shareholder and regulatory approval, 
financing) to complete a Qualifying 
Transaction, resulting in  the 
Company remaining as a reporting 
issuer only. 

The Company’s ability to meet its 
working capital needs at the current 
level for the year December 31, 2019. 

The operating activities of the 
Company for the year December 31, 
2019, and the costs associated 
therewith, will be consistent with the 
Company’s current expectations; debt 
and equity markets, exchange and 
interest rates and other applicable 
economic conditions are  favourable 
to the Company. 

Changes in debt and equity markets; 
timing and availability of external 
financing on acceptable terms; 
increases in costs; regulatory 
compliance and changes in regulatory 
compliance and other local legislation 
and regulation; interest rate and 
exchange rate fluctuations; changes in 
economic conditions. 
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COMPANY OVERVIEW 

 
CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly 10557404 Canada Corp.) was incorporated on December 27, 2017 under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act with its head office located at 401 Bay Street, Suite #2702, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5H 2Y4. 
The Company, as a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba, is subject to the rules 
and regulations of the relative provincial securities commissions, but its shares do not trade on any stock exchange. The 
Company has no current active business operations and its principal purpose is the identification and evaluation of 
assets or businesses for the purpose of completing a Qualifying Transaction such that the Company's shares can be 
approved for listing and trading on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 

 

Where a Qualifying Transaction is warranted, additional funding may be required. The ability of the Company to fund 
its potential future operations and commitments is dependent upon the ability of the Company to obtain additional 
financing. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to complete a Qualifying Transaction or that it will be 
able to secure the necessary financing to complete a Qualifying Transaction. 

 

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT 

 
Under the terms of a Plan of Arrangement approved by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice on March 26, 2018, the 
Company acquired substantially all the rights and interests in a Letter of Intent ("LOI") between Telferscot Resources 
Inc. ("Telferscot") and Bright Mega Capital Corp. ("Bright Mega"). As consideration for acquisition of this LOI, 
10557404 issued 757,494 common shares to Telferscot (see note under Corporate below), which were then distributed 
to the current shareholders of Telferscot pro-rata based on their relative shareholdings of Telferscot. The LOI has been 
assigned a nominal value of $1. Telferscot has an LOI with Bright Mega to fund several target acquisitions in blockchain 
and crypto currency mining and trading. Bright Mega is a markets development advisor to several privately held Canadian 
and international blockchain companies looking for development and expansion funding. On August 28, 2018, the 
Company signed another letter of intent with MVC Technologies Inc. (see below) and has since abandoned its efforts to 
pursue the aforementioned deal with Bright Mega. 
 

CORPORATE 

 
On April 3, 2018, Robert Kirtlan and Jun He were appointed as directors of the Company. 
 
On November 2, 2018, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary under the name 2663339 Ontario Corp. The 
accounts of the subsidiary have been fully consolidated from the incorporation date. 
 
On August 28, 2018, the Company signed a non-binding Letter of Intent with MVC Technologies Inc. (“MVC”) outlying 
plans for the acquisition of MVC and a concurrent plan to file a prospectus with securities regulators for a public listing of 
the Company’s shares. (See MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. below). On November 26, 2018, the Company signed a definitive 
agreement with MVC with regards to the aforementioned acquisition plans and listing od shares. 
 
 
On November 26, 2018, the Company held a special meeting of shareholders for (a) approval of a consolidation of the 
Company’s common shares on the basis of one (1) post-consolidation common share for up to every sixteen and a half 
(16.5) pre-consolidation outstanding common shares (b) election of the directors as nominated by Management, subject to 
the completion of the MVC transaction. In the event that the MVC transaction is completed, at the closing, all of the current 
directors of the Company will resign as directors of the Company and a new slate of board of directors consisting of five 
(5) members being Pradyum Sekar, Kashaf Qureshi, David Danziger, Dr. Danial Schechter and Norton Singhavon will be 
appointed as a directors of the Company. Both resolutions were passed and have since been adopted by the Company. 
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On December 20, 2018, the Company changed its name form 10557404 Canada Corp.) to CB2 Insights Inc. 
 
On December 20, 2018, the Company completed the consolidation of all of its outstanding common shares of 22,500,003 
into 1,363,494 new common shares. 
 
MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

 
On August 28, 2018, the Company signed a non-binding Letter of Intent with MVC Technologies Inc. MVC is a private 
Canadian company which was founded in 2014 and manages two cannabis-focused brands, Sail Cannabis (“Sail”) and 
Canna Care Docs (“CCD”).   Sail has developed a cannabis-specific EMR (Electronic Medical Record) platform with a 
suite of practice management tools used by international clinic groups and independent clinicians. While CCD provides 
comprehensive services to patients looking to integrate cannabis into their treatment regimen. 
 
The LOI with MVC outlines the acquisition of MVC and a concurrent plan to file a prospectus with securities regulators 
and apply to the Canadian Securities Exchange for a public listing of the Company’s shares upon completion of the 
Transaction. On September 26, 2018, the Company filed a non-offering Preliminary Long Form Prospectus with the 
British Columbia Securities Commission and has received a confirmation of receipt.    
 
Currently, the Company has 1,363,494 common shares issued and outstanding. MVC currently has 56,908,400 common 
shares issued and outstanding and 7,393,333 common shares to be issued upon conversion of an outstanding convertible 
debenture. Upon completion of the Transaction, it is anticipated that the shareholders of each of CB2 and MVC shall hold 
the following numbers and percentages of shares of the combined entity: 
 
• Shareholders of 10557404 Canada Corp.:  1,363,494 or 2.08%  
• Shareholders of MVC:    64,301,733 or 97.92%  
• Total Shares on a pro-forma basis:  65,665,369 or 100% 
 

On November 13, 2018, the company received a $50,000 working capital loan from MVC. The loan amount was applied 
to costs and expenses of CB2 including legal, audit and administrative expenses incurred in connection with the listing 
transaction 

 

On November 26, 2018, CB2’s shareholders voted 99.95% in favour of the share consolidation of 1 new common share 
for every 16.5 common shares and 100% in favour of the change to the board of directors at its Special General Meeting. 
The share consolidation was completed on December 20, 2018, while the new directors will only assume their roles upon 
completion of the Transaction. 
 
Upon the completion of the Transaction, CB2 Insights (resulting from MVC Technologies) will be a comprehensive data 
analytics company within the cannabis industry, bringing Real World Evidence to the space through its multi-brand 
approach.  
 
• Canna Care Docs, a multi-state operator of medical cannabis evaluation and education centres currently assesses 

the treatment of more than 65,000 patients per annum. 
 
• Sail, a proprietary practice management and data collection tool is used within the Company's 28 centres as well as 

independent clinic groups to gather Real World Data at the point-of-care.  
 
• TokeIn is a consumer loyalty and engagement application that works with dispensaries and other retailers in the 

cannabis space to better understand purchasing patterns.  
 
• CB2 Insights anonymizes and analyses the wealth of data collected to bring actionable insights to multiple 

stakeholders within the industry including licensed producers, healthcare networks and government agencies. 
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FINANCING 

 

Shares, and warrants 
 
On March 26, 2018, CB2 issued 757,494 common shares to Telferscot as consideration for the acquisition of the LOI with 
Bright Mega. These common shares were in turn, distributed to the current shareholders of Telferscot pro-rata based on 
their relative shareholdings of Telferscot. 
 
On June 20, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement offering of 303,000 of the Company priced at 
$0.0825 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $25,000.  Each unit issued by the Company entitles the holder thereof to 
receive one common share of the Company. 
 
On August 29, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement offering 303,000 of the Company priced at 
$0.33 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $100,000.  Each unit issued by the Company entitles the holder thereof to 
receive one common share of the Company and one-half common share purchase warrant.   Each full warrant entitles the 
holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.65 for two years from the date of closing. 

  
 

Options 
 
On July 5, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 60,000 stock options under the Company’s stock-option plan to a 
number of directors and officers of the Company. The options are exercisable at an exercise price of $0.165 each for a 
period of up to 3 years from the date of issuance and have all vested. 
 
On July 5, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 303,030 stock options to a company controlled by a director and 
officer for management and administrative services as part of their compensation.  The options are exercisable at a price of 
$0.165 each for a period of up to 3 years from the date of issuance and are vested in two tranches during the first 12 months. 
 
On September 24, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 303,031 stock options to a consulting company controlled by 
a director and officer of the Company for financing and public relations as part of their compensation.  The options are 
exercisable at an exercise price of $0.66 each until they expire on July 4, 2021. They are vested in four even tranches during 
the first 12 months. 
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GOING CONCERN 

 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared using International Financial Reporting Standards applicable 
to a going concern. Accordingly, they do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary should the Company 
be unable to continue as a going concern. It would, in this situation, be required to realize its assets and liquidate its 
liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those in 
the accompanying financial statements. Such adjustments could be material. 

 
 
 

FINANCIAL 

As at December 31, 2018, the Company has no source of operating cash flow and had an accumulated deficit of 
$218,282. Net comprehensive loss for the period ended December 31, 2018 was $218,282. The Company had a 
working capital deficiency of $35,926 as at December 31, 2018. The Company' financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis, which presumes realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business 
for the foreseeable future. The Company's ability to continue as a going concern, namely its ability to generate 
sufficient cash resources to meet its obligations for at least twelve months from the end of the reporting period, is 
dependent upon its ability to arrange future financing, which is largely dependent upon prevailing capital market 
condition and continued support of its shareholder base and completion of the Qualifying Transaction These financial 
statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that might be 
necessary should the Company be unable to continue in business. Such adjustments could be material. 

 

PERFORMANCE 

 
The following table highlights certain key financial highlights for the period. Commentary on the selected highlights 
is included under "Results of Operations" and "Liquidity and Capital Resources".    
 
 

Description December 31, 2018 
/ 2018 Q4 

September 30, 
2018 / 2018 Q3 

June 30, 2018 / 
2018 Q2 

March 31, 2018 
/ 2018 Q1 

 $ $ $ $ 

Balance sheet     

   Cash (overdraft)                          27,740  11,224 109,803 (36) 

   Working capital (deficiency)                       (35,926) 66,164 (2,305) (6,036) 

   Shareholders' equity (deficiency)                       (35,926) 66,164 (2,304) (6,035) 

Income statement      

   Total operating expenses                        124,786  66,191 21,269 6,036 

   Net loss                     (124,786) (66,191) (21,269) (6,036) 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
Period ended December 31, 2018 
 
The Company has not generated any operating revenue and therefore losses have been incurred throughout the period 
ended December 31, 2018. The Company recorded a net loss of $218,282 during the period ended December 31, 2018. 
Expenses included management fees of $27,750, fair value of options granted to management of $17,746, professional 
fees of $83,240, regulatory expenses of $16,578, office and general expenses of $2,359, investor relation fees of $30,000 
and fair value of options granted to a consultant and to directors and officers of $39,609 (see "Related Party Transactions" 
section below). 
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
As at December 31, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $27,740 and had a working capital deficiency of $35,926. 
During the period, the Company closed two non-brokered private placements offerings of 606,060 units for aggregate 
gross proceeds of $125,000.  The Company is committed to achieve its goals to complete a reverse takeover process with 
MVC technologies Inc. (“MVC”) which would eventually result in the acquisition of MVC (See MVC above). 

 

CAPITALIZATION 

 
The Company has the following securities outstanding at each reporting date as follows: 

 

Description January 28, 2019  December 31, 2018 
    

Common shares  1,363,494  1,363,494 

Share purchase warrants 151,515  151,515 

Stock options 666,061  666,061 

 

The Company is a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba and is subject to the 
rules and regulations of the relative provincial securities commissions, but its shares do not trade on any stock 
exchange. The Company was incorporated on December 27, 2017 with the initial common share issued to the 
incorporator having been cancelled. 

 

As a result of the court approval of the Plan of Arrangement on March 26, 2018, 10557404 issued 757,494 common 
shares to Telferscot as consideration for the acquisition of the LOI with Bright Mega. These common shares were issued 
to Telferscot on April 5, 2018, and in turn, distributed to the current shareholders of Telferscot pro-rata based on their 
relative shareholdings of Telferscot on April 12, 2018.  On June 20, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private 
placement offering of 303,000 units of the Company priced at $0.0825 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $25,000.  
Each unit issued by the Company entitles the holder thereof to receive one common share of the Company.  On August 
29, 2018, the Company closed another non-brokered private placement offering of 303,000 units of the Company priced 
at $0.33 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $100,000.  Each unit issued by the Company entitles the holder thereof 
to receive one common share of the Company and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each full warrant entitles 
the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a $1.65 for two years from the date of closing. 
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 

 
The Company is billed a monthly fee of $2,000 (plus applicable HST) by a company controlled by a director and officer 
for management and administrative services, including the corporate secretary, the services of the CFO, office rent and 
regular administrative functions. As of August 1, 2018, the monthly fee increased to $2,750 per month. During the period 
from December 27, 2017 to December 31, 2018, the Company incurred total fees of $28,750. Additionally, on July 5, 
2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 303,030 stock options to the same company as part of their compensation.  
The options are exercisable at $0.165 each for a period of up to 3 years from the date of issuance and are vested in two 
tranches during the first 12 months. The total fair value of the options was estimated to be $18,500 of which $17,746 has 
vested and thus recognized as an expense in the period ended December 31, 2018. 
  
On July 1, 2018, the Company signed a consulting contract with a company controlled by a director and officer to provide 
capital market advice including financing management and to assist in the process of a successful public listing. The 
duration of this contract is guaranteed for an initial term of 6 months and will continue on a monthly basis thereafter 
until such time as this contract is terminated. The Company will pay a finders’ fee of up to 5% of funds raised for the 
company and a monthly consulting fee of $5,000 beginning on January 1, 2019, should the contract be extended. 
Additionally, on September 24, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 303,031 stock options to the consultant as 
part of their compensation.  The options are exercisable at a price of $0.66 each until they expire on July 4, 2021. They 
are vested in four even tranches during the first 12 months. The total fair value of the options was estimated to be $71,500 
of which $35,946 has vested and thus recognized as an expense in the period ended December 31, 2018. 
 
As at December 31, 2018, accounts payable included $1,881 in respect of such reimbursable regulatory expenses due to 
related parties. 

 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

 

On September 6, 2018, the Company contracted an investor relations company to provide marketing services including 
direct telephone marketing, pre-approved script/messaging throughout the organizational call tree and email tracking. 
The Company prepaid the contractor a fee of $60,000 for an initial period of six months starting October 1, 2018. 
Following the initial period, the Company shall have the option to either renew or terminate the contract. If the Company 
opted to renew the contract, the monthly fee will be set at $14,000. 
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CB2 INSIGHTS INC. 

(FORMERLY 10557404 CANADA CORP.) 

ANNUAL MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 

 

 

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

 
IFRS 9: "Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities" was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and will replace IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement". In addition, IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments: Disclosures" was amended to include additional disclosure 
requirements on transition to IFRS 9. The mandatory effective date of applying these standards is for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The standard uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is 
measured at amortized cost or fair value. The approach is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments (its 
business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a 
single impairment method to be used. The standard requires that for financial liabilities measured at fair value, any 
changes in an entity’s own credit risk are generally to be presented in other comprehensive income instead of net 
earnings. A new hedge accounting model is included in the standard, as well as increased disclosure requirements about 
risk management activities for entities that apply hedge accounting. The new amendments were adopted by the 
Company upon incorporation and have not had a significant impact on these financial statements. 

 

FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

 
IFRS 16 "Leases" was issued by the IASB in January 2016 and will ultimately replace IAS 17, "Leases" and related 
interpretations. The new standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early 
adoption permitted provided the Company has adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The new 
standard requires lessees to recognize a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a "right-of-use asset" for 
virtually all leases contracts, and record it on the statement of financial position, except with respect to lease contracts 
that meet limited exception criteria. If the Company has significant contractual obligations in the form of operating 
leases under IAS 17, there will be a material increase to both assets and liabilities on adoption of IFRS 16, and material 
changes to the timing of recognition of expenses associated with the lease arrangements. The Company is analyzing the 
new standard to determine the impact of adopting this standard. 

 

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and ensure sufficient liquidity in order to complete a Qualifying Transaction so that it can provide adequate 
returns for shareholders. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future development of the 
business. The Company defines capital as total shareholders' equity. 

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have an effect on 
the results of operations or financial condition of the Company. 
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CB2 INSIGHTS INC. 

(FORMERLY 10557404 CANADA CORP.) 

ANNUAL MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 

 

 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 
Proposed Business 

The Company was only recently incorporated, has not commenced commercial operations and has no assets other than 
cash and amounts receivable. It has no history of earnings, and will not generate earnings or pay dividends until at least 
after the completion of the Qualifying Transaction. 

 

No Market or History of Operations 

The Company was incorporated on December 27, 2017, has not commenced commercial operations and has no assets 
other than cash and accounts receivable. The Company has neither a history of earnings nor has it paid any dividends 
and it is unlikely to produce earnings or pay dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future. The Company has only 
limited funds with which to identify and evaluate potential Qualifying Transactions and there can be no assurance that 
the Company will be able to identify a suitable Qualifying Transaction. Even if a proposed Qualifying Transaction is 
identified, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully complete a transaction. 

 

Directors' and Officers' Involvement in Other Projects 

The directors and officers of the Company will only devote a small portion of their time to the business and affairs of 
the Company and some of them are or will be engaged in other projects or businesses such that conflicts of interest 
may arise from time to time. 
 
Reliance on Management 

The Company is relying solely on the past business success of its directors and officers to identify and complete a 
Qualifying Transaction of merit. The success of the Company is dependent upon the efforts and abilities of its 
management team. The loss of any member of the management team could have a material adverse effect upon the 
business and prospects of the Company. In such event, the Company will seek satisfactory replacements but there can 
be no guarantee that appropriate personnel may be found. 

 

Requirement for Additional Financing 

The Company has only limited funds with which to identify and evaluate potential Qualifying Transactions and there 
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to identify and complete a suitable Qualifying Transaction. Further, 
even if a proposed Qualifying Transaction is identified, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
complete a transaction. The Qualifying Transaction may be financed in whole, or in part, by the issuance of additional 
securities by the Company and this may result in further dilution to investors, which dilution may be significant and 
which may also result in a change of control of the Company. 

 

Foreign Qualifying Transaction 

In the event that the management of the Company resides outside of Canada or the Company identifies a foreign 
business as a proposed Qualifying Transaction, investors may find it difficult or impossible to effect service or notice 
to commence legal proceedings upon any management resident outside of Canada or upon the foreign business and 
may find it difficult or impossible to enforce against such persons, judgments obtained in Canadian courts. 
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CB2 INSIGHTS INC. 

(FORMERLY 10557404 CANADA CORP.) 

ANNUAL MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Period from December 27, 2017 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2018 

 

 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED 

 
 

Potential Dilution 

The issue of common shares of the Company upon the exercise of the options will dilute the ownership interest of the 
Company’s current shareholders. The Company may also issue additional option and warrants or additional common 
shares from time to time in the future. If it does so, the ownership interest of the Company’s then current shareholders 
could also be diluted. 

 
Volatile Financial Markets 

The volatility occurring in the financial markets is a significant risk for the Company. As a result of the market 
volatility, investors are moving away from assets they perceive as risky to those they perceive as less so. Issuers like the 
Company are considered risk assets and as mentioned above are highly speculative. The volatility in the markets and 
investor sentiment may make it difficult for the Company to access the capital markets in order to raise the capital it 
will need to fund its current level of expenditures and identify, evaluate and close a Qualifying Transaction. 
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  grantthornton.ca 

  

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the shareholders of 

MVC Technologies Inc. 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of MVC Technologies Inc., which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes in 
shareholders equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
 



 

2 

 

 

 

   
   

   

  grantthornton.ca 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of MVC Technologies Inc. as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Emphasis of matter 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which 
indicates that the Company has an accumulated loss of $1,521,912 and, as of December 31, 2017, the 
Company's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by $1,975,645. As stated in Note 1, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

Other matter 

The financial statements of MVC Technologies Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2015, are unaudited. 

 

 

 

 /s/ Grant Thornton LLP 

Mississauga, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
February 27, 2019  Licensed Public Accountants 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

  December 31, December 31, 

  2017 2016 

Assets   

Current assets   

Cash [Note 6]           1,014,482                          43,509 

Trade and other receivables [Note 7]                117,984  15,684  

Inventory             7,841                                —  

Prepaid expenses                5,310                                —  

Total current assets          1,145,617                          59,193  
   

Furniture and equipment [Note 8]               49,573                                —  

Computer software [Note 9]             323,037                        129,279  

Other intangible assets [Note 5 and 10]          3,941,464                                —  

Goodwill [Note 5]          3,642,260                                —  

Total assets          9,101,951              188,472 
   

Liabilities and equity   

Current liabilities   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities               63,679                 5,254  

Income tax payable                7,527                      —  

Payable to related parties [Note 17]                     —  6,421  

Promissory note payable [Note 12]          3,050,056                                —  

Total current liabilities          3,121,262                11,675 
 

 
 

Convertible debentures [Note 11]             999,308                                — 

Total liabilities          4,120,570  11,675 
   

Equity   

Share capital [Note 14]          5,038,964             441,806  

Warrant reserve [Note 14]          1,378,074                     —  

Option reserve [Note 14] 226,942 — 

Equity component of convertible debentures [Note 11]               82,428                      —  

Accumulated other comprehensive income           (223,115)                     —  

Accumulated deficit         (1,521,912)           (265,009) 

Total shareholders' equity          4,981,381              176,797  

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity          9,101,951              188,472  
   

Nature of operations and going concern [Note 1]   
Commitments [Note 18]   

Subsequent events [Note 20]   
 

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors on February 27, 2019 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 

    

  For the For the For the 

 Year ended Year ended Year ended 

  

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

(unaudited) 

   
 

Revenue   
 

Software  44,101  1,500  — 

Clinic  235,958                             —                       — 

Total revenue                     280,059                1,500  — 
   

 

Operating expenses 
  

 

Interest and bank charges, net             (2,067)                  795                  754  

Management fees, salaries and wages           586,226              26,794                   —  

Marketing and business development             14,708                3,126             11,460  

Office and administration           187,786             50,434             78,770  

Professional fees           211,346              18,025               5,512  

Share-based compensation 387,943                    55,771                   —  

Depreciation and amortization           171,677                     —                   —  

Total operating expenses        1,557,619             154,945             96,496  

Loss from operations         (1,277,560)          (153,445)           (96,496) 

Foreign exchange gain           (91,233)                    —                   —  

Accretion on convertible notes [Note 11]             62,948                     —                   —  

Net loss before income taxes         (1,249,275)          (153,445)           (96,496) 

Income tax expense  [Note 13]              7,628                     —                   —  

Net loss         (1,256,903)          (153,445)           (96,496) 

Loss per share, basic and diluted             (0.03)              (0.01)            (0.01) 

Weighted average shares - basic and 

diluted      45,548,230        19,476,031       12,990,000  

Other comprehensive loss    

Net loss         (1,256,903)          (153,445)           (96,496) 

Exchange difference on translation of 

foreign operations          (223,115)                    —                   —  

Comprehensive loss         (1,480,018)          (153,445)           (96,496) 
 

  
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
 

  Common stock 

Warrant 

reserve 

  
Equity 

component of 

convertible 

debentures 

Accumulated 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

Accumulated 

deficit 

 

 

Shares Amount 

Option 

reserve 

Shares to 

be issued Total 

As at January 1, 2015 (unaudited) 12,990,000 4                —                — 43,575                —                — (15,068) 28,511 

   

Shares to be issued [Note 14]                —                —                —                — 166,421                —                — — 166,421 

Net loss for the year                —                —                —                — —                —                — (96,496) (96,496) 

As at January 1, 2016   12,990,000       4                 —                 —  209,996                —               —     (111,564)        98,436  
 

  

Private placements [Note 14] 4,399,192         161,969                 —                 —  —                —               —               —        161,969  

Shares to be issued [Note 14] 11,850,848 209,996 — — (209,996) — — — —  

Share issuance costs – cash               —     (23,434)                —                — —               —                —                —         (23,434) 

Share-based compensation 3,660,000 93,271 — — — — — — 93,271 

Net loss for the year                —               —                 —                 —  —                —               —     (153,445)     (153,445) 

As at December 31, 2016   32,900,040       441,806                 —                 —  —                —               —     (265,009)       176,797  
 

  

Private placement [Note 14]   13,284,353    2,993,927      1,355,566 — —                —               —                —    4,349,493  

Shares issued on acquisition [Note 5]     4,878,048    1,572,683              — — —                —               —                —    1,572,683  

Equity and warrant components of 

convertible debentures [Note 11] 
              —              —          27,522 — —            82,428               —                —         109,950  

Share issuance costs – cash               —     (140,929)       (64,038) — —               —                —                —         (204,967) 

Share issuance costs – warrants               —       (59,024)      59,024 — —               —                —                —                —        

Share-based compensation               —              —              — 387,943 —                —  —               —  387,943 

Stock options exercised               1,200,000 
            

230,501 
            — (161,001) —                —  —               —  69,500 

Foreign currency translation               —              —              —             — —                —             (223,115)               —  (223,115) 

Net loss for the year — — — — — — — (1,256,903) (1,256,903) 

As at December 31, 2017   52,262,441    5,038,964 1,378,074  226,942 —       82,428             (223,115)     (1,521,912)      4,981,381  



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

  For the For the For the 

 Year ended Year ended Year ended 

  

December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

December 31, 2015 

(unaudited) 

Operating activities   
 

Net loss for the year          (1,256,903)          (153,445)          (96,496) 

Adjusted for:    

Depreciation and amortization           171,677                    —                   —  

Unrealized foreign exchange gain on promissory note            (92,000)                   —                   —  

Accretion on convertible debentures             62,948                    —                   —  

Share-based compensation 387,943 55,771 — 

Changes in non-cash working capital items:    

Inventory              (7,841)                   —                   —  

Trade and other receivables           (102,300)               12,941           (20,246) 

Prepaid expenses              (5,310)                   —                   —  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities             6,380                2,076              2,177  

Cash used in operating activities          (835,406)          (82,657)        (114,565) 
 

Investing activities   
 

Purchases of furniture and equipment            (21,414)                   —                   —  

Development of computer software          (329,922)            (17,500)          (68,849) 

Cash paid for acquisition of Canna Care [Note 5]       (3,228,250)                   —                   —  

Cash used in investing activities       (3,579,586)            (17,500)          (68,849) 
    

Financing activities   
 

Issuance of convertible debt, net of issuance costs         1,037,311                    —                   —  

(Repayment of) advances from related parties               (6,421) —                                  —  

Private placements, net of issuance costs 4,144,526             138,535           166,421  

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 69,500                   —                   —  

Cash provided by financing activities 5,244,916              138,535          166,421  
 

Net increase in cash during the period 829,924               38,378           (16,993) 

Effect of foreign currency on cash            141,049                     —                   —  

Cash, beginning of the year             43,509                  5,131             22,124  

Cash, end of year 1,014,482              43,509              5,131  
 

Non-cash transactions:   
 

Settlement of purchase price by issuing shares             1,572,683                    —                    —  

Settlement of purchase price by issuing promissory note             3,142,056                    —                    —  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1.    NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 

Nature of operations 

 

MVC Technologies Inc. (“MVC” or the “Company”) was incorporated in the province of Ontario on November 3, 

2014 under the Ontario Business Corporation Act (“OBCA”). The Company is a secure cloud-based cannabis 

healthcare technology platform that connects patients, physicians, and regulated suppliers for the purposes of 

assessment, qualification, registration, and access to medication. The head office is located at 5045 Orbitor Drive, 

Building 11, Suite 300, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L4W 4Y4. 

 

Going concern  

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Company will 

continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and 

commitments in the normal course of business. To date the Company has incurred an accumulated loss of $1,521,912 

and negative cash flow from operations. The Company also has a working capital deficiency as of the balance sheet 

date of $1,975,645. The Company has raised debt and equity financing to fund platform development and activities 

resulting in growth in its customer base and completed the acquisition of Canna Care [Note 5]. The Company expects 

that the investments it has made in 2017 will result in increased revenue and operating cash flow however, the 

Company anticipates further investment and will require additional debt and/or equity financing in order to develop 

its business. 

 

Although the Company has been successful in raising funds to date, there can be no assurance that adequate or 

sufficient funding will be available in the future or available under terms acceptable to the Company, or that the 

Company will be able to generate sufficient returns from operations. The ability of the Company to continue as a 

going concern and to realize the carrying value of its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments when due 

is dependent on the Company generating revenue and debt and/or equity financing sufficient to fund its cash flow 

needs. These circumstances indicate the existence of material uncertainty that casts significant doubt on the ability 

of the Company to meet its business plan and its obligations as they come due, and accordingly the appropriateness 

of the use of the accounting principles applicable to a going concern. 

 

The consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern 

assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis were not appropriate for these consolidated financial 

statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of the assets and liabilities, the reported 

revenue and expenses and the classifications used in the consolidated statement of financial position. Such differences 

in amounts could be material. 

 

 

2.    BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

 

Statement of compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

The Board of Directors approved these consolidated financial statements on February 27, 2019. 
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Basis of consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 

comprise the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary MVC USA Corp. (“MVC USA”), and its operations.   

 

On December 19, 2017, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with MedEval Corp. (“MedEval” 

or “Canna Care”), acquiring the operating assets of MedEval’s business. 

 

Canna Care is a cannabis clinic evaluation business with evaluation centres across several US states with legalized 

medical cannabis programs. Canna Care qualifies patients into medical marijuana programs through independent 

medical evaluations, functional capacity evaluations, medical record reviews and occupational health services. 

 

Based on guidance available within IFRS 3 - Business Combinations, the acquisition has been determined to be a 

business acquisition. IFRS 3 defines a business combination as a ‘transaction or other event in which an acquirer 

obtains control of one or more businesses’, and a business as ‘an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable 

of being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return in the form of dividends, lower costs or other 

economic benefits directly to investors or other owners, members or participants’. 

 

All intercompany and inter-operational transactions have been eliminated from the date of acquisition. 

 

Basis of measurement 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

 

Functional and presentation currency  

 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the presentation currency. The 

functional currency of each entity in the Group is determined separately in accordance with International Accounting 

Standard IAS 21 - Foreign exchange and is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 

which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The functional currency is the United States Dollar (“USD”) 

for operations in the United States and the Canadian dollar (“CAD”) for operations in Canada.  

 

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate as at the date of the transaction. At each statement of 

financial position date, monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the period end foreign exchange rate. Non-

monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies other than the functional currency are translated using the 

historical rate. All gains and losses on translation of these foreign currency transactions are included in the profit and 

loss. 

 

3.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 

revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is received. Revenue is measured at the fair value 

of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding 

taxes or duty. The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized:   
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Software revenue – Sail cannabis 

 

Sail is a Clinical Decision Support (CDS) platform with a suite of practice management tools built to support the 

workflows of a clinician and/or their clinical practice specializing in medical cannabis. The platform is licensed to 

cannabis and other speciality clinics as a full-scale practice management software tool that supports a clinic’s entire 

management processes such as patient document management, scheduling and reporting functions. The platform can 

also be used as a standalone product by healthcare practitioners to help in the evaluation, dosing and prescription of 

medical cannabis at the point-of-care. The Company provides access to the platform to clinicians on a subscription 

basis. Revenues are recognized when a contractual arrangement is in place, the fee is fixed and determinable, the 

services have been delivered, and collectability is reasonably assured.  

 

The Company’s principal source of revenue results from monthly subscription fees for the Sail platform once the 

contract is executed. The subscription fee is billed to the customer and recognized as revenue at the end of each 

month and is receivable within 15 days. The contract also specifies the term in months. 

 

Clinic revenue – Canna Care 

 

This revenue stream was acquired as a part of the Canna Care asset acquisition. With regards to this revenue stream, 

the Company recognizes revenue from the provision of consultation services and discussing various treatment plans 

with patients, including the use of medical cannabis, to alleviate their symptoms. Revenue is recognized in the period 

in which these services are provided to the patients. The Company requires upfront payment from patients for their 

visit. 

 

Furniture and equipment 
 

Items of furniture and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes all expenditures 

incurred to bring assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be operated in the manner intended by 

management. All furniture and equipment is amortized on a straight-line basis over a 3 year useful life. 

 

Computer software 

 

The Company incurs costs associated with the design and development of its CDS software. Expenditures during the 

research phase are expensed as incurred. Expenditures during the development phase are capitalized if the Company 

can demonstrate each of the following criteria: (i) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that 

it will be available for use or sale, (ii) its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it, (iii) its ability to 

use or sell the intangible asset, (iv) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits, (v) the 

availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

intangible asset, and (vi) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development; otherwise, they are expensed as incurred. Costs associated with maintaining computer software 

programs are recognized as an expense as incurred. Internally generated software development costs recognized as 

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization on a straight-line basis over 3 years after 

available for commercial release. These assets are subject to impairment testing as described below. 

 

Intangible assets 

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets 

are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.  

 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
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Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 

there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in 

the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 

considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 

estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually, either 

individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine 

whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is 

made on a prospective basis. 

 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the 

asset is derecognized. 

 

Customer relationships and Brand 

 

The Company acquired customer relationships and brand as part of the acquisition of Canna Care. Customer 

relationships are being amortized on a straight-line basis over a 5 year useful life whereas Brands have an indefinite 

useful life. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The Company reviews goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets for impairment annually, or when events or 

changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.  The Company reviews 

the carrying amounts of its finite life non-financial assets, when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 

carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 

is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the 

recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating 

unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Each of the Company’s operations in the US and Canada are CGUs for 

purposes of evaluating impairment and measuring recoverable amounts.  

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use (“VIU”). In 

assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows to be derived from continuing use of the asset or cash generating unit 

are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. FVLCD is the price that would be received to sell an asset or cash generating unit in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, less the costs of disposal. When a binding sale 

agreement is not available, FVLCD is estimated using a discounted cash flow approach with inputs and assumptions 

consistent with those of a market participant.  If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is 

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash generating unit is reduced to 

its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in net income. Where an impairment loss 

subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of 

its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to 

determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. 
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Income taxes 

 

Income tax expense consists of current and deferred tax expense. Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income. 

 

Current tax is recognized and measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or payable to the taxation 

authorities based on the income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period and 

includes any adjustment to taxes payable in respect of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized on any temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable earnings. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset 

is realized and the liability is settled. The effect of a change in the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates is 

recognized in net earnings and comprehensive income or in equity depending on the item to which the adjustment 

relates. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent future recovery is probable. At each reporting period end, deferred 

tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable earnings will be available to 

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

 

Provisions for taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative 

assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the end of the reporting 

period. However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by taxing 

authorities. Where the final outcome of these tax‑related matters is different from the amounts that were initially 

recorded, such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

 

Segment information 

 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (the “CODM”) 

with respect to segmented information disclosures. The CODM represents the appropriate level of management to 

analyze and determine the distinct operating segments of the Company. The CODM examine the Company’s 

performance both from a product and geographic perspective and has identified two reportable segments of its 

business, namely the US and the Canadian operations. 

 

For the Company’s segment information, see Note 19. 

 

Financial instruments 

 

All financial assets and financial liabilities, with respect to financial instruments, are recognized when the Company 

becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are 

initially measured at fair value, plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognized 

when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all 

substantial risks and rewards are transferred.  

 

The classification of financial instruments dictates how these assets and liabilities are measured subsequently in the 

Company’s financial statements. 

 

Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, described below. 

 

 



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

12 

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or that meet certain 

conditions and are designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition. Assets in this category are measured at fair value 

with gains and losses recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 

less provision for impairment.  

 

Loans and receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is 

received that a specific counterparty will default. Impairment of receivables is recognized in profit or loss within 

general administrative expenses. If in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 

recognized impairment loss or a portion of such is reversed. The amount of the impairment loss reversed may not 

exceed the original impairment amount.  

 

Other financial liabilities include liabilities that have not been classified as fair value through profit or loss. Other 

financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  

 

A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. Financial assets and 

financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 

when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

Financial instruments that are measured at fair value use inputs, which are classified within a hierarchy that prioritizes 

their significance.   

The Company’s financial assets include cash, restricted cash and trade and other receivables, all of which are 

classified as loans and receivables.   

The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, payable to related party, 

promissory note payable, and convertible debenture. All of the Company’s financial liabilities are classified as other 

financial liabilities. 

Fair value measurement 

The Company classifies its fair value measurements and disclosures using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of inputs used in making the measurements. The accounting standard establishes a fair value hierarchy 

based on the level of independent, objective evidence surrounding the inputs used to measure fair value.  

Fair value determination is classified within a three-level hierarchy, based on observability of significant inputs, as 

follows: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Inputs into the determination of the fair value require 

management judgment or estimation.  
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If different levels of inputs are used to measure a financial instrument’s fair value, the classification within the 

hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Changes to valuation 

methods may result in transfers into or out of an investment’s assigned level. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents  

 

The Company considers all investments with original maturities of three months or less, that are highly liquid and 

readily convertible into cash, to be cash equivalents.  

 

Equity 

 

The common shares of the Company are classified as equity. Costs, such as commissions, professional fees and 

regulatory fees directly attributable to issuance of common shares are deducted from the proceeds of equity offerings.  

 

The value of the share capital issued for non-cash is based on the stock trade value or is valued at the time the risk 

and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to the Company or the Company's liability is extinguished. 

Equity component of convertible debentures is the residual value after the liability component is measured at fair 

value. Warrant reserve includes the fair value of warrants issued. Option reserve includes the fair value of options 

issued and expected to vest.  

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income includes impact of foreign exchange translation of net assets held in 

foreign operations and the impact of the difference between the average and closing date exchange rates for the year.  

 

Leases 

 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 

the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on 

the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is 

not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 

 

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially 

all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance lease. An operating lease is a 

lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense in the statement 

of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

Share-based payments  

 

The Company records equity settled share-based payments for the granting of stock options and warrants granted 

using the fair value method whereby all awards to employees are recorded at the fair value of each stock option or 

warrant at the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The fair value of the stock options is 

amortized over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity reserves. The amount recognized as an 

expense is adjusted to reflect the number of options expected to eventually vest.  Any consideration paid by the option 

or warrant holders to purchase shares is credited to share capital and the related share-based payments is transferred 

from warrant or option reserve to share capital.  
 

Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

 

Application of accounting policies requires management to use estimates and judgments that can have significant 

effect on the revenues, expenses, comprehensive income, assets and liabilities recognized and disclosures made in 

the financial statements.  
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Management’s best estimates concerning the future are based on the facts and circumstances available at the time 

estimates are made.  

 

Management uses historical experience, general economic conditions and assumptions regarding probable future 

outcomes as the basis for determining estimates. Estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed 

periodically, and the effects of any changes are recognized immediately. Actual results could differ from the estimates 

used. 

 

The following areas require significant estimates or judgment by management.  

 

Significant accounting estimates: 

 The valuation of equity components of convertible debentures 

 The valuation of share-based payments including warrants and options issued 

 The valuation of intangible assets acquired as part of the asset acquisition  

 The valuation of purchase consideration for the Canna Care acquisition including valuation of the promissory 

note,  common shares and contingent consideration issued as purchase consideration 

 

Significant accounting judgments: 

 Determination of the functional currency of the Company and its foreign operations  

 The evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern  

 The assessment of indications of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 

 

4.   CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

 

Changes in accounting standards not yet effective 

 

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 

 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which brings together 

the classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge-accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 

39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”).  

 

Classification and measurement – Financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model under 

which they are managed and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Financial liabilities are 

classified in a similar manner as under IAS 39, except that financial liabilities measured at fair value will have fair 

value changes resulting from changes in the entity’s own credit risk recognized in Other Comprehensive Income 

(“OCI”) instead of Net Income, unless this would create an accounting mismatch.  

 

Impairment – The measurement of impairment of financial assets is based on an expected credit loss model. It is no 

longer necessary for a triggering event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized. IFRS 9 also includes 

new disclosure requirements about expected credit losses and credit risk.  

 

Hedge accounting – The new general hedge accounting model more closely aligns hedge accounting with risk 

management activities undertaken by entities when hedging their financial and non-financial risk exposures. It will 

provide more opportunities to apply hedge accounting to reflect actual risk management activities. 

 

IFRS 9 is required to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company has 

determined financial and disclosure impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements to be immaterial 

apart from changes to the classification of financial assets.  Under IFRS 9, current classifications of financial assets 
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would be revised to place financial assets into one of the following three categories, which determine measurement 

after initial recognition: (a) amortized cost, (b) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and (c) 

fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

 

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers 

 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), which replaces IAS 

11 – Construction Contracts, IAS 18 – Revenue and IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes (“IFRIC 13”), as 

well as various other interpretations regarding revenue. IFRS 15 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities 

to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope 

of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. The standard provides a single, principles-

based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers to determine how and when an entity should 

recognize revenue. IFRS 15 also contains enhanced disclosure requirements. IFRS 15 will be applied for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

 

The Company has determined the impact of adoption of IFRS 15 on the aforementioned revenue streams to be 

immaterial. 

 

IFRS 16 - Leases 

 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 – Leases ("IFRS 16"), which replaces IAS 17 – Leases, and its associated 

interpretative guidance. IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing between a 

lease and a service contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset being leased. For those assets 

determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the accounting by lessees, 

introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting, with 

limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low value assets. Lessor accounting remains similar to current 

accounting practice. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early 

application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final 

standard is expected to have on its consolidated financial statements and plans to adopt the requirements in 2019. 

 

IFRIC 23, Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments  

 

IFRIC 23 was issued in June 2017 and is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, to be applied 

retrospectively. IFRIC 23 provides guidance on applying the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12, 

Income Taxes, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments including, but not limited to, whether uncertain 

tax treatments should be considered together or separately based on which approach better predicts resolution of the 

uncertainty. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final standard is expected to have on its consolidated 

financial statements and plans to adopt the requirements in 2019. 
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5. ACQUISITION OF MEDEVAL CORP. (O/A CANNA CARE DOCS) 
 

On December 19, 2017 (closing date), the Company acquired identified assets of MedEval Corp. (o/a Canna Care 

Docs). The Company has determined that the acquisition is a business combination under IFRS 3 – Business 

Combinations and is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, whereby the assets acquired, and the 

liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair values with any excess of the aggregate consideration over the fair values 

of the identifiable net assets allocated to goodwill. Fair values determined on the date of acquisition are provisional 

and may be subsequently adjusted, with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill prior to December 19, 2018 (one 

year after the transaction). Acquisition-related costs were expensed as incurred, totalled $111,244 and are included 

in professional fees. Operating results have been included in these consolidated financial statements from the date of 

the acquisition.  

 

The aggregate purchase consideration comprises the following: 

 

 US$5,000,000 cash of which US$2,500,000 ($3,228,250) was immediately payable and the balance of 

US$2,500,000 represented by a promissory note payable by December 19, 2018. The note was discounted and 

initially recorded at present value of US$2,336,449 ($3,017,056) on closing date using an effective interest rate 

of 7%.  

 4,878,048 shares in the company valued at $1,572,683. 

 Additional shares in the Company contingent upon the Company achieving from the Canna Care operations a 

revenue of US$10,000,000 or more with a profit margin of at least 25%, within 12 months of the closing date. 

The shares would be valued at 6.5% of the US$ gross revenues. At the acquisition date and December 31, 2017, 

the Company has estimated its obligation associated with the contingent consideration to be $Nil. 

 

The allocated purchase price calculation is as follows: 

    CAD 

Fair Value of Identifiable Net Assets  
 Furniture and equipment            35,148  

 Computer software 16,903 

  Accounts payable          (59,571) 

  Net liabilities             (7,520) 
   

Intangible assets acquired  

 Customer relationships    1,794,907  
 Brand    2,273,979  

  Total intangible assets  4,068,886 

Total identifiable assets             4,061,366  
  

Consideration  paid  

 Cash      3,228,250  
 Shares      1,572,683  
 Promissory note payable             3,017,057  

Total consideration paid            7,817,990  

Total Goodwill             3,756,624  
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Had the above noted business combination occurred on January 1, 2017, the revenues and net income for the year 

ended December 31, 2017 would have been $9,183,749 and $803,241, respectively. Canna Care’s revenue and net 

income for the period from the date of acquisition to December 31, 2017 included in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income are US$185,589 ($235,958) and US$18,621 ($23,675), respectively. 

 

The goodwill acquired is associated with the Canna Care workforce and is expected to be fully deductible for tax 

purposes. 

 

6.  CASH 

 

Cash includes funds held in trust with the Company’s legal counsel amounting to $874,326, not yet transferred to the 

Company’s bank account. 

 

7.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

 2017 2016 

Trade receivables 75,133 904 

GST/HST recoverable 42,851 14,780 

 117,984 15,684 

 

8.    FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 Furniture Vehicles 
Computer 

Hardware 
Leaseholds Equipment Total 

Cost       

Balance, January 1, 2017          — — — — — — 

Acquisition of Canna Care     8,568    10,973       2,732   12,875  —      35,148  

Additions     7,667  — — — 13,747    21,414  

Balance, December 31, 2017    16,235    10,973       2,732   12,875  13,747  56,562  

       

Amortization       

Balance, January 1, 2017 — — — — — — 

Amortization      2,407  — — —    4,582    6,989  

Balance, December 31, 2017     2,407  — — —   4,582    6,989  

       

Net book value       

As at December 31, 2017   13,828    10,973       2,732   12,875     9,165  49,573  

As at January 1, 2017 — — — — — — 
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9.   COMPUTER SOFTWARE 

    Software Total 

Cost        

Balance, January 1, 2017          129,279        129,279  

Acquisition of Canna Care            16,903          16,903  

Additions         329,922        329,922  

Balance, December 31, 2017          476,104        476,104  

        

Amortization        

Balance, January 1, 2017                  —               — 

Amortization         153,067        153,067  

Balance, December 31, 2017          153,067        153,067  

        

Net book value        

As at December 31, 2017          323,037        323,037  

As at January 1, 2017          129,279        129,279  

 

10.   GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 Goodwill Customer 

relationships 
Brand 

Total other 

intangibles 

Cost     

Balance, January 1, 2017 — — — — 

Acquisition of Canna Care [Note 5]         3,756,624        1,794,907      2,273,979      4,068,886  

Net exchange differences (114,364)          (51,151)        (64,804)      (115,955) 

Balance, December 31, 2017 3,642,260       1,743,756      2,209,175      3,952,931  

        

Amortization        

Balance, January 1, 2017 — — — — 

Amortization —             11,621  —          11,621  

Net exchange differences —                (154) —             (154) 

Balance, December 31, 2017 —              11,467  —         11,467  

        

Net book value        

As at December 31, 2017 3,642,260          1,732,289      2,209,175      3,941,464  
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11.   CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

 

From May to September 2017, the Company issued 7,333,333 (post reverse split) 5% convertible debentures for 

$1,109,000. Each convertible debenture is convertible into a “Unit” comprising one Class A common share of the 

Company at $0.15 per share, and one warrant which entitles the holder to acquire one half Class A common share of 

the Company at $0.20 per warrant. The convertible debentures will automatically convert into Units on completion 

of a liquidity event. In the event that a liquidity event does not occur, the debentures are due on May 30, 2019. The 

Company received $1,037,310, net of $71,690 arrangement fees, as proceeds from the issue. 

 

The liability component of the convertible debentures was valued at $999,050 by discounting the maturity date 

interest and principal payments to grant date present value using a discount rate of 10% which is the estimated market 

rate at which the Company can obtain new financing. The effective interest rate on the convertible debentures is 

13.44%. 

 

In conjunction with the issuance of convertible debentures, the Company issued 3,630,000 detachable common share 

purchase warrants to the debenture holders. Each warrant is exercisable at $0.20 and expires on November 30, 2020. 

The value of these warrants and the equity component of the convertible debentures, on the grant date, was 

determined by assigning to these instruments the residual value after determining the fair value of the underlying 

liability component of the convertible debentures.  The combined residual value of $109,950 was assigned to the 

detachable warrants ($27,522) and equity conversion feature of the debentures ($82,428), based on their relative fair 

value determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  The fair value of the detachable warrants was estimated 

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at $0.13 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying 

share price of $0.18 per share, expected annualized volatility of 125.29%; risk-free interest rate of 1.05%; expected 

dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 2 years.   The fair value of the equity component of the convertible 

debentures was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at $0.12 per debenture, based on the 

following assumptions: underlying unit price of $0.15 per unit, expected annualized volatility of 125.29%, risk-free 

interest rate of 1.05%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 1.5 years. 

 

Accretion expense amounting to $62,948 was recorded on the convertible debentures during the year. 

 

12.    PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLE 

 

On December 19, 2017, the Company entered into an acquisition transaction with Canna Care as detailed in Note 5. 

As part of the purchase consideration, the Company issued a promissory note in the amount of US$2,500,000. The 

note was discounted to its present value and initially recorded at US$2,336,449 ($3,017,057) on the closing date 

using an effective interest rate of 7%. During the period from closing date up to December 31, 2017, an exchange 

gain amounting to $92,000 was recorded. 

 

The note is repayable on, and interest free up to, December 19, 2018 after which date interest of 15% per annum is 

charged if the principal balance remains unpaid.  The note is secured by the purchased assets of Canna Care. 
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13.    INCOME TAXES 

 

The deferred income tax expenses shown in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss differs from 

the amounts obtained by applying statutory rates due to the following: 

 

 December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

December 31, 

2015 

Statutory tax rate 26.5% 26.5% 26.5% 

    

Net loss before income taxes (1,249,275) (153,445) (96,496) 

Expected tax expense (recovery) (331,058) (40,663) (25,571) 

Tax rate differential for foreign taxes (470) — — 

Permanent differences 102,805   

Change in tax benefits not recognized 236,351 40,663 25,571 

Total income tax expense (recovery) 7,628 — — 

 
The Company’s income tax (recovery) is allocated as follows: 
 

Current income tax 7,628 — — 

Deferred income tax — — — 

 7,628 — — 

 

Deferred tax 

 

The following table summarizes the components of unrecognized tax benefits: 

 

 December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

December 31, 

2015 

Deferred tax assets    

Non-capital losses carried forward 298,480 70,227 29,564 

    

 

The Company has non‑capital losses to reduce future taxable income, the benefit of which has not been recognized. 

If unutilized, these losses will expire as follows: 

 

 2034 $ 15,000 

 2035  96,000 

 2036  153,000 

 2037  861,000 

 

  



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

21 

14.    SHARE CAPITAL 

 

Common stock 

 

In December 2016, May 2017 and November 2017, the Company amended its capital structure to consolidate all of 

its then issued and outstanding common shares, of all classes, into one class of common shares. The number of shares, 

warrants and options issued during all periods presented prior to the consolidations have been restated to reflect the 

post-consolidation share structure. 

 

(a) Authorized 

 

Unlimited Class A common shares without par value 

 

(b) Issued and fully paid common shares 

 December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

December 31, 

2015 

 $ $ $ 

Class A common shares – 52,262,441 (2016: 

32,900,040, 2015: 12,990,000) 

5,038,964 441,806 4 

 

The following table provides details on common share transactions for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 

and 2015: 

 

  Shares Amount 

    $ 

As at January 1, 2016 and 2015   12,990,000         4  
   

Private placements   

November 1, 2016   13,350,000           231,930  

December 2, 2016     2,900,040         140,035  

Share issuance costs        (23,434) 

   

Share-based compensation   

March 1, 2016 2,160,000 55,771 

December 31, 2016 1,500,000 37,500 

As at January 1, 2017   32,900,040         441,806  
   

Private placements   

February 1, 2017 and March 9, 2017 (i)     3,242,790         276,900  

September 26, 2017 (ii)        138,900           12,501  

December 19, 2017 (iii)     8,026,510      3,290,869  

December 29, 2017 (iv)     1,876,153         769,223  

Proceeds allocated to warrants  (1,355,566) 

Share issuance costs (v)      (199,953) 

Exercise of stock options     1,200,000  230,501 

Shares issued on acquisitions [Note 5] 4,878,048 1,572,683 

As at December 31, 2017 52,262,441   5,038,964  
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Private placements 

 

2017 

 

i. Between February 1, 2017 and March 9, 2017, the Company completed private placements for gross 

proceeds of $276,900 through issuance of 3,242,790 common shares.  

ii. On September 26, 2017, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $12,501 through 

issuance of 138,900 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share purchase 

warrant with an exercise price of $0.09 per common share for a period of thirty eight (38) months from the 

date of issuance. The fair value of the 69,450 warrants contained in the units issued on this date was estimated 

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at $0.11 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: 

underlying share price of $0.14 per share, expected annualized volatility of 122.70%; risk-free interest rate 

of 1.57%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 3.18 years. 

iii. On December 19, 2017, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $3,290,869 

through issuance of 8,026,510 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share 

purchase with an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the 

date of issuance. The fair value of the 4,013,255 warrants issued on this date was estimated using the Black-

Scholes options pricing model at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share 

price of $0.32 per share, expected annualized volatility of 124.83%; risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; expected 

dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 2.00 years. 

In relation to the December 19, 2017 private placement, the Company issued 489,850 broker warrants to 

obtain one common share in the Company at an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of 

twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance.  The fair value of the broker warrants was estimated using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying 

share price of $0.32 per share, expected annualized volatility of 124.83%; risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; 

expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 2.00 years. 

iv. On December 29, 2017 the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $769,223 through 

issuance of 1,876,153 units containing one common share and one half common share purchase warrant with 

an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of 

issuance. The fair value of the underlying 938,077 warrants issued on this date was estimated using the 

Black-Scholes option pricing model at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying 

share price of $0.32 per share, expected annualized volatility of 126.89%; risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; 

expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 1.97 years. 

v. In relation to 2017 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $204,967 and issued broker 

warrants valued at $59,024, the total of which was allocated to shares and warrants on a pro-rata basis based 

on their relative fair values. 

 

2016 

 

i. On March 1, 2016, the Company issued 2,160,000 common shares for services rendered with an estimated 

fair value of $55,771 based on the fair value of the most recent private placement. 

ii. On November 1, 2016, the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of $231,930 through 

issuance of 13,350,000 common shares, 11,717,873 of which were to be issued at December 31, 2015.  

iii. On December 2, 3016, the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of $140,035 through 

issuance of 2,900,040 common shares, 132,975 of which were to be issued at December 31, 2015. 

iv. On December 31, 2016, the Company issued 1,500,000 common shares for the development of computer 

software with an estimated fair value of $37,500 based on the fair value of the most recent private placements. 

v. In relation to the 2016 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $23,444. 
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2015 and prior 

 

i. On November 3, 2014, the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of $4 through issuance 

of 12,990,000 common shares.  

 

ii. There was no private placement activity in 2015. 

 

Shares to be issued 

 

2015 

 

i. From January 12, 2015 to June 12, 2015, the Company received gross proceeds of $160,000 for 9,209,675 

common shares to be issued as part of the private placement which took place on November 1, 2016. 

ii. From September 3, 2015 to December 3, 2015, the Company received gross proceeds of $6,421 for 132,975 

common shares to be issued as part of the private placement which took place on December 2, 2016.  

 

2014 

 

i. On November 5, 2014, the Company received gross proceeds of $43,575 for 2,508,198 common shares to 

be issued as part of the private placement which took place on November 1, 2016. 

 

Warrants 

 

As more fully described under “Private placements”, in conjunction with private placements during the year ended 

December 31, 2017, the Company issued 69,450 common share purchase warrants with an exercise price of $0.09, 

4,951,332 common share purchase warrants with an exercise price of $0.50 and 489,850 broker warrants, for the 

purchase of units, with an exercise price of $0.50. The Company also issued 3,630,000 warrants in connection with 

the issuance of convertible debentures [Note 11].  

 

A summary of the warrant activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows: 

  

                     

Number of 

Warrants    

Weighted 

Average Exercise 

Price                                

$    

Balance as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 — — 

Granted 9,140,632 0.38 

Balance as of December 31, 2017 9,140,632 0.38 
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At December 31, 2017, a summary of warrants outstanding and exercisable is as follows: 

  
  Outstanding Warrants 

Range of exercise prices 

Number 

Outstanding 

Weighted 

Average Exercise 

Price 

Weighted 

Average 

Remaining Life 

$0.01 - $0.10 69,450  $ 0.09  2.92  

$0.11 - $0.20 3,630,000    $ 0.20  2.92  

$0.41 - $0.50  5,441,182   $ 0.50  1.97  
9,140,632 $ 0.38 2.35 

 

 

Options 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company has granted stock options to consultants in exchange for 

services rendered. Options are exercisable over periods of up to 4 years from the date of grant.  The options vest 

immediately or on terms established by the Board of Directors, excluding certain performance based options which 

vest based on the Company meeting revenue milestones. 

 

A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows: 

  

                     

Number of 

Options    

Weighted 

Average Exercise 

Price                                

$    

Balance as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 — — 

Granted 4,368,240 0.02 

Exercised (1,200,000) 0.02 

Balance as of December 31, 2017 3,168,240 0.02 

 

At December 31, 2017, a summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable is as follows: 

  
  Outstanding Options Exercisable Options 

Range of exercise prices 

Number 

Outstandin

g 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

Weighted 

Average 

Remaining Life 

Number 

Exercisable 

Weighted 

Average Exercise 

Price 

$0.01 - $0.04 3,022,680  $ 0.01  3.11  322,680   $ 0.02  

$0.09 - $0.12  55,560   $ 0.09  2.00  55,560   $ 0.09  

$0.12 - $0.16  90,000   $ 0.15  1.53  90,000   $ 0.15   
3,168,240 $ 0.02 3.05 468,240  $ 0.05  

 

The fair value of 4,368,240 stock options issued in 2017 totaled $700,178. The fair value of the options was calculated 

using the Black-Scholes model using a weighted average risk-free interest rate of 0.70%, weighted average volatility 

of 125%, expected life of 2.38 years and 0% dividend yield. 
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15.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company is exposed, in varying degrees, to a variety of financial related risks. The type of risk exposure and the 

way in which such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 

party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on cash and accounts and other 

receivables as at December 31, 2017.  

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash balances to ensure that it is able to meet its short term and long 

term obligations as and when they fall due. The Company manages Company-wide cash projections centrally and 

regularly updates projections for changes in business and exchange rates. The expected timing of consolidated cash 

flows relating to financial liabilities as at December 31, 2017, are as follows: 

 

 Less than 1 year 1-3 years Total 

 $ $ $ 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities               63,679  —               63,679  

Promissory note payable           3,050,056  —          3,050,056  

Convertible debentures  

 — 

            999,308             999,308 

 3,113,735             999,308 4,113,043 

 

Foreign currency risk 

 

Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Company’s financial instruments will 

fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations affect the revenues and costs that 

the Company earns and incurs in its operations. 

 

The Company’s presentation currency is the Canadian dollar and major revenues are earned in US dollars. The 

fluctuation of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar will consequently impact the profitability of the 

Company and may also affect the value of the Company’s assets and liabilities and the amount of shareholders’ 

equity. The Company’s net monetary position in the significant foreign currencies as of December 31, 2017 is 

summarized below with the effect on earnings before tax of a 10% fluctuation of each currency to the Canadian 

dollar: 

 

 Net Monetary Asset 

(Liability) Position 

December 31, 2017 

(CA$ equivalent) 

Impact of 10% 

variance in foreign 

exchange rate 

US dollar (2,951,441) 295,144 
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Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited and only relates to its ability 

to earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. Changes in short term interest rates will not have a 

significant effect on the fair value of the Company’s cash account. 

 
Fair value 

 

The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates carrying value due to their short-term nature 

and/or carrying market rates of interest.  Contingent consideration relating to the Company’s acquisition of Canna 

Care [Note 5] is $Nil based on expectations of amounts due. 

 

16.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern and to provide returns to 

shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity comprised 

of issued share capital and reserves ($4,981,381 and $176,797 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively).  

 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions. The 

Company, upon approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure through new share 

issues or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the specific circumstances. 

 

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and the Company’s overall strategy with 

respect to capital risk management remains unchanged from the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 
17.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

 

Related party payable of $6,421 as at December 31, 2016 pertains to a non-interest bearing, unsecured, demand loan 

provided by a company owned by the CEO and COO. 

 

Transactions with key management personnel 

 

Compensation of key management personnel  

 

 2017 2016 2015 

(unaudited) 

Salary and short-term employee benefits 201,358 111,721 58,273 

Share based compensation 155,432 - - 

 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognized as an expense during the reporting period related to 

key management personnel. 
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18.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

The Company rents premises under operating leases which expire beginning in 2018. Annual minimum lease 

payments in aggregate and for the next five years are as follows: 

 

2018 $ 680,127 

2019  618,034 

2020  427,228 

2021  279,024 

2022  220,679 

Thereafter  nil 

 

19.  SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

 

The Company has two reportable operating segments related to its software and clinic businesses which also align 

with the two countries in which it operates, namely, United States and Canada. The corporate costs are included in 

the Canadian segment. The disclosure with regards to the Company’s aforementioned locations are listed below: 

 
    

Year ended December 31, 2017 

USA 

(Clinic) 

Canada 

(Software) Total 

    

Revenue     235,958        44,101      280,059  

 

   

Operating expenses 
   

Interest and bank charges, net             —        (2,067)       (2,067) 

Management fees, salaries and wages     135,721      450,505      586,226  

Marketing and business development             —        14,708        14,708  

Office and administration       33,607      154,179      187,786  

Professional fees       23,705      187,641      211,346  

Share-based compensation             —        387,943  387,943 

Depreciation and amortization       11,621      160,056      171,677  

Total operating expenses     204,654      1,352,965   1,557,619  

Loss from operations       31,304    (1,308,864)   (1,277,560) 

Foreign exchange gain             —      (91,233)     (91,233) 

Accretion on convertible notes             —        62,948        62,948  

Net loss before income taxes       31,304    (1,280,579)   (1,249,275) 

Income taxes expense (recovery)         7,628              —          7,628  

Net loss       23,676    (1,280,579)   (1,256,903) 
    

        

Total assets   7,775,228     1,326,723  9,101,951  

Total liabilities      115,980     4,004,590   4,120,570  

    
The Company had only one geographic and operating segment during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
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20.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

Private placements 

 
The Company’s management has evaluated subsequent events up to February 27, 2019, the date the financial 

statements were issued, pursuant to the requirements of IAS 10 (Events after the Reporting Period) and has 

determined the following significant events to report: 

 

From January 1 to September 10, 2018, the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of $2,422,718 

through issuance of 5,535,280 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share 

purchase warrant with an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the 

date of issuance. The Company issued 2,767,640 warrants and 251,945 broker warrants to obtain one common share 

in the Company at an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the 

date of issuance. 

 

In relation to the above private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $125,056. 

 

On October 2, 2018, the Company completed a final tranche of a private placement financing with the issuance of 

an aggregate of 2,062,545 Units at a price of $0.44 per Unit for gross proceeds of $907,520. Each Unit consists of 1 

common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 1,031,273 warrants were issued with 

each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of MVC at price of $0.50 for a period of two years 

from issuance. In relation to this private placement, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $10,728. 

 

On January 17, 2019, the Company completed a Private Placement Financing with the issuance of an aggregate of 

374,998 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $187,499. Each Units consists of 1 common share 

and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 187,500 warrants were issued with each whole warrant 

exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from 

issuance. 

 
On January 25, 2019, the Company closed the first tranche of a Private Placement Financing of subscription receipts 

with the issuance of 352,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of $176,000. Each Subscription Receipt 

Unit converts automatically into one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 

352,000 common shares and 176,000 warrants are issuable on conversion of the Subscription Receipt Units, with 

each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of 

three (3) years from issuance. The Company also issued 20,440 broker warrants in combination with the closing of 

the Subscription Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.50 for a period 

of three (3) years. 
 

On February 14, 2019, the Company closed the second tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of 

subscription receipts with the issuance of 2,184,000 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $1,092,000. 

These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 2,184,000 shares and 1,092,000 

warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for 

a period of three (3) years from issuance. 
 

On February 15, 2019, the Company closed the third tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of 

subscription receipts with the issuance of 1,688,420 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $844,210. These 

Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 1,688,420 common shares and 844,210 

warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for 

a period of three (3) years from issuance. The Company also issued 5,600 broker warrants in connection with the 

closing of the Subscription Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase a Unit at $0.50 for a 
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period of three (3) years. 

 

On February 21, 2019, the Company closed the fourth tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of 

subscription receipts with the issuance of 533,920 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $266,960. These 

Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 533,920 common shares and 266,960 

warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for 

a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

 

In relation to the 2019 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $23,730. 

 

Granting of stock options 

 

On February 11, 2018, the Company granted stock options to purchase 11,396 common shares in the Company to 

consultants in exchange for services rendered at an exercise price of $0.41. Options are exercisable over a period of 

2 years from the date of grant and vest immediately. 

 

On August 13, 2018, the Company granted stock options to purchase 560,000 common shares in the Company to 

consultants in exchange for services rendered at an exercise price of $0.44. Options are exercisable over a period of 

1 year from the date of grant and vest over a period of 1 year with one quarter of the options vesting every three 

months from the date of grant. 

 

On August 23, 2018, the Company granted stock options to purchase up to 2,379,486 common shares in the Company 

to consultants and employees in exchange for services rendered. Options are exercisable over a period of four years 

from the date of grant with exercise prices ranging from $0.15 to $0.41. The options vest over a period of four years 

with one quarter of each grantee’s options vesting per year from the date of grant. 

 

On September 17, 2018, the Company granted stock options to purchase 2,273 common shares of the Company to 

an employee in exchange for services rendered. The stock options had an exercise price of $0.44 and were exercised 

immediately on the grant date. 

 

On November 5, 2018, the Company signed employment agreements with its Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and 

Chief Operating Officer (COO). Pursuant to the agreements, the Company granted to each of the executives, options 

to purchase an aggregate of 2% of the total issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the date of the 

agreements, exercisable at $0.44 per share, for 10 years and vesting annually in three equal installments. This 

translates into 1,242,567 options each for the CEO and COO. 

 

On November 8, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 19,889 options to consultants, exercisable over a period 

of one to two years from the date of grant with exercise prices ranging from $0.41-$0.44, vesting immediately. 

 
On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 485,000 options to employees, directors and consultants. 

These options are exercisable over a period of 1-5 years from the date of grant with exercise prices ranging from 

$0.44 -$0.50, vesting over 4 years for employees and immediately for directors and consultants. 

 
 Exercising of stock options 

 

On September 17, 2018, a shareholder exercised an aggregate of 2,700,000 stock options at an exercise price of 

$0.0092 for a total proceeds of $24,840.  

 

On February 1, 2019, a consultant exercised 300,000 options at a price of $0.016 per share. 
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Letter of intent 

 

On August 28, 2018, the Company entered into a letter of intent (the “LOI”) with CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly 

10557404 Canada Corp.) (“CB2”). The LOI outlines a proposal to effect an amalgamation between the Company 

and Ten Fifty-five and a listing of the amalgamated entity’s shares on the Canadian Stock Exchange. 

 

Purchase of 1035855 Canada Inc. 

 

On September 11, 2018, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with 1035855 Canada Inc. 

(“TokeIn”), acquiring the assets of TokeIn. TokeIn’s primary asset is a web-based customer loyalty program 

specifically designed to cater to cannabis dispensaries. TokeIn is headquartered in Mississauga, Ontario, Canada and 

services dispensaries across North America. Upon signing, the Company is obligated to pay $150,000 cash and issue 

795,455 common shares at an estimated value of $262,500. The remaining obligation consists of an issuance of 

1,245,455 shares at an estimated value of $548,000 and contingent consideration of up to 2,845,455 shares at an 

estimated value of $1,252,000. Contingent consideration is dependent on achievement of certain performance targets. 

Based on the guidance available within IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, the acquisition has been determined to not 

qualify as a business combination.  

 

Repurchase of shares, warrants, and convertible debentures 

 

On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 1,651,745 common shares and an aggregate of 

825,872 common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $710,250. 

 

On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 294,955 common shares and an aggregate of 147,477 

common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $126,831. 

 

On October 25, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate principal amount of $150,000 of 5% convertible 

senior secured debentures and 1,951,000 common shares for total consideration of $1,279,436. 

 

Other events 

 

On October 29, 2018, the Company issued 56,800 common shares and 28,400 common share purchase warrants to a 

consultant of MVC in satisfaction of debt owed to the consultant. Each whole warrant is exercisable to purchase one 

common share of MVC at a price of $0.50 for a period of two years from issuance. 

 

On December 20, 2018, the Company signed a term sheet for the issuance of US$2,400,000 convertible secured 

debentures to Merida Capital Partners II LP (‘Merida’). Pending issuance of the said debentures, the Company issued 

Merida a promissory note, such note convertible to debentures on agreement by Merida and the Company, and Merida 

advanced to the Company funds, amounting to US$2,400,000. The Company used these funds to repay the 

promissory note outstanding for the purchase consideration of Canna Care (see Note 12). The Note bears interest at 

12% per annum and is due 18 months from the issue date. 

 

On December 31, 2018, the Company issued 795,455 and 1,245,454 shares as consideration for the acquisition of 

the TokeIn assets. The shares have a deemed value of $262,500 and $548,000, respectively. 

 

On February 27, 2019, the Company and CB2 completed the Share Exchange Agreement. 
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Interim Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

September 30, December 31,
2018 2017

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash $ 3,016,116 $ 1,014,482
Receivables 273,227 117,984
Inventory 84,825 7,841
Prepaid expenses - 5,310

Total current assets 3,374,168 1,145,617
Furniture and equipment (note 5) 206,976 49,573
Computer software (note 6) 1,178,581 323,037
Other intangible assets (note 8) 3,798,961 3,941,464
Goodwill (note 8) 3,758,394 3,642,260

Total assets $ 12,317,080 $ 9,101,951

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 48,649 $ 63,679
Income taxes payable 183,819 7,527
Promissory note payable (note 10) 3,046,883 3,050,056
Convertible debentures (note 9) 1,103,763 -
Purchase consideration payable (note 7) 548,000 -

Total current liabilities 4,931,114 3,121,262
Convertible debentures (note 9) - 999,308

Total liabilities 4,931,114 4,120,570

Shareholders' equity
Share capital (note 11) 7,320,866 5,038,964
Shares to be issued 262,500 -
Warrant reserve 2,552,831 1,378,074
Option reserve 588,551 226,942
Units to be issued 24,999 -
Equity component of convertible debentures 82,428 82,428
Accumulated other comprehensive income 25,067 (223,115)
Accumulated deficit (3,471,276) (1,521,912)

Total shareholders' equity 7,385,966 4,981,381

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 12,317,080 $ 9,101,951

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.

Nature of operations and going concern (note 1)
Commitments (note 15)
Subsequent events (note 18)

- 2 -



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenues
Software $ 13,020 $ 5,780 $ 21,871 $ 43,018
Clinic 2,869,645 - 8,297,120 -

2,882,665 5,780 8,318,991 43,018

Operating expenses
Interest and bank charges, net 61,241 (371) 186,730 $ (697)
Management fees, salaries and wages 1,184,259 56,539 2,638,167 161,316
Marketing and business development 239,487 1,355 545,935 8,935
Office and administration 2,037,303 225,784 5,036,376 394,118
Professional fees 332,581 7,848 525,875 54,367
Share-based compensation 248,822 62,173 361,609 325,770
Depreciation and amortization 160,907 - 432,601 -

Total operating expenses 4,264,600 353,328 9,727,293 943,809

Loss from operations (1,381,935) (347,548) (1,408,302) (900,791)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (45,066) - 100,185 -
Accretion on convertible debentures and

promissory note 89,099 31,474 265,763 31,474

Net loss before taxes (1,425,968) (379,022) (1,774,250) (932,265)
Income tax (recovery) expense (22,992) - 175,114 -

Net loss (1,402,976) (379,022) (1,949,364) (932,265)

Other comprehensive loss
Exchange difference on translation of foreign 

operations (149,148) - 248,182 -

Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (1,552,124) $ (379,022) $ (1,701,182) $ (932,265)

Basic and diluted net loss per common 
share $ (0.025) $ (0.010) $ (0.036) $ (0.026)

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding - basic 57,030,232 36,142,794 54,138,439 35,463,239

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding - diluted 57,461,733 36,142,794 54,282,801 35,463,239

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

September 30,
Nine Months Ended 2018 2017

Operating activities
Net loss for the period $ (1,949,364) $ (932,265)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 432,601 -
Unrealized foreign exchange loss on promissory note 100,185 -
Accretion on convertible debentures and promissory note 265,763 31,474
Share-based compensation 361,609 325,770

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Inventory (78,162) -
Receivables (147,458) (11,497)
Prepaid expenses 5,186 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (23,626) (10,089)
Income taxes payable 179,838 -

Net cash provided by operating activities (853,428) (596,607)

Investing activities
Purchase of furniture and equipment (193,915) (13,631)
Acquisition of computer software (172,285) (26,943)

Net cash used in investing activities (366,200) (40,574)

Financing activities
Issue of convertible debt, net of issuance costs - 1,028,310
Private placements, net of issuance costs 3,456,659 261,197
Proceeds from units to be issued, net 24,999 -
Repayment of promissory note (131,620) -

Net cash provided by financing activities 3,350,038 1,289,507

Net increase in cash during the period 2,130,410 652,326
Effect of foreign currency on cash (128,776) -
Cash, beginning of period 1,014,482 43,509

Cash, end of period $ 3,016,116 $ 695,835

Supplemental information:
Settlement of purchase price by issuing shares (note 7) $ 262,500 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.

- 4 -



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Equity
component Accumulated

of other
Number of Share Warrant Option Units to be Shares to be convertible comprehensive

shares Capital Reserve Reserve Issued Issued debenture income Deficit Total

Balance, January 1, 2017 32,900,040 $ 441,806 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ (265,009) $ 176,797
Private placement 3,381,690 289,401 - - - - - - - 289,401
Equity component of convertible

debentures - - 27,522 - - - 82,428 - - 109,950
Share issuance costs - cash - (28,204) - - - - - - - (28,204)
Net loss for the period - - - - - - - - (932,265) (932,265)

Balance, September 30, 2017 36,281,730 703,003 27,522 - - - 82,428 - (1,197,274) (384,321)
Private placement 9,902,663 2,704,526 1,355,566 - - - - - - 4,060,092
Shares issued on acquisition 4,878,048 1,572,683 - - - - - - - 1,572,683
Share issuance costs - cash - (112,725) (64,038) - - - - - - (176,763)
Share issuance costs - warrants - (59,024) 59,024 - - - - - - -
Share-based compensation - - - 387,943 - - - - - 387,943
Exercise of stock options 1,200,000 230,501 - (161,001) - - - - - 69,500
Foreign exchange translation - - - - - - - (223,115) - (223,115)
Net loss for the period - - - - - - - - (324,638) (324,638)

Balance, December 31, 2017 52,262,441 5,038,964 1,378,074 226,942 - - 82,428 (223,115) (1,521,912) 4,981,381
Private placements 8,146,548 2,382,108 1,189,569 - - - - - - 3,571,677
Units to be issued - - - - 24,999 - - - - 24,999
Shares to be issued on acquisition  

of software (note 7) - - - - - 262,500 - - - 262,500
Share issuance costs - cash - (93,920) (46,938) - - - - - - (140,858)
Share issuance costs - warrants - (32,126) 32,126 - - - - - - -
Exercise of stock options 2,702,273 25,840 - - - - - - - 25,840
Share-based compensation - - - 361,609 - - - - - 361,609
Foreign exchange translation - - - - - - - 248,182 - 248,182
Net loss for the period - - - - - - - - (1,949,364) (1,949,364)

Balance, September 30, 2018 63,111,262 $ 7,320,866 $ 2,552,831 $ 588,551 $ 24,999 $ 262,500 $ 82,428 $ 25,067 $(3,471,276) $ 7,385,966

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

1. Nature of operations and going concern

MVC Technologies Inc. (“MVC” or the “Company”) was incorporated in the province of Ontario on November 3, 2014
under the Ontario Business Corporation Act (“OBCA”). The Company is a secure cloud-based cannabis healthcare
technology platform that connects patients, physicians, and regulated suppliers for the purposes of assessment,
qualification, registration, and access to medication. The head office is located at 5045 Orbitor Dr. Building 11, Suite
300, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L4W 4Y4.

Letter of intent

On August 28, 2018, the Company entered into a letter of intent (the “LOI”) with CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly 10557404
Canada Corp.)("CB2"). The LOI outlines a proposal to effect an amalgamation between the Company and CB2 and a
listing of the amalgamated entity’s shares on the Canadian Stock Exchange.

Going concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the
Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. To date the Company has accumulated losses of
$3,471,276 and negative cash flow from operations. The Company also has a working capital deficiency as of the
statement of financial position date of $1,556,946. The Company has raised debt and equity financing to fund platform
development and activities resulting in growth in its customer base and completed the acquisition of Canna Care (Note
4). The Company expects that the investments it has made in 2017 and 2018 will result in increased revenue and
operating cash flow however, the Company anticipates further investment and will require additional debt and/or equity
financing in order to develop its business.

Although the Company has been successful in raising funds to date, there can be no assurance that adequate or
sufficient funding will be available in the future or available under terms acceptable to the Company, or that the
Company will be able to generate sufficient returns from operations. The ability of the Company to continue as a going
concern and to realize the carrying value of its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments when due is
dependent on the Company generating revenue and debt and/or equity financing sufficient to fund its cash flow needs.
These circumstances indicate the existence of material uncertainty that casts significant doubt on the ability of the
Company to meet its business plan and its obligations as they come due, and accordingly the appropriateness of the
use of the accounting principles applicable to a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern
assumption were not appropriate. If the going concern basis were not appropriate for these consolidated financial
statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of the assets and liabilities, the reported
revenue and expenses and the classifications used in the consolidated statement of financial position. Such
differences in amounts could be material.

2. Basis of presentation

Statement of compliance

The notes presented in these condensed interim consolidated financial statements include only significant events and
transactions and are not fully inclusive of all matters normally disclosed in our annual audited financial statements;
thus, these interim consolidated financial statements are referred to as condensed. These condensed interim
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2017.
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

2. Basis of presentation (continued)

Statement of compliance (continued)

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements are expressed in Canadian dollars and follow the same
accounting policies and methods of their application as set out in our consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2017 with the exception of those new accounting standards adopted effective January 1, 2018 as
set out in Note 3. These condensed interim consolidated financial statements comply with International Accounting
Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting of the International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS-IASB”) and reflect all adjustments which are necessary for a fair
statement of the results for the interim periods presented. 

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30,
2018, were authorized by our Board of Directors for issue on February 27, 2019.

Basis of consolidation

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30,
2018, comprise the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary MVC USA Corp. (“MVC USA”), and its operations.

On December 19, 2017, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with MedEval Corp. (“MedEval” or
“Canna Care”), acquiring the operating assets of MedEval’s business.

Based on guidance available within IFRS 3 - Business Combinations, the acquisition has been determined to be a
business acquisition as described in more detail in Note 2 of the audited consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Basis of measurement

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

3. Changes in accounting standards

Recently adopted accounting standards

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments

The Company adopted IFRS 9 effective January 1, 2018.  IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and
recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.  IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into three
measurement categories:  those measured at fair value through profit and loss, at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and at amortized cost.  The determination is made at initial recognition.  The classification
depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the instrument.  For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements.  The
main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change
due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than in net earnings. 

The requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement were carried forward to IFRS 9 and the Company’s
accounting policy with respect to financial liabilities remains unchanged.

As a result of the adoption of this standard, the Company has changed its accounting classification for financial assets
and all financial assets are carried at amortized cost.  The change did not impact the carrying value of any financial
assets on the transition date, January 1, 2018.

- 7 -



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

3. Changes in accounting standards (continued)

Recently adopted accounting standards (continued)

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments (continued)

All other aspects of our accounting policies for financial instruments as disclosed in Note 3 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 are unaffected.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), which replaces IAS 11
– Construction Contracts, IAS 18 – Revenue and IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes (“IFRIC 13”), as well as
various other interpretations regarding revenue.  IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be
applied to all contracts with customers to determine how and when an entity should recognize revenue. The standard
also provides guidance on whether revenue should be recognized at a point in time or over time as well as
requirements for more informative, relevant disclosures. Various clarifications to IFRS 15 provide additional guidance
with respect to the five-step analysis, transition, and the application of the Standard to licenses of intellectual property.
IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with earlier adoption permitted. The
Company has adopted IFRS 15 in these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the period
beginning on January 1, 2018, using the full retrospective approach.  The Company has determined that adoption of
the new IFRS 15 standard has no impact on revenue recognition for its software and clinical revenue streams. The
Company has also assessed the increased disclosure requirements pursuant to IFRS 15 and has ensured its internal
information systems have been designed to support these enhanced disclosures.   

Changes in accounting standards not yet effective

IFRS 16 - Leases

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 – Leases ("IFRS 16"), which replaces IAS 17 – Leases, and its associated
interpretative guidance. IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing between a lease
and a service contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset being leased. For those assets
determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the accounting by lessees,
introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting, with limited
exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low value assets. Lessor accounting remains similar to current accounting
practice. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application
permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final standard is expected
to have on its condensed interim consolidated financial statements and plans to adopt the requirements in 2019.

IFRIC 23, Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments 

IFRIC 23 was issued in June 2017 and is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, to be applied
retrospectively. IFRIC 23 provides guidance on applying the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12,
Income Taxes, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments including, but not limited to, whether uncertain tax
treatments should be considered together or separately based on which approach better predicts resolution of the
uncertainty. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final standard is expected to have on its condensed
interim consolidated financial statements and plans to adopt the requirements in 2019.
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

4. Acquisition of Medeval Corp. (O/A Canna Care Docs)

On December 19, 2017 (closing date), the Company acquired identified assets of MedEval Corp. (o/a Canna Care
Docs). The Company determined that the acquisition was a business combination under IFRS 3 – Business
Combinations and was accounted for by applying the acquisition method, whereby the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed were recorded at their fair values with any excess of the aggregate consideration over the fair values of the
identifiable net assets allocated to goodwill. The goodwill acquired is associated with the Canna Care workforce and is
expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes. Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2017 provides specific details on the fair values of the acquired assets and allocation to goodwill. Fair
values determined on the date of acquisition are provisional and may be subsequently adjusted, with a corresponding
adjustment to goodwill prior to December 19, 2018 (one year after the transaction).

5. Furniture and equipment

Computer
Furniture Vehicles Hardware Leaseholds Equipment Total

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 16,235 $ 10,973 $ 2,732 $ 12,875 $ 13,747 $ 56,562
Additions 54,039 11,196 47,036 52,956 28,688 193,915
Net exchange differences 369 410 339 695 - 1,813

Balance, September 30, 2018 $ 70,643 $ 22,579 $ 50,107 $ 66,526 $ 42,435 $ 252,290

Amortization
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 2,407 $ - $ - $ - $ 4,582 $ 6,989
Amortization 10,918 4,215 6,581 9,725 6,748 38,187
Net exchange differences 28 23 35 52 - 138

Balance, September 30, 2018 $ 13,353 $ 4,238 6,616 $ 9,777 $ 11,330 $ 45,314

Net book value
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 13,828 $ 10,973 $ 2,732 $ 12,875 $ 9,165 $ 49,573

Balance, September 30, 2018 $ 57,290 $ 18,341 $ 43,491 $ 56,749 $ 31,105 $ 206,976
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

6. Computer software

Total

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 476,104
Additions (note 7) 982,785
Net exchange differences 446

Balance, September 30, 2018 $1,459,335

Amortization
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 153,067
Amortization 127,664
Net exchange differences 23

Balance, September 30, 2018 $ 280,754

Net book value
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 323,037

Balance, September 30, 2018 $1,178,581

7. Asset acquisition 

On September 11, 2018, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with 1035855 Canada Inc.
(“TokeIn”), acquiring the assets of TokeIn. TokeIn’s primary asset is a web-based customer loyalty program
specifically designed to cater to cannabis dispensaries across North America. Contingent consideration is dependent
on achievement of certain performance targets. The aggregate purchase consideration comprises the following:

 Upon signing, the Company paid $150,000 cash and issued 795,455 common shares at an estimated value of

$262,500.

 The remaining obligation consists of an issuance of a certain number of common shares equal to $548,000 at

the 20 day volume weighted average price ("VWAP") by December 31, 2018 if listed on a recognized

Canadian stock exchange or at a price of $0.44 per share if the Common Shares are not listed on a

recognized Canadian stock exchange.

 Contingent consideration of up to 2,845,455 shares at an estimated value of $1,252,000. Contingent

consideration is dependent on achievement of certain performance targets.

 The purchase price also included $22,285 transaction costs.

This transaction did not meet the criteria of an acquisition of a business under IFRS 3 and the Company allocated the
full $982,785 of purchase consideration to software.

The allocated purchase price calculation is as follows:

Purchase price allocation

Cash $ 150,000
795,455 common shares (i) 262,500
Common shares to be issued  equal to $548,000 at the 20 day VWAP (ii) 548,000
Contingent consideration of 2,845,455 common shares (iii) -
Transaction costs 22,285

Total consideration allocated to software $ 982,785
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

7. Asset acquisition (continued)

(i) For the purpose of detemining the value of the purchase price consideration, the 795,455 common shares were
valued at $0.33 per share based on MVC's last financing that closed on September 10, 2018 (see note 11).

(ii) The Company has committed to issue on December 31, 2018 common shares valued at $548,000, where share
price is based on the 20 day VWAP of the Common Shares if listed on a recognized Canadian stock exchange or at a
price of $0.44 per share if the Common Shares are not listed on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 

(iii) Management estimated that the amount of contingent consideration of 2,845,455 common shares on closing of the
acquisition was valued at $nil which was determined by estimating the probability of achieving certain performance
targets. 

8. Other intangible assets

      Goodwill     Customer
relationships

        Brand         Total

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 3,642,260 $ 1,743,756 $ 2,209,175 $ 3,952,931
Net exchange differences 116,134 55,600 70,440 126,040
Balance, September 30, 2018 $ 3,758,394 $ 1,799,356 $ 2,279,615 $ 4,078,971

Accumulated amortization
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ - $ 11,467 $ - $ 11,467
Amortization - 266,748 - 266,748
Net exchange differences - 1,795 - 1,795
Balance, September 30, 2018 $ - $ 280,010 $ - $ 280,010

Net book value
Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 3,642,260 $ 1,732,289 $ 2,209,175 $ 3,941,464
Balance, September 30, 2018 $ 3,758,394 $ 1,519,346 $ 2,279,615 $ 3,798,961

9. Convertible debentures

In May and June 2017, the Company issued 7,333,333 (post reverse split) 5% convertible debentures for $1,109,000.
Each convertible debenture is convertible into a “Unit” comprising one Class A common share of the Company at
$0.15 per share, and one warrant which entitles the holder to acquire one half Class A common share of the Company
at $0.20 per warrant. The convertible debentures will automatically convert into Units on completion of a liquidity event.
In the event that a liquidity event does not occur, the debentures are due on May 30, 2019.The Company received
$1,037,310, net of $71,690 arrangement fees, as proceeds from the issue.

The liability component of the convertible debentures was valued at $999,050 by discounting the maturity date interest
and principal payments to grant date present value using a discount rate of 10% which is the estimated market rate at
which the Company can obtain new financing. The effective interest rate on the convertible debentures is 13.44%.

Accretion expense amounting to $36,250 and $104,455, respectively was recorded on the convertible debentures
during the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2018 (2017 - $31,474 and $31,474, respectively).
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

10. Promissory note payable

On December 19, 2017, the Company entered into an acquisition transaction with Canna Care as detailed in note 4.
As part of the purchase consideration, the Company issued a promissory note in the amount of US$2,500,000. The
note was discounted to its present value and initially recorded at US$2,336,449 ($3,017,057) on the closing date using
an effective interest rate of 7%.

The note is repayable on, and interest free up to, December 19, 2018 after which date interest of 15% per annum is
charged if the principal balance remains unpaid.  The note is secured by the purchased assets of Canna Care.

Accretion expense amounting to $52,849 and $161,308, respectively was recorded on the promissory note during the
three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2018.

11. Share capital

a) Authorized share capital

Unlimited number of voting common shares without par value 

b) Common shares issued
Number of
common
shares Amount

Balance, January 1, 2017 32,900,040 $ 441,806
Private placement
February 1, 2017 and March 9, 2017 (i) 3,242,790 276,900
September 26, 2017 (ii) 138,900 12,501
Share issuance costs (v) - (28,204)

Balance, September 30, 2017 36,281,730 $ 703,003
Private placements
December 19, 2017 (iii) 8,026,510 3,290,869
December 29, 2017 (iv) 1,876,153 769,223
Proceeds allocated to warrants - (1,355,566)
Share issuance costs (v) - (171,749)
Exercise of stock options 1,200,000 230,501
Shares issued on acquisitions (note 4) 4,878,048 1,572,683

Balance, December 31, 2017 52,262,441 $ 5,038,964
Private placements
January 3, 2018 (i) 426,829 175,000
July 3, 2018 (iii) 2,413,395 1,061,894
July 13, 2018 (iii) 378,207 166,411
July 23, 2018 (iii) 1,159,998 510,399
September 4, 2018 (iv) 267,590 117,740
September 10, 2018 (v) 889,261 391,275
September 26, 2018 (v) 2,611,268 1,148,958
Proceeds allocated to warrants (ii) - (1,189,569)
Share issuance costs (i)(vi) - (126,046)
Exercise of stock options 2,702,273 25,840

Balance, September 30, 2018 63,111,262 $ 7,320,866
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

11. Share capital (continued)

b) Common shares issued (continued)

Private placements

2018

(i) On January 3, 2018, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $175,000 through issuance
of 426,829 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share purchase warrant with an
exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. The fair
value of the 213,415 warrants contained in the units issued on this date was estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of $0.32 per share,
expected annualized volatility of 127.58%; risk-free interest rate of 1.79%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected
life of 2 years. In relation to the January 3, 2018 private placement, the Company issued 170,000 broker warrants to
obtain one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four
(24) months from the date of issuance. The fair value of the broker warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of $0.32 per
share; expected annualized volatility of 130.43%; risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and
expected life of 2.00 years.

(ii) During July 2018, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $1,738,704 through issuance
of 3,951,600 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share purchase warrant with an
exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. The fair
value of the 2,052,750 warrants contained in the units issued on this date was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model at $0.21 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of $0.33 per
share, expected annualized volatility of 144.33%; risk-free interest rate of 2.04%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and
expected life of 2 years.

(iii) On September 4, 2018, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $117,740 through
issuance of 267,590 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share purchase warrant
with an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance.
The fair value of the 138,339 warrants contained in the units issued on this date was estimated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model at $0.21 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of
$0.33 per share, expected annualized volatility of 144.33%; risk-free interest rate of 2.04%; expected dividend yield of
0%; and expected life of 2 years.

(iv) On September 10, 2018 and September 26, 2018, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds
of $1,540,233 through issuance of 3,500,529 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common
share purchase warrant with an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from
the date of issuance. The fair value of the 1,750,265 warrants contained in the units issued on this date was estimated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model at $0.21 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying
share price of $0.33 per share, expected annualized volatility of 144.33%; risk-free interest rate of 2.04%; expected
dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of 2 years.

(v) In relation to 2018 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $93,920 and issued broker
warrants valued at $32,126, the total of which was allocated to shares and warrants on a pro-rata basis based on their
relative fair values. 
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MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

11. Share capital (continued)

b) Common shares issued (continued)

2017

Private placements

(i) Between February 1, 2017 and March 9, 2017, the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of
$276,900 through issuance of 3,242,790 common shares. 

(ii) On September 26, 2017, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $12,501 through
issuance of 138,900 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share purchase warrant
with an exercise price of $0.09 per common share for a period of thirty eight (38) months from the date of issuance.
The fair value of the 69,450 warrants contained in the units issued on this date was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model at $0.11 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of $0.14 per
share, expected annualized volatility of 122.70%; risk-free interest rate of 1.57%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and
expected life of 3.18 years.

(iii) On December 19, 2017, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $3,290,869 through
issuance of 8,026,510 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share purchase with
an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. The
fair value of the 4,013,255 warrants issued on this date was estimated using the Black-Scholes options pricing model
at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of $0.32 per share, expected
annualized volatility of 124.83%; risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of
2.00 years.

In relation to the December 19, 2017 private placement, the Company issued 489,850 broker warrants to obtain one
common share in the Company at an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months
from the date of issuance.  The fair value of the broker warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of $0.32 per share, expected
annualized volatility of 124.83%; risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of
2.00 years.

(iv) On December 29, 2017 the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $769,223 through
issuance of 1,876,153 units containing one common share and one half common share purchase warrant with an
exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. The fair
value of the underlying 938,077 warrants issued on this date was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model at $0.18 per warrant, based on the following assumptions: underlying share price of $0.32 per share, expected
annualized volatility of 126.89%; risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; expected dividend yield of 0%; and expected life of
1.97 years.

(v) In relation to 2017 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $204,967 and issued broker
warrants valued at $59,024, the total of which was allocated to shares and warrants on a pro-rata basis based on their
relative fair values.
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11. Share capital (continued)

b) Common shares issued (continued)

Units to be issued:

During September 2018, the Company received $24,999 for 56,818 units to be issued with each unit containing one
common share and one half common share purchase warrant with an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a
period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. 

Warrants

As more fully described under “Private placements”, in conjunction with private placements during the period ended
September 30, 2018, the Company issued 4,068,279 common share purchase warrants with an exercise price of
$0.50 and 251,945 broker warrants, for the purchase of units, with an exercise price of $0.50.

A summary of the warrant activity for the period ended September 30, 2018 is as follows:

Weighted
Average

Number of Exercise
Warrants Price ($)

Balance, January 1, 2017 - -
Granted 3,630,000 0.20

Balance, September 30, 2017 3,630,000 0.20
Granted 5,510,632 0.49

Balance, December 31, 2017 9,140,632 0.38
Granted 4,320,224 0.50

Balance, September 30, 2018 13,460,856 0.42

At September 30, 2018, a summary of warrants outstanding and exercisable is as follows:

Outstanding warrants

Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Number Exercise Remaining
Range of exercise prices Outstanding Price Life (in years)

$0.01 - $0.10 69,450 $ 0.09 2.17
$0.11 - $0.20 3,630,000 0.20 2.17
$0.41 - $0.50 9,761,406 0.50 1.49

13,460,856 $ 0.42 1.67
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11. Share capital (continued)

b) Common shares issued (continued)

Options

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company has granted stock options to consultants in exchange for
services rendered. Options are exercisable over periods of up to 4 years from the date of grant.  The options vest
immediately or on terms established by the Board of Directors, excluding certain performance based options which
vest based on the Company meeting revenue milestones.

During the period ended September 30, 2018, the Company has granted stock options to consultants in exchange for
services rendered. Options are exercisable over a period of 2 years from the date of grant and vest immediately.

Weighted
Average

Number of Exercise
Options Price ($)

Balance, January 1, 2017 - -
Granted 4,368,240 0.02

Balance, September 30, 2017 4,368,240 0.02
Exercised (1,200,000) 0.06

Balance, December 31, 2017 3,168,240 0.02
Granted 2,977,558 0.33
Exercised (2,702,273) 0.01

Balance, September 30, 2018 3,443,525 0.29

At September 30, 2018, a summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable is as follows:

Weighted Weighted
Weighted average average

Range of exercise Number average remaining Number exercise
prices outstanding Exercise Price life (years) exercisable price

$0.01 - $0.04 322,680 $0.01 1.52 322,680 $0.02
$0.09 - $0.12 55,560 $0.09 0.43 55,560 $0.09
$0.12 - $0.16 1,123,332 $0.15 4.53 154,583 $0.15
$0.41 - $0.44 1,941,953 $0.42 4.87 97,056 $0.41

3,443,525 $0.29 4.37 629,879 $0.11

The fair value of 4,368,240 stock options issued in 2017 totaled $700,178. The fair value of the options was calculated
using the Black-Scholes model using a weighted average risk-free interest rate of 0.70%, weighted average volatility of
125%, expected life of 2.38 years and 0% dividend yield.

The fair value of the 2,977,558 stock options issued in 2018 totaled $897,398. The fair value of the options was
calculated using the Black-Scholes model using a risk-free interest rate of 2.04% - 2.32%, weighted average volatility
of 144%, expected life of 1 -5  years, and 0% dividend yield.
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12. Financial instruments and risk management

The Company is exposed, in varying degrees, to a variety of financial related risks. The type of risk exposure and the
way in which such exposure is managed is provided as follows:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on cash and receivables as at
September 30, 2018. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash balances to ensure that it is able to meet its short term and long
term obligations as and when they fall due. The Company manages Company-wide cash projections centrally and
regularly updates projections for changes in business and exchange rates. The expected timing of consolidated cash
flows relating to financial liabilities as at September 30, 2018, are as follows:

Less than 1 year ($) 1-3 years ($) Total ($)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 48,649 - 48,649
Promissory note payable 3,046,883 - 3,046,883
Convertible debentures 1,103,763 - 1,103,763
Purchase consideration payable 548,000 - 548,000

4,747,295 - 4,747,295

Foreign currency risk

Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Company’s financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations affect the revenues and costs that
the Company earns and incurs in its operations.

The Company’s presentation currency is the Canadian dollar and major revenues are earned in US dollars. The
fluctuation of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar will consequently impact the profitability of the Company
and may also affect the value of the Company’s assets and liabilities and the amount of shareholders’ equity. The
Company’s net monetary position in the significant foreign currencies as of September 30, 2018 is summarized below
with the effect on earnings before tax of a 10% fluctuation of each currency to the Canadian dollar:

Net Monetary 
Asset

(Liability) Position
September 30, Impact

2018 of 10%
(CA$ equivalent)variance ($)

US dollar (1,935,485) 193,548
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12. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited and only relates to its ability to
earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. Changes in short term interest rates will not have a significant
effect on the fair value of the Company’s cash account.

Fair value

The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates carrying value due to their short-term nature
and/or carrying market rates of interest.  

Contingent consideration relating to the Company’s acquisition of Canna Care [note 4] is $nil based on expectations of
amounts due.

Contingent consideration relating to the Company’s acquisition of TokeIn [note 7] is $nil based on expectations of
amounts due.

13. Capital management

The Company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern and to provide returns to
shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity comprised of
issued share capital and reserves ($7,385,966 and $4,981,381 as at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively). 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions. The
Company, upon approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues
or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under the specific circumstances.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and the Company’s overall strategy with
respect to capital risk management remains unchanged from the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018
and year ended December 31, 2017.

14. Related party disclosures

Transactions with key management personnel

Compensation of key management personnel 
September 30, September 30,

Nine months ended 2018 2017

Salary and short-term employee benefits $ 368,237 $ 148,338
Share-based compensation $ 312,236 $ 93,259

September 30, September 30,
Three months ended 2018 2017

Salary and short-term employee benefits $ 134,744 $ 65,738
Share-based compensation $ 199,448 $ 62,173
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14. Related party disclosures (continued)

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognized as an expense during the reporting period related to
key management personnel.

15. Commitments and contractual obligations

The Company rents premises under operating leases which expire beginning in 2018. Annual minimum lease
payments in aggregate and for the next five years:

Expires 2018 $ 173,575
2019 694,300
2020 568,679
2021 387,669
2022 275,303

Thereafter 186,376

16. Segmented information

The Company has two reportable operating segments related to its software and clinic businesses which also align
with the two countries in which it operates, namely, United States and Canada. The corporate costs are included in the
Canadian segment. The disclosure with regards to the Company’s aforementioned locations are listed below:

Nine months ended September 30, 2018 USA Canada Total

Revenues $ 8,297,120 $ 21,871 $ 8,318,991

Operating expenses
Interest and bank charges, net 182,982 3,748 186,730
Management fees, salaries and wages 2,573,543 64,624 2,638,167
Marketing and business development 485,587 60,348 545,935
Office and administration 3,047,298 1,989,078 5,036,376
Professional fees 120,232 405,643 525,875
Share-based compensation - 361,609 361,609
Depreciation and amortization 296,767 135,834 432,601

Total operating expenses 6,706,409 3,020,884 9,727,293

Income (loss) from operations 1,590,711 (2,999,013) (1,408,302)
Foreign exchange loss - 100,185 100,185
Accretion on convertible debentures - 265,763 265,763

Net income (loss) before taxes 1,590,711 (3,364,961) (1,774,250)
Income tax expense 175,114 - 175,114

Net income (loss) $ 1,415,597 $ (3,364,961) $ (1,949,364)
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16. Segmented information (continued)

Three months ended September 30, 2018 USA Canada Total

Revenues $ 2,869,645 $ 13,020 $ 2,882,665

Operating expenses
Interest and bank charges, net 60,429 812 61,241
Management fees, salaries and wages 1,128,540 55,719 1,184,259
Marketing and business development 205,184 34,303 239,487
Office and administration 1,112,043 925,260 2,037,303
Professional fees 24,623 307,958 332,581
Share-based compensation - 248,822 248,822
Depreciation and amortization 107,975 52,932 160,907

Total operating expenses 2,638,794 1,625,806 4,264,600

Income (loss) from operations 230,851 (1,612,786) (1,381,935)
Foreign exchange loss - (45,066) (45,066)
Accretion on convertible debentures - 89,099 89,099

Net income (loss) before taxes 230,851 (1,656,819) (1,425,968)
Income tax recovery (22,992) - (22,992)

Net income (loss) $ 253,843 $ (1,656,819) $ (1,402,976)

As at September 30, 2018

Total assets $ 8,936,579 $ 3,380,501 $ 12,317,080

Total liabilities $ 206,640 $ 4,724,474 $ 4,931,114

As at December 31, 2017

Total assets $ 7,775,228 $ 1,326,723 $ 9,101,951

Total liabilities $ 115,980 $ 4,004,590 $ 4,120,570

The Company had only one geographic and operating segment during the period ended September 30, 2017.

17. Letter of intent

On August 28, 2018, the Company entered into a letter of intent (the “LOI”) with CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly 10557404
Canada Corp.)("CB2"). The LOI outlines a proposal to effect an amalgamation between the Company and CB2 and a
listing of the amalgamated entity’s shares on the Canadian Stock Exchange.

18. Subsequent events

(a) On October 2, 2018, the Company completed a final tranche of a private placement financing with the issuance of
an aggregate of 2,062,545 Units at a price of $0.44 per Unit for gross proceeds of $907,520. Each Unit consists of 1
common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 1,031,273 warrants were issued with
each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of MVC at price of $0.50 for a period of two years
from issuance. In relation to this private placement, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $10,728. 

(b) On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 1,651,745 common shares and an aggregate of
825,872 common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $710,250.

(c) On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 294,955 common shares and an aggregate of
147,477 common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $126,831.

- 20 -



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC.
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

18. Subsequent events (continued)

(d) On October 25, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate principal amount of $150,000 of 5% convertible
senior secured debentures and 1,951,000 common shares for total consideration of $1,279,436.

(e) On October 29, 2018, the Company issued 56,800 common shares and 28,400 common share purchase warrants
to a consultant of MVC in satisfaction of debt owed to the consultant. Each whole warrant is exercisable to purchase
one common share of MVC at a price of $0.50 for a period of two years from issuance.

(f) On November 5, 2018, the Company signed employment agreements with its Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and
Chief Operating Officer (COO). Pursuant to the agreements, the Company granted to each of the executives, options
to purchase an aggregate of 2% of the total issued and outstanding common shares of the Company at the date of the
agreements, exercisable at $0.44 per share, for 10 years and vesting annually in three equal installments. This
translates into 1,242,567 options each for the CEO and COO.

(g) On November 8, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 19,889 options to consultants, exercisable over a
period of one to two years from the date of grant with exercise prices ranging from $0.41-$0.44, vesting immediately.

(h) On December 20, 2018, the Company signed a term sheet for the issuance of US$2,400,000 convertible secured
debentures to Merida Capital Partners II LP ('Merida'). Pending issuance of the said debentures, the Company issued
Merida a promissory note and Merida advanced to the Company funds, amounting to US$2,400,000. The Company
used these funds to repay the promissory note outstanding for the purchase consideration of Canna Care (see Note
10). The Note bears interest at 12% per annum and is due 18 months from the issue date. 

(i) On December 31, 2018, the Company issued 795,455 and 1,245,454 shares as consideration for the acquisition of
the Tokeln assets. The shares have a deemed value of $262,500 and $548,000, respectively. 

(j) On January 17, 2019, the Company completed a Private Placement Financing with the issuance of an aggregate of
374,998 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $187,499. Each Units consists of 1 common share and
one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 187,500 warrants were issued with each whole warrant
exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from
issuance.

(k) On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 485,000 options to employees, directors and
consultants. These options are exercisable over a period of 1-5 years from the date of grant with exercise prices
ranging from $0.44-$0.50, vesting over 4 years for employees and immediately for directors and consultants.

On January 25, 2019, the Company closed the first tranche of a Private Placement Financing of subscription receipts
with the issuance of 352,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of $176,000. Each Subscription Receipt
Unit converts automatically into one common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of
352,000 common shares and 176,000 warrants are issuable on conversion of the Subscription Receipt Units , with
each whole warrant is exercisable to purchase one common share of MVC at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3)

years from issuance. The Company also issued 20,440 broker warrants in combination with the closing of the
Subscription Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.50 for a period of three
(3) years, with each whole warrant is exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80
for a period of three (3) years from issuance.

(l) In relation to the 2019 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $23,730.

(m) On February 1, 2019, a consultant exercised 300,000 options at a price of $0.016 per share.
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18. Subsequent events (continued)

(n) On February 14, 2019, the Company closed the second tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing
of subscription receipts with the issuance of 2,184,000 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $1,092,000.
These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 2,184,000 shares and 1,092,000
warrants with each whole warrant exercisable to pruchase one common share of MVC at a price of $0.80 for a period
of three (3) years from issuance, with each whole warrant is exercisable to purchase one common share of MVC at a
price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

(o) On February 15, 2019, the Company closed the third tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of
subscription receipts with the issuance of 1,688,420 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $844,210. These
Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 1,688,420 common shares and 844,210
warrants, with each whole warrant is exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80
for a period of three (3) years from issuance. The Company also issued 5,600 broker warrants in connection with the
closing of the Subscription Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase a Unit at $0.50 for a
period of three (3) years.

(p) On February 21, 2019, the Company closed the fourth tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement Financing of
subscription receipts with the issuance of 533,920 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds of $266,960. These
Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 533,920 common shares and 266,960
warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for
a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

(q) On February 27, 2019, the Company and CB2 completed the Share Exchange Agreement.
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February 27, 2019 

 

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the results of the operations and 

financial position of  MVC Technologies Inc. (the “Company”, “MVC”,  “we”, “us”, “our”) prepared for 

the year ended December 31, 2017 should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017. All figures contained in this MD&A are 

presented in Canadian dollars. 

 

This MD&A contains information up to and including February 27, 2019. 

 

Forward-Looking Statements 

 

Certain statements contained in this MD&A may constitute forward-looking statements. These statements 

relate to future events or the Company’s future performance. All statements, other than statements of 

historical fact, may be forward-looking statements. 

 

The MD&A includes forward looking information with respect to our Sail and TokeIn brands and their 

ability to capitalize on substantial opportunities in the future. It also includes statements with respect to the 

Company’s plans to grow the brands organically and expand beyond North America, focusing on Australia, 

Colombia and emerging cannabis counties within Europe. 

 

Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, 

“anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “propose”, 

“potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar expressions. These 

statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results 

or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The Company 

believes that the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are reasonable but no assurance 

can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements included 

in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon by investors as actual results may vary. These statements 

speak only as of the date of this MD&A and are expressly qualified, in their entirety, by this cautionary 

statement. The Company’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-

looking statements as a result of various risk factors, including, but not limited to: 

 assumptions about the ability of the Company to raise necessary capital for it’s existing operations 

and expansion plans,  

 the ability of the Company to retain key management personnel,  

 assumptions about licensing price and the number of users the Company can attract towards it’s Sail 

and TokeIn brands, and  

 the Company’s ability to capitalize on synergies and adopt reasonable cost saving measures within 

the Canna Care Docs brand.  
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Some of the important environmental factors, but certainly not all, that could cause actual results to differ 

materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements are:  

 

i.  dependence on third parties,  

ii. changes in government regulation,  

iii. the effects of competition,  

iv. impact of American and Canadian economic conditions, and  

v. fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates. 

 

 

Canadian Companies with U.S. Marijuana-Related Assets 

On February 8, 2018, the Canadian Securities Administrators published Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) 

Issuers with U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities (the “Staff Notice”), which provides specific disclosure 

expectations for issuers that currently have, or are in the process of developing, cannabis-related activities 

in the US as permitted within a particular state’s regulatory framework. All issuers with US cannabis-

related activities are expected to clearly and prominently disclose certain prescribed information in required 

disclosure documents. 

Such disclosure includes, but is not limited to, (i) a description of the nature of a reporting issuer’s 

involvement in the US marijuana industry; (ii) disclosure that marijuana is illegal under US federal law and 

that enforcement of relevant laws is a significant risk; (iii) related risks including, among others, the risk 

that third party service providers could suspend or withdraw services and the risk that regulatory bodies 

could impose certain restrictions on the issuer’s ability to operate in the US; and (iv) a discussion of the 

reporting issuer’s ability to access public and private capital, including which financing options are and are 

not available to support continuing operations. Additional disclosures are required to the extent a reporting 

issuer is deemed to be directly or indirectly engaged in the US marijuana industry, or deemed to have 

“ancillary industry involvement”, all as further described in the Staff Notice. 

At this time, the Company’s involvement in the US cannabis industry is limited and its industry 

involvement of cannabis activities is “Ancillary” through direct control of an entity that provides services 

to third parties who are indirectly involved in the U.S. marijuana industry (the “Investee”). In addition, the 

Company does not operate, nor control any subsidiary that is directly engaged in the cultivation or 

distribution of marijuana in accordance with any US state license. As a result of the Investees having 

cannabis-related operations in the US, the Company is subject to the requirements of the Staff Notice and 

accordingly provides the following disclosures: 

Compliance with Applicable State Laws in the US 

 

The Company has not obtained legal advice regarding compliance with applicable state regulatory 

frameworks and exposure and implication arising from US federal laws in the states where its Investee 

conducts operations. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Company is not aware of any non-

compliance with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory framework enacted by the applicable 

US state. The Company is not aware of: (i) any non-compliance by its Investee with respect to marijuana-
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related activities, or (ii) any notices of violation with respect to its Investee’s marijuana-related activities 

by its respective regulatory authorities. 

 

Description of Business 

 

MVC Technologies Inc. was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on November 3, 

2014. The registered address and head office of the Company is located at 5045 Orbitor Drive Building 11 

Suite 300, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L4W 4Y4. 

 

The principal business carried on by the Company since incorporation is the development of an integrated 

cloud-based productivity and business intelligence software platform for the cannabis industry.  

Recognizing a gap in the healthcare market to support the integration of cannabis into the practices of 

clinicians and thereby the treatment plans of patients initially drove the Company to develop the tools and 

services that healthcare practitioners sought out in traditional medicine.  

 

Through market research, the Company found that while the cannabis industry was growing within Canada, 

the volume of patients being prescribed medical cannabis was significantly lower than those that were 

seeking the treatment.  After further research, the Company recognized that the number of clinicians willing 

to prescribe cannabis was quite low. Having worked almost exclusively in the healthcare sector, co-

founders Pradyum Sekar and Kashaf Qureshi set out to create tools that brought traditional healthcare tools 

and protocols to the cannabis market. Pradyum Sekar currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company, and Kashaf Qureshi currently serves as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company. 

 

The Company operates under the brand name Sail Cannabis (“Sail”), which was established on February 

17, 2017.  The Company launched its first product in 2016, it focused on the medical cannabis sector with 

a cannabis Electronic Medical Records (“EMR”) platform and practice management software.   

 

On December 19, 2017, the Company acquired the assets of MedEval Corp. (operating as 

Canna Care Docs) and now operates a network of cannabis evaluation centers in the US under the brand 

CCD.  CCD operates 28 physical locations serving 12 US states and provides access to 35,000 patients per 

year who seek to qualify for state-based cannabis use conditions. It also provides support to over 50 

clinicians seeking a fully-managed business model to assist in their medical cannabis practice. 

 

The Company generates its revenues through two primary sources as set out below: 

 

Sail: Software and Program Licensing  

 

Sail is a cannabis-focused EMR platform with a suite of practice management tools built to support the 

workflows of a clinician and/or their clinical practice specializing in medical cannabis. It allows clinics to 
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manage their entire clinical operation through a single platform designed specifically for the cannabis 

market. The platform also aims to assist clinicians in integrating cannabis into their practice through its 

data-driven tools which include evaluation tools, dosing guidelines and other necessary functions. Sail’s 

goal is to focus on increasing the channels of patients by empowering clinicians to adopt cannabis as part 

their patient’s treatment plan safely and securely. Sail is a software-as-a-service model that generates its 

revenues through monthly or annually recurring revenue charged per seat or clinician. 

 

Canna Care Docs: Clinic Services  

 

CCD is a service-based offering of the Company that today, operates a network of US-based, multi-state 

brick and mortar cannabis evaluation and education centres as well as telemedicine applications in some 

states. CCD serves as a centre for referrals from community practitioners, as well as a walk-in service for 

patients who are seeking access to the legal medical cannabis industry.  CCD offers a Fully Managed 

Service (“FMS”) of pre-and-post education through virtual consultation to save clinicians on educating 

patients and instead focus efforts on patient-centric care. CCD earns revenue by charging for patient visits 

in accordance with the legislated billing process. As a licensed service under its FMS model, CCD earns 

its revenue through educational fees paid on a per patient basis. Patients have access to year-round support 

from CCD’s team of trained educators. CCD is integrated with Sail to ensure full evaluation data capture, 

patient documentation and regulation compliance in patient records and education.  

 

Highlights 

 

 On November 3, 2014, the Company completed a private placement of 12,990,000 common shares of 

the Company (“Common Shares”) for gross proceeds of $4.  

 

 On March 1, 2016, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 2,160,000 Common 

Shares for services rendered with an estimated fair value of $55,771 based on the fair value of the most 

recent private placement. 

 

 On November 1, 2016 the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of $231,930 

through issuance of 13,350,000 common shares, 11,717,873 of which were to be issued at December 

31, 2015. 

 

 On December 1, 2016, the Company completed a share split of its issued and outstanding common 

shares on the basis of 1,000 post-split Common Shares for every 1 pre-split Common Share. 

 

 On December 2, 2016, the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of $140,035 

through issuance of 2,900,040 common shares, 132,975 of which were to be issued at December 31, 

2015. 
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 On December 31, 2016, the Company issued 1,500,000 common shares for the development of 

computer software with an estimated fair value of $37,500 based on the fair value of the most recent 

private placement. 

 

 In connection with the private placements completed in 2016, the Company paid issuance costs of 

$23,444 in cash. 

 

 Between February 1, 2017 and March 9, 2017, the Company completed a non-brokered private 

placement of 3,242,790 Common Shares for gross proceeds of $276,900. 

 

 On May 30, 2017, the Company completed a share class consolidation of its issued and outstanding 

Class A common shares, Class B common shares, and Class C common shares where each class was 

redesignated as Common Shares and each class in its entirety was cancelled. 

 

 From May to September 2017, the Company issued $1,109,000 principal amount convertible 

debentures. The debentures mature on May 30, 2019 and bear interest at 5% with each debenture being 

convertible into a unit. Each unit comprises one common share of the Company exercisable at $0.15 

per share, and one warrant which entitles the holder to acquire one half common share of the Company 

at $0.20 per warrant. The convertible debentures will automatically convert into units on completion of 

a liquidity event. The Company received net proceeds of $1,037,310 after $71,690 of arrangement fees. 

 

In conjunction with the issuance of the convertible debentures, the Company issued 3,630,000 Common 

Share purchase warrants to the debenture holders. Each warrant is exercisable at $0.20 and expires on 

November 30, 2020. The value of these warrants and the equity component of the convertible 

debentures, on the grant date, was determined by assigning to these instruments the residual value after 

determining the fair value of the underlying liability component of the convertible debentures. 

 

 On September 26, 2017, the Company completed a private placement where the Company issued 

138,900 units for gross proceeds of $12,501. Each unit consisting of one Common Share and one 

Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common 

Share at an exercise price of $0.09 per share for a period of thirty eight (38) months from the date of 

issuance. 

 

 On December 8, 2017, the Company completed a share split of its issued and outstanding common 

shares on the basis of 30 post-split Common Shares for every 1 pre-split Common Share. 

 



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

6 

 On December 19, 2017, the Company completed a brokered private placement where the Company 

issued 8,026,510 units for gross proceeds of $3,290,869. Each unit consisting of one Common Share 

and one Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one 

Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the 

date of issuance. 

 

In connection with the private placement completed on December 19, 2017, the Company issued 

489,850 broker warrants to with the holder having a right to obtain one Common Share at an exercise 

price of $0.50 per Common Share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. 

 

 On December 19, 2017 the Company announced that it had entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement 

with MedEval Corp.  

 

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company would acquire specified identifiable tangible and 

intangible assets. MedEval Corp. is a cannabis clinic evaluation business with evaluation centres across 

several US states with legalized medical cannabis programs. MedEval Corp. qualifies patients into 

medical marijuana programs through independent medical evaluations, functional capacity evaluations, 

medical record reviews and occupational health services. 

 

For accounting purposes, the acquisition was treated as a business combination under IFRS 3 – Business 

Combinations and was accounted for by applying the acquisition method, whereby the assets acquired, 

and the liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair values with any excess of the aggregate 

consideration over the fair values of the identifiable net assets allocated to goodwill. Operating results 

were included in these Financial Statements from the date of the acquisition.  

 

Pursuant to the transaction, the Company made an immediate cash payment of US$2,500,000 

($3,228,250), issued a promissory note with a present value of US$2,336,449 ($3,017,057) payable by 

December 19, 2018, and issued 4,878,048 shares in the Company valued at $1,572,638. 

 

 On December 29, 2017, the Company completed a private placement where the Company issued 

1,876,153 units for gross proceeds of $769,223. Each unit consisting of one Common Share and one 

Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common 

Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of 

issuance. 

 

 In connection with the private placements completed in 2017, the Company paid issuance costs of 

$204,967 in cash and issued broker warrants valued at $59,024, the total of which was allocated to 

shares and warrants on a pro-rata basis based on their relative fair values. 
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 On January 3, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement where the Company 

issued 426,829 units for gross proceeds of $175,000. Each unit consisting of one Common Share and a 

Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common 

Share at an exercise price of $0.50 for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. 

 

In connection to the private placement completed on January 3, 2018, the Company issued 170,000 

broker warrants. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one Common Share at an exercise price 

of $0.50 for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. In connection with the 

private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $22,452. 

 

 From July 3 2018 to September 10, 2018, the Company completed non-brokered private placements 

where the Company issued 5,108,451 units for gross proceeds of $2,247,718. Each unit consisting of 

one Common Share and one half Common Share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the 

holder to purchase one Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of twenty 

four (24) months from the date of issuance. Of these units, 1,178,849 units amounting to $518,694 were 

reported as ‘units to be issued’ as at June 30, 2018. The Company issued 2,554,226 warrants and 81,945 

broker warrants, each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common Share at an 

exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. In 

connection to the private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $102,604. 

 

 On September 11, 2018 the Company announced that it had entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement 

with 1035855 Canada Inc. for the purchase of the TokeIn platform (“TokeIn”) in order to expand into 

downstream market segments such as retailers. TokeIn provides a SaaS-based customer relationship 

management software and a sales and marketing platform with loyalty and rewards programs allowing 

its customers, including retail customers, to improve on customer acquisition, customer retention and 

analytics by feeding business intelligence and targeted marketing campaigns to their customer base. 

 

Consideration in connection with the acquisition of TokeIn included an initial cash payment of 

$150,000, the issuance of 795,455 Common Shares at an estimated value of $350,000, and the issuances 

on December 31, 2018 of 1,245,455 Common Shares at an estimated value of $548,000, where share 

price is based on the 20-day value weighted price of the Common Shares if listed on a recognized 

Canadian stock exchange or at a price of $0.44 per share if the Common Shares are not listed on a 

recognized Canadian stock exchange. In the event the TokeIn assets achieve certain milestones by 

December 31, 2020, the Company is obligated to issue an additional 2,845,455 Common Shares with 

an estimated value of $1,252,000, where share price is based on the 20-day value weighted average of 

the Common Shares if listed on a recognized Canadian stock exchange or at a price of $0.44 per share 

if the Common Shares are not listed on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 

 

 On October 2, 2018, the Company completed a final tranche of a private placement financing with the 

issuance of an aggregate of 2,062,545 Units at a price of $0.44 per Unit for gross proceeds of $907,520. 

Each Unit consists of 1 common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 
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1,031,273 warrants were issued with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of 

MVC at price of $0.50 for a period of two years from issuance. In relation to this private placement, the 

Company paid cash issuance costs of $10,728.  

 

 On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 1,651,745 common shares and an 

aggregate of 825,872 common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $710,250. 

 

 On October 19, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 294,955 common shares and an 

aggregate of 147,477 common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $126,831. 

 

 On October 25, 2018, the Company repurchased an aggregate principal amount of $150,000 of 5% 

convertible senior secured debentures and 1,951,000 common shares for total consideration of 

$1,279,436. 

 

 On October 29, 2018, the Company issued 56,800 common shares and 28,400 common share purchase 

warrants to a consultant of MVC in satisfaction of debt owed to the consultant. Each whole warrant is 

exercisable to purchase one common share of MVC at a price of $0.50 for a period of two years from 

issuance. 

 

 On November 5, 2018, the Company signed employment agreements with its Chief Executive Officer 

(CEO) and Chief Operating Officer (COO). Pursuant to the agreements, the Company granted to each 

of the executives, options to purchase an aggregate of 2% of the total issued and outstanding common 

shares of the Company at the date of the agreements, exercisable at $0.44 per share, for 10 years and 

vesting annually in three equal installments. This translates into 1,242,567 options each for the CEO 

and COO. 

 

 On November 8, 2018, the Company granted an aggregate of 19,889 options to consultants, exercisable 

over a period of one to two years from the date of grant with exercise prices ranging from $0.41-$0.44, 

vesting immediately. 

 

 On December 20, 2018, the Company signed a term sheet for the issuance of US$2,400,000 convertible 

secured debentures to Merida Capital Partners II LP (‘Merida’). Pending issuance of the said 

debentures, the Company issued Merida a promissory note and Merida advanced to the Company funds, 

amounting to US$2,400,000. The Company used these funds to repay the promissory note outstanding 

for the purchase consideration of Canna Care (see Note 12). 

 

 On December 31, 2018, the Company issued 795,455 and 1,245,454 shares as consideration for the 

acquisition of the TokeIn assets. The shares have a deemed value of $262,500 and $548,000, 

respectively. 

 

 On January 17, 2019, the Company completed a Private Placement Financing with the issuance of an 

aggregate of 374,998 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $187,499. Each Units 

consists of 1 common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 187,500 

warrants were issued with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the 

Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 
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 On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 485,000 options to employees, directors 

and consultants. These options are exercisable over a period of 1-5 years from the date of grant with 

exercise prices ranging from $0.44 -$0.50, vesting over 4 years for employees and immediately for 

directors and consultants 

 

 On January 25, 2019, the Company closed the first tranche of a Private Placement Financing of 

subscription receipts with the issuance of 352,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of 

$176,000. Each Subscription Receipt Unit converts automatically into one common share and one-half 

common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 352,000 common shares and 176,000 warrants are 

issuable on conversion of the Subscription Receipt Units, with each whole warrant exercisable to 

purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from 

issuance. The Company also issued 20,440 broker warrants in combination with the closing of the 

Subscription Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.50 for 

a period of three (3) years. 

 

 On February 1, 2019, a consultant exercised 300,000 options at a price of $0.016 per share. 

 

 On February 14, 2019, the Company closed the second tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 2,184,000 subscription receipt units for gross 

proceeds of $1,092,000. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate 

of 2,184,000 shares and 1,092,000 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one 

common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

 

 On February 15, 2019, the Company closed the third tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 1,688,420 subscription receipt units for gross 

proceeds of $844,210. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate 

of 1,688,420 common shares and 844,210 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase 

one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

The Company also issued 5,600 broker warrants in connection with the closing of the Subscription 

Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase a Unit at $0.50 for a period of three 

(3) years. 

 

 On February 21, 2019, the Company closed the fourth tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 533,920 subscription receipt units for gross 

proceeds of $266,960. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate 

of 533,920 common shares and 266,960 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one 

common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

 

 In relation to the 2019 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $23,730. 
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Outlook and Overall Performance 
 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable 

to a going concern, which assumes the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course 

of business. Accordingly, they do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary should the 

Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and 

liquidate its liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different 

from those in the accompanying financial statements. Such adjustments could be material. 

 

With the recent acquisition of CCD as well as advancement in the technology offerings of Sail, both brands 

have substantial opportunities for near-term growth moving forward.  The Company will look to continue 

to grow the brands organically but also sees synergies both in cost reductions and growth opportunities 

within the combined operations. 

 

As CCD provides a substantial volume of past and recurring patient data, Sail will use that data to further 

refine its technology platform.  As the Sail platform uses clinical research, patient data and inputs from its 

Medical Advisory Board to power its Clinical Decision Support platform, the access to this patient data is 

critical to the refinement of the platform.  The unique opportunity to control data inputs throughout the 

entire patient evaluation and education process will allow the Company to leverage this clinically-validated 

data to further tune the algorithms used within the Sail platform.  This will provide direct improvement on   

CCD’s care of its own patient network but also accelerate the expansion of Sail into other clinic groups. 

The completeness of the Sail platform is also critical to its growth.  Cannabis and other specialty clinics 

will look to Sail for tools to support the entire clinical operation.  From scheduling, patient file management, 

time sheet management, to all other needs of each clinic, Sail’s advantage of having a multi-state network 

of clinics to test product advancements and new tool sets will allow for in-market testing with very low 

risk. 

 

Aside from the synergies of leveraging the two brands in combination, both will continue to have aggressive 

growth targets independently of one another. 

 

In particular, Sail will continue its market expansion beyond North America focusing on Australia, 

Colombia and emerging cannabis counties within Europe.  The Sail platform has been built in such a way 

that entry into new countries requires very little customization or platform adjustments and thus holds no 

barrier to entry.  Sail will look to enter markets that are in their infancy but have a solid framework in place 

in which clinicians are ready to begin prescribing.  Prospective client and partner discussions have advanced 

in several regions creating the potential for the Sail platform to be launched in 2019 into these new markets.  

Sail will also continue to work to expand its footprint both in Canada and in the United States through 

traditional marketing and sales efforts. 
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CCD will look to expand its current 28 brick and mortar evaluation centres into new cities and states as 

legalization continues to evolve throughout the US.  While federal legalization remains stalled in the US, 

the government has been clear that states are able to create their own frameworks when it comes to the 

legalization of cannabis – both medically and recreationally.  For example, since 2014, Colorado has 

adopted a fully legalized cannabis program for both a medical program and recreational usage.  This is 

diametrically opposed to more conservative states such as Wyoming, Alabama and North Dakota which 

have never put cannabis laws on the ballot and have shown no signs of legalization in the future.  That said, 

by the end of 2017, more than 50% of all states have adopted a medical program and make way for growth 

in CCD1.   

 

CCD follows a simple methodology when seeking out new locations.  CCD looks for emerging states that 

are ready to implement a medical cannabis program and positions itself in areas outside of the city center 

to capture a rural and often overlooked segment of the market.  This allows for less competition as well as 

higher margins due to lower operational costs in secondary and tertiary markets.  Moving forward, several 

states hold substantial patient opportunity with large geographies that can fit the traditional methodology.  

In particular, Pennsylvania, Ohio, Illinois, New York and New Jersey are key targets for expansion efforts.  

The Company will also look to leverage Sail’s telemedicine portal to be used by CCD to operate in some 

regions under a virtual clinic model.  This helps to reach a larger target market with very little overhead. 

 

Both brands will capitalize on post-acquisition cost synergies, place greater focus on external marketing 

and event participation and find new ways to cross-promote for even further market penetration.  

 

Selected Annual Financial Information 

 

The following table highlights certain information and financial data of the Company for each of the three 

most recently completed financial years ended December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016, and December 31, 

2015, respectively. Information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the audited financial 

statements for the indicated years ended. It should also be noted that results and balances for 2017 include 

balances and results of the CCD operations acquired on December 19, 2017 and are therefore significantly 

higher than the results and balances for 2015-2016. 

 

$ 2017 2016 2015 

Revenue            280,059  1,500  — 

Operating expenses        1,557,619  154,945  96,496 

Other income           (28,285) —  — 

Net loss before income taxes       (1,249,275)  (153,445) (96,496) 

Income tax expense              7,628  —  — 

Net loss       (1,256,903)  (153,445) (96,496) 

                                                 
1 https://ktla.com/2018/01/31/u-s-legal-weed-industry-generated-9b-in-revenue-in-2017/ 
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Loss per share             (0.03) (0.01) (0.01) 

 

Revenue 

 

The Company’s revenue was $280,059, $1,500 and $nil during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 

and 2015, respectively. Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 consisted of software licensing fees 

amounting to $44,101 (2016: $1,500), and clinic fees amounting to $235,958 (2016: $nil).  

 

The increase in revenue in 2017 was due to the acquisition of CCD (see Description of Business section) 

on December 19, 2017 and recognition of CCD revenue from December 19, 2017 to December 31, 2017. 

Revenue in 2016 was generated from beta-testing on three customers; and revenue in 2015 was nil due to 

the Company being in the development stage of its platform.  

 

Operating Expenses 

 

Operating expenses during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 totaled $1,557,619, 

$154,945 and $96,496, respectively. The increase in operating expenses year-to-year is a result of personnel 

growth, increased general and administrative costs, and general expansion. Most of the expenses in 2015 

were a result of outsourced functions, but the Company has migrated most of these previously outsourced 

functions in-house, starting in 2016.  

 

The increase in 2017 was due to the acquisition of CCD as described above. The increase included 

transaction and closing costs for the acquisition, as well as the additional expenditures associated with 

CCD’s operations. Operating expenses during the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily comprised of 

management fees, salaries and wages amounting to $586,226 (2016: $26,794, 2015: $nil), office and 

administration expenses amounting to $187,786 (2016: $50,434, 2015: $78,770), professional fees 

amounting to $211,346 (2016: $18,025, 2015: $5,512), share based compensation amounting to $387,943 

(2016: $55,771, 2015: $nil) marketing and business development expenses amounting to $14,708 (2016: 

$3,126, 2015: $11,460) and depreciation and amortization amounting to $171,677 (2016: $nil, 2015: $nil). 

 

Net Income 

 

The Company recorded net losses before income taxes of $1,249,275, $153,445, and $96,496 during the 

years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 respectively. The change was primarily due to the 

acquisition of CCD. The increased revenue from CCD operations was offset by the transaction and closing 

costs associated with the transaction. Specifically, professional fee amounting to $211,346 was primarily 

due to audit and legal fee with respect to the going public process and Share based compensation amounting 

to $387,943, was primarily in relation to stock options provided to investors, vesting during the period. 
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Additional changes were driven by an increase in workforce as the Company was in a substantial 

development phase with its technology platform. 

 

Fourth quarter 

 

During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company achieved a significant milestone by acquiring the 

operations/assets of Canna Care Docs. Results for the quarter include the results of CCD’s clinical business 

from the date of acquisition up to December 31, 2017. Revenue during the quarter was $237,041, operating 

expenses were $613,810, and Net loss before income tax was $317,010. 

 

Discussion of Operations 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company had two reportable operating segments related to its 

software and clinic businesses which also align with the two countries in which it operates, the United 

States and Canada. 

 

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 for the US (Clinic) and Canada (Software) were $235,958 

and $44,101, respectively.  The increase in revenue for the US business is due to the December 2017 

acquisition of CCD.  Moving forward, the Company will look to grow its clinic-based revenue lines through 

new clinic locations and entry into new states.  Throughout 2018, the Company will also look at additional 

growth strategies either through organic entry of CCD into new countries or opportunistic acquisition 

targets.  Growth in revenue for the software business was due to net new client acquisition in 2017 

including, but not limited to CCD up until the point of acquisition.  Moving forward, the Company will 

continue to penetrate new markets, in the US and internationally, with its software solution and its Canadian 

user base. 

 

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 for the US and Canada were $204,654 and 

$1,352,965, respectively. Operating expenses for the US primarily comprised of management fees, salaries 

and wages amounting to $135,721, office and administration amounting to $33,607 and professional fees 

amounting to $23,705.  These were largely driven by the addition of operating expenses related to CCD 

post-acquisition. Operating expenses for Canada primarily comprised of management fees, salaries and 

wages amounting to $450,505, office and administration amounting to $154,179, professional fees 

amounting to $187,641, share-based compensation amounting to $387,943 and depreciation and 

amortization amounting $160,056.  These expenses were primarily due to an increase in labour expenses 

related to the development of the Company’s technology platform that had been previously outsourced. 

 

Net losses after taxes for the year ended December 31, 2017 for the US and Canada were $23,676 and 

$(1,280,579), respectively. The change in the relationship between costs and revenue is due to the 

acquisition costs associated with CCD and the ability to only recognize 12 days of revenue attributed to 
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CCD within the year.  The Company is confident that this disparity will be corrected as full revenue 

recognition comes onboard with CCD in 2018. 

 

Significant Assets and liabilities 

 

$ December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

Cash and restricted cash 1,014,482   43,509 5,131 

Trade and other receivables 117,984  15,684  28,625 

Computer software 323,037  129,279  74,279 

Other intangible assets 3,941,464  —  —  

Goodwill 3,642,260  —  —  

Promissory note payable 3,050,056 — — 

Convertible debentures 999,308 — — 

 

The Company’s total assets at December 31, 2017 were $9,101,951 (December 31, 2016: $188,472, 

December 31, 2015: $108,035). These mainly comprised cash amounting to $1,014,482 (December 31, 

2016: $43,509, December 31, 2015: $5,131), trade and other receivables amounting to $117,984 (December 

31, 2016: $15,684, December 31, 2015: $28,625), computer software amounting to $323,037 (December 

31, 2016: $129,279, December 31, 2015: $74,279), other intangible assets amounting to $3,941,464 

(December 31, 2016 and 2015: $nil), goodwill amounting to $3,642,260 (December 31, 2016 and 2015: 

$nil), promissory note payable amounting to $3,050,056 (December 31, 2016 and 2015: $nil), and 

convertible debentures amounting to $999,308 (December 31, 2016 and 2015: $nil). 

 

The Company’s cash increased in 2016 due to small friends and family investments made during the year. 

Receivables were lower in 2016 as GST refunds were received during the year. Computer software was 

higher in 2016 due to amounts spent on software development.  

 

A major milestone for the Company was the acquisition of CCD on December 19, 2017. The Company’s 

total assets increased in 2017 as a result of the acquisition of CCD (See description of business section). 

Cash and restricted cash increased as a result of funds on deposit from private placements. Trade receivables 

increased as result of funds advanced by the Company to CCD after acquisition for working capital. Other 

intangibles comprise Customer Relationships and Brand acquired by the Company and Goodwill is the 

excess of consideration paid for the acquisition, over the fair value of assets acquired. 
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Outstanding Share Data 

 

As of the date of this MD&A, 68,807,154 Common Shares are issued and outstanding, 52,262,441 of which 

had been issued as at December 31, 2017. The following table reconciles the outstanding shares as at 

December 31, 2017 and the date of the MD&A: 

 

 Shares Warrants Options 

December 31, 2017 52,262,441  9,140,632 3,168,240 

February 27, 2019 68,807,154 16,139,890 6,110,868 

 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

$ 2017 2016 2015 

Cash used in operating activities          (835,406)         (82,657) (114,565) 

Cash used in investing activities       (3,579,586)           (17,500) (68,849) 

Cash provided by financing activities 5,244,916        138,535 166,421 

 

The Company’s cash used in operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $835,406 (2016: 

$82,657 and 2015: $114,565). The increase was largely due to the increased expenses associated with the 

acquisition and operation of CCD as well as an increase in salaries and wages related to the development 

of the Company’s technology platform in 2017. 

 

The Company’s cash used in investing for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $3,579,586 (2016: 

$17,500 and 2015: $68,849). The increase was largely due to the cash and shares paid for the acquisition 

of CCD. The increase was also partially a result of increased spending on staff for the development of the 

Company’s software platform. 

 

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had a cash balance of $1,014,482 (December 31, 2016: $43,509, 

December 31, 2015: $5,131). The Company had current liabilities of $3,121,262 (December 31, 2016: 

$11,675, December 31, 2015: $3,178). The Company’s positive cash flow is primarily a result of the private 

placement financings completed during the year ended December 31, 2017. The Company raised $694,693 

from private placement financings completed between January and June 2018 and plans to raise an 

additional $5M to 15M from private placements by Q4 2018. The funds raised from the planned private 

placements will be used to fund expansion of operations to increase cash flow. 

 

The Company’s capital expenditures forecast for 2018 include CCD clinic expansion in the US. The capital 

will be spent on furniture and leasehold improvement for new clinics opened. The Company anticipates 

spending about $30,000 per quarter with the bulk of the expenditures being financed from earnings from 
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the US operations. The Company will continue to seek businesses and technology that would provide a 

strategic benefit as acquisition targets. 

 

The Company has a negative working capital due to a promissory note payable during 2018. Funds raised 

from the planned private placements will be used to repay the promissory note and fund expansion of 

operation to increase cash flow. The management therefore believes that the Company is in good condition 

to continue as a going concern. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements from the date of its incorporation to the 

date of this MD&A.  

 

Related Party Transactions 

 

As at December 31, 2016, the Company owed $6,421 in respect of a non-interest bearing, unsecured, 

demand loan provided by a company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the 

Chief Operating Officer of the Company.  

 

Key management personnel include those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. The Company’s key management currently 

consists of the Company’s directors and officers. 

 

Compensation of key management personnel amounted to $201,358, $111,721 and $58,273 for the years 

ended December 31, 2017 2016, and 2015 respectively. 
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Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, trade and other receivables and current liabilities. 

Management has disclosed the impact of credit, liquidity, foreign currency, and interest rate risk below and 

in the audited consolidated financial statements. 

 

Credit risk 

  

Financial instruments that can potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist 

primarily of cash and trade and other receivables. The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing 

its cash with high credit quality financial institutions. The Company does not have any financial assets 

except as disclosed in this MD&A. 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come 

due. The Company currently settles its financial obligations out of cash. The ability to do this relies on the 

Company scaling to become profitable or raising additional equity in excess of anticipated cash needs. 

 

Foreign currency risk 

 

Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Company’s financial 

instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations affect 

the revenue and costs that the Company earns and incurs in its operations. 

The Company’s presentation currency is the Canadian dollar but a large proportion of revenue is earned in 

the US dollar. The fluctuation of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar will consequently impact 

the profitability of the Company and may also affect the value of the Company’s assets and liabilities. The 

Company’s net monetary position in the significant foreign currencies as of December 31, 2017 is 

summarized below with the effect on earnings before tax of a 10% fluctuation of each currency to the 

Canadian dollar: 

 Net Monetary Asset 

(Liability) Position 

December 31, 2017 

(CA$ equivalent) 

Impact of 10% 

variance in foreign 

exchange rate 

US dollar (2,951,441) 295,144 
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Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited and 

only relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. Changes in short term 

interest rates will not have a significant effect on the fair value of the Company’s cash account. 

 

Capital Management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing its capital are as follows: 

 

1. to maintain a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital at an acceptable risk level 

while providing an appropriate return to its shareholders; 

 

2. to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 

future development of the business; 

 

3. to safeguard the Company’s ability to obtain financing should the need arise; and 

 

4. to maintain financial flexibility in order to have access to capital in the event of future capital 

acquisitions. 
 

The Company manages its capital structure in accordance with the objectives stated above, as well as 

responding to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets.  

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

 

The Company has prepared the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Significant accounting policies and estimates are 

described in Notes 3 and 4 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2017 

and 2016 and for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements according to IFRS requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities; disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements; and the reported amounts of expenses during 

the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. 
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Significant accounting estimates: 

 The valuation of equity components of convertible debentures. 

 The valuation of share-based payments including warrants and options issued. 

 The valuation of intangible assets acquired as part of the asset acquisition.  

 The valuation of purchase consideration for the acquisition of CCD including valuation of the 

promissory note, Common Shares and contingent consideration issued as consideration. 

 

Significant accounting judgments: 

 Determination of the functional currency of the Company and its foreign operations.  

 The evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 The assessment of indications of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. 

 

Functional currency 

  

The functional currency is the United States dollar for operations in the United States and the Canadian 

dollar for operations in Canada. The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries has been 

assessed by management based on consideration of the currency and economic factors that mainly influence 

the Company’s revenue, operating costs, financing and related transactions. Specifically, the Company 

considers the currencies that revenues are most commonly denominated and expenses are settled by each 

entity as well as the currency that each entity receives or raises financing. Changes to these factors may 

have an impact on the judgment applied in the determination of the Company’s functional currency. The 

application of the Company’s accounting policies requires management to use estimates and judgments 

that can have a significant effect on the revenues, expenses, comprehensive income, assets and liabilities 

recognized and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.   

 

Deferred taxes  

 

The determination of the Company’s tax recovery/expense for the period and deferred tax assets and 

liabilities involves significant estimation and judgment by management. In determining these amounts, 

management interprets tax legislation in a variety of jurisdictions and makes estimates of the expected 

timing of the reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities and the deferral and deductibility of certain items. 

Management may also make estimates of future earnings, which affect the extent to which potential future 

tax benefits may be used. The Company is subject to assessments by various taxation authorities, which 

may interpret legislation differently. These differences may affect the final amount or the timing of the 

payment of taxes. The Company provides for such differences where known based on management’s best 

estimate of the probable outcome of these matters. 
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Future changes in accounting policies including initial adoption 

 

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 

 

In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued the final version of IFRS 9 – 

Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which brings together the classification and measurement, impairment, 

and hedge-accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement (“IAS 39”).  

 

Classification and measurement – Financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model 

under which they are managed and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Financial 

liabilities are classified in a similar manner as under IAS 39, except that financial liabilities measured at 

fair value will have fair value changes resulting from changes in the entity’s own credit risk recognized in 

Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) instead of Net Income, unless this would create an accounting 

mismatch.  

 

Impairment – The measurement of impairment of financial assets is based on an expected credit loss model. 

It is no longer necessary for a triggering event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized. IFRS 

9 also includes new disclosure requirements about expected credit losses and credit risk.  

 

Hedge accounting – The new general hedge accounting model more closely aligns hedge accounting with 

risk management activities undertaken by entities when hedging their financial and non-financial risk 

exposures. It will provide more opportunities to apply hedge accounting to reflect actual risk management 

activities. 

 

IFRS 9 is required to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company 

has determined financial and disclosure impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements to 

be immaterial apart from changes to the classification of financial assets.  Under IFRS 9, current 

classifications of financial assets would be revised to place financial assets into one of the following three 

categories, which determine measurement after initial recognition: (a) amortized cost, (b) fair value through 

other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and (c) fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

 

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers 

 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), which 

replaces IAS 11 – Construction Contracts, IAS 18 – Revenue and IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty 

Programmes (“IFRIC 13”), as well as various other interpretations regarding revenue. IFRS 15 outlines a 

single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with 

customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and 
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financial instruments. The standard provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be applied to all 

contracts with customers to determine how and when an entity should recognize revenue. IFRS 15 also 

contains enhanced disclosure requirements. IFRS 15 will be applied for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2018. 

 

The Company has determined the impact of adoption of IFRS 15 on the aforementioned revenue streams 

to be immaterial. 

 

IFRS 16 - Leases 

 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 – Leases ("IFRS 16"), which replaces IAS 17 – Leases, and its 

associated interpretative guidance. IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, 

distinguishing between a lease and a service contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset 

being leased. For those assets determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant 

changes to the accounting by lessees, introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar 

to current finance lease accounting, with limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low value 

assets. Lessor accounting remains similar to current accounting practice. The standard is effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted for entities that apply 

IFRS 15. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final standard is expected to have on its 

consolidated financial statements and plans to adopt the requirements in 2019. 

 

IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments  

 

IFRIC 23 was issued in June 2017 and is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, to be 

applied retrospectively. IFRIC 23 provides guidance on applying the recognition and measurement 

requirements in IAS 12, Income Taxes, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments including, but 

not limited to, whether uncertain tax treatments should be considered together or separately based on which 

approach better predicts resolution of the uncertainty. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the 

final standard is expected to have on its consolidated financial statements and plans to adopt the 

requirements in 2019.
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Additional information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
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February 27, 2019 

 

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the results of the operations and 

financial position of  MVC Technologies Inc. (the “Company”, “MVC”,  “we”, “us”, “our”) prepared for 

the period ended September 30, 2018 should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated 

financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2018. All figures contained in this MD&A are 

presented in Canadian dollars. 

 

This MD&A contains information up to and including February 27, 2019. 

 

Forward-looking statements 

 

Certain statements contained in this MD&A may constitute forward-looking statements. These statements 

relate to future events or the Company’s future performance. All statements, other than statements of 

historical fact, may be forward-looking statements. 

 

The MD&A includes forward looking information with respect to our Sail and TokeIn brands and their 

ability to capitalize on substantial opportunities in the future. It also includes statements with respect to the 

Company’s plans to grow the brands organically and expand beyond North America, focusing on Australia, 

Colombia and emerging cannabis counties within Europe. 

 

Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, 

“anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “propose”, 

“potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar expressions. These 

statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results 

or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The Company 

believes that the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are reasonable but no assurance 

can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements included 

in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon by investors as actual results may vary. These statements 

speak only as of the date of this MD&A and are expressly qualified, in their entirety, by this cautionary 

statement. The Company’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-

looking statements as a result of various risk factors, including, but not limited to: 

 assumptions about the ability of the Company to raise necessary capital for it’s existing operations 

and expansion plans,  

 the ability of the Company to retain key management personnel,  

 assumptions about licensing price and the number of users the Company can attract towards it’s Sail 

and TokeIn brands, and  

 the Company’s ability to capitalize on synergies and adopt reasonable cost saving measures within 

the Canna Care Docs brand.  
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Some of the important environmental factors, but certainly not all, that could cause actual results to differ 

materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements are:  

 

i.  dependence on third parties,  

ii. changes in government regulation,  

iii. the effects of competition,  

iv. impact of American and Canadian economic conditions, and  

v. fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates. 

 

Canadian Companies with U.S. Marijuana-Related Assets 

On February 8, 2018, the Canadian Securities Administrators published Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) 

Issuers with U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities (the “Staff Notice”), which provides specific disclosure 

expectations for issuers that currently have, or are in the process of developing, cannabis-related activities 

in the US as permitted within a particular state’s regulatory framework. All issuers with US cannabis-

related activities are expected to clearly and prominently disclose certain prescribed information in required 

disclosure documents. 

Such disclosure includes, but is not limited to, (i) a description of the nature of a reporting issuer’s 

involvement in the US marijuana industry; (ii) disclosure that marijuana is illegal under US federal law and 

that enforcement of relevant laws is a significant risk; (iii) related risks including, among others, the risk 

that third party service providers could suspend or withdraw services and the risk that regulatory bodies 

could impose certain restrictions on the issuer’s ability to operate in the US; and (iv) a discussion of the 

reporting issuer’s ability to access public and private capital, including which financing options are and are 

not available to support continuing operations. Additional disclosures are required to the extent a reporting 

issuer is deemed to be directly or indirectly engaged in the US marijuana industry, or deemed to have 

“ancillary industry involvement”, all as further described in the Staff Notice. 

At this time, the Company’s involvement in the US cannabis industry is limited and its industry 

involvement of cannabis activities is “Ancillary” through direct control of an entity that provides services 

to third parties who are indirectly involved in the U.S. marijuana industry (the “Investee”). In addition, the 

Company does not operate, nor control any subsidiary that is directly engaged in the cultivation or 

distribution of marijuana in accordance with any US state license. As a result of the Investees having 

cannabis-related operations in the US, the Company is subject to the requirements of the Staff Notice and 

accordingly provides the following disclosures: 

Compliance with Applicable State Laws in the US 

 

The Company has not obtained legal advice regarding compliance with applicable state regulatory 

frameworks and exposure and implication arising from US federal laws in the states where its Investee 

conducts operations. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Company is not aware of any non-

compliance with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory framework enacted by the applicable 

US state. The Company is not aware of: (i) any non-compliance by its Investee with respect to marijuana-
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related activities, or (ii) any notices of violation with respect to its Investee’s marijuana-related activities 

by its respective regulatory authorities. 

 

Description of Business 

 

MVC Technologies Inc. was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on November 3, 

2014. The registered address and head office of the Company is located at 5045 Orbitor Drive Building 11 

Suite 300, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L4W 4Y4. 

 

The principal business carried on by the Company since incorporation is the development of an integrated 

cloud-based productivity and business intelligence software platform for the cannabis industry.  

Recognizing a gap in the healthcare market to support the integration of cannabis into the practices of 

clinicians and thereby the treatment plans of patients initially drove the Company to develop the tools and 

services that healthcare practitioners sought out in traditional medicine.  

 

Through market research, the Company found that while the cannabis industry was growing within Canada, 

the volume of patients being prescribed medical cannabis was significantly lower than those that were 

seeking the treatment.  After further research, the Company recognized that the number of clinicians willing 

to prescribe cannabis was quite low. Having worked almost exclusively in the healthcare sector, co-

founders Pradyum Sekar and Kashaf Qureshi set out to create tools that brought traditional healthcare tools 

and protocols to the cannabis market. Pradyum Sekar currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company, and Kashaf Qureshi currently serves as President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company.  

 

The Company operates under the brand name Sail Cannabis (“Sail”), which was established on February 

17, 2017.   The Company launched its first product in 2016, it focused on the medical cannabis sector with 

a cannabis Electronic Medical Records (“EMR”) platform and practice management software.   

 

On December 19, 2017, the Company acquired the assets of MedEval Corp. (operating as 

Canna Care Docs) and now operates a network of cannabis evaluation centers in the US under the brand 

CCD.  CCD operates 28 physical locations serving 12 US states and provides access to 35,000 patients per 

year who seek to qualify for state-based cannabis use conditions. It also provides support to over 50 

clinicians seeking a fully-managed business model to assist in their medical cannabis practice. 

 

The Company generates its revenues through two primary sources as set out below: 

 

Sail: Software and Program Licensing  

 

Sail is a cannabis-focused EMR platform with a suite of practice management tools built to support the 

workflows of a clinician and/or their clinical practice specializing in medical cannabis. It allows clinics to 
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manage their entire clinical operation through a single platform designed specifically for the cannabis 

market.  The platform also aims to assist clinicians in integrating cannabis into their practice through its 

data-driven tools which include evaluation tools, dosing guidelines and other necessary functions. Sail’s 

goal is to focus on increasing the channels of patients by empowering clinicians to adopt cannabis as part 

their patient’s treatment plan safely and securely. Sail is a software-as-a-service model that generates its 

revenues through monthly or annually recurring revenue charged per seat or clinician. 

 

Canna Care Docs: Clinic Services  

 

CCD is a service-based offering of the Company that today, operates a network of US-based, multi-state 

brick and mortar cannabis evaluation and education centres as well as telemedicine applications in some 

states. CCD serves as a centre for referrals from community practitioners, as well as a walk-in service for 

patients who are seeking access to the legal medical cannabis industry.  CCD offers a Fully Managed 

Service (“FMS”) of pre-and-post education through virtual consultation to save clinicians on educating 

patients and instead focus efforts on patient-centric care. CCD earns revenue by charging for patient visits 

in accordance with the legislated billing process. As a licensed service under its FMS model, CCD earns 

its revenue through educational fees paid on a per patient basis. Patients have access to year-round support 

from CCD’s team of trained educators. CCD is integrated with Sail to ensure full evaluation data capture, 

patient documentation and regulation compliance in patient records and education. 

 

Highlights 

 

 Between February 1, 2017 and March 9, 2017, the Company completed non-brokered private 

placements of 3,242,790 common shares of the Company (“Common Shares”) for gross proceeds of 

$276,900. 

 

 On May 30, 2017, the Company completed a share class consolidation of its issued and outstanding 

Class A common shares, Class B common shares, and Class C common shares where each class was 

redesignated as Common Shares and each class in its entirety was cancelled. 

 

 From May to September 2017, the Company issued $1,109,000 principal amount convertible 

debentures. The debentures mature on May 30, 2019 and bear interest at 5% with each debenture being 

convertible into a unit. Each unit comprises one common share of the Company exercisable at $0.15 

per share, and one warrant which entitles the holder to acquire one half common share of the Company 

at $0.20 per warrant. The convertible debentures will automatically convert into units on completion of 

a liquidity event. The Company received net proceeds of $1,037,310 after $71,690 of arrangement fees. 

 

In conjunction with the issuance of the convertible debentures, the Company issued 3,630,000 Common 
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Share purchase warrants to the debenture holders. Each warrant is exercisable at $0.20 and expires on 

November 30, 2020. The value of these warrants and the equity component of the convertible 

debentures, on the grant date, was determined by assigning to these instruments the residual value after 

determining the fair value of the underlying liability component of the convertible debentures. 

 

 On September 26, 2017, the Company completed a private placement where the Company issued 

138,900 units for gross proceeds of $12,501. Each unit consisting of one Common Share and one 

Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common 

Share at an exercise price of $0.09 for a period of thirty eight (38) months from the date of issuance. 

 

 On December 8, 2017, the Company completed a share split of its issued and outstanding common 

shares on the basis of 30 post-split Common Shares for every 1 pre-split Common Share. 

 

 On December 19, 2017, the Company completed a brokered private placement where the Company 

issued 8,026,510 units for gross proceeds of $3,290,869. Each unit consisting of one Common Share 

and one Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one 

Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the 

date of issuance. 

 

In connection with the private placement completed on December 19, 2017, the Company issued 

489,850 broker warrants to with the holder having a right to obtain one Common Share at an exercise 

price of $0.50 per Common Share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. 

 

 On December 19, 2017 the Company announced that it had entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement 

with MedEval Corp.  

 

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company would acquire specified identifiable tangible and 

intangible assets. MedEval Corp. is a cannabis clinic evaluation business with evaluation centres across 

several US states with legalized medical cannabis programs. MedEval Corp. qualifies patients into 

medical marijuana programs through independent medical evaluations, functional capacity evaluations, 

medical record reviews and occupational health services. 

 

For accounting purposes, the acquisition was treated as a business combination under IFRS 3 – Business 

Combinations and was accounted for by applying the acquisition method, whereby the assets acquired, 

and the liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair values with any excess of the aggregate 

consideration over the fair values of the identifiable net assets allocated to goodwill. Operating results 

were included in these Financial Statements from the date of the acquisition.  
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Pursuant to the transaction, the Company made an immediate cash payment of US$2,500,000 

($3,228,250), issued a promissory note with a present value of US$2,336,449 ($3,017,057) payable by 

December 19, 2018, and issued 4,878,048 shares in the Company valued at $1,572,638. 

 On December 29, 2017, the Company completed a private placement where the Company issued 

1,876,153 units for gross proceeds of $769,223. Each unit consisting of one Common Share and one 

Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common 

Share at an exercise price of $0.50 per share for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of 

issuance. 

 

 In connection with the private placements completed in 2017, the Company paid issuance costs of 

$204,967 in cash and issued broker warrants valued at $59,024, the total of which was allocated to 

shares and warrants on a pro-rata basis based on their relative fair values. 

 

 On January 3, 2018, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement where the Company 

issued 426,829 units for gross proceeds of $175,000. Each unit consisting of one Common Share and a 

Common Share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common 

Share at an exercise price of $0.50 for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. 

 

 During July 2018, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $1,738,704 

through issuance of 3,951,600 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common 

share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common Share at 

an exercise price of $0.50 for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. 

 

 On September 4, 2018, the Company completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $117,740 

through issuance of 267,590 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common 

share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one half of one Common Share at 

an exercise price of $0.50 for a period of twenty four (24) months from the date of issuance. 

 

 On September 10, 2018 and September 26, 2018, the Company completed a private placement for gross 

proceeds of $1,540,233 through issuance of 3,500,529 units with each unit containing one common 

share and one half common share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one 

half of one Common Share at an exercise price of $0.50 for a period of twenty four (24) months from 

the date of issuance.  

 

 In connection to the 2018 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $93,920 and 

issued broker warrants valued at $32,126. 
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 On September 11, 2018 the Company announced that it had entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement 

with 1035855 Canada Inc. for the purchase of the TokeIn platform (“TokeIn”) in order to expand into 

downstream market segments such as retailers. TokeIn provides a SaaS-based customer relationship 

management software and a sales and marketing platform with loyalty and rewards programs allowing 

its customers, including retail customers, to improve on customer acquisition, customer retention and 

analytics by feeding business intelligence and targeted marketing campaigns to their customer base. 

 

Consideration in connection with the acquisition of TokeIn included an initial cash payment of 

$150,000, the issuance of 795,455 Common Shares at an estimated value of $262,500, and the 

commitment to issuances on December 31, 2018 of Common Shares valued at $548,000, where share 

price is based on the 20-day value weighted price of the Common Shares shares if listed on a recognized 

Canadian stock exchange or at a price of $0.44 per share if the Common Shares are not listed on a 

recognized Canadian stock exchange. In the event the TokeIn assets achieve certain milestones by 

December 31, 2020, the Company is obligated to issue an additional 2,845,455 Common Shares with 

an estimated value of $1,252,000, where share price is based on the 20-day value weighted average of 

the Common Shares if listed on a recognized Canadian stock exchange or at a price of $0.44 per share 

if the Common Shares are not listed on a recognized Canadian stock exchange. 

 

On December 20, 2018, the Company signed a term sheet for the issuance of US$2,400,000 convertible 

secured debentures to Merida Capital Partners II LP (‘Merida’). Pending issuance of the said 

debentures, the Company issued Merida a promissory note and Merida advanced to the Company funds, 

amounting to US$2,400,000. The Company used these funds to repay the promissory note outstanding 

for the purchase consideration of Canna Care. 

 

On January 17, 2019, the Company completed a Private Placement Financing with the issuance of an 

aggregate of 374,998 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $187,499. Each Units 

consists of 1 common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 187,500 

warrants were issued with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the 

Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

 

On January 25, 2019, the Company closed the first tranche of a Private Placement Financing of 

subscription receipts with the issuance of 352,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of 

$176,000. Each Subscription Receipt Unit converts automatically into one common share and one-half 

common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 352,000 common shares and 176,000 warrants are 

issuable on conversion of the Subscription Receipt Units, with each whole warrant exercisable to 

purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from 

issuance. The Company also issued 20,440 broker warrants in combination with the closing of the 

Subscription Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.50 for 

a period of three (3) years. 
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On February 14, 2019, the Company closed the second tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 2,184,000 subscription receipt units for gross 

proceeds of $1,092,000. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate 

of 2,184,000 shares and 1,092,000 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one 

common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

 

On February 15, 2019, the Company closed the third tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 1,688,420 subscription receipt units for gross 

proceeds of $844,210. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate 

of 1,688,420 common shares and 844,210 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase 

one common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

The Company also issued 5,600 broker warrants in connection with the closing of the Subscription 

Receipt Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase a Unit at $0.50 for a period of three 

(3) years. 

 

On February 21, 2019, the Company closed the fourth tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 533,920 subscription receipt units for gross 

proceeds of $266,960. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate 

of 533,920 common shares and 266,960 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one 

common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

 

In relation to the 2019 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $23,730. 

 

Outlook and Overall Performance 

 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable 

to a going concern, which assumes the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course 

of business. Accordingly, they do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary should the 

Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and 

liquidate its liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different 

from those in the accompanying financial statements. Such adjustments could be material. 

 

With the recent acquisition of CCD and TokeIn as well as advancement in the technology offerings of Sail, 

all brands have substantial opportunities for near-term growth moving forward.  The Company will look to 

continue to grow the brands organically but also sees synergies both in cost reductions and growth 

opportunities within the combined operations. 
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As CCD provides a substantial volume of past and recurring patient data, Sail will use that data to further 

refine its technology platform. As the Sail platform uses clinical research, patient data and inputs from its 

Medical Advisory Board to power its Clinical Decision Support platform, the access to this patient data is 

critical to the refinement of the platform. The unique opportunity to control data inputs throughout the 

entire patient evaluation and education process will allow the Company to leverage this clinically-validated 

data to further tune the algorithms used within the Sail platform.  This will provide direct improvement on   

CCD’s care of its own patient network but also accelerate the expansion of Sail into other clinic groups. 

 

The completeness of the Sail platform is also critical to its growth. Cannabis and other specialty clinics will 

look to Sail for tools to support the entire clinical operation.  From scheduling, patient file management, 

time sheet management, to all other needs of each clinic, Sail’s advantage of having a multi-state network 

of clinics to test product advancements and new tool sets will allow for in-market testing with very low 

risk. 

 

The TokeIn platform will be used to expand into downstream market segments such as retailers. TokeIn 

provides a SaaS-based customer relationship management (“CRM”) software and a sales and marketing 

platform with loyalty and rewards programs allowing its customers, including retail customers, to improve 

on customer acquisition, customer retention and analytics by feeding business intelligence and targeted 

marketing campaigns to their customer base. 

 

Aside from the synergies of leveraging the three brands in combination, all three will continue to have 

aggressive growth targets independently of one another. 

 

In particular, Sail will continue its market expansion beyond North America focusing on Australia, 

Colombia and emerging cannabis countries within Europe.  The Sail platform has been built in such a way 

that entry into new countries requires very little customization or platform adjustments and thus holds no 

barrier to entry.  Sail will look to enter markets that are in their infancy but have a solid framework in place 

in which clinicians are ready to begin prescribing.  Prospective client and partner discussions have advanced 

in several regions creating the potential for the Sail platform to be launched in 2018 or 2019 into these new 

markets.  Sail will also continue to work to expand its footprint both in Canada and in the United States 

through traditional marketing and sales efforts. 

 

CCD will look to expand its current 28 brick and mortar evaluation centres into new cities and states as 

legalization continues to evolve throughout the US.  While federal legalization remains stalled in the US, 

the government has been clear that states are able to create their own frameworks when it comes to the 

legalization of cannabis – both medically and recreationally.  For example, since 2014, Colorado has 

adopted a fully legalized cannabis program for both a medical program and recreational usage.  This is 

diametrically opposed to more conservative states such as Wyoming, Alabama and North Dakota which 

have never put cannabis laws on the ballot and have shown no signs of legalization in the future.  That said, 
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by the end of 2017, more than 50% of all states have adopted a medical program and make way for growth 

in CCD1.   

 

CCD follows a simple methodology when seeking out new locations.  CCD looks for emerging states that 

are ready to implement a medical cannabis program and positions itself in areas outside of the city center 

to capture a rural and often overlooked segment of the market.  This allows for less competition as well as 

higher margins due to lower operational costs in secondary and tertiary markets.  Moving forward, several 

states hold substantial patient opportunity with large geographies that can fit the traditional methodology.  

CCD has already entered into Pennsylvania, Illinois and New York in the first half of the year, and will 

look to also enter into Ohio and New Jersey are key targets for expansion efforts.  The Company will also 

look to leverage Sail’s telemedicine portal to be used by CCD to operate in some regions under a virtual 

clinic model.  This helps to reach a larger target market with very little overhead. 

 

The TokeIn platform is developed with the retailer in mind and their need for better business insights, a 

platform easily able to integrate to 3rd party solutions, customer acquisition/retargeting and built to help 

them stay competitive not just compliant. Management believes that TokeIn’s platform will earn its 

revenues through monthly and annual recurring subscription revenue charged per seat or user and will 

leverage non-identifiable data to drive better insights for both clinicians, patients and the cannabis retail 

community. 

 

All brands will capitalize on post-acquisition cost synergies, place greater focus on external marketing and 

event participation and find new ways to cross-promote for even further market penetration. 

 

 

Financial Information and Results of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 

30, 2018 and 2017: 

 

$ Three-

months 

ended 

September 

30, 2018 

Three-

months 

ended 

September 

30, 2017 

Three-

months 

ended 

June 30, 

2018 

Three-

months 

ended 

June 30, 

2017 

Three-

months 

ended 

March 31, 

2018 

Three-

months 

ended 

March 31, 

2017 

Nine-

months 

ended 

September 

30, 2018 

Nine-

months 

ended 

September 

30, 2017 

Revenue 2,882,665 5,780 2,793,112 28,522  2,643,214 8,716 8,318,991             43,018 

Operating 

expenses 

4,264,600 353,328 2,907,683 207,274  2,555,010 383,207 9,727,293 943,809 

Other expenses 44,033 31,474 148,742 —        173,173  — 365,948 31,474 

Net loss before 

income taxes 

(1,425,968) (379,022) (263,313)  (178,752)      (84,969)    (374,491) (1,774,250) (932,265) 

Income tax expense 

(recovery) 

(22,292) —  96,833 —       101,273  —    175,114 — 

                                                 
1 https://ktla.com/2018/01/31/u-s-legal-weed-industry-generated-9b-in-revenue-in-2017/ 
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Net loss (1,402,976)  (379,022) (360,146)  (178,752)    (186,242)    (374,491) (1,949,364) (932,265) 

Loss per share (0.025) (0.010) (0.00) (0.00)          (0.00)          (0.01) (0.036) (0.026) 

 

 

 

Revenue 

 

The Company’s revenue was $8,318,991 and $43,018 during the nine month periods ended September 30, 

2018 and 2017, respectively. Revenue for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018 consisted of 

software licensing fee amounting to $21,871 (2017: $43,018), and clinic revenue amounting to $8,297,120 

(2017: $nil). Clinic revenue pertains to the CCD operations acquired in December 2017. 

 

The Company’s revenue was $2,882,665 and $5,780 during the three month periods ended September 30, 

2018 and 2017, respectively. Revenue for the three-month period ended September 30, 2018 consisted of 

software licensing fee amounting to $13,020 (2017: $5,780), and clinic revenue amounting to $2,869,645 

(2017: $nil). Clinic revenue pertains to the CCD operations acquired in December 2017. 

 

Revenue increase in the three and nine-month ended September 30, 2018 periods is a result of acquisition 

of CCD and the recognition of revenue from the CCD business line for the periods. 

 

The Company’s revenue was $2,793,112 and $28,522 during the three-month periods ended June 30, 2018 

and 2017, respectively. Revenue for the three-month period ended June 30, 2018 consisted of software 

licensing fee amounting to $5,219 (2017: $28,522), and clinic revenue amounting to $2,787,893 (2017: 

$nil).  

 

The Company’s revenue was $2,643,214 and $8,716 during the three-month periods ended March 30, 2018 

and 2017, respectively. Revenue for the three-month period ended March 30, 2018 consisted of software 

licensing fee amounting to $3,632 (2017: $8,716), and clinic revenue amounting to $2,639,582 (2017: $nil). 

 

Revenue increase in the three-month periods ended March 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018 vs 2017 is a result 

of acquisition of CCD and the recognition of revenue from the CCD Clinic business line for the three month 

periods. 

 

Quarterly revenues for the three month periods ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2018 are evenly 

distributed as there is no significant seasonal variation. 

 

Operating expenses 
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Operating expenses during the nine month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 totaled $9,727,293 

and $943,809, respectively. Operating expenses increased for the nine-month period as a result of the 

acquisition of CCD and consolidation of results. The increase included transaction and closing costs for the 

acquisition, as well as the additional expenditures associated with CCD’s operations. Operating expenses 

during the periods ended September 30, 2018 primarily comprised management fees, salaries and wages 

amounting to $2,638,167 (2017: $161,316), office and administration expenses amounting to $5,036,376 

(2017: $394,118), professional fees amounting to $525,875 (2017: $54,367), marketing and business 

development expenses amounting to $545,935 (2017: $8,935), share based compensation amounting to 

$361,609 (2017: $325,770) and depreciation and amortization amounting to $432,601 (2017: $nil).  

 

Operating expenses during the three month periods ended March 30, 2018 and 2017 totaled $2,555,010 and 

$383,207, respectively. Operating expenses increased for the three-month period as a result of the 

acquisition of CCD and consolidation of results. The increase included transaction and closing costs for the 

acquisition, as well as the additional expenditures associated with CCD’s operations. Operating expenses 

during the period ended March 30, 2018 primarily comprised management fees, salaries and wages 

amounting to $656,904 (2017: $42,585), office and administration expenses amounting to $1,426,021 

(2017: $79,897), professional fees amounting to $80,597 (2017: $2,800), marketing and business 

development expenses amounting to $127,251 (2017: $2,231), share based compensation amounting to 

$62,173 (2017: $256,142) and depreciation and amortization amounting to $133,879 (2017: $nil). 

 

Operating expenses during the three month periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 totaled $2,907,683 and 

$207,274, respectively. Operating expenses increased for the three-month period as a result of the 

acquisition of CCD and consolidation of results. The increase included transaction and closing costs for the 

acquisition, as well as the additional expenditures associated with CCD’s operations. Operating expenses 

during the period ended June 30, 2018 primarily comprised management fees, salaries and wages 

amounting to $797,004 (2017: $62,192), office and administration expenses amounting to $1,573,052 

(2017: $88,437), professional fees amounting to $112,697 (2017: $43,719), marketing and business 

development expenses amounting to $179,197 (2017: $5,349), share based compensation amounting to 

$50,614 (2017: $7,455) and depreciation and amortization amounting to $137,815 (2017: $nil). 

 

Operating expenses during the three month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 totaled $4,264,600 

and $353,328, respectively. Operating expenses increased for the three-month period as a result of the 

acquisition of CCD and consolidation of results. The increase included transaction and closing costs for the 

acquisition, as well as the additional expenditures associated with CCD’s operations. Operating expenses 

during the periods ended September 30, 2018 primarily comprised management fees, salaries and wages 

amounting to $1,184,259 (2017: $56,539), office and administration expenses amounting to $2,037,303 

(2017: $225,784), professional fees amounting to $332,581 (2017: $7,848), marketing and business 

development expenses amounting to $239,487 (2017: $1,355), share based compensation amounting to 

$248,822 (2017: $62,173) and depreciation and amortization amounting to $160,907 (2017: $nil). 
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Operating expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2018 were significantly higher than the 

expenses during the three months ended March 31 and June 30, 2018. This was due to the fact that the 

Company has ramped up development activity in the third quarter and also because primarily all listing 

related one off expenses were incurred in the same quarter. 

 

Net Income 

 

The Company recorded net losses before income taxes of $1,774,250 and $932,265 during nine-months 

ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively and $1,425,968 and $379,022 during three-months ended 

September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The change was primarily due to the acquisition of CCD. The 

increased revenue from CCD operations was offset by the transaction and closing costs associated with the 

transaction. Additional changes were driven by an increase in workforce as the Company was in a 

substantial development phase with its technology platform.  

 

Discussion of Operations 

 

For the nine month periods ended September 30, 2018, the Company has two reportable operating segments 

related to its software and clinic businesses which also align with the two countries in which it operates, 

the United States and Canada. 

 

Revenues for the nine month period ended September 30, 2018 for US (Clinic) and Canada (Software) were 

$8,297,120 and $21,871, respectively.  

 

Operating expenses for the nine month period for the US and Canada segments were $6,706,409 and 

$3,020,884, respectively. Operating expenses for the US primarily comprised of management fees, salaries 

and wages amounting to $2,573,543, office and administration amounting to $3,047,298, interest and bank 

charges amount to $182,982, marketing and business development amount to $485,587, depreciation and 

amortization amounting to $296,767, and professional fees amounting to $120,232. This was largely as a 

result of the expenses related to the CCD business which were not applicable in the prior period. Operating 

expenses for Canada primarily comprised office and administration amounting to $1,989,078, share-based 

compensation amount to $361,609, professional fees amounting to $405,643, and depreciation and 

amortization amounting $135,834. 

 

Net income (losses) after taxes for the nine month period ended September 30, 2018 for the US and Canada 

were $1,415,597 and $(3,364,961), respectively. 

 

Operating expenses for the three month period for the US and Canada segments were $2,638,794 and 

$1,625,806, respectively. Operating expenses for the US primarily comprised of management fees, salaries 
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and wages amounting to $1,128,540, office and administration amounting to $1,112,043, interest and bank 

charges amount to $60,429, marketing and business development amounting to $205,184, depreciation and 

amortization amounting to $107,975, and professional fees amounting to $24,623. This was largely as a 

result of the expenses related to the CCD business which were not applicable in the prior period. Operating 

expenses for Canada primarily comprised office and administration amounting to $925,260, share-based 

compensation amount to $248,822, professional fees amounting to $307,958, and depreciation and 

amortization amounting $52,932. 

 

Net income (losses) after taxes for the three month period ended September 30, 2018 for the US and Canada 

were $253,843 and $(1,656,819), respectively. 

 

Significant Assets 

 

$ September 30, 

2018 

December 31, 2017 

Cash             3,016,116  1,014,482 

Trade and other receivables 273,227 117,984 

Computer software 1,178,581  323,037  

Other intangible assets 3,798,961  3,941,464  

Goodwill 3,758,394  3,642,260  

 

The Company’s total assets at September 30, 2018 were $12,317,080 (December 31, 2017: $9,101,951). 

These mainly comprised cash and restricted cash amounting to $3,016,116 (December 31, 2017: 

$1,014,482), trade and other receivables amounting to $273,227 (December 31, 2017: $117,984), computer 

software amounting to $1,178,581 (December 31, 2017: $323,037), other intangible assets amounting to 

$3,798,961 (December 31, 2017: $3,941,464) and goodwill amounting to $3,758,394 (December 31, 2017: 

$3,642,260). 

 

Outstanding Share Data 

 

 Shares Warrants Options 

December 31, 2017 52,262,441 9,140,632 3,168,240 

September 30, 2018 63,111,262 13,460,856 3,443,525 

February 27, 2019 68,807,154 16,139,890 6,110,868 

 

As of the date of this MD&A, 68,807,154 common shares are issued and outstanding, 52,262,441 of which 

had been issued as at December 31, 2017.  
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During October 2018, the Company completed private placements for gross proceeds of $907,520 through 

issuance of 2,062,545 units with each unit containing one common share and one half common share 

purchase warrant with an exercise price of $0.50 per common share for a period of twenty four (24) months 

from the date of issuance. The Company also issued 56,800 common shares and 28,400 common share 

purchase warrants to a consultant in satisfaction of debt owed to the consultant 

Also during October 2018, Company repurchased an aggregate of 1,946,700 common shares and an 

aggregate of 973,349 common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $837,081, and an 

aggregate principal amount of $150,000 of 5% convertible senior secured debentures and 1,951,000 

common shares for total consideration of $1,279,436. 

During November 2018, the Company issued 11,708 and 8,181 options exercisable at $0.41 and $0.44, 

respectively, and vesting immediately. These were issued to consultants.  

In connection with the private placements completed from January to October 2018, the Company paid 

cash issuance costs of $104,648 and issued broker warrants valued at $32,126. 

On December 31, 2018, the Company issued 795,455 and 1,245,454 shares as consideration for the 

acquisition of the TokeIn assets. The shares have a deemed value of $262,500 and $548,000, respectively. 

On January 17, 2019, the Company completed a Private Placement Financing with the issuance of an 

aggregate of 374,998 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $187,499. Each Units consists 

of 1 common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 187,500 warrants were 

issued with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of 

$0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

On January 25, 2019, the Company closed the first tranche of a Private Placement Financing of subscription 

receipts with the issuance of 352,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of $176,000. Each 

Subscription Receipt Unit converts automatically into one common share and one-half common share 

purchase warrant. An aggregate of 352,000 common shares and 176,000 warrants are issuable on 

conversion of the Subscription Receipt Units, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common 

share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. The Company also 

issued 20,440 broker warrants in combination with the closing of the Subscription Receipt Units. Each 

broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.50 for a period of three (3) years. 

On February 1, 2019, a consultant exercised 300,000 options at a price of $0.016 per share. 

On February 14, 2019, the Company closed the second tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 2,184,000 subscription receipt units for gross 

proceeds of $1,092,000. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 

2,184,000 shares and 1,092,000 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common 

share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

On February 15, 2019, the Company closed the third tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 1,688,420 subscription receipt units for gross 
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proceeds of $844,210. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 

1,688,420 common shares and 844,210 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one 

common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. The 

Company also issued 5,600 broker warrants in connection with the closing of the Subscription Receipt 

Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase a Unit at $0.50 for a period of three (3) years. 

On February 21, 2019, the Company closed the fourth tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 

Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 533,920 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds 

of $266,960. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 533,920 

common shares and 266,960 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share 

of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

In relation to the 2019 private placements, the Company paid cash issuance costs of $23,730. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 

Nine months ended, September 30 2018 2017 

 $ $ 

Cash used in operating activities (853,428)          (596,607)  

Cash used in investing activities       (366,200)           (40,574) 

Cash provided by financing activities 3,350,038       1,289,507  

 

The Company’s cash used in operations for the nine-months ended September 30, 2018 was $853,428 (cash 

used for the nine-months ended September 30, 2017: $596,607). The increase in cash used in operations 

during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017 

is attributable to the CCD operations which were fully consolidated within the results of the nine month 

period ended September 30, 2018.   

 

The Company’s cash used in investing for the nine-months ended September 30, 2018 was $366,200 (2017: 

$40,574). The increase was primarily due to cash paid on acquisition of TokeIn.  

 

As at September 30, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $3,016,116 (December 31, 2017: 

$1,014,482). The Company had current liabilities of $4,931,114 (December 31, 2017: $3,121,262). The 

Company’s positive cash flow is primarily a result of the private placement financings during the nine-

months period ended September 30, 2018. The Company raised $3,481,658 through private placements 

from January to September 2018. 

 

The Company has a negative working capital due to a promissory note and convertible debentures payable 

during 2018. Funds raised from private placements will be used to repay the short term debt and fund 
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expansion of operation to increase cash flow. The Management therefore believes that the Company is in 

good condition to continue as a going concern. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements from the date of its incorporation to the 

date of this MD&A. 

 

 

Related Party Transactions 

 

Key management personnel include those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. The Company’s key management currently 

consists of the Company’s directors and officers. 

 

Compensation of key management personnel amounted to $341,598 and $148,338 for the periods ended 

September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

 

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, trade and other receivables and current liabilities. 

Management has disclosed the impact of credit, liquidity, foreign currency, and interest rate risk below and 

in the audited consolidated financial statements. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause 

the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on cash and trade 

and other receivables as at September 30, 2018.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come 

due. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash balances to ensure that it is able to meet its 

short term and long term obligations when they come due. The Company manages Company-wide cash 

projections centrally and regularly updates projections for changes in business and exchange rates. The 

expected timing of consolidated cash flows relating to financial liabilities as at September 30, 2018, are as 

follows: 

 Less than 1 year 1-3 years Total 

 $ $ $ 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities               48,649 —               48,649 
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Income taxes payable 183,819 — 183,819 

Promissory note payable           3,046,883  —          3,046,883  

Convertible debentures  1,103,763 — 1,103,763 

Purchase consideration payable 548,000  548,000 

 4,931,114 — 4,931,114 

 

 

 

Foreign currency risk 

Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Company’s financial 

instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations affect 

the revenue and costs that the Company earns and incurs in its operations. 

The Company’s presentation currency is the Canadian dollar but a large proportion of revenue is earned in 

the US dollar. The fluctuation of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar will consequently impact 

the profitability of the Company and may also affect the value of the Company’s assets and liabilities. The 

Company’s net monetary position in the significant foreign currencies as of September 30, 2018 is 

summarized below with the effect on earnings before tax of a 10% fluctuation of each currency to the 

Canadian dollar: 

 

 Net Monetary Asset 

(Liability) Position 

September 30, 2018 

(CA$ equivalent) 

Impact of 10% 

variance in foreign 

exchange rate 

US dollar (1,935,485) 193,548 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited and 

only relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash balances at variable rates. Changes in short term 

interest rates will not have a significant effect on the fair value of the Company’s cash account. 

Fair value 

The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates carrying value due to their short-term 

nature and/or carrying market rates of interest. Contingent consideration relating to the Company’s 

acquisition of CCD is $Nil based on expectations of amounts due. Contingent consideration relating to the 

Company’s acquisition of TokeIn is $Nil based on expectations of amounts due. 



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

September 30, 2018 and 2017 

 

 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

19 

 

Capital Management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing its capital are as follows: 

 

1. to maintain a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital at an acceptable risk level 

while providing an appropriate return to its shareholders; 

 

2. to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 

future development of the business; 

 

3. to safeguard the Company’s ability to obtain financing should the need arise; and 

 

4. to maintain financial flexibility in order to have access to capital in the event of future capital 

acquisitions. 
 

The Company manages its capital structure in accordance with the objectives stated above, as well as 

responding to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets.  

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

 

The Company has prepared the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Significant accounting policies and estimates are 

described in Notes 3 and 4 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2017 

and 2016 and for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements according to IFRS requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities; disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements; and the reported amounts of expenses during 

the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. 

Significant accounting estimates: 

 The valuation of equity components of convertible debentures. 

 The valuation of share-based payments including warrants and options issued. 

 The valuation of intangible assets acquired as part of the asset acquisition.  

 The valuation of purchase consideration for the acquisition of CCD and TokeIn including valuation 

of the promissory note, Common Shares and contingent consideration issued as consideration. 

 

Significant accounting judgments: 



MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

September 30, 2018 and 2017 

 

 (Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

20 

 Determination of the functional currency of the Company and its foreign operations.  

 The evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 The assessment of indications of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. 

 

Functional currency 

  

The functional currency is the United States dollar for operations in the United States and the Canadian 

dollar for operations in Canada. The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries has been 

assessed by management based on consideration of the currency and economic factors that mainly influence 

the Company’s revenue, operating costs, financing and related transactions. Specifically, the Company 

considers the currencies that revenues are most commonly denominated and expenses are settled by each 

entity as well as the currency that each entity receives or raises financing. Changes to these factors may 

have an impact on the judgment applied in the determination of the Company’s functional currency. The 

application of the Company’s accounting policies requires management to use estimates and judgments 

that can have a significant effect on the revenues, expenses, comprehensive income, assets and liabilities 

recognized and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.   

 

Deferred taxes  

 

The determination of the Company’s tax recovery/expense for the period and deferred tax assets and 

liabilities involves significant estimation and judgment by management. In determining these amounts, 

management interprets tax legislation in a variety of jurisdictions and makes estimates of the expected 

timing of the reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities and the deferral and deductibility of certain items. 

Management may also make estimates of future earnings, which affect the extent to which potential future 

tax benefits may be used. The Company is subject to assessments by various taxation authorities, which 

may interpret legislation differently. These differences may affect the final amount or the timing of the 

payment of taxes. The Company provides for such differences where known based on management’s best 

estimate of the probable outcome of these matters. 

 

Future changes in accounting policies including initial adoption 

 

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 

 

In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued the final version of IFRS 9 – 

Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which brings together the classification and measurement, impairment, 

and hedge-accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement (“IAS 39”).  
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Classification and measurement – Financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model 

under which they are managed and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Financial 

liabilities are classified in a similar manner as under IAS 39, except that financial liabilities measured at 

fair value will have fair value changes resulting from changes in the entity’s own credit risk recognized in 

Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) instead of Net Income, unless this would create an accounting 

mismatch.  

 

Impairment – The measurement of impairment of financial assets is based on an expected credit loss model. 

It is no longer necessary for a triggering event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized. IFRS 

9 also includes new disclosure requirements about expected credit losses and credit risk.  

 

Hedge accounting – The new general hedge accounting model more closely aligns hedge accounting with 

risk management activities undertaken by entities when hedging their financial and non-financial risk 

exposures. It will provide more opportunities to apply hedge accounting to reflect actual risk management 

activities. 

 

IFRS 9 is required to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company 

has determined financial and disclosure impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements to 

be immaterial apart from changes to the classification of financial assets.  Under IFRS 9, current 

classifications of financial assets would be revised to place financial assets into one of the following three 

categories, which determine measurement after initial recognition: (a) amortized cost, (b) fair value through 

other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and (c) fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

 

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers 

 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), which 

replaces IAS 11 – Construction Contracts, IAS 18 – Revenue and IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty 

Programmes (“IFRIC 13”), as well as various other interpretations regarding revenue. IFRS 15 outlines a 

single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with 

customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and 

financial instruments. The standard provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be applied to all 

contracts with customers to determine how and when an entity should recognize revenue. IFRS 15 also 

contains enhanced disclosure requirements. IFRS 15 will be applied for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2018. 

 

The Company has determined the impact of adoption of IFRS 15 on the aforementioned revenue streams 

to be immaterial. 
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IFRS 16 - Leases 

 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 – Leases ("IFRS 16"), which replaces IAS 17 – Leases, and its 

associated interpretative guidance. IFRS 16 applies a control model to the identification of leases, 

distinguishing between a lease and a service contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset 

being leased. For those assets determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant 

changes to the accounting by lessees, introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar 

to current finance lease accounting, with limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low value 

assets. Lessor accounting remains similar to current accounting practice. The standard is effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted for entities that apply 

IFRS 15. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final standard is expected to have on its 

consolidated financial statements and plans to adopt the requirements in 2019. 

 

IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments  

 

IFRIC 23 was issued in June 2017 and is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, to be 

applied retrospectively. IFRIC 23 provides guidance on applying the recognition and measurement 

requirements in IAS 12, Income Taxes, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments including, but 

not limited to, whether uncertain tax treatments should be considered together or separately based on which 

approach better predicts resolution of the uncertainty. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the 

final standard is expected to have on its consolidated financial statements and plans to adopt the 

requirements in 2019.
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 
To the Shareholders of MedEval Corp and Subsidiaries 
 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of MedEval Corp and its subsidiaries, 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2016 
and 2015, and the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.   
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of MedEval Corp and subsidiaries (the 
Company) as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of the report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements in United States of America, and we have 
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 
Responsibility of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 34 and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 



 
 

 

2 

 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 
 

 
Bridge West LLC 
CPAs and Consultants 
Longmont, Colorado 
November 1, 2017 
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ASSETS 2016 2015

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Vehicles 32,460$           5,000$             
Computers and Hardware 8,083               7,315               
Furniture and Fixtures 20,958             11,347             
Leasehold Improvements 29,786           11,586             

91,287$           35,248$           
Less Accumulated Depreciation 17,792           4,619               

Net Property and Equipment 73,495$           30,629$           

OTHER ASSETS
Security Deposits 22,567$           15,590$           

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventory 8,626$             -$                     
Advance to Stockholder 292,983           -                       
Accounts Receivable 500                  100                  
Prepaid Expense 6,699               2,466               
Cash 715,911           180,930           

Total Current Assets 1,024,719$      183,496$         

TOTAL ASSETS 1,120,781$      229,715$         

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share Capital 61,569$           61,569$           
Retained Earnings (Deficit) 1,052,234        (352,953)          

Total Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) 1,113,803$      (291,384)$        

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued Compensation -$                     481,539$         
Accrued Payroll Liabilities -                       30,135             
Accounts Payable 6,978             9,425               

Total Other Liabilities 6,978$             521,099$         

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,120,781$      229,715$         
 



MedEval Corp and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 

 
 

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements 

4 

2016 2015

REVENUES 7,543,317$       4,033,659$       

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of Sales 1,893,029$       1,239,426$       
General and Administrative 4,052,469         2,103,469         

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 5,945,498$      3,342,895$       

NET OPERATING INCOME 1,597,819$       690,764$          

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Rental Income 18,748$            -$                      
Interest Income 397                   -                        
Other Expense 111,144            (1,600)               
Commissions (10,003)           (790,867)           

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) 120,286$         (792,467)$         

NET INCOME 1,718,105$       (101,703)$         

RETAINED EARNINGS - Beginning of Year (352,953)           -                        

Dividends (312,918)         (251,250)           

RETAINED EARNINGS - End of Year 1,052,234$      (352,953)$         
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2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Income 1,718,105$       (101,703)$       

Adjustments to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Depreciation and Amortization 13,173              4,619              

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities

Accounts Receivable (400)                  (100)                

Prepaid Expense (4,233)               (2,466)             

Deposits (6,977)               (15,590)           

Inventory (8,626)               -                      

Accounts Payable (2,447)               8,028              
Accrued Expenses (511,674)           511,674          

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,196,921$       404,462$        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property and Equipment (56,039)$           (23,901)$         

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES (56,039)$           (23,901)$         

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advance to (from) Sharholder (292,983)$        47,397$          
Dividends (312,918)           (251,250)         

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (605,901)$        (203,853)$       

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 534,981$          176,708$        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 180,930            4,222              

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of Year 715,911$          180,930$        
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NOTE 1:  NATURE OF BUSINESS  
 
Nature of Business 
MedEval Corp and its subsidiaries(the Company) is organized as an S Corporation in the State 
of Nevada with operations in Massachusetts, Maine, Connecticut, Delaware, Maryland, Vermont 
and Florida.  The company qualifies patients into medical marijuana programs through 
independent medical evaluations, functional capacity evaluations, medical record reviews and 
occupational health services.  These services are provided to patients by board certified 
physicians and/or nurse practitioners at the Company’s offices. 
 
 

NOTE 2:  BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION AND PRESENTATION  
 
Statement of Compliance with International Financial Accounting Standards 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) effective 
December 31, 2016. 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors 
of the Company on November 1, 2017. 
 
Basis of Preparation and Presentation 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
the revaluation of certain financial instruments.  In addition, these consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is also the Company’s 
functional currency. 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries, Canna Care Docs, Wellness, LLC, Canna Care Docs of Maine, LLC, Care 
Management, LLC.  Accounting policies of the subsidiaries are consistent with the policies 
adopted by the Company.  
 
Intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealized income and expense arising from 
intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Use of Judgements and Estimates 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
certain estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reporting amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of expense during 
the reporting period.  Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates.  These consolidated 
financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain.  The impacts of 
such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require 
accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods, if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical experience, 
current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectation of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
 
Fair Value Measurement 
The estimated fair values of the Company’s short-term financial instruments, including 
receivables and payables arising in the ordinary course of business, approximate their 
individual carrying amounts due to the relatively short period of time between their origination 
and expected realization. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
The Company recognizes revenue in the period in which services are provided.  The Company 
requires payment from customers for their visit before referral to the next step.  Sales are 
recorded into the following categories new patient, renewal, follow up, telemedicine with each 
type having a varying price by state.  
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents.  At times, cash and cash equivalents may be in excess of 
FDIC insurance limits. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Receivables are related to fees for clinic visits. Management has estimated all receivables to be 
collectible and therefore has not recorded an allowance for uncollectible accounts as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Purchase of property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Improvements and replacements 
of property and equipment are capitalized.  Maintenance and repairs that do not improve or 
extend the lives of property and equipment are charged to expense as incurred.  When assets 
are sold or retired, their cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
accounts and any gain or loss is reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated economic useful lives of each class of assets and 
is computed using the straight-line method.  Total depreciation expense was $13,173 and 
$4,619 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
Estimated economic useful lives of property and equipment range from 2 to 7 years. 
 



MedEval Corp and Subsidiaries   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 

 
 

 

8 

NOTE 3: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 (Continued) 
 
Advertising Costs 
Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred.  Advertising expense, included in 
general and administrative, was $357,479 and $195,953 for the years ended December 31, 
2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
Income Taxes 
The Company, with the consent of its stockholders, has elected to be taxed under sections of 
federal and state income tax law, which provide that, in lieu of corporation income taxes, the 
stockholders separately account for their pro rata shares of the Company’s items of income, 
deduction, losses, and credits. As a result of this election, no income taxes have been 
recognized in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Company’s policy is to classify income tax related interest and penalties in interest expense 
and other expense, respectively. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The Company evaluated for the occurrence of subsequent events through November 1, 2017, 
the date which the financial statements were authorized for issuance.  
 
 

NOTE 4:  SHARE CAPITAL 
 
The following table reflects the continuity of share capital for the years ended December 31, 
2016 and 2015: 
 

Number of 
Shares Issued

and Outstanding Amount

Balance January 1, 2015 50,000               61,569$  

Balance December 31, 2015 50,000               61,569$  

Balance December 31, 2016 50,000               61,569$   
 
The Company is authorized to issue 75,000 common shares without par value. 
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NOTE 5:  ACCRUED COMPENSATION 
 
On May 23, 2015 the Company entered into an employment agreement with Lawrence D. 
Einhorn from August 1, 2015 through July 31, 2017.  The agreement called for monthly 
payments of $27,083 starting on August 1, 2015 through July 31, 2017. Should the agreement 
be terminated for any reason prior to the expiration of the term, the Company shall pay the 
employee, in full, all compensation due through July 31, 2017.  The balance of accrued 
compensation under this agreement was $481,539 and $0, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively.  On May 5, 2016 the employee agreed to release the Company from the remaining 
liability for a payment of $220,000.  The remaining unpaid liability of $113,092 was recorded as 
other income in 2016. 
 
 

NOTE 6:  ADVANCE TO STOCKHOLDER 
 
The Company advanced funds to a stockholder of the company during the year ended 
December 31, 2016 in the amount of $292,983. As of December 31, 2017 the company had an 
advance receivable in the amount of $292,983. 
 
 

NOTE 7:  LEASE AGREEMENTS 
 
Operating  
The Company has entered into various operating lease agreements for its facilities. 
 
The facilities operating leases cover twenty five site locations and expire at various dates through 
April 30, 2022. All leases are net leases.  The Company is responsible for operating expenses 
such as insurance, utilities, and repairs and maintenance.  The Company is also responsible for 
their proportionate share of real estate taxes and common area expenses.  Total rent expense 
was $366,441 and $235,271 for 2016 and 2015, respectively.  This includes base rents, real 
estate taxes, and common area expenses. 
 
As of December 31, 2016, the minimum annual rental commitments are as follows:     
 

2017 336,806$       
2018 267,459$       
2019 130,308$       
2020 53,864$         
2021 45,380$          

 
 

NOTE 8:  SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
Cash paid for interest was $0 during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 
Cash paid for income taxes was $0 during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
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Independent Accountants’ Review Report 
 
 

To the Shareholders of MedEval Corp and Subsidiaries 
 
 
We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of MedEval Corp and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of September 
30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and the related consolidated statement of operations for the 
three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, and cash flows for the nine 
month periods ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, and the related notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to 
management’s financial data and making inquiries of management. A review is substantially less 
in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the 
financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 
  
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with international financial reporting standards; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to 
fraud or error. 
  
Accountant’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to conduct the review engagements in accordance with Statements on 
Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review 
Services Committee of the AICPA. Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain 
limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications 
that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with international 
financial reporting standards. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable 
basis for our conclusion.  
  
Accountant’s Conclusion 
Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to 
the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with international 
financial reporting standards as issued by the international accounting standards board. 
 
 

 
Bridge West LLC 

CPAs and Consultants 
Longmont, Colorado 
June 1, 2018 
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ASSETS 2017 2016

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Vehicles 32,460$            32,460$           

Computers and Hardware 8,083                8,083               

Furniture and Fixtures 20,958              20,958             

Leasehold Improvements 38,086              29,786             

99,587$            91,287$           

Less Accumulated Depreciation 26,988              17,792             

Net Property and Equipment 72,599$            73,495$           

OTHER ASSETS

Security Deposits 37,094$            22,567$           

Intangible Asset 50,000              -                       

Total Current Assets 87,094$            22,567$           

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventory 5,999$              8,626$             

Advance to Stockholder 200                   292,983           

Accounts Receivable -                        500                  

Prepaid Expense 7,199                6,699               

Cash 485,420            715,911           

Total Current Assets 498,818$          1,024,719$      

TOTAL ASSETS 658,511$          1,120,781$      

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share Capital 61,569$            61,569$           

Retained Earnings (Deficit) 587,771            1,052,234        

Total Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) 649,340$          1,113,803$      

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 9,052$              6,978$             

Accrued Expenses 119                   -                       

Total Other Liabilities 9,171$              6,978$             

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 658,511$          1,120,781$      
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2017 2016 2017 2016

REVENUES 1,954,192$   2,092,150$   5,188,199$  6,020,993$  

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of Sales 602,432$      544,207$      1,435,588$  1,429,280$  

General and Administrative 1,090,601     1,147,286     2,990,169    2,806,719    

Other

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,693,033$   1,691,493$   4,425,757$  4,235,999$  

NET OPERATING INCOME 261,159$      400,657$      762,442$     1,784,994$  

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)

Rental Income 6,328$          3,164$          29,524$       6,328$         

Interest Income 5                   82                 76               188              

Other Income -                    615               -                  159,578       

Other Expense (2,208)           (23)                (6,713)         (515)            

Commissions -                    -                    -                  (168,009)     

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) 4,125$          3,838$          22,887$       (2,430)$       

NET INCOME 265,284$      404,495$      785,329$     1,782,564$  

RETAINED EARNINGS - Beginning of Period 981,310        (352,953)       1,052,234    (352,953)     

Dividends to Shareholders (658,823)       -                    (1,249,792)  (182,723)     

RETAINED EARNINGS - End of Period 587,771$      51,542$        587,771$     1,246,888$  

 Three Months Ended 

September: 

 Nine Months Ended 

September: 
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2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Income 785,329$            1,782,564$     

Adjustments to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Depreciation and Amortization 9,196                  10,364            

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities

Accounts Receivable 500                     100                 

Prepaid Expense (500)                    8,650              

Deposits (64,527)              (1,019)             

Inventory 2,627                  (8,626)             

Accounts Payable 2,074                  3,284              

Accrued Expenses 119                     (511,674)         

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 734,818$            1,283,643$     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Property and Equipment (8,300)$              (35,035)$         

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES (8,300)$              (35,035)$         

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advance to (from) Sharholder 292,783$            (177,225)$       

Distributions (1,249,792)         (182,723)         

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (957,009)$          (359,948)$       

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (230,491)$          888,660$        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 715,911              180,930          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of Year 485,420$            1,069,590$     
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NOTE 1:  NATURE OF BUSINESS  
 
Nature of Business 
MedEval Corp and its subsidiaries (the Company) is organized in the State of Nevada with 
operations in Massachusetts, Maine, Connecticut, Delaware, Maryland, Vermont and Florida.  
The Company qualifies patients into medical marijuana programs through independent medical 
evaluations, functional capacity evaluations, medical record reviews and occupational health 
services.  These services are provided to patients by board certified physicians and/or nurse 
practitioners at the Company’s offices. 
 
 

NOTE 2:  BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION AND PRESENTATION  
 
Statement of Compliance with International Financial Accounting Standards 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) effective 
December 31, 2016. 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors 
of the Company on June 1, 2018. 
 
Basis of Preparation and Presentation 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
the revaluation of certain financial instruments.  In addition, these consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is also the Company’s 
functional currency. 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries, Canna Care Docs, Wellness, LLC, Canna Care Docs of Maine, LLC, Care 
Management, LLC.  Accounting policies of the subsidiaries are consistent with the policies 
adopted by the Company.  
 
Intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealized income and expense arising from 
intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 3:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Use of Judgements and Estimates 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
certain estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reporting amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of expense during 
the reporting period.  Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates.  These consolidated 
financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain.  The impacts of 
such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require 
accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods, if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical experience, 
current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectation of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
 
Fair Value Measurement 
The estimated fair values of the Company’s short-term financial instruments, including 
receivables and payables arising in the ordinary course of business, approximate their 
individual carrying amounts due to the relatively short period of time between their origination 
and expected realization. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
The Company recognizes revenue in the period in which services are provided.  The Company 
requires payment from customers for their visit before referral to the next step.  Sales are 
recorded into the following categories new patient, renewal, follow up, telemedicine with each 
type having a varying price by state.  
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents.  At times, cash and cash equivalents may be in excess of 
FDIC insurance limits. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Receivables are related to fees for clinic visits. Management has estimated all receivables to be 
collectible and therefore has not recorded an allowance for uncollectible accounts as of 
September 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Purchase of property and equipment are recorded at cost.  Improvements and replacements 
of property and equipment are capitalized.  Maintenance and repairs that do not improve or 
extend the lives of property and equipment are charged to expense as incurred.  When assets 
are sold or retired, their cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
accounts and any gain or loss is reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
Depreciation is provided over the estimated economic useful lives of each class of assets and 
is computed using the straight-line method.  Total depreciation expense was $3,757,and  
$3,455 for the three month periods ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 ,respectively, and  
$9,196 and $10,364 for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
respectively. 
Estimated economic useful lives of property and equipment range from 2 to 7 years. 



MedEval Corp and Subsidiaries   
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 2017 

 
 

See Independent Accountants’ Review Report 

7 

NOTE 3: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 (Continued) 
 
Advertising Costs 
Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred.  Advertising expense, included in 
general and administrative, was $123,144 and $106,512 for the three month periods ended 
September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and $330,673, and $259,979 for the nine month 
periods ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
Income Taxes 
The Company, with the consent of its stockholders, has elected to be taxed under sections of 
federal and state income tax law, which provide that, in lieu of corporation income taxes, the 
stockholders separately account for their pro rata shares of the Company’s items of income, 
deduction, losses, and credits. As a result of this election, no income taxes have been 
recognized in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Company’s policy is to classify income tax related interest and penalties in interest expense 
and other expense, respectively. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The Company evaluated for the occurrence of subsequent events through June xx, 2018, the 
date which the financial statements were authorized for issuance.  
 
 

NOTE 4:  ADVANCE TO STOCKHOLDER 
 
The Company advanced funds to a stockholder of the Company during the year ended 
December 31, 2016 in the amount of $292,983. As of September 30, 2017 the company had an 
advance receivable in the amount of $200.  Subsequent to the period ended September 30, 
2017 this amount was paid in full. 
 
 

NOTE 5:  SHARE CAPITAL 
 
The following table reflects the continuity of share capital for the period ended September 30, 
2017: 
 

Number of 

Shares Issued

and Outstanding Amount

Balance September 30, 2016 50,000               61,569$  

Balance September 30, 2017 50,000               61,569$  
 

 
The Company is authorized to issue 75,000 common shares without par value.
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NOTE 6:  ADVANCE FROM SHAREHOLDER 
 
In January 2017 a shareholder advanced $300,000 to the company. During the nine month 
period ended September 30, 2017 payments of various amounts had been made on the 
advance. As of September 30, 2017 this amount was paid in full. 
 

NOTE 7:  LEASE AGREEMENTS 
 
Operating  
The Company has entered into various operating lease agreements for its facilities. 
 
The facilities operating leases cover twenty five site locations and expire at various dates through 
April 30, 2022. All leases are net leases.  The Company is responsible for operating expenses 
such as insurance, utilities, and repairs and maintenance.  The Company is also responsible for 
their proportionate share of real estate taxes and common area expenses.  Total rent expense 
was $102,698 and  $95,924 for the three month periods ended September 30, 2017 and 23016, 
respectively, and $261,067 and $274,229 for the nine month periods ended September 30, 3017 
and 2016, respectively.  This includes base rents, real estate taxes, and common area 
expenses. 
 
As of September 30, 2017, the minimum annual rental commitments are as follows:     
 

2018 374,250$       

2019 162,918$       

2020 62,528$         

2021 45,140$         

2022 37,950$          
 
 

NOTE 8:  SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
Cash paid for interest was $0 during the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 
2017 and 2016. 

 
Cash paid for income taxes was $0 during the three and nine month periods ended 
September 30, 2017 and 2016.   
 

NOTE 9:  SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
On December 18, 2017 the majority of the company assets were sold to MVC Technologies 
USA, Inc. 
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MVC Technologies Inc.

Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

September 30, 2018

(Unaudited - in Canadian Dollars unless otherwise specified)

 10557404 

Canada 

Corp. 

 MVC 

Technologies 

Inc.   Note 3 

 Pro-Forma 

Adjustments  Note 3  Acquisition 

 Resulting 

Issuer 

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents       27,740       3,016,116  (d)(e)(f)(l)

(n)(p)(q)(r) 

(j)(o) 

    1,487,163 (c)       (300,000)       4,231,019 

Trade and other receivables       26,087          273,227                -            299,314 

Inventories             -              84,825                -              84,825 

Prepaid expenses       30,000                -              30,000 

Total current assets       83,827       3,374,168     1,487,163       (300,000)       4,645,158 

Non‐Current assets

Furniture and equipment             -            206,976                -            206,976 

Computer software             -         1,178,581       1,178,581 

Intangible assets             -         3,798,961       3,798,961 

Goodwill             -         3,758,394                -         3,758,394 

Total non‐current assets             -         8,942,912                -                  -         8,942,912 

Total assets       83,827      12,317,080     1,487,163       (300,000)      13,588,070 

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities     119,753            48,649  (g) (h)        (33,392)                -            135,010 

Income taxes payable          183,819                -                  -            183,819 

Convertible debentures             -         1,103,763  (f)      (144,423)                -            959,340 

Purchase consideration payable             -            548,000  (k)      (548,000)                -                     -   

Promissory note payable       3,046,883  (j)    (3,046,883)                -                     -   

Total current liabilities     119,753       4,931,114    (3,772,698)                -         1,278,169 

Non-current liabilities

Promissory note payable             -                     -    (j)     3,182,302                -         3,182,302 

Total liabilities     119,753       4,931,114      (590,396)                -         4,460,471 

Shareholders' equity

Share capital     102,251       7,320,866 
 (d)(l)(n)

(p)(q)(r) 
    2,645,772  (b)       (102,251)      10,829,125 

 (e)      (238,924)  (a)        455,318 

 (f)      (239,452)

 (g)         18,970 

 (k)       810,500 

 (o)         56,075 

Warrants reserve       22,750       2,552,831 
 (d)(l)(n)

(p)(q)(r) 
      817,689       3,192,886 

 (e)      (206,406)

 (g)           6,022 

Option reserve       57,355          588,551  (h)           8,400       1,106,796 

(i) 424,747      

 (m)         82,894 

 (o)        (51,275)

         (3,876)

Units to be issued            24,999            24,999 

Shares to be issued          262,500  (k)      (262,500)                   -   

Equity component of convertible debentures             -              82,428  (f)        (11,149)            71,279 

Accumulated other comprehensive income             -              25,067            25,067 

Deficit    (218,282)      (3,471,276) (e)      (391,751)  (b)        218,282      (6,122,553)

(f)      (884,412)

(i) (424,747)      (b)         (80,105)

 (a)       (491,244)

 (m)        (82,894) (c)       (300,000)

          3,876 

Total shareholders' equity      (35,926)       7,385,966     2,077,559       (300,000)       9,127,599 
Total liabilities and shareholders' 

equity       83,827      12,317,080     1,487,163       (300,000)      13,588,070 



 

MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. 
 
Notes to the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements  
September 30, 2018 
(Unaudited – In Canadian Dollars unless otherwise specified) 
 
1. Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position of CB2 Insights Inc. (formerly 
10557404 Canada Corp.) ("CB2" or “the Company”) has been prepared by management to reflect the acquisition 
of MVC TECHNOLOGIES INC. (“MVC”) by CB2 after giving effect to the proposed transactions as described in 
Notes 2 and 3. 
 
The unaudited pro forma statement of financial position has been prepared for inclusion in the non-offering 
prospectus of the Company in relation to its amalgamation with MVC (the ‘Amalgamation’). Completion of the 
Amalgamation is subject to customary closing conditions, including all necessary approvals and consents and all 
applicable Canadian Securities Exchange (CSE) approvals. In the opinion of the Company’s management, the 
unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position includes all adjustments necessary for fair 
presentation of the transactions contemplated in the Amalgamation agreement. 
 
In connection with the Amalgamation, CB2 intends to continue its domicile in the Province of Ontario. 
 
2.  Pro Forma Assumptions 
 
The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position is prepared as if the transaction described 
below occurred on September 30, 2018. 
 
The Amalgamation is subject to the satisfaction of all closing conditions and receipt of regulatory and shareholder 
approvals. 
 
The unaudited pro forma financial statements of CB2 should be read in conjunction with December 31, 2018, 
audited financial statements of CB2 and September 30, 2018, condensed interim consolidated financial statements 
of MVC. 
 
The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position of the Company has been compiled from and 
includes: 
 
a) the statement of financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018; 
 
b) the condensed interim consolidated statement of financial position of MVC as at September 30, 2018; and 
 
c) the additional information and assumptions set out in Notes 2 and 3. 
 
For presentation purposes, the Amalgamation is assumed to have occurred at September 30, 2018. The unaudited 
pro forma consolidated statement of financial position is not intended to reflect the financial position of the Company 
which would have actually resulted had the proposed transactions been affected on the date indicated. Actual 
amounts recorded upon consummation of the agreement will differ from those recorded in the unaudited pro forma 
consolidated statement of financial position. No adjustments have been made to reflect additional costs or cost 
savings that could result from the combination of the operations of CB2 and MVC. 
 
Principal Terms of the Transaction 
 
The Company and MVC have entered into a Letter of Intent (“Agreement”) dated August 28, 2018. Pursuant to the 
terms of the Agreement, the Company intends to issue common shares in exchange for issued and outstanding old 
MVC shares on the basis of approximately 1 post consolidation CB2 Share for each MVC Share (the 
“Amalgamation”). It is anticipated that approximately 1,363,634 CB2 Shares will be issued pursuant to the 
Transaction based on the current capital structure of MVC. 



 

3. Pro Forma Adjustments 
 

a) MVC is deemed to be the acquirer in the Acquisition for accounting purposes. Since CB2’s operations do 
not constitute a business, the Transaction is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2 – Share-based 
payment. The purchase price is determined as the fair value of the shares and options that are held by the 
current shareholders of CB2 after completion of the Acquisition. As explained in note 5, for purposes of the 
pro-forma, the fair value of common shares has been determined to be $0.33 per share, reflecting the 
estimated fair value of the MVC shares (based on MVC share value in its recent private placements). The 
excess of the amount paid over the fair value of the assets is charged to accumulated deficit and is an 
expense of listing. Accumulated deficit has been increased by $491,244 representing expense of listing 
(Note 7). Accordingly the share capital of the accounting acquirer has been increased by $455,318 
representing value of 1,363,636 shares to be issued to CB2’s shareholders on acquisition.  
 

b) Share capital and deficit of the Company has been eliminated as a result of the above proposed acquisition. 
Reserves relating to surviving warrants and options issued by CB2 have been maintained.  
 

c) Transaction costs related to the acquisition are estimated at $300,000 for listing, legal and professional 
fees. 
 

d) On October 2, 2018, MVC completed a final tranche of a private placement financing with the issuance of 
an aggregate of 2,062,545 Units at a price of $0.44 per Unit for gross proceeds of $907,520. Each Unit 
consists of 1 common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 1,031,273 
warrants were issued with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of MVC at price 
of $0.50 for a period of two years from issuance. The value assigned to these warrants is $218,689, using 
the Black-Scholes valuation model by using a volatility of 144%, expected life of two years, risk free interest 
of 2.19% and an annual dividend yield of 0%. In relation to this private placement, the Company paid cash 
issuance costs of $10,728. 
 

e) On October 19, 2018, MVC repurchased an aggregate of 1,946,700 common shares and an aggregate of 
973,349 common share purchase warrants for total consideration of $837,081. Associated balances of 
capital stock and warrant reserve were reduced with the premium paid charged to retained earnings. 
 

f) On October 25, 2018, MVC repurchased an aggregate principal amount of $150,000 of 5% convertible 
senior secured debentures and 1,951,000 common shares for total consideration of $1,279,436. Associated 
balances of debentures, capital stock and equity component of convertible debentures were reduced with 
the premium paid charged to retained earnings. 
 

g) On October 29, 2018, MVC issued 56,800 common shares and 28,400 common share purchase warrants 
to a consultant of MVC in satisfaction of debt amounting to $ 24,992, owed to the consultant. 
 

h) On November 8, 2018, MVC granted to consultants, 11,708 and 8,181 options exercisable at $0.41 and 
$0.44, respectively, and vesting immediately, in satisfaction of debt owing of $8,400. 
 

i) On November 5, 2018, MVC signed employment agreements with its Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and 
Chief Operating Officer (COO). Pursuant to the agreements, MVC granted to each of the executives, 
options to purchase an aggregate of 2% of the total issued and outstanding common shares at the date of 
the agreements, exercisable at $0.44 per share, for 10 years and vesting annually in three equal 
installments. This translates into 1,242,567 options each for the CEO and COO. 
 

j) On December 20, 2018, MVC issued to Merida Capital Partners II LP (‘Merida’) a promissory note and 
Merida advanced to the Company funds, amounting to $3,182,302 (US$2,400,000). The Company used 
these funds to repay the promissory note outstanding for the purchase consideration of Canna Care.  

 
k) On September 11, 2018, MVC entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with 1035855 Canada Inc. 

(“TokeIn”), acquiring the assets of TokeIn. Upon signing, MVC was obligated to pay $150,000 cash and 
issue 795,455 common shares at an estimated value of $262,500, which were recorded in shares to be 
issued as at September 30, 2018. The remaining obligation consisted of an issuance of 1,245,455 shares 
at an estimated value of $548,000, which was recorded in purchase consideration payable as at September 



 

30, 2018. On October 4, 2018 and December 31, 2018, MVC issued 795,455 and 1,245,454 shares, 
respectively, in settlement of the shares to be issued and the purchase consideration payable. 
 

l) On January 17, 2019, the Company completed a Private Placement Financing with the issuance of an 
aggregate of 374,998 Units at a price of $0.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $187,499. Each Units consists 
of 1 common share and one half common share purchase warrant. An aggregate of 187,500 warrants were 
issued with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of 
$0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 
 

m) On January 23, 2019, the Company granted an aggregate of 485,000 options to employees, directors and 
consultants. These options are exercisable over a period of 1-5 years from the date of grant with exercise 
prices ranging from $0.44 -$0.50, vesting over 4 years for employees and immediately for directors and 
consultants. 

 
n) On January 25, 2019, the Company closed the first tranche of a Private Placement Financing of subscription 

receipts with the issuance of 352,000 Subscription Receipt Units for gross proceeds of $176,000. Each 
Subscription Receipt Unit converts automatically into one common share and one-half common share 
purchase warrant. An aggregate of 352,000 common shares and 176,000 warrants are issuable on 
conversion of the Subscription Receipt Units, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one 
common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. The 
Company also issued 20,440 broker warrants in combination with the closing of the Subscription Receipt 
Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase one Unit at $0.50 for a period of three (3) years. 
 

o) On February 1, 2019, a consultant exercised 300,000 options at a price of $0.016 per share. 
 

p) On February 14, 2019, the Company closed the second tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 
Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 2,184,000 subscription receipt units for gross 
proceeds of $1,092,000. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 
2,184,000 shares and 1,092,000 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common 
share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 
 

q) On February 15, 2019, the Company closed the third tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 
Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 1,688,420 subscription receipt units for gross 
proceeds of $844,210. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 
1,688,420 common shares and 844,210 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one 
common share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. The 
Company also issued 5,600 broker warrants in connection with the closing of the Subscription Receipt 
Units. Each broker warrant entitling the holder to purchase a Unit at $0.50 for a period of three (3) years. 
 

r) On February 21, 2019, the Company closed the fourth tranche of the non-brokered Private Placement 
Financing of subscription receipts with the issuance of 533,920 subscription receipt units for gross proceeds 
of $266,960. These Subscription Receipt Units will convert automatically into an aggregate of 533,920 
common shares and 266,960 warrants, with each whole warrant exercisable to purchase one common 
share of the Company at a price of $0.80 for a period of three (3) years from issuance. 

 
4. Pro Forma Share Capital 
 Shares   Amount 

     
MVC share capital as at September 30, 2018       63,111,262      7,320,866  
(a) Common stock issued to CB2         1,363,636         455,318  
(d) Private placements by MVC on October 2, 2018         2,062,545         678,103  
(e) Shares repurchased by MVC on October 19, 2018       (1,946,700)       (238,924) 
(f) Shares repurchased by MVC on October 25, 2018       (1,951,000)       (239,452) 
(g) Shares issued to consultant on October 29, 2018             56,800           18,970  
(k) Shares issued as consideration for software         2,040,909         810,500  
(l) Private placements by MVC on January 17, 2019            374,998         144,180  
(n) Private placements by MVC on January 25, 2019            352,000         130,616  
(o) Options exercised on February 1, 2019            300,000             56,075  



 

(p) Private placements by MVC on February 14, 2019         2,184,000         839,713  
(q) Private placements by MVC on February 15, 2019         1,688,420         647,876  
(r) Private placements by MVC on February 21, 2019            533,920         205,284  

Pro forma common shares outstanding       70,170,790   $ 10,829,125 

 
 
5. Pro Forma Warrants 
 
 Warrants   Amount 

     
MVC outstanding warrants as at September 30, 2018 13,460,856     2,552,831  
CB2 outstanding warrants as at September 30, 2018 151,515          22,750  
(d) Warrants issued by MVC on October 2, 2018 1,031,273        218,689  
(e) Warrants repurchased by MVC in October 2018 (973,349)       (206,406) 
(g) Warrants issued to consultant on October 29, 2018 28,400            6,022  
(l) Warrants issued by MVC on January 17, 2019 187,500          43,319  
(n) Warrants issued by MVC on January 25, 2019 196,440          45,384  
(p) Warrants issued by MVC on February 14, 2019 1,092,000        252,287  
(q) Warrants issued by MVC on February 15, 2019 849,810        196,334  
(r) Warrants issued by MVC on February 21, 2019 266,960          61,676  

Pro forma warrants outstanding 16,291,405  $ 3,192,886 

 
 

6. Pro Forma Options 
 
 Options   Amount   Weighted 

average 
exercise 

price 

        
MVC outstanding options as at September 30, 2018   3,443,525    588,551    0.29 
CB2 outstanding options as at September 30, 2018      666,060    57,355    0.40 
(h) Options issued to consultants on November 8, 2018        19,889        8,400    0.42 
(i) Options issued to executives on November 5, 2018   2,485,134    424,747    0.44 
(m) Options issued on January 23, 2019     485,000           82,894    0.50 
(o) Options exercised on February 1, 2019    (300,000)      (51,275)   0.02 
Options expired on October 25, 2018     (22,680)          (3,876)   0.29 

Pro forma options outstanding   6,776,928       1,106,796             0.38  

 
 
7. Pro Forma Listing Expense 
 
Total purchase price for CB2:     
Common shares issued and outstanding    1,363,636 
Price per share based on MVC share price    0.3339 
     
Cost of acquisition, shares issued   $ 455,318 

Total consideration    455,318 
Less: fair value of net liability of CB2            35,926  

Excess paid over net assets – listing expense   $ 491,244 
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10557404 CANADA CORP. 

Mandate of the Audit Committee 
 
Purpose 
 
The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of 10557404 
Canada Corp. (the “Corporation”) is appointed by the Board to assist the Corporation and the 
Board in fulfilling their respective obligations relating to the integrity of the internal financial 
controls and financial accounting and reporting of the Corporation.  
 
Composition 

 
1. The Committee shall be composed of three or more directors, as designated by the Board 

from time to time. 
  
2. The Chair of the Committee (the “Chair”) shall be designated by the Board or the Committee 

from among the members of the Committee. 
 
3. The Committee shall comply with all applicable securities laws, instruments, rules and policies 

and regulatory requirements (collectively “Applicable Laws”), including those relating to 
composition, independence and financial literacy. Each member of the Committee shall be 
independent within the meaning of National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees and 
financially literate within the meaning of Applicable Laws. 

 
4. Each member of the Committee shall be appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of, the Board. 

The Board may fill vacancies in the Committee by appointment from among the members of 
the Board. 
  

Meetings 
 
5. The Committee shall meet at least quarterly in each financial year of the Corporation. The 

Committee shall meet otherwise at the discretion of the Chair, or a majority of the members 
of the Committee, or as may be required by Applicable Laws.  

 
6. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum. If within one hour of 

the time appointed for a meeting of the Committee, a quorum is not present, the meeting shall 
stand adjourned to the same hour on the next business day following the date of such meeting 
at the same place. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum as hereinbefore specified is not 
present within one hour of the time appointed for such adjourned meeting, such meeting shall 
stand adjourned to the same hour on the second business day following the date of such 
meeting at the same place. If at the second adjourned meeting a quorum as hereinbefore 
specified is not present, then, at the discretion of the members then present, the quorum for 
the adjourned meeting shall consist of the members then present (a “Reduced Quorum”). 
 

7. If and whenever a vacancy shall exist in the Committee, the remaining members of the 
Committee may exercise all powers and responsibilities of the Committee so long as a quorum 
remains in office or a Reduced Quorum is present in respect of a specific Committee meeting. 
Where a vacancy occurs at any time in the membership of the Committee, it may be filled by 
the Board. 
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8. The Committee shall hold an in camera session without any officers present at each meeting 
of the Committee, unless such a session is not considered necessary by the members 
present.  

 
9. The time and place at which meetings of the Committee are to be held, and the procedures 

at such meetings, will be determined from time to time by the Chair. A meeting of the 
Committee may be called by notice, which may be given by written notice, telephone, 
facsimile, email or other electronic communication at least 48 hours prior to the time of the 
meeting. However, no notice of a meeting shall be necessary if all of the members are present 
either in person or by means of telephone or web conference or other communication 
equipment, or if those absent waive notice or otherwise signify their consent to the holding of 
such meeting. 

 
10. Members may participate in a meeting of the Committee by means of telephone, web 

conference or other communication equipment. 
 
11. If the Chair of the Committee is not present at any meeting of the Committee, one of the other 

members of the Committee present at the meeting shall be chosen by the Committee to 
preside. The Chair (or other Committee member, as applicable) presiding at any meeting shall 
not have a casting vote. 
 

12. The Committee shall keep minutes of all meetings, which shall be available for review by the 
Board. Except in exceptional circumstances, draft minutes of each meeting of the Committee 
shall be circulated to the Committee for review within 14 days following the date of each such 
meeting. 

 
13. The Committee may appoint any individual, who need not be a member, to act as the 

secretary at any meeting. 
 
14. The Committee may invite such other directors, officers and employees of the Corporation 

and such other advisors and persons as is considered advisable to attend any meeting of the 
Committee. For greater certainty, the Committee shall have the right to determine who shall, 
and who shall not, be present at any time during a meeting of the Committee. 

 
15. Any matter to be determined by the Committee shall be decided by a majority of the votes 

cast at a meeting of the Committee called for such purpose. Any action of the Committee may 
also be taken by an instrument or instruments in writing signed by all of the members of the 
Committee (including in counterparts, by facsimile or other electronic signature) and any such 
action shall be as effective as if it had been decided by a majority of the votes cast at a meeting 
of the Committee called for such purpose. In case of an equality of votes, the matter will be 
referred to the Board for decision. 

 
16. The Committee shall report its determinations and recommendations to the Board. 

 
Resources and Authority 

 
17. The Committee has the authority to: 

 
(a) engage, at the expense of the Corporation, independent counsel and other experts or 

advisors as is considered advisable; 
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(b) determine and pay the compensation for any independent counsel and other experts and 

advisors retained by the Committee;  
 

(c) communicate directly with the independent auditor of the Corporation (the “Independent 
Auditor”);  
 

(d) conduct any investigation considered appropriate by the Committee;  
 

(e) request the Independent Auditor, any officer or other employee of, or outside counsel for, 
the Corporation to attend any meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, 
or independent counsel or other experts or advisors to, the Committee; and  
 

(f) have unrestricted access to the books and records of the Corporation. 
 

Responsibilities 
 
Financial Accounting, Internal Controls and Reporting Process  
 
18. The Committee is responsible for: 

 
(a) reviewing any management report on, and assessing the integrity of, the internal controls 

over the financial reporting of the Corporation and monitoring the proper implementation 
of such controls; 
 

(b) reviewing and reporting to the Board on, or if mandated by the Board, approving the 
quarterly unaudited financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis (the 
“MD&A”), press release and other financial disclosure related thereto that is required to 
be reviewed by the Committee pursuant to Applicable Laws; 
 

(c) reviewing and reporting to the Board on the annual audited financial statements, the 
MD&A, press release and other financial disclosure related thereto that is required to be 
reviewed by the Committee pursuant to Applicable Laws;  
 

(d) monitoring the conduct of the audit function; 
 

(e) discussing and meeting with, when considered advisable to do so and in any event no 
less frequently than annually, the Independent Auditor, the Chief Financial Officer (the 
“CFO”) and any other officer or other employee of the Corporation which the Committee 
wishes to meet with, to review accounting principles, practices, judgments of 
management, internal controls and such other matters as the Committee considers 
appropriate; and 
 

(f) reviewing any post-audit or management letter containing the recommendations of the 
Independent Auditor and management’s response thereto and monitoring the subsequent 
follow-up to any identified weaknesses. 
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Public Disclosure 
 
19. The Committee shall: 

 
(a) review the quarterly and annual financial statements, the related MD&A, quarterly and 

annual financial reporting press releases and any other public disclosure documents that 
are required to be reviewed by the Committee pursuant to Applicable Laws;  
 

(b) review and discuss with officers of the Corporation any guidance being provided on the 
expected future results and financial performance of the Corporation and provide its 
recommendations on such guidance to the Board; and 
  

(c) review from time to time the procedures which are in place for the review of the public 
disclosure by the Corporation of financial information extracted or derived from the 
financial statements of the Corporation and periodically assess the adequacy of such 
procedures. 
 

Risk Management 
 

20. The Committee should inquire of the officers and the Independent Auditor as to the significant 
risks or exposures, both internal and external, to which the Corporation is subject, and review 
the actions which the officers have taken to minimize such risks. In conjunction with the Board, 
the Committee should annually review the financial risks associated with the directors’ and 
officers’ third-party liability insurance and other insurance of the Corporation. 
 

Corporate Conduct 
 

21. The Committee should ensure that there is an appropriate standard of corporate conduct 
relating to the internal controls and financial reporting of the Corporation. 

 
22. The Committee should establish procedures for: 
 

(a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding 
accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters; and  
 

(b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of concerns regarding 
questionable accounting or auditing matters.  

 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

 
23. With regard to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Corporation (the “Code”), the 

Committee should: 
 
(a) review from time to time and recommend to the Board any amendments to the Code and 

monitor the policies and procedures established by the officers of the Corporation to 
ensure compliance with the Code;  
 

(b) review actions taken by the officers of the Corporation to ensure compliance with the 
Code, the results of the confirmations and the responses to any violations of the Code; 
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(c) following the receipt of any complaint submitted under the Code, the Committee shall 
investigate each matter and take corrective disciplinary action, if appropriate, up to and 
including termination of employment. 
 

(d) if deemed appropriate by the Committee, investigations of suspected violations of the 
Code may be referred to the Corporate Governance Committee; 
 

(e) monitor the disclosure of the Code, any proposed amendments to the Code and any 
waivers to the Code granted by the Board;  

 
(f) review the policies and procedures instituted to ensure that any departure from the Code 

by a director or officer of the Corporation which constitutes a “material change” within the 
meaning of Applicable Laws is appropriately disclosed in accordance with Applicable 
Laws. 

 
Whistleblower Policy 

 
24. The Committee shall review from time to time the Whistleblower Policy of the Corporation (the 

“Policy”) to determine whether the Policy is effective in providing appropriate procedures to 
report violations (as defined in the Policy) or suspected violations and recommend to the 
Board any amendments to the Policy. 
 

Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy 
 
25. The Committee shall review and evaluate the Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy of the 

Corporation on an annual basis to determine whether such policy is effective in ensuring 
compliance by the Corporation, its directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors 
with the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada), the Criminal Code (Canada) and 
any other similar laws applicable to the Corporation. 

Independent Auditor 
 

26. The Committee shall recommend to the Board, for appointment by shareholders, a firm of 
external auditors to act as the Independent Auditor and shall monitor the independence and 
performance of the Independent Auditor. The Committee shall arrange and attend, as 
considered appropriate and at least annually, a private meeting with the Independent Auditor, 
shall review and approve the remuneration of such Independent Auditor and shall ensure that 
the Independent Auditor reports directly to the Committee. 

 
27. The Committee shall ensure that the lead audit partner at the Independent Auditor is changed 

every seven years. 
 
28. The Committee should resolve any otherwise unresolved disagreements between the officers 

of the Corporation and the Independent Auditor regarding the internal controls or financial 
reporting of the Corporation. 

 
29. The Committee should pre-approve all audit and non-audit services not prohibited by law, 

including Applicable Laws, to be provided by the Independent Auditor. The Chair may, and is 
authorized to, pre-approve non-audit services provided by the Independent Auditor up to a 
maximum amount of $25,000 per engagement. 
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30. The Committee should review the audit plan of the Independent Auditor, including the scope, 

procedures and timing of the audit. 
 
31. The Committee should review the results of the annual audit with the Independent Auditor, 

including matters related to the conduct of the audit. 
 
32. The Committee should obtain timely reports from the Independent Auditor describing critical 

accounting policies and practices applicable to the Corporation, the alternative treatment of 
information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that were 
discussed with the CFO, the ramifications thereof and the Independent Auditor’s preferred 
treatment and should review any material written communications between the Corporation 
and the Independent Auditor. 

 
33. The Committee should review the fees paid by the Corporation to the Independent Auditor 

and any other professionals in respect of audit and non-audit services on an annual basis. 
 
34. The Committee should review and approve from time to time the Corporation’s hiring policy 

regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present and any 
former Independent Auditor. 

 
35. The Committee should monitor and assess the relationship between the officers of the 

Corporation and the Independent Auditor and monitor the independence and objectivity of the 
Independent Auditor. 
 

36. The Committee shall have the authority to engage the Independent Auditor to review the 
unaudited interim financial statements of the Corporation. 
 

Other Responsibilities 
 

37. The Committee should review and assess from time to time the adequacy of this mandate 
and submit any proposed amendments to the Board for consideration. 

 
38. The Committee should perform any other activities consistent with this mandate and 

Applicable Laws as the Committee or the Board considers advisable. 
 

Chair  
 

39. The Chair should: 
 
(a) provide leadership to the Committee and oversee the functioning of the Committee; 

 
(b) chair meetings of the Committee (unless not present), including in-camera sessions and 

report to the Board following each meeting of the Committee on the activities and any 
recommendations and decisions of the Committee and otherwise at such times and in 
such manner as the Chair considers advisable;  
 

(c) ensure that the Committee meets at least quarterly in each financial year of the 
Corporation and otherwise as is considered advisable; 
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(d) in consultation with the Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), the Lead Director, if any, 
and the members of the Committee, establish dates for holding meetings of the 
Committee; 
 

(e) set the agenda for each meeting of the Committee, with input from other members of the 
Committee, the Chairman, the Lead Director, if any, and any other appropriate individuals;  
 

(f) ensure that Committee materials are available to any director upon request; 
 

(g) act as a liaison and maintain communication with the Chairman, the Lead Director, if any, 
and the Board to co-ordinate input from the Board and to optimize the effectiveness of the 
Committee;  
 

(h) report annually to the Board on the role of the Committee and the effectiveness of the 
Committee in contributing to the effectiveness of the Board; 
 

(i) assist the members of the Committee to understand and comply with the responsibilities 
contained in this mandate; 
 

(j) foster ethical and responsible decision making by the Committee; 
 

(k) review, together with the Board (unless responsibility is delegated to the Committee by 
the Board), in advance of public release (i) any earnings guidance, and (ii), any press 
release containing financial information based upon financial statements and 
management’s discussion and analysis that has not previously been released; 
 

(l) notify the sender and acknowledge receipt of a report within five business days under the 
Code, or as soon as possible thereafter, except where a report was submitted on a 
confidential, anonymous basis; 

 
(m) consider complaints relating to accounting matters covered by the Policy, undertake an 

investigation of the violation or suspected violation of the Policy as defined in the Policy 
and promptly report to the Committee and the Board any complaint that may have material 
consequences for the Corporation and, for each financial quarter of the Corporation, the 
Chair should, with input from the Chairman, if applicable, report to the Committee and to 
the Independent Auditor, the aggregate number, the nature and the outcome of the 
complaints received and investigated under the Policy;  
 

(n) together with the Corporate Governance Committee, oversee the structure, composition 
and membership of, and activities delegated to, the Committee from time to time; 
 

(o) ensure appropriate information is provided to the Committee by the officers of the 
Corporation to enable the Committee to function effectively and comply with this mandate;  
 

(p) ensure that appropriate resources and expertise are available to the Committee;  
 

(q) ensure that the Committee considers whether any independent counsel or other experts 
or advisors retained by the Committee are appropriately qualified and independent in 
accordance with Applicable Laws; 
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(r) facilitate effective communication between the members of the Committee and the officers 
of the Corporation and encourage an open and frank relationship between the Committee 
and the Independent Auditor;  
 

(s) attend, or arrange for another member of the Committee to attend, each meeting of the 
shareholders of the Corporation to respond to any questions from shareholders that may 
be asked of the Committee;  
 

(t) in the event a Chairman is not appointed by the Board at the first meeting of the Board 
following the annual meeting of shareholders each year and the position of Chair of the 
Corporate Governance Committee is vacant, serve as the interim Chairman until a 
successor is appointed; and  
 

(u) perform such other duties as may be delegated to the Chair by the Committee or the Board 
from time to time. 

 
Approved: June 2018 
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10557404 CANADA CORP. 

2018 INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN 

1. PURPOSE:  The purpose of this Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) is to encourage common
stock ownership in 105567404 Canada Corp. (the “Company”) by directors, executive officers, 
employees (including part time employees employed by the Company for less than twenty (20) 
hours per weeks) and consultants (including individuals whose services are contracted through a 
personal holding company that is wholly-owned by such individual) of the Company or any 
Affiliate, as that term is defined in the Securities Act (Ontario), of the Company or by a personal 
holding company of any such officer, director or employee that is wholly-owned by such individual 
or by registered retirement savings plans established by any such officers, directors or employees 
(hereinafter referred to as “Optionees”) who are primarily responsible for the management and 
profitable growth of its business and to advance the interests of the Company by providing 
additional incentive for superior performance by such persons and to enable the Company to attract 
and retain valued directors, officers and employees by granting options (the “Options” or “Option”) 
to purchase common shares of the Company on the terms and conditions set forth in this Plan and 
any Stock Option Agreements entered into between the Company and the Optionees in accordance 
with the Plan.  Any Options granted to a personal holding company shall be cancelled immediately 
upon any change in control of such personal holding company, save and except in the event of the 
death of the principal of such personal holding company, in which case, subject to the terms of the 
Stock Option Agreement, the provisions of subparagraph 5(f)(iii) shall apply. 

2. ADMINISTRATION:  The Plan shall be administered by the Board of Directors from time
to time of the Company (the “Administrator”).  No member of the Board of Directors shall by 
virtue of such appointment be disentitled or ineligible to receive Options.  The Administrator shall 
have full authority to interpret the Plan and to make such rules and regulations and establish such 
procedures as it deems appropriate for the administration of the Plan, taking into consideration the 
recommendations of management, and the decision of the Administrator shall be binding and 
conclusive.  The decision of the Administrator shall be binding, provided that notwithstanding 
anything herein contained, the Administrator may from time to time delegate the authority vested in 
it under this clause to the President who shall thereupon  exercise all of the powers herein given to 
the Administrator, subject to any express direction by resolution of the Board of Directors of the 
Company from time to time and further provided that a decision of the majority of persons 
comprising the Board of Directors in respect of any matter hereunder shall be binding and 
conclusive for all purposes and upon all persons.  The senior officers of the Company are authorized 
and directed to do all things and execute and deliver all instruments, undertakings and applications 
as they in their absolute discretion consider necessary for the implementation of the Plan.        

3. NUMBER OF SHARES SUBJECT TO OPTIONS:  The Board of Directors of the
Company will make available that number of common shares for the purpose of the Plan that it 
considers appropriate except that the number of common shares that may be issued pursuant to the 
exercise of Options under the Plan and under any other stock options of the Company shall not 
exceed 10% of the common shares issued and outstanding (on a non-diluted basis) at any time and 
from time to time.  In the event that Options granted under the Plan, and under any other stock 
options of the Company which may be in effect at a particular time, are surrendered, terminate or 
expire without being exercised in whole or in part, new Options may be granted covering the 
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common shares not purchased under such lapsed Options.    
 
4. PARTICIPATION:  Options shall be granted under the Plan only to Optionees as shall be 
designated from time to time by the Administrator and shall be subject to the approval of such 
regulatory authorities as the Administrator shall designate, which shall also determine the number of 
shares subject to such Option.  Optionees who are consultants of the Company or an Affiliate of the 
Company must either perform services for the Company on an ongoing basis or provide, or be 
expected to provide, a service of value to the Company or to an Affiliate of the Company.  The 
Company represents that no option shall be granted to any Employee or Consultant who is not a 
bona fide Employee or Consultant. 
 
5. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS:  The terms and conditions of each Option 
granted under the Plan shall be set forth in written Stock Option Agreements between the Company 
and the Optionee.  Such terms and conditions shall include the following as well as such other 
provisions, not inconsistent with the Plan, as may be deemed advisable by the Administrator: 
 

(a) Number of Shares subject to Option to any one Optionee:  The number of shares 
subject to an Option shall be determined from time to time by the Administrator; but no one 
Optionee shall be granted an Option which when aggregated with any other options or common 
shares allotted to such Optionee under the Plan exceeds 5% of the issued and outstanding common 
shares of the Company (on a non-diluted basis), the total number of Options granted to any one 
Optionee in any 12 month period shall not exceed 5% of the issued and outstanding common shares 
of the Company (on a non-diluted basis), the total number of Options granted to all Insiders (as 
defined by the TSX Venture Exchange) in any 12 month period shall not exceed 10% of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of the Company (on a non-diluted basis). The total number of 
options granted to any one consultant in any 12 month period shall not exceed 2% of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of the Company (on a non-diluted basis).  The total number of options 
granted to all persons, including employees, providing investor relations activities to the Company 
in any 12 month period shall not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 
Company (on a non-diluted basis) and the Option Price per common share shall be determined in 
accordance with subparagraph (b) below.  Options granted to persons providing investor relations 
activities must vest over a 12 month period with no more than 25% of the options vesting in any 
quarter.        
 

(b) Option Price:  The Option Price of any shares in respect of which an Option may be 
granted under the Plan shall be not less than the closing price of the Company’s common shares on 
the date prior to the date of grant of the stock options on the principal exchange on which it trades or 
in accordance with the pricing rules of any other stock exchange on which the common shares of the 
Company may trade in the future. 
 
In the resolution allocating any Option, the Administrator may determine that the date of grant 
aforesaid shall be a future date determined in the manner specified by such resolution.  The 
Administrator may also determine that the Option Price per share may escalate at a specified rate 
dependent upon the year in which any Option to purchase common shares may be exercised by the 
Optionee.  No options granted to Insiders (as defined by the TSX Venture Exchange) may be 
repriced without the approval of a majority of disinterested shareholders of the Company exclusive 
of any Insiders. 
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(c) Payment: The full purchase price of shares purchased under the Option shall be 

paid in cash upon the exercise thereof.  A holder of an Option shall have none of the rights of a 
stockholder until the shares are issued to him.  All common shares issued pursuant to the exercise of 
Options granted or deemed to be granted under the Plan, will be so issued as fully paid and non-
assessable common shares.  No Optionee or his legal representatives, legatees or distributees will be, 
or will be deemed to be, a holder of any common shares subject to an Option under this Plan, unless 
and until certificates for such common shares are issued to him or them under the terms of the Plan. 
  
 

(d) Term of Options: Options may be granted under this Plan exercisable over a period 
not exceeding five (5) years.  Each Option shall be subject to earlier termination as provided in 
subparagraph (f) below and paragraphs 7 and 8. 
 

(e) Exercise of Options:  The exercise of any Option will be contingent upon receipt by 
the Company at its head office of a written notice of exercise, specifying the number of common 
shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised, accompanied by cash payment, certified 
cheque or bank draft for the full purchase price of such common shares with respect to which the 
Option is exercised.  An Option may be exercised in full or in part during any year of the term of the 
Option as provided in the written Stock Option Agreement; provided however that except as 
expressly otherwise provided herein or as provided in any valid Stock Option Agreement approved 
by the Administrator, no Option may be exercised unless that Optionee is then a director and/or in 
the employ of the Company.  This Plan shall not confer upon the Optionee any right with respect to 
continuance as a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company or of any affiliate of the 
Company. 
 

(f) Termination of Options:  Any Option granted pursuant hereto, to the extent not 
validly exercised, and save as expressly otherwise provided herein, will terminate on the earlier of 
the following dates: 
 

(i) the date of expiration specified in the Stock Option Agreement, being not more than 
five (5) years after the date the Option was granted; 

 
(ii) the date of termination of the Optionee's employment or upon ceasing to be a 

director and/or officer of the Company or up to a period not exceeding six (6) 
months thereafter for any cause other than by retirement, permanent disability or 
death unless the Optionee was retained to provide Investor Relations Activities in 
which case up to a period not exceeding thirty (30) days thereafter; 

 
(iii) one (1) year after the date of the Optionee's death during which period the Option 

may be exercised only by the Optionee's legal representative or the person or persons 
to whom the deceased Optionee's rights under the Option shall pass by will or the 
applicable laws of descent and distribution, and only to the extent the Optionee 
would have been entitled to exercise it at the time of his death if the employment of 
the Optionee had been terminated by the Company on such date; 

 
(iv) up to six (6) months after termination of the Optionee's employment by permanent 

disability or retirement under any Retirement Plan of the Company during which six 
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(6) month period the Optionee may exercise the Option to the extent he was entitled 
to exercise it at the time of such termination provided that if the Optionee shall die 
within such six (6) month period, then such right shall be extended to six (6) months 
following the death of the Optionee and shall be exercisable only by the persons 
described in subparagraph (f)(iii) hereof and only to the extent therein set forth. 

 
(g) Non-transferability of Options:  No Option shall be transferable or assignable by the 

Optionee other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution and shall be exercisable during 
his lifetime only by him. 
 

(h) Applicable Laws or Regulations:  The Company's obligation to sell and deliver stock 
under each Option is subject to such compliance by the Company and any Optionee as the Company 
deems necessary or advisable with all laws, rules and regulations of Canada and the United States of 
America and any Provinces and/or States thereof applying to the authorization, issuance, listing or 
sale of securities and is also subject to the acceptance for listing of the common shares which may be 
issued in exercise thereof by each stock exchange upon which shares of the Company are listed for 
trading. 
 
6. ADJUSTMENT IN EVENT OF CHANGE IN STOCK:  Each Option shall contain 
uniform provisions in such form as may be approved by the Administrator to appropriately adjust 
the number and kind of shares covered by the Option and the exercise price of shares subject to the 
Option in the event of a declaration of stock dividends, or stock subdivisions or consolidations or 
reconstruction or reorganization or recapitalization of the Company or other relevant changes in the 
Company's capitalization (other than issuance of additional shares) to prevent substantial dilution or 
enlargement of the rights granted to the Optionee by such Option.  The number of common shares 
available for Options, the common shares subject to any Option, and the Option Price thereof shall 
be adjusted appropriately by the Administrator and such adjustment shall be effective and binding 
for all purposes of the Plan.     
 
7. ACCELERATION OF EXPIRY DATES.  Upon the announcement or contemplation of 
any event, including a reorganization, acquisition, amalgamation or merger (or a plan of 
arrangement in connection with any of the foregoing), other than solely involving the Company and 
one or more of its affiliates (as such term is defined in the Securities Act (Ontario)), with respect to 
which all or substantially all of the persons who were the beneficial owners of the common shares, 
immediately prior to such reorganization, amalgamation, merger or plan of arrangement do not, 
following such reorganization, amalgamation, merger or plan of arrangement, beneficially own, 
directly or indirectly more than 50% of the resulting voting shares on a fully-diluted basis (for 
greater certainty, this shall not include a public offering or private placement out of treasury) or the 
sale to a person other than an affiliate of the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s 
assets (collectively, a “Change of Control”), the Company shall have the discretion, without the 
need for the agreement of any Optionee, to accelerate the Expiry Dates and/or any applicable vesting 
provisions of all Options, as it shall see fit.  The Company may accelerate one or more Optionee’s 
Expiry Dates and/or vesting requirements without accelerating the Expiry Dates and/or vesting 
requirements of all Options and may accelerate the Expiry Date and/or vesting requirements of only 
a portion of an Optionee’s Options.   
 
8. AMALGAMATION, CONSOLIDATION OR MERGER:  If the event that the Company 
is a consenting party to a Change of Control, outstanding Options shall be subject to the agreement 
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effecting such Change of Control and Optionees shall be bound by such Change of Control 
agreement.  Such agreement, without the Optionees’ consent, may provide for: 
 
 (a) the continuation of such outstanding Options by the Company (if the Company is the 
surviving or acquiring corporation); 
 
 (b) the assumption of the Plan and such outstanding Options by the surviving entity; or 
 
 (c) the substitution or replacement by the surviving or acquiring corporation or its parent 
of options with substantially the same terms for such outstanding Options. 
 
The Company may provide in any agreement with respect to any such Change of Control that the 
surviving, new or acquiring corporation shall grant options to the Optionees to acquire shares in 
such corporation or its parent with respect to which the excess of the fair market value of the shares 
of such corporation immediately after the consummation of such Change of Control over the 
exercise price therefore shall not be less than the excess of the value of the common shares over the 
Exercise Price of the Options immediately prior to the consummation of such Change of Control.  
 
9. APPROVALS:   The obligation of the Company to issue and deliver the common shares in 
accordance with the Plan is subject to any approvals, which may be required from any regulatory 
authority or stock exchange having jurisdiction over the securities of the Company.  If any common 
shares cannot be issued to any Optionee for whatever reason, the obligation of the Company to issue 
such common shares shall terminate and any Option exercise price paid to the Company will be 
returned to the Optionee. 
 
10. STOCK EXCHANGE RULES: The rules of any stock exchange upon which the Company 
common shares are listed shall be applicable relative to Options granted to Optionees.      
 
11. AMENDMENT AND DISCONTINUANCE OF PLAN:  Subject to regulatory approval, 
the Board of Directors may from time to time amend or revise the terms of the Plan or may 
discontinue the Plan at any time provided however that no such right may, without the consent of 
the Optionee, in any manner adversely affect his rights under any Option theretofore granted under 
the Plan. 
 
12. EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION OF PLAN:  The Plan shall remain in full force 
and effect from the date of shareholder approval hereof and from year to year thereafter until 
amended or terminated in accordance with Paragraph 10 hereof and for so long thereafter as Options 
remain outstanding in favour of any Optionee. 
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CERTIFICATE OF CB2 INSIGHTS INC.  

Dated: February 27, 2019 

 

This non-offering prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 

previously issued by the Issuer as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia. 

 

  “Pradyum Sekar”    “Carmelo Marrelli”   

Pradyum Sekar  

Chief Executive Officer 

Carmelo Marrelli 

Chief Financial Officer 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF CB2 INSIGHTS INC. 

Dated: February 27, 2019 

 

  “Kashaf Qureshi”     “David Danziger”   

Kashaf Qureshi 
Director 

David Danziger 
Director 
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previously issued by the Issuer as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia. 

 

  “Kashaf Qureshi”     “Pradyum Sekar”   

Kashaf Qureshi  Pradyum Sekar 
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